
 

By receiving this Agenda Pack electronically you will save the Authority approx. £5.04 in 
printing costs 

 
 

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. 
Rhowch wybod i ni os mai Cymraeg yw eich 

dewis iaith. 
We welcome correspondence in Welsh. Please 
let us know if your language choice is Welsh. 

 

Cyfarwyddiaeth y Prif Weithredwr / Chief 
Executive’s Directorate 
Deialu uniongyrchol / Direct line /: 01656 643148 / 
643147 / 643694 
Gofynnwch am / Ask for:  Democratic Services 
 
Ein cyf / Our ref:       
Eich cyf / Your ref:       
 
Dyddiad/Date: Wednesday, 14 July 2021 

 

Dear Councillor,  
 
CABINET 
 
A  meeting of the Cabinet will be held remotely - via Microsoft Teams on Tuesday, 20 July 2021 at 
14:30. 
 
AGENDA  
 
1.  Apologies for Absence    

 To receive apologies for absence from Members.   
 

2.  Declarations of Interest    
 To receive declarations of personal and prejudicial interest (if any) from Members/Officers in 

accordance with the provisions of the Members’ Code of Conduct adopted by Council from 
1 September 2008. 
 

3.  Approval of Minutes   3 - 40 

 To receive for approval the Minutes of 18/05/21 and 22/06/21 
 

4.  Budget Monitoring 2021-22 Quarter 1 Revenue Forecast  
 

41 - 62 

5.  Capital Programme Outturn 2020-21 and Quarter 1 Update Report 2021-22  
 

63 - 88 

6.  Review of Corporate Plan Targets For 2021-22 Following the Impact of Covid-
19   

89 - 96 

  
7.  Re-Commissioning Regulated Care And Support At Home  

 
97 - 106 

8.  Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration Scheme : Proposed Compulsory Purchase 
Order  
 

107 - 166 

9.  Pencoed Road Bridge and Pencoed Level Crossing  
 

167 - 174 

10.  Suspension of the Contract Procedure Rules for Home to School Transport 
Mini-buses and Taxis  
 

175 - 178 

11.  Human Resources Policies  179 - 220 

Public Document Pack



 
12.  Information Report for Noting  

 
221 - 252 

13.  Urgent Items    

 To consider any items of business that by reason of special circumstances the chairperson 
is of the opinion should be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency in accordance 
with paragraph 2.4 (e) of the Cabinet Procedure Rules within the Constitution. 
 

Note: Please note: Due to the current requirement for social distancing this meeting will not be held 
at its usual location. This will be a virtual meeting and Members and Officers will be attending 
remotely. The meeting will be recorded for subsequent transmission via the Council’s internet site 
which will be available as soon as practicable after the meeting. If you have any queries regarding 
this, please contact cabinet_committee@bridgend.gov.uk or tel. 01656 643147 / 643148. 
 
Yours faithfully 
K Watson 
Chief Officer, Legal, HR & Regulatory Services  
 
Councillors: Councillors Councillors 
HJ David 
CE Smith 

HM Williams 
D Patel 

NA Burnett 
SE Baldwin 



CABINET - TUESDAY, 18 MAY 2021 

 

 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE CABINET HELD REMOTELY - VIA MICROSOFT TEAMS 
ON TUESDAY, 18 MAY 2021 AT 14:30 

 
Present 

 
Councillor HJ David – Chairperson  

 
CE Smith HM Williams D Patel RE Young 
NA Burnett    

 
 
Officers: 
 
Claire Marchant Corporate Director Social Services and Wellbeing 
Janine Nightingale Corporate Director - Communities 
Gill Lewis Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change 
Kelly Watson Chief Officer Legal, HR and Regulatory Services 
Julie Ellams Democratic Services Officer - Committees 
Mark Shephard Chief Executive 
Lindsay Harvey Corporate Director Education and Family Support 
Martin Morgans Head of Performance and Partnership Services 
Richard Matthams Development Planning - Team Leader 
Philip O'Brien Digital Transformation and Customer Services Manager 
Jonathan Parsons Group Manager Development 

 
657. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
Cllr Huw David, Leader, declared a personal interest in item 8, Former Ewenny Road 
Industrial Estate: CCR Funding and Proposed Redevelopment  because he was a 
member of the Cardiff Capital Region Cabinet and he would be ultimately involved in 
making a decision on this proposal. He had been appointed to that Cabinet by this 
authority and therefore was declaring a personal interest. He was also the Chair of the 
Cardiff Capital Region Transport Authority and was involved in considering ways of 
progressing the park and ride feature at this site.  
 
Cllr Nicole Burnett, Cabinet Member for Social Services and Early Help declared a 
personal interest in item 10, Re-Commissioning Specialist Supported Living Services, 
because she had co-parenting responsibilities for a child with complex needs going 
through the transition process. 
 

658. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
RESOLVED              That the minutes of the 09/03/21 and 06/04/21 be approved as a 

true and accurate record.  

 
659. SMARTER BOROUGH - CLOSED CIRCUIT TELEVISION (CCTV) 

 
The Interim Chief Officer Finance, Performance and Change presented a report 
providing Cabinet with the background, current position statement and a proposal to 
recommend to Council the inclusion of a budget of £595,000 within the capital 
programme for implementing the Smarter Borough – Closed Circuit Television (CCTV) 
proposal. She explained that the existing CCTV system across the borough had been in 
service for 20 years, during which time several upgrades had been carried out to keep it 
operational without incurring large sums of expenditure. The system had now reached 
the point where the equipment was at the end of its working life and compatibility issues 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



CABINET - TUESDAY, 18 MAY 2021 

 
were becoming more and more frequent as replacement parts were no longer being 
manufactured resulting in cameras being decommissioned.  
 
The Interim Chief Officer Finance, Performance and Change explained that the 
Council’s CCTV service helped the Council and Police perform a one public sector 
approach to prevent and tackle priority issues such as anti-social behaviour, violence, 
theft and made a significant impact on residents’ perception of safety. The CCTV 
provision in Bridgend County Borough had clearly contributed to reducing the overall 
crime rates in the area and this was evidenced from the incident figures from June 2017 
to May 2019 which indicated that the CCTV service provided by BCBC successfully 
aided the investigation of 1484 incidents in Bridgend, 146 incidents in Maesteg, 89 
incidents in Porthcawl, and 29 incidents in Pencoed. The Police and Crime 
Commissioner (PCC) had recently indicated he may be willing to make an ongoing 
contribution to a sustainable service. Discussions were currently ongoing alongside 
discussions with Welsh Government and Central Government around a capital 
contribution towards the Smarter Borough – Closed Circuit Television proposal. 
 
The Head of Partnerships explained that any upgrade of the CCTV provision would be 
compliant with the Information Commissioner’s Office CCTV Code of Practice and data 
protection legislation. He outlined the current annual revenue costs of running the 24/7 
CCTV service as in paragraph 8.2 of the report. It was anticipated that under the new 
proposal, the total of the ongoing network, maintenance and software costs would be 
reduced by £20,000 per annum subject to a successful procurement exercise.  
 
The Head of Partnerships explained a Smart Borough would help the Council monitor 
and manage resources, with an end goal of saving time and money. Existing networks 
and services would be made more efficient through the use of digital technologies for the 
benefit of residents and businesses in the area. These technologies would help deliver 
better traffic management, smart parking, improved water and waste services, more 
efficient lighting and energy use in buildings and safer infrastructure, among other 
benefits. The Council could provide a Wi-Fi service by overlaying Wi-Fi services onto the 
existing CCTV infrastructure. Adopting a “free and unlimited public usage” model would 
encourage users to visit the Council’s Wi-Fi landing page to access information and 
services safely. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Communities thanked the officers for the report and for the 
news that discussions were ongoing with the Police and Crime Commissioner as he 
believed the police were one of the major beneficiaries of the CCTV system. The 
proposals went considerably further than the current CCTV system and could be seen 
as the first steps in creating a wifi borough. He was excited to see how this development 
could take the Borough forward in terms of partnership working and services for 
residents.   
 
The Cabinet Member for Social Services and Early Help was particularly excited as one 
of the Members for the Town Centre and the improvements to resident’s perception of 
safety in the town. She felt strongly about free wifi coverage which was a right for 
everyone and this had been particularly important during the recent lockdown in helping 
families to access digital content.  
 

The Leader agreed and added that CCTV provision was an essential tool in 
terms of community safety and the prevention of crime across the borough. 
   
The Cabinet Member for Wellbeing and Future Generations agreed with the comments 
made and asked for reassurance around GDPR and civil liberties because it could be a 
concern to some residents. The Interim Chief Officer Finance, Performance and Change  

Page 4



CABINET - TUESDAY, 18 MAY 2021 

 
replied that the proposal was not dissimilar to what we currently had and as it 
progressed, the authority would go through GDPR rules and regulations. The Head of 
Partnerships added that in terms of CCTV provision it would be compliant with the 
Information Commissioners Office.   
 
The Cabinet Member for Wellbeing and Future Generations asked for a further report 
when the plans were developed. The Interim Chief Officer Finance, Performance and 
Change explained that the intention was to take the report to Council in June and 
subsequent to that to secure a provider to put the network in and from that point they 
would be coming back with different options.   
 
The Leader added that they were regulated by a comprehensive legislative framework 
and had to record and register use in a specific way and CCTV could only be used for 
certain purposes requiring permission from designated officers within organisation. This 
was to ensure transparency.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Social Services and Early Help asked about adding additional 
cameras to the system for issues such as parking outside schools and asked if there 
was capacity for schools to buy in to ensure public safety and also mobile cameras for 
hotspots. The Group Manager for Transformation and Customer Services replied that 
building the CCTV infrastructure and upgrading it would give the opportunity to look at 
sighting mobile cameras to cover potential problems and antisocial behaviour including 
parking. This would be part of the second phase. He confirmed that they would be using 
the latest technology and IP cameras with improved technology to give better images 
and more coverage which would be critical in terms of crime detection and prosecution. 
 
The Deputy Leader added that the authority had squeezed every last bit of life from the 
current system which was valued by both the police and public. Residents were 
reassured that they and their children were being protected. This was far more than a 
CCTV renewal programme and about creating a smart county borough. The 
opportunities were exciting and of benefit to local citizens. 
 
RESOLVED:  That Cabinet considered the report and recommended a report to 

Council approving the inclusion of the Smarter Borough – Closed 
Circuit Television (CCTV) proposal within the capital programme 
with a budget of £595,000.     

 
660. PEST CONTROL CONTRACT 

 
The Interim Chief Officer Finance, Performance and Change presented a report 
providing Cabinet with the background, current position and options to determine the 
preferred way forward in terms of a pest control service following the previous Cabinet 
report on 19th January 2021 when it was agreed to explore further alternative options. 
Cabinet also approved the suspension of the relevant parts of the Council’s Contract 
Procedure Rules to enter into a short term contract with the current pest control service 
provider Rentokil whilst further options were being explored. She reported that Rentokil 
had agreed to extend the current contract until October 2021, they also stated that this 
was the maximum extension they would agree to under the terms of the current contract.  
 
The Interim Chief Officer Finance, Performance and Change explained that in January 
2021, Cabinet were presented with three options however the decision taken by Cabinet 
was to extend the current contract while further options were explored. The ‘Shaping 
Bridgend’s Future’ 2019 public consultation sought to obtain views on specific budget 
reduction proposals across Council directorates and included a question to obtain 
residents’ views on a pest control service. 58% of respondents stated that they were of 
the view that the Council was not best placed to provide a pest control service. 

Page 5



CABINET - TUESDAY, 18 MAY 2021 

 
Respondents were asked a supplementary question on whether the council should 
consider charging for these services and only 16% of respondents to this question 
stated that the service should continue to be free to residents.  
 
The Interim Chief Officer Finance, Performance and Change referred to the requirement 
for the contractor to respond to all domestic pest control treatment requests within 3 
working days. This was not ideal as it required the resident to wait in for the visit as no 
day or time could be agreed in advance. Due to this, there was a high level of abortive 
callouts made as a result of residents not being at the property when the pest control 
technician arrived This was important for a new contract in terms of specification. 
Indications from the market were that the future contract cost was likely to increase.  
 
The Interim Chief Officer Finance, Performance and Change explained that the 
Operational Manager for Customer Services liaised with the other 21 Welsh local 
authorities to identify what domestic pest control service was offered to their residents. 
From the 21 authorities that were contacted, apart from two further options that were 
identified in Bridgend, no authority provided any further alternative options as most 
either provide a full chargeable service, or did not provide a service at all. The Interim 
Chief Officer Finance, Performance and Change outlined the five options for 
consideration.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Wellbeing and Future Generations thanked the officers for their 
work and said that she would prefer an option that was free. Of the 5 options, 2 
contained charging and she would prefer those 2 not to be taken forward as there 
should be a free pest control service. The consultation was pre pandemic and they could 
not rely on the outcome. There had been a significant increase in the number of referrals 
during the pandemic and if residents were asked the same question again, she believed 
they would get a very different response. This was also evidenced from her own case 
work and discussions with other members. The Cabinet Member suggested that the 
authority continue with a free service and explore either option 3, 4 or 5. 
  
The Interim Chief Officer Finance, Performance and Change replied that if they were to 
go with option 3, they would need to consult. They were very tight with regard to 
timescales and this consultation would take 3 months. Options 4 and 5 did not require 
consultation. The Cabinet Member for Wellbeing and Future Generations confirmed she 
would be happy to move forward with options 4 or 5. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Social Services and Early Help agreed with the Cabinet 
Member for Wellbeing and Future Generations and preferred options 4 or 5. She did not 
feel that an external provider was incentivised enough to tackle and solve the problem. 
The problems in the community were not being tackled and that required a joined up 
approach connected with enforcement and environmental health. Who was responsible 
for the rat population? A number of issues needed to be considered in a more strategic 
way and only the authority could do that. A long term solution and not a temporary fix 
was required and it had to be free.   
 
The Deputy Leader stated that rats were not appropriate in any environment whether 
rural or urban. With regard to the public consultation, 59% believed the Council were not 
best placed to provide the service. He asked if those consulted were aware that there 
was a third party provider and this was an indication that they were not happy with the 
service. Also there was an indication that less than 1 in 5 would be happy to pay. He 
recalled that when this went to overview and scrutiny, there was a concern about the 
impact on low income households and who owned the rat. If they started charging no 
one would ring the Council to get rid of the rat. It fell on the Council to control the rat 
population. Not providing the service was not an option. He preferred option 4 or 5 

Page 6



CABINET - TUESDAY, 18 MAY 2021 

 
although there was no indication of price for option 4. He believed that they should go 
out to tender to provide a strategic rat control service providing the best value for money.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Communities was also leaning towards options 4 and 5. He 
was not surprised that the rat population was migrating due to the closure of restaurants 
and cafes. This might change in future as businesses reopened. This had simply made 
the public aware of the rat population within their environment. The consultation had 
been undertaken before the pandemic and the findings might now be questionable. 
Discontinuing the service was unthinkable and he was happy with options 4 or 5.  
 
The Interim Chief Officer Finance, Performance and Change explained that as expected, 
the authority would need to go for the best value option. With regard to the question who 
owned the rat, option 3 provided a solution as if it was in the house, there was a free 
service. To secure value for money, they would have to go out to tender with a 
specification and see what the market would provide in terms of an improved service.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Social Services and Early Help asked that they look at a 
strategy to eradicate rather than control the rat population and that the tender should 
reflect this. She believed there would be long term savings if this was tackled properly in 
the first instance. The Deputy Leader added that there would always be a rat presence 
so it was important to have a combination of a proactive and reactive service.       
 
The Leader said that it could not be addressed by one agency alone and a multi-agency 
strategy across the borough was required. They could also consider taking soundings 
from the Public Service Board. 
 
The Group Manager for Transformation and Customer Services explained that within the 
current contract was a clause to maintain close working relationships with SRS. Rentokil 
linked in with SRS to tackle issues such as rubbish in garden and would work to address 
issues. They would make sure that would be factored into the future specification.  
 
The Interim Chief Officer Finance, Performance and Change explained that there were 2 
parts to this, the strategy which was the SRS part and pest control which was on top of 
that. There was already a strategic approach.   
 
The Cabinet Member for Social Services and Early Help replied that she was aware of it 
and had experience of it and in her opinion it did not move quickly enough was not 
effective enough. There was a lot of batting back and forth and discovering and solving 
the root cause was not effective enough. The Interim Chief Officer Finance, 
Performance and Change said that would be taken through to the SRS Board.    
 
RESOLVED:                That Cabinet: 
 

 Considered the options outlined in the report and 
agreed to go out to tender. 

 Wanted to provide a free service and favoured options 
4 and 5 as referred to in the report. 
 

661. REPLACEMENT LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN - DEPOSIT PLAN PUBLIC 
CONSULTATION DOCUMENT 
 
The Corporate Director Communities presented a report seeking Cabinet approval to 
publish the Replacement Local Development Plan Deposit Draft (LDPDD) for public 
consultation in June 2021 for a period of 8 weeks in accordance with the Development 
Agreement approved by Council and Welsh Government in October 2020.  

Page 7



CABINET - TUESDAY, 18 MAY 2021 

 
 
The Corporate Director Communities explained that the LDPDD had been prepared by 
Bridgend County Borough Council to underpin preparation of the Replacement LDP 
2018-2033. The document was subject to public consultation in accordance with 
Regulation 17 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Development Plan) (Wales) 
Regulations 2005. Once finalised and adopted, the Replacement LDP would replace the 
existing LDP (2006-2021) as the statutory Development Plan for the County Borough. 
She stressed that this was a consultation document and all comments received would 
be given due consideration before a finalised version would be sent to Welsh 
Government for adoption. There would then be a Welsh Government examination held 
in public and they would scrutinise the document again. At this stage the Inspector could 
add or remove parts to the plan and they would then report back with the plan they 
wished the Council to adopt. It would then be for full Council to adopt the LDP or not.   
 
The Group Manager for Planning and Development Services explained for those not 
familiar with the process that the LDP was a high level strategy that must be produced 
by the Council. It put into land use terms the overall aims and aspirations of the authority 
and the objectives of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and 
priorities of the Bridgend Public Services Board’s Well-being Plan. It was a significant, 
essential piece of work without which the authority would be open to speculative 
developments and planning by appeal.  
 
The Strategic Planning and Transportation Manager outlined some of the other aspects 
that would be delivered by the replacement LDP including sustainable places through 
place making. The LDP would seek to deliver zero carbon homes supporting the 
decarbonisation strategy. He added that the material weight attached to the existing LDP 
would progressively diminish from 2021 placing the Council in a position where it would 
be open to challenge from the development industry. It was therefore imperative that 
they continued with the replacement LDP. He explained the structure of the document 
and outlined the various components.   
 
The Cabinet Member for Social Services and Early Help appreciated the substantial 
volume of work that had gone into the document since first discussed at Development 
Control Committee. She could see the emphasis on building new communities and 
addressing the need for more houses within the communities. There were schemes that 
could be controversial to some residents but she stressed that this was the consultation 
phase. She asked for reassurance that they would be investing in the communities they 
already had as well as investing in new ones and if the Council would be working on 
housing needs in an holistic way. Demographics were changing with more single people 
and they had to take on board different strategies such as the rent a room scheme and 
look at it holistically. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Education and Regeneration thanked the team for the way they 
had undertaken the task. He was pleased that they had included Town and Community 
Councils at an early stage. He was also happy that the report had been presented as a 
consultation document having already seen fake news and misinformation. This was a 
statutory duty and every Council should be doing it and those that failed would be open 
to free market and random applications and undesirable development. He believed that 
the housing market was broken with too much housing of the wrong type and not 
enough of the right type. There was unaffordable housing, second homes and unequal 
balance between councils and private sector developers. A robust LDP could support 
developers and protect residents against undesirable proposals. He had 3 key 
messages for the public, candidate sites were candidates only, the plan was open to 
consultation and comments would be listened to and acted upon and residents should 
send in their comments which would be considered on planning grounds. He would be 

Page 8



CABINET - TUESDAY, 18 MAY 2021 

 
taking part in the consultation as a ward member and in his own right based on planning 
grounds.    
 
The Cabinet Member for Communities acknowledged the phenomenal amount of work 
and dedication that had gone into the document and paid tribute to the Group Manager 
for Planning and Development Services and the Strategic Planning and Transportation 
Manager.  He said that in its final form it would act as protection for the County Borough 
and protect the environment, urban areas and residents and that was the reason why it 
was so important in planning terms. He was particularly pleased to see that the Green 
Agenda had prominence within the LDP giving added protection. This document was 
protection for BCBC and he echoed the plea for residents to get involved and engage 
with the process. He believed that when scrutinised by Welsh Government, this would 
be seen as a robust document.  
 
The Leader echoed the thanks of colleagues to the officers in the team who had worked 
hard on this mammoth undertaking. The public consultation details would be made 
available in June and they wanted as many people as possible to take part in the 
consultation. It would affect everyone and was about jobs, schools, green energy and 
new homes for the growing population within Bridgend. Without new homes there would 
be an increase in homelessness. Affordable and social homes were at the heart of 
strategic plans and sites. On completion of the consultation, responses would be 
considered and changes made to the plan. There would be a stage when it went to the 
Inspector who would make a judgement. If the plan was not robust enough or based on 
factual evidence then he could reject the plans and could potentially take forward a 
different set of plans. The plan would eventually come back to Full Council for a 
decision. The Strategic Planning and Transportation Manager added that when they 
submitted the plan to Welsh Government they wanted that to be the final plan. If there 
were sites not supported by robust evidence then the Inspector could add or delete 
sites.   
 
The Deputy Leader thanked the officers for the plan which was clearly a huge amount or 
work. It was based on a lot of evidence and met all the legislative requirements. He 
asked what weight public opinion would carry with the plan because there could be 
some elements that would not please everyone. The Strategic Planning and 
Transportation Manager replied that  
public consultation was hugely important to the process, not so much the volume of 
objections but material planning considerations. They urged members of the public to 
concentrate on matters such as traffic, congestion,   
the impact of a development on overlooking or rights of way. Comments based on 
material planning considerations carried a lot of weight.  
 
The Leader emphasised that this was an opportunity to help shape the LDP. Everyone 
with an interest could take part including groups such as young people and children to 
help plan for their long term future.  
 
The Leader asked if they could confirm that from major developments to relatively small 
scale developments, there would be a minimum requirement for social and affordable 
housing. Last year 1500 people made homelessness presentations to BCBC and 1000 
people were given temporary accommodation because they were homeless. The Group 
Manager for Planning and Development Services confirmed that there would be a 
requirement and there would be policy on affordable housing. They would have the 
opportunity to develop their own Supplementary Planning Guidance on affordable 
housing. They were looking to bring forward a number of houses and of those, 2000 
would be affordable so this was critical.  
 

Page 9



CABINET - TUESDAY, 18 MAY 2021 

 
The Cabinet Member for Wellbeing and Future Generations asked that they did not use 
affordable housing and social housing interchangeably. They were different types of 
housing and most members supported the idea of additional social housing which was 
different from affordable housing. In terms of the consultation she hoped that the 
consultation was in accessible form with an easy read version and a welsh version. The 
Strategic Planning and Transportation Manager Make replied that he had worked with 
the Engagement Team to develop a non-technical summary of the document and tried 
to make it as accessible as possible. The presentation of some tables was prescribed by 
Welsh Government so if negative feedback was received they would feed that back to 
WG.   
 
The Leader asked if they could reassure members that the transport infrastructure was 
at heart of the LDP and that it would serve the community and also the impact on nearby 
settlements. The public would also be asking about school places and education and the 
provision of primary health care etc. The Strategic Planning and Transportation Manager 
replied that in terms of large transport schemes these were identified in the documents. 
With regard to road infrastructure and the impact on local communities, a strategic 
document was being prepared to address this. This was a massive piece of work and 
still ongoing. In terms of new education facilities the thrust was towards large self-
contained sights would could contain their own primary schools. Those sites would be 
appraised to ensure they could deliver. In terms of health facilities, they had engaged 
with the local health board to ensure that the level of growth proposed would have 
access to adequate medical facilities.      
  
RESOLVED:                That Cabinet: 
 

a) Noted and approved the Supporting Evidence Base 
Documents described in the Table at Paragraph 4.27 of the 
Report; 

b) Approved the Replacement Local Development Plan Deposit 
Draft for public consultation in June 2021 for a period of 8 
weeks in accordance with the approved Development 
Agreement; and 

c) Authorised the Corporate Director Communities and 
Group Manager - Planning & Development Services 
Development to make any final refinements to the 
consultation document, supporting background papers and 
technical evidence required prior to public consultation and 
to publish the Deposit Draft and carry out the public 
consultation. 

 
662. USE OF PLANNING PERFORMANCE AGREEMENTS AND OTHER COST 

RECOVERY MEASURES FOR THE DETERMINATION OF PLANNING 
APPLICATIONS 
 
The Corporate Director Communities presented a report seeking Cabinet authorisation 
to use Planning Performance Agreements (PPAs) with developers as part of a system of 
cost recovery in dealing with mainly major development proposals and to introduce 
additional cost recovery measures. She explained that PPAs were widely used across 
the UK and were accepted by house builders and developers alike.   
 
The Group Manager Planning and Development Services outlined the report and what it 
hoped to achieve. A PPA should be viewed as an efficiency tool, which provided a clear 
timeframe to progress significant development proposals with associated economic 
benefits as well as where necessary additional resource was provided to ensure service 

Page 10



CABINET - TUESDAY, 18 MAY 2021 

 
continuity. He stressed that a PPA should not be considered as a means of ‘buying’ a 
planning consent or circumventing the normal planning process. 
 
The Group Manager Planning and Development Services explained that Bridgend had 
seen a number of large development proposals coming forward over the last year, for 
example, the expansion of the WEPA paper mill in Maesteg was a significant project 
with subsequent economic benefits both locally and regionally. This application tested 
the teams quite considerably from pre-application through to post decision and at one 
point required full time input for a number of officers. In this case, the project was time 
sensitive but was delivered on time following the grant of planning permission although 
other work streams within the service were delayed as a result. The use of a PPA in this 
circumstance would provide an agreed framework for the processing of the application 
from pre-application stage through to the discharge of conditions as well as the potential 
to secure additional resource to assist in covering those staff members fully engaged on 
the project.  
 
The Group Manager Planning and Development Services explained that PPAs would be 
used for larger development schemes but could also be used for any type of 
development that required an extraordinary response from the LPA. This could include 
renewable energy schemes or essential development on sensitive sites. PPAs could 
also be used as part of a response to consultations on Developments of National 
Significance (DNS) applications. These applications were submitted to and determined 
by the Welsh Ministers via the Planning Inspectorate, which took most of the planning 
fee. In this case, the local authority would be a statutory consultee and would be 
responsible for discharging the conditions and any subsequent enforcement. It was 
essential therefore that any costs incurred by securing critical advice could be recovered 
from the developer. 
He added that when the LDP was renewed and adopted an increase in planning apps 
for strategic sites was expected. They needed to be able to manage these applications 
as effectively as possible in addition to the day to day applications.  
 
The Group Manager Planning and Development Services outlined the proposed 
changes to the current paid pre-application advice service and the additional services 
added in response to public demand.   
 
The Cabinet Member for Communities added that the PPAs had been in existence for a 
number of years and could be used to offset the hit resulting from cut after cut since 
2010. These cuts had reduced the resilience of the planning department along with the 
added costs of continuing to provide the service. They had been in existence for a 
number of years and he considered that the scale of charges was not excessive. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Wellbeing and Future Generations asked for clarification 
regarding the potential impact on the smaller developers. The Group Manager Planning 
and Development Services replied that he would not anticipate a small scale builder 
entering into an agreement. This was more about complexity and where additional 
resource would be required. Developments of up to 10 houses were unlikely to need that 
but each case would be taken on its merit. They would only look to cover the costs 
incurred outside of the normal application fee. BCBC was the first authority in Wales to 
introduce a paid for pre application advice service. He was sceptical at first but from that 
point on they realised there was a willingness on the part of the developer to engage 
and receive bespoke advice. This should not be seen as a money making venture but 
purely to recover what was required. There was also the discretion to waive the fee if 
necessary such as for a deprived group or a community project. The Cabinet Member 
for Wellbeing and Future Generations thanked the Group Manager Planning and 
Development Services for the reassurances.  
 

Page 11



CABINET - TUESDAY, 18 MAY 2021 

 
The Leader added that a key feature of these arrangements were that they were 
voluntary arrangements for those who wanted a quicker or different type of service and 
the outcome would still be the same.  
 
 RESOLVED:                That Cabinet: 
 

1. Approved the use of Planning Performance Agreements 
and any resulting or associated 

      financial contribution as part of the planning      process. 
 

2. Approved 
• A 5% increase over the next two years on our pre-app 
charging schedule. 
• An increase in the hourly rates for specialist consultee 
advice from £50 an hour to £60 
an hour. 
• The addition of Pre-Purchase Certificates and 
Completion Certificates to the preapplication advice 
service up to £300 per request for individual houses and 
between £500 and £1000 for larger scale premises. 
• The addition of pre-submission validation checks of £90 
- £200 depending on the complexity of the proposal. 
• That a charge be made for completing NRW Derogation 
licence for applicant to send off 
to NRW in the sum of £250 
• The introduction of a charge for undertaking highway 
stopping up orders as required by 
planning permission. 

 
3. Authorised the Corporate Director Communities to take 
all necessary steps to introduce Performance Planning 
Agreements and to agree appropriate charges to be made 
in Performance Planning Agreements and, in consultation 
with the Chief Legal Officer to enter into Planning 
Performance Agreements as required 

 
663. FORMER EWENNY ROAD INDUSTRIAL ESTATE: CCR FUNDING AND PROPOSED 

REDEVELOPMENT 
 
The Corporate Director for Communities presented a report, the purpose of which, was 
to update Cabinet on the progress that has been made in order to bring forward a mixed 
use regeneration of the former Ewenny Road Industrial Estate, Maesteg, and to seek 
approval to progress with the due diligence stage of a grant funding application in order 
to secure Cardiff Capital Region (CCR) funding for necessary infrastructure and 
remediation works. The report also provided an update on the ongoing relationship with 
Pontardawe Coal & Metals Company Limited (PCMCL) and the joint aim of the parties to 
facilitate the remediation, marketing and sale of land at Ewenny Road (Former Cooper 
Standard Site), Ewenny Industrial Estate, Maesteg. 
 
She explained that he former Ewenny Road Industrial Estate site is a 19.71 acre vacant 
parcel of land that is owned in part by BCBC and in part by PCMCL. PCMCL are a 
subsidiary of Clowes Development (UK) Ltd, a substantial family owned property 
development and investment company based in Derby.   
 
BCBC owned 7.52 acres (Former Cooper Standard Site) whilst PCMCL own 12.19 acres 
(Former Budel Pac Cosi Site), with this reflecting an ownership split by acreage of circa 

Page 12



CABINET - TUESDAY, 18 MAY 2021 

 
40 percent BCBC and 60 percent PCMCL owned land. Both parties have previously 
completed demolition and site clearance work in readiness for development although the 
lack of viability has resulted in the entire 19.71 acre site remaining vacant and in a state 
of dereliction. 
 
Following an assessment of the application the Development Control Committee 
resolved to approve the application subject to finalising the planning obligations. This 
initial proposal was subsequently revised in an attempt to improve the viability of the 
scheme and this Committee resolved to grant planning permission for this revised 
scheme in June 2016. Terms were also previously agreed with PCMCL for the disposal 
of the BCBC owned land and these were authorised by Cabinet on the 10th May 2016.  
 
The Corporate Director – Communities then outlined certain information, as alluded to in 
the report, of further works that were now needed at this site, so as to improve it. Given 
the costs associated with these works the development of the area, was not now 
financially viable without additional funding support she added. 
 
In September 2020 the Cardiff Capital Region (CCR) Housing Viability Gap Fund was 
launched. This fund is a £35 million targeted housing investment programme designed 
to overcome evidenced market failures relating to financial viability across South East 
Wales. Officers had worked collaboratively with PCMCL to prepare a comprehensive 
suite of application documents and put the scheme forward for consideration as part of 
this fund. 
 
Following a period of evaluation by CCR and CBRE, a report to the CCR Cabinet on 
15th March 2021 identified an indicative schedule of sites that had been shortlisted for 
funding, with the Former Ewenny Road Industrial Estate, having been shortlisted for 
£3.5 million of funding. 
 
The Corporate Director for Communities continued, by advising that the CCR Viability 
Gap Fund is intended to unlock housing led development on sites where the upfront 
infrastructure costs render the scheme unviable and are subsequently stalled. The CCR 
Fund seeks to optimise economic returns by investing in the most strategically located 
sites which maximise value for money.  The CCR Funding Programme had been 
structured to target the areas of lowest economic competitiveness in the region, as 
informed by the UK Competitiveness Index 2019. This was to be achieved via the split 
fund prioritisation approach detailed in paragraph 4.1 of the report. 
 
In addition to the two £15 million sub funds outlined in the above part of the report, an 
additional £5 million of Welsh Government funding was being made available for 
schemes that could meet specific requirements. BCBC was not eligible for sub fund 1 
and the Welsh Government funding conditions were not appropriate, as they required all 
residential units to meet space standards that were not deliverable for the Ewenny Road 
site. As such the site was eligible to be put forward for consideration as part of the £15 
million sub fund 2 element. 
 
Following a period of assessment and initial due diligence, CCR released an indicative 
shortlist in March 2021 which was reported to and approved by CCR Cabinet on 15th 
March 2021. This shortlist included the Former Ewenny Road scheme for which a 
maximum of £3.5 million of funding has been earmarked. 
 
The Corporate Director for Communities advised therefore, that it was now necessary to 
request Cabinet endorsement for the submission of the full application. Officers would 
report back to Cabinet to seek approval to accept a funding agreement, should the 
application be successful. 
 

Page 13



CABINET - TUESDAY, 18 MAY 2021 

 
The remaining sections of the report, included information on revisions required to the 
Masterplan at draft stage, to ensure that there was a mixed regeneration of proposals on 
the site, (as contained in paragraph 4.9 of the report), relationships with PCML and the 
next steps to be taken, going forward. 
 
The Corporate Director for Communities concluded her report, by referring to the 
financial implications regarding its proposals. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Communities commended the report and its proposals, which 
he felt was largely due to the Council being part of the Cardiff Capital City Deal 
arrangement, which would provide grant funding for that which was proposed at the site. 
The development of the site would give BCBC the ability to bid for Metro finance, in 
order to create a Park and Ride facility at Ewenny Road. The development proposals 
would also assist the Authority’s green agenda, ie with the provision of electric vehicles, 
as well as a children’s play area. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Education and Regeneration echoed the importance of the 
Council being part of the Cardiff Capital City Deal Region, which was assisting in the 
support of development works at this site, on the back of the proposed transport 
terminus at Porthcawl and enhanced transport links at Pyle station. No doubt other 
projects would also follow on, he added. He was pleased to see such a mixed set of 
development proposals at one location, which was a brownfield site, that included a 
transport hub, together with both residential and commercial development, amongst 
others. 
 
The Leader was also pleased to see a commitment being made towards the building of 
over 180 homes that included affordable housing for local people, which would result in 
this being the largest housing development in Maesteg, together with a park and ride 
facility and a first new enterprise hub, serving the Llynfi Valley. This was only being 
realised he added, from being a member of the Cardiff Capital City Deal. This was also 
the biggest regeneration project that had been undertaken in Maesteg in a generation, 
he concluded. 
  
RESOLVED:                     That Cabinet: 

 
• Noted the progress that had been made in connection with 

regeneration proposals for the former Ewenny Road 
Industrial Estate, the proposed remediation, marketing 
and disposal of the site in order to facilitate mixed use 
regeneration;     

•  Authorised officers to continue to engage with CCR on the 
final submission for the Housing Viability Gap Fund grant 
for which the site had been shortlisted. 

• Agreed to receive a future report on the contractual terms 
to be agreed with PCMCL on the proposed 
redevelopment of the site. 

• Agreed to receive a future report on any financial 
implications to the authority on progressing the proposed 
redevelopment. 

•  Delegated the acceptance of a grant towards the 
redevelopment of the Former Ewenny Road Industrial 
Estate to the Director of Communities and Section 151 
Officer 

 
 
 

Page 14



CABINET - TUESDAY, 18 MAY 2021 

 
664. DOGS TRUST TRAIL 

 
The Corporate Director for Communities presented a report, so as to request approval to 
participating in and hosting the Dogs Trust Mini Snoopy Trail in Porthcawl in 2022; to 
enter into an agreement between the Dogs Trust Trustee Limited and Dogs Trust 
Promotions Limited and Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC), and to outline the 
associated cost for the Local Authority.  
 
The background of the report, confirmed that Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) 
had been approached by the Corporate Development Team of the Dogs Trust, to host a 
mini trail in Porthcawl to be run as an extension of the main Cardiff Dogs Trail with 
Snoopy in 2022.  The current proposed timeframe was for a 10 week period from March 
to June 2022, though this could change depending on circumstances nearer the time. 
 
She explained that the proposal builds on the Wild in Art trail model and is well-
established having, to date, delivered over 50 trails around the world. A recent example 
was the Cardiff Snowdogs trails in 2017, which attracted 350k visitors across the 10 
week period and generated £10.5m for the local economy. The project was looking to 
expand satellite trails of 6 or more Snoopy sculptures across the region. 
 
The Dogs Trail proposal fulfils a number of the Council’s corporate well-being objectives, 
especially in relation to supporting the local economy. One of the three overarching 
priorities in the Bridgend destination Management Plan 2018 – 2022, was to raise the 
profile and attract more visitors to Bridgend County Borough by promoting the Bridgend 
County Borough through targeted Public Relations (PR) and marketing and developing a 
diverse portfolio of events, to include attracting new events of regional or national 
significance.  
 
The proposal would be run as an extension of the main Cardiff trail, with easy access for 
visitors and a minimum of 6 sculptures within the destination.  This would be cited so as 
to create at least a half a day visit. 
 
In addition to the community, tourism and economic benefits, there was an extensive 
Learning programme associated with the project which aims to engage with 130 schools 
across the South Wales region, many of which will be within the Bridgend County 
Borough. 
 
The Corporate Director for Communities Dogs Trail project team would manage all 
aspects of trail planning and delivery, with no requirement for BCBC to be heavily 
involved, other than to assist in recruiting learning programme participants and 
facilitating liaison with various Council departments in relation to the trail. 
 
BCBC was required to enter into a Sponsorship Agreement with Dogs Trust Trustee 
Limited and Dogs Trust Promotions Limited. Negotiations were currently taking place 
with the relevant parties over the terms of this Sponsorship Agreement, she added. 
 
If, following negotiations, final terms cannot be agreed between the parties or any 
perceived risks to BCBC exist that cannot be removed or mitigated, then BCBC will not 
be proceeding in taking part in this event, further added the Corporate Director for 
Communities. 
 
She concluded her submission, by confirming the report’s financial implications which 
meant that there would be a commitment from BCBC of £30k as a one-off contribution, 
that would be met from the Tourist Events Fund. 
 

Page 15



CABINET - TUESDAY, 18 MAY 2021 

 
The Cabinet Member for Education and Regeneration advised that there weren’t that 
many dog re-homing centres that he was aware of throughout the UK, but he was 
pleased to see that the one located in Bridgend was an expanding Charity. Porthcawl he 
considered, was a good location for the event and he was aware that the proposal had 
been discussed with local Forum groups in this seaside attraction, such as the 
Destination Management Group which deals with tourism and the Coastal Partnership 
Group, which consults with key stakeholders that include Porthcawl Town Council, as 
well as BCBC Members. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Communities confirmed that the Council had a long association 
with the Dog Trust in Bridgend, which had in recent years flourished and expanded. He 
was also in agreement with the ‘Snoopy Trail’ which would encourage both extra tourism 
and revenue for the County Borough and was an added attraction in Porthcawl, together 
with the new Noddy train facility. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Wellbeing and Future Generations noticed from the report, that 
there were a number of potential different locations for the Snoopy Trail in the County 
Borough, but that the Dog Trust had selected Porthcawl as the venue for this. She asked 
what other areas were put forward, bearing in mind that there were other lovely areas 
(such as in our valley locations), where this could have alternatively taken place. 
 
The Corporate Director for Communities, confirmed that when the BCBC were 
approached by the Dog Trust, they gave the Authority a set of requirements that had to 
be met in terms of a suitable location, for example, flat sections of land in the Council’s 
ownership, that were accessible to wheelchairs etc and were of a certain required 
length. The Council then went back to the Dog Trust with a list of suitable locations that 
fitted with these requirements, that included routes in the valleys. However, of them all 
the Trust felt that Porthcawl was the most suitable of all the suggestions put to them. 
The Corporate Director for Communities added however, that for any similar ideas or 
events to the one that formed part of the report, these could be looked to be held in 
other areas of the County Borough. 
 
The Deputy Leader noted the financial commitment of £30k and he asked if the statues 
proposed to be cited would remain as part of this. 
 
The Corporate Director for Communities advised that these would be cited as part of the 
event, to increase the attraction for tourism and the revenue that would come with that. 
However, after the event, the Dog Trust would then sell on the Snoopy statues. 
 
The Leader confirmed that the Bridgend Dog Trust was facing unprecedented demands, 
in that they were being faced with taking on more and more dogs including puppies, so 
this event would hopefully help in supporting their Charity. The event would also give 
rise to an increase to visitors to Porthcawl and them spending money in shops and 
businesses there. This would help them make up for what they had missed out on in 
terms of income and revenue, when shops had closed there in lockdown due to the 
Covid-19 pandemic.     
 
RESOLVED:                That Cabinet, subject to the terms of the Sponsorship Agreement 

being agreed as set out in clause 3.7 of the report 
(correction to report which read clause 4.7 ):- 

 
• approved BCBC participating in and hosting the Dogs 

Trust Mini Snoopy Trail in Porthcawl in 2022; 
• approved the use of £30,000.00 of Tourism Events 

funding as outlined in section 8; 

Page 16



CABINET - TUESDAY, 18 MAY 2021 

 
• delegated authority to the Corporate Director 

Communities, in consultation with the Chief Officer - 
Legal, HR & Regulatory Services and the Interim Chief 
Officer, Finance, Performance and Change to agree and 
approve the terms of the sponsorship agreement and to 
arrange execution of that agreement on behalf of the 
Council. 

 
665. RE-COMMISSIONING SPECIALIST SUPPORTED LIVING SERVICES 

 
The Corporate Director for Social Services and Wellbeing submitted a report, in order 
to:- 
 

 Request Cabinet approval to implement the proposed recommissioning plan 
for Specialist Supported Living services, for people with a learning disability, 
across Bridgend County Borough; 

 Request Cabinet approval for Bridgend County Borough Council (the 
Council) to undertake a procurement exercise to invite tenders to establish a 
Framework Agreement of commissioned specialist service providers; 

 Seek authority to vary the current contract in place at Clos Penglyn, which is 
a supported living service commissioned for people with a learning disability 
and complex challenging behaviour, including autistic spectrum conditions, 
by extending the existing terms for a further 7 months, in accordance with 
Contract Procedure Rule (CPR) 3.2.9.3 

 
She commenced by stating that since 2015, in collaboration with colleagues in health, 
the Council had procured three specialist supported living services for people with 
learning disabilities. These services were based in houses named Clos Penglyn, 
Condors Rest and Viesther, known collectively as the Closer to Home project, and were 
occupied by eleven individuals.   
 
The aim of the Closer to Home project was to provide local, specialist supported living 
services for people who have a learning disability and a high level of health and social 
care needs, and who would otherwise live outside of their local area in more specialist 
residential provision. All the people who lived in these schemes, had their own tenancy 
and bespoke support arrangements designed around their individual needs. 
 
The Corporate Director for Social Services and Wellbeing confirmed that there were also 
operational and strategic groups which overseen the day to day management of the 
schemes and the strategic direction of the Closer to Home project. 
 
Following an in-depth review of the generic schemes in 2018-19 conducted by the 
Council’s Adult Social Care Transformation and Review team on the effectiveness of 
service delivery and outcomes, it was concluded that three of the schemes reviewed at 
19 Glyn Y Mel, Pencoed, Tregroes Bungalow, Pencoed and 107 Cwrt Coed Parc, 
Maesteg would be more suitable for inclusion within a specialist service arrangement, 
due to the needs of the seven individuals living in them. It was decided to group all six 
schemes together under the Closer to Home service category.  These schemes also had 
a common characteristic, in that there was an element of funding from Cwm Taf 
Morgannwg University Health Board in each of them. 
 
She advised that it has been agreed with the Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health 
Board that a refreshed Closer to Home Commissioning Strategy was needed and a new 
planning group has been developed to progress the needs analysis and develop the 
optimal accommodation and care and support services.    
 

Page 17



CABINET - TUESDAY, 18 MAY 2021 

 
Turning to the present situation, the Corporate Director for Social Services and 
Wellbeing, confirmed that a market testing event took place on 19 April 2021 where 
attendee providers gave very positive feedback on how the Council’s supported living 
schemes had been recommissioned in 2020.  It was clear from this meeting that the 
preferred option for recommissioning Specialist Supported Living Services, was to use a 
similar model for the service specification, where there would be a clear emphasis on 
co-production and improved communication links between providers and commissioners 
of the service.  As with the supported living framework, the proposal is to implement a 
four year Framework Agreement, which will bring both service types more in line with 
one another. 
 
The proposals here was as follows: 
 
a. Stage 1 – Undertake a procurement exercise in May 2021 to establish a 

Framework Agreement with a number of service providers who meet the quality 
specification who would then be considered for future delivery of the listed 
Specialist Supported Living Schemes (the “Specialist Service”) – the Framework 
Agreement to be awarded by November 2021; 

 
b. Stage 2 – Undertake a series of call-off tenders under the Framework 

Agreement for each Specialist Service.  This will be a phased procurement 
undertaken over a  number of months following award of the Framework 
Agreement. 

 
She continued by confirming that the Council was committed to working with high quality 
and experienced service providers, and there would be a very strong emphasis on 
quality as part of the Framework Agreement tender evaluation process. To enable this, 
the cost:quality ratio of 20:80 will be strongly weighted in favour of quality which would 
be evaluated through the written responses from the providers, as well as presentations 
and/or interviews that are part of the tender process. 
 

           The table in paragraph 4.8 of the report, set out the planned Stage 1 procurement 
timescales, should approval be given to implement the recommissioning plan. 

 
It was further proposed that the Council carries out a (Stage 2) procurement exercise 
over the next 12 months in order to recommission those services so listed. 
 
The Corporate Director for Social Services and Wellbeing, advised that in July 2020, a 
report was submitted to Cabinet seeking authority to vary the current contract with 
DRIVE Ltd in respect of the specialist supported living service at Clos Penglyn, by 
extending the existing term for a further 12 months, in accordance with Contract 
Procedure Rule (CPR) provision 3.2.9.3, meaning a revised end date of 31 August 2021, 
as highlighted in the table in paragraph 3.10 of the report. The reasons for this, were 
also outlined in the report. 
 
The necessary engagement work had now been carried out, but in order to align all of 
the Specialist Supported Living Schemes and to ensure  compliance with the Council’s 
Contract Procedure Rules, it was proposed that the Council authorises the extension of 
the existing terms for Clos Penglyn for a further 7 months to 31 March 2022, in 
accordance with CPR 3.2.9.3. 

 
The report culminated by outlining the financial implications relating to the report’s 
proposals. 
 
The Leader asked if the service users and their families, where it was appropriate, will 
have an involvement in the proposed commissioning arrangements with regard to the 

Page 18



CABINET - TUESDAY, 18 MAY 2021 

 
care and support that is going to be provided to them through the service. Some of these 
clients had very complex needs. Secondly, he asked where these support services 
would be located throughout the County Borough. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Social Services and Early Help, confirmed that she had 
experience of seeing first-hand the complex needs that some of these young people 
have as they require these support services and how much input key services such as 
those exampled in the report, have a bearing in determining the future they want to lead 
in life. This was the start of their journey and the specialist support provided through the 
facilities referred to in the report, would assist them going on to lead the best life 
possible. It was important she added, for there to be a person centred approach in this 
venture, paved in such a way, that will help these young people live an independent yet 
supported life. As the Leader had alluded to, it was very important to engage with the 
individuals and their families/carers, in order to ensure the appropriate support for each 
individuals differing requirements were available and subsequently met. 
 
The Corporate Director for Social Services and Wellbeing advised that through the 
commissioning process service users and those that supported them, would have both a 
‘voice and a choice,’ in terms of the type and level of support put in place for them. 
Specialists such as those in Social Care, Health and the Learning Disability, would 
ensure that this is the case, though working in an integrated manner. People First would 
also would provide ongoing engagement support through the re-commissioning process. 
Independent advocacy arrangements were also critically important as part of the service 
changes, she added. In terms of the supporting accommodation, there would be 3 such 
complexes in Pencoed and 1 each in the areas of Tondu, Cwmfelin and Maesteg. The 
longer term vision was to add to these throughout other areas of the County Borough.    
 
RESOLVED:                            That Cabinet: 
 

 Approved the recommissioning plan proposed for Specialist Supported Living 
services in Bridgend; 

 Approved the invitation of tenders to establish a Framework Agreement of 
commissioned specialist providers; 

 Authorised the extension of the existing terms for Clos Penglyn for a further 7 
months to 31 March 2022, in accordance with CPR 3.2.9.3; 
Noted that a further report would be presented to Cabinet, requesting approval to 
enter into a Framework Agreement for externally commissioned Supported Living 
services and to implement the Stage 2 procurement of Specialist Service 
tenders. 

 
666. APPOINTMENT OF LOCAL AUTHORITY GOVERNORS 

 
The Corporate Director for Education and Family Support submitted a report, the 
purpose of which, was to seek approval from Cabinet for the appointment of local 
authority governors to the school governing bodies listed at paragraph 4.1. of the report 
 
By way of background, he advised that in accordance with the Council’s ‘Guidance on 
the appointment of local education authority governors’ approved by Cabinet on 14 
October 2008, officers had considered applications received for current and forthcoming 
vacancies for local authority governor positions on school governing bodies (see 
paragraph 4.1 and Appendix A, to the report). 
 
For the two schools in the table shown in the report, the two applicants met the 
approved criteria for appointment as local authority governors and there was no 
competition for these vacancies. These candidates were therefore subsequently 
appointed. 

Page 19



CABINET - TUESDAY, 18 MAY 2021 

 
 
The Corporate Director for Education and Family Support, confirmed that there were 
however, still 28 vacancies that needed to be filled in 20 schools, as illustrated in the 
attached Appendix. 
  
The Cabinet Member for Education and Regeneration, extended his thanks to all those 
who had volunteered and encouraged other community minded people, to consider 
showing an interest in applying for the vacancies that presently remained unfilled. He 
hoped that these would continue to be filled in due course, he added. 
 
RESOLVED:                 That Cabinet approved the appointments identified at paragraph 
4.1 of the report. 
 

667. URGENT ITEMS 
 
None 
 
The meeting closed at 17:35 
 

Page 20



CABINET - TUESDAY, 22 JUNE 2021 

 

1 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE CABINET HELD REMOTELY - VIA MICROSOFT TEAMS 
ON TUESDAY, 22 JUNE 2021 AT 14:30 

 
Present 

 
Councillor HJ David – Chairperson  

 
CE Smith HM Williams D Patel NA Burnett 
SE Baldwin    
 
 
Officers: 
 
Claire Marchant Corporate Director Social Services and Wellbeing 
Janine Nightingale Corporate Director - Communities 
Gill Lewis Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change 
Julie Ellams Democratic Services Officer - Committees 
Laura Kinsey Head of Children's Social Care 
Deborah Exton Interim Deputy Head of Finance 
Lindsay Harvey Corporate Director Education and Family Support 

 
668. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
Cllr Charles Smith declared a personal interest in agenda item 11 
Cllr Nicole Burnett declared a personal interest in agenda item 11 
Cllr Stuart Baldwin declared a personal interest in agenda item 11 
Cllr Dhanisha Patel declared a prejudicial interest in agenda item 16, and withdrew from 
the meeting during this item.  
 

669. CROSS-PARTY RECOVERY PANEL - RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The Chairperson of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee presented a report 
which outlined the recommendations of the Cross-Party Recovery Panel attached at 
Appendix A to the report, which had been endorsed by the Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. 
 
She explained that the Cross-Party Recovery Panel met on 7 December 2020, 
considered the PSB Community impact assessment, the Cabinet response to the Phase 
1 Recommendations and selected Housing and Homelessness as a key area for 
examination in greater depth. The Panel met on 11 March and 14 May 2021 and heard 
from invitees from: Community Housing Cymru; the Chartered Institute of Housing 
Cymru; the Authority’s Housing Team and the Shared Regulatory Service 
Neighbourhood Service Team. 
 
She advised that recommendations were made on Housing and Homelessness at its 
meeting on 14th May 2021. The COSC endorsed the recommendations at its meeting 
on 9th June 2021. She outlined these recommendations as attached in Appendix A to 
the report. 
 
The Cabinet Member Wellbeing and Future Generations thanked all Members for 
engaging in the process for putting the recommendations together. She added that the 
recommendations were not out of the ordinary and had been important topics which had 
been engaged in considerably and very regularly. The Leader echoed this and stated 
that BCBC were already prioritising one and two-bedroom accommodation to meet the 
need. He added that working with partners, BCBC were developing on site provision for 
people which involved the conversion of redundant and derelict commercial properties.  

Page 21



CABINET - TUESDAY, 22 JUNE 2021 

 
  
RESOLVED:                That Cabinet agreed to consider the 

recommendations of the Cross-Party Recovery 
Panel (Appendix A) which had been endorsed 
by the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee as part of the recovery process. 

 
670. SCHOOL MODERNISATION PROGRAMME : BRIDGEND WEST SCHOOLS 

MODERNISATION PROPOSAL - DRAFT OBJECTIONS REPORT 
 
The Corporate Director Education and Family Support presented a report which:  
 

 informed Cabinet of the statutory objections received by the local authority during 
the objections period in respect of the proposal;  
 

 sought Cabinet’s approval to publish the draft ‘Objections Report’ on BCBC’s 
website (Appendix A to the report); and to  

 
 requested that Cabinet determines the proposal. 

 
The Corporate Director Education and Family Support provided background to the report 
and the Councils agreement to adopt the 5 revised principles as a framework for school 
organisation in Bridgend as indicated in section 3 of the report. 
 
He explained that the report detailed the preferred way forward for the Bridgend West 
schemes and the preferred site location for the new schools. These were set out at 
section 3.3 and 3.4 of the report. 
 
The Corporate Director Education and Family Support added that a consultation 
exercise was carried out between 25 January 2021 and 7 March 2021 in accordance 
with the statutory School Organisation Code. A copy of the consultation document was 
made available during this time on the Council’s website, this was hyperlinked at 3.7 of 
the report for information. The consultation document invited views and opinions to be 
submitted in respect of the proposal. A summary of these views and opinions were then 
published in the form of a Consultation Report. The outcome of the consultation was 
reported to Cabinet on 6 April 2021 and it gave approval to issue a public notice. 
 
He stated that a number of objections were received regarding the proposals which 
prompted the need for a objections report which needed to be published summarising 
the objections and the authority’s response to the objections. Cabinet needed to 
consider the proposal in light of objections. Cabinet could then accept, reject or modify 
the proposal. 
 
The Corporate Director Education and Family Support outlined the key issues raised 
from the objections which were summarised as the following: 
 

 Small school moving to a larger school concerns 

 Site size/facilities concerns  

 Safety/security, parking, infrastructure concerns  

 Condition of the school building at Afon Y Felin  

 Timing/process concerns  

 Area housebuilding 

 Alternate options 
 
Details of the above were listed in section 3 of Appendix A. 

Page 22



CABINET - TUESDAY, 22 JUNE 2021 

 
 
The Corporate Director Education and Family Support outlined the financial implications 
as set out in section 8 of the report. He explained that if approved, the budget 
requirements would need to be built into the MTFS as an annual charge over a 25-year 
period.  
 
The Cabinet Member Education and Regeneration stated that this had been an ongoing 
issue and a number of meetings had been held regarding this. He explained that there 
had been assumptions and confusions which were understandable, but believed these 
had been dealt with thoroughly and meticulously in the report. He added that the schools 
had served their purpose and were no longer fit for that purpose. The children in 
Cornelly deserve better schools and this report proposed that. He added that the 
children would not need to move into the new school until everything was finalised giving 
time for getting used to the new surroundings. 
 
The Deputy Leader agreed with the proposals and was pleased to see the small school 
ethos being continued as this was important for Cornelly schools. He added that the 
current school was not in a fit state to be used for much longer and believed that time 
was of the essence in securing a fit for purpose school. 
 
The Leader asked what the extent of repairs was like at the current school sites. The 
Corporate Director Education and Family Support explained that the exterior of the afon 
y felin building there were numerous repairs relating to the windows and walls, and 
within the building the areas identified were flooring, heating and electrical. These were 
then prioritised in order of severity and necessity. The Leader asked what the condition 
of the other two schools, Ysgol Y Ferch o’r Sgêr and Corneli Primary School were.  
 
The School Programme Manager explained that these schools were also in similar 
condition to Afon Y Felin and the backlog of repairs were also at a similar level. The 
Project Manager – School Modernisation outlined key details relating to the types of 
repairs.  
 
The Cabinet Member Social Services and Early Help empathised with the concerns 
shared by the parents but added that the small school ethos can exist in a larger school, 
with the added benefits of what larger schools can provide in terms of more afterschool 
clubs, greater variety of teachers etc. She provided examples of her own children 
making a similar move and the positive effect it had on them.   
 
The Cabinet Member Communities welcomed the report and echoed the comments by 
the other Cabinet members. He mentioned the ever-growing population and the 
requirement for school spaces and asked how the new school would facilitate that. The 
Corporate Director Education and Family Support stated that wherever possible the aim 
was to include surplus spaces within the classrooms to be able to facilitate the growth 
and provide some futureproofing.  
 
The Leader asked what lessons had been learned from previous experiences in 
transitioning from an old site to a new site and what can be expected with this transition. 
The Corporate Director Education and Family Support explained that a similar transition 
occurred with schools in the Bettws area whereby meetings were set up with teachers 
and headteachers who had previously gone through that experience and discussed the 
issues relating to transitioning which proved to be beneficial going forward. He added 
that formal and informal arrangements will take place regarding the current proposals. 
The formal arrangements will be following the guidance and legislation changes from 
Welsh Government, the informal arrangements will be engagement with the current 
schools and governing bodies with the aim to maintaining the strengths and identities of 
the current schools going forward to the new school.  

Page 23



CABINET - TUESDAY, 22 JUNE 2021 

 
 
The School Programme Manager also outline some key areas of improvement going in 
to the new school which included soft play area and library facilities, potential drop off 
area for children, staff parking, the configuration of the school would suit the daily 
running of the school better than the old schools, the access into the school as well as 
the orientation of the school in terms of visible daylight.   
 

RESOLVED:                    That Cabinet: 
 

 Noted the statutory objections received as detailed in the attached draft 
objections report and appendices; 

 

 Approved the draft objections report for publication; and 
 

 Agreed to proceed with the scheme as outlined 

 
 

671. CORPORATE SAFEGUARDING POLICY 
 
The Corporate Director Social Services and Wellbeing presented a report which sought 
approval for a revised Corporate Safeguarding Policy as attached at Appendix 1. 
 
She explained that the policy was last revised in August 2020 and had now been further 
developed to expand policy requirements in the areas of governance, quality assurance, 
safe workforce, and safe services. The revision outlined the specific accountabilities of 
each Councillor and member of the BCBC workforce to safeguard adults and children at 
risk. 
 
The Corporate Director Social Services and Wellbeing explained that the revised policy 
was based on 4 key areas of safeguarding which were: 
 

 Effective governance 

 Quality assurance of performance 

 Safe workforce 

 Safe services 
 
She added that to ensure quality assurance and reporting, an annual report would be 
presented to Scrutiny Committees as well as Cabinet, with the appropriate reporting 
from Audit Wales, CIW and ESTYN being presented to the Governance and Audit 
Committee, Scrutiny Committees and Cabinet. She further added that safeguarding 
must be considered in all future contracting and commissioning arrangements.  
 
The Cabinet Member Social Services and Early Help welcome the report and stated that 
safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility individually as well as collectively. She asked 
that LEA Governors that were appointed by the authority receive necessary 
safeguarding training. The Corporate Director Social Services and Wellbeing explained 
that the role of the Chair of Governors had been updated and had the expectation that 
governors with responsibilities in safeguarding must take the relevant training at level 3 
or BCBC equivalent qualification, and all governors must complete the relevant modules 
on ‘keeping learners safe’.  
 
The Cabinet Member Communities asked how the policy would be published and the 
responsibilities within it to ensure that the understanding of the risks are shared among 
the community and the awareness made. The Corporate Director Social Services and 
Wellbeing explained that there was always a push to raise awareness of safeguarding 

Page 24



CABINET - TUESDAY, 22 JUNE 2021 

 
as well as reporting any issue that may see relevant and that it was better to report 
something than not. She added that it was important to ensure the information was 
displayed on the BCBC website and it was accessible to everyone, how to report issues 
as well as in hours and out of hours contact information. 
 
RESOLVED:                    That Cabinet approved the Corporate Safeguarding Policy 
 

672. DEVELOPMENT OF BRYNMENYN CHILDRENS HUB 
 
The Corporate Director Social Services and Wellbeing presented a report which updated 
Cabinet on:  
 

 developments at Maple Tree House (children’s emergency and assessment 
unit/Children’s Placement Hub”) in respect of the plans to relocate the service, 
and; 

 

 requested Cabinet approval for the Head of Children’s Social Care (in their 
capacity as Responsible Individual for the service) to oversee and monitor the 
implementation of the plans as set out in this report. 

 
The Corporate Director Social Services and Wellbeing explained that it was a priority to 
ensure the safe reduction of Looked after Children (LAC) but it was equally as important 
that all children had access to timely assessments therapeutic interventions and 
accommodation care and support.  
 
The Corporate Director Social Services and Wellbeing outlined the current situation as 
indicated in section 4 of the report. She outlined the designs and plans for the proposed 
new development for the specially designed and purpose-built Children’s Placement 
Hub, from which the newly implemented service model can be effectively delivered. 
 
She outlined t Capital funding totalling £2.25 million has been secured for the 
development of the new Hub, broken down as below: 
 

 A BCBC Capital Bid of £600k has been approved, which was originally included in the 
Capital Programme for 2018/19, and subsequently rolled forward as a result of the 
delays outlined above; 
 

 £750k has been ringfenced from BCBC earmarked reserves; and  
 

 BCBC have also been allocated ICF (Integrated Care Fund) Capital Funding of £900k, 
made up of £164k in 2020/21 and £736k in 2021/22.  
 
The Corporate Director Social Services and Wellbeing explained that additional funding 
had been applied for from regional ICF in order to fund the furnishings required. She 
added Implementing the new model had already resulted in recurrent MTFS savings of 
£245k, and the service was fully committed to the new model in the expectation that 
additional savings could be made in the future, as well as enabling a reduction in the 
dependence on high-cost Out-of-County placements. 
 
The Cabinet Member Social Services and Early Help welcomed the report and 
expressed her pride in having a facility like this in the county. She explained that these 
children have had a wide range of experiences traumas and the new facility will provide 
the best setting for them and allow them to be catered to in a holistic, therapeutic and 
child centred way. 
 

Page 25



CABINET - TUESDAY, 22 JUNE 2021 

 
The Cabinet Member Wellbeing and Future Generations asked for further information on 
the community engagement involved of this scheme.  
 
The Head of Children’s Social Care explained that plans were discussed with local 
Members and further plans were being made for discussion with the local residents and 
wider community. She added that a press release was issued and discussions with the 
developer had occurred and they had stated that further information via leaflets would be 
provided to local residents to outline the start dates and other milestones relating to the 
work. She added that the local MS and MP were also consulted and they supported the 
scheme.  
 
RESOLVED:                                That Cabinet: 

 

 Noted the contents of this report; and 
 

     Approved for the Head of Children’s Social Care (in their capacity as 
Responsible Individual for the service) to oversee and monitor the 
implementation of the plans as set out in this report 

 
673. SPECIAL GUARDIANSHIP ORDER FINANCIAL POLICY 

 
The Group Manager Placements & Provider Services presented a report which:  
 

 Provided Cabinet with details of the proposed Special Guardianship Order (SGO) 
Financial Policy (which will support the updated Special Guardianship Order 
Policy).  

 

 Requested Cabinet approval of the policy and delegate authority to the Head of 
Children’s Services to implement the new policy. 

 
The Group Manager Placements & Provider Services provided background on the 
Special Guardianship Order (SGO) and when it was appropriate to be carried out and 
provided figures on the number of ceased to be looked after children the since 2014. He 
explained that BCBC had a Special Guardianship Policy, but following a review in 
November 2020, the need for greater clarification was required in relation to the 
Financial Support that is available to Special Guardians and, in order to do this, a 
standalone “Special Guardianship Orders Financial Policy” was required. This was 
attached at Appendix 2 of the report.  
 
The Group Manager Placements & Provider Services explained that a public 
consultation on the Special Guardianship Order Financial Policy was undertaken over a 
twelve-week period from 15 February to 9 May 2021 and the full Consultation Report 
was attached at appendix 3 with the summary of key figures highlighted in section 4.4 of 
the report.  
 
The Cabinet Member Social Services and Early Help welcomed the report and was 
shocked with the significance of the drop in figures in the uptake of special guardianship 
orders and to see an increase in this would show a positive decrease in numbers of 
looked after children. She added that if children can be in a stable environment within 
their own family with the support for them and the special guardians then this would be 
beneficial for the children.  
 
The Leader echoed this and stated that special guardianship was one of the most 
beneficial tools available to secure permanency for the children. He added that the 
policy would be reviewed to ensure that it was the most suitable it could be and make 

Page 26



CABINET - TUESDAY, 22 JUNE 2021 

 
changes if necessary. The Head of Children’s Social Care added that the policy would 
be reviewed but also assured that any comments or suggestions that were made outside 
of an annual review would be taken into consideration. 
 
RESOLVED:                           That Cabinet approved the Special Guardianship Order 

Financial Policy and delegated authority to the Head of 
Children’s Services to implement the new policy. 

 
674. WELSH PUBLIC LIBRARY STANDARDS 2019-2020 

 
The Group Manager Sports and Physical Activity presented a report which outlined the 
Council’s performance against the Welsh Public Library Standards (WPLS) sixth 
framework for the period 2019-20 
 
The Group Manager Sports and Physical Activity explained that on the 1st October 
2015, BCBC transferred the operational management of a range of cultural services, 
including the library service, to the Awen Cultural Trust. The statutory duty to provide the 
library service and report on its performance remained with the Council, but Awen, under 
the terms of the management agreement, provided the Council with the information 
required on performance in relation to the standards to satisfy itself that the service is 
meeting the desired outcomes.  
 
The Chief Executive of Awen Cultural Trust thanked the officers involved and was 
pleased to see that Awen Cultural Trust (AWC) was rated the best in Wales in a survey. 
He added that AWC had been working closely with BCBC for a number of years in the 
strategic planning of library services and how work had been carried out in investing in 
children and young people 
 
The Chief Executive of Awen Cultural Trust outlined a number of changes that had 
occurred during the start of the pandemic. He stated that there was an increase in E 
book and E Resources being accessed during that time as well as 30% more people 
using the library services overall. He added that there was a further increase in people 
receiving books from home, which BCBC encouraged through the pandemic.  
 
The Director of Operations at Awen Cultural Trust explained that Welsh Government for 
the next 2 years were not going to be issuing assessment reports as they had done in 
previous years. Instead, they would be providing analysis of how library services across 
Wales had responded to the pandemic. This was largely down to how library services 
have had to react and cope in different ways to the effects of the pandemic.  
 
The Leader highlighted the importance of the mobile library service and how beneficial it 
had been during the pandemic, particularly for people who were shielding/self-isolating.  
 
The Cabinet Member Wellbeing and Future Generations welcomed the report and 
agreed with the point that libraries were not just books, that they were a place for a 
number of resources as well as use of computers. She was pleased that the quality of 
the computers had been improved which showed that the strategy was about providing 
quality over quantity. She added that the outreach to younger people was really positive 
as reading was an important part of learning.  
 
The Cabinet Member Wellbeing and Future Generations asked how the replacement of 
the older vehicle used for the mobile library had been in terms of operations and had 
there been any feedback or comments of the new vehicle. The Director of Operations at 
Awen Cultural Trust explained that the new vehicle had allowed for a more efficient 
service as well as improve the delivery to a wider scope of the community.  
 

Page 27



CABINET - TUESDAY, 22 JUNE 2021 

 
The Cabinet Member Social Services and Early Help welcomed the report and echoed 
the comments from the Cabinet member. She believed books to be an important part of 
learning and an escape for many so was pleased to see the service doing so well. She 
asked that with the increase in digital demands, were the plans to keep the same level of 
printed books or move towards the digital books.  
 
The Director of Operations at Awen Cultural Trust believed that the demand for printed 
books was not going to drop in any significant numbers any time soon, but this was 
something that was regularly monitored. He added that it was on a year by year basis 
whereby the demand was looked at and how and where to invest funds. He added that 
this year, funds had been increased for e-books due to the pandemic and the library 
being unable open.  
 
The Cabinet Member Social Services and Early help thanked the library staff for their 
hard work in the community   
 
The Chief Executive commented on the second recommendation in the report and 
emphasised the importance of this moving forward. He explained that one of the 
challenges was to continue to invest in libraries and enhancing their role in terms of 
providing a community hub for working or for accessing particular information or 
services. The Leader added that moving forward, the service would need to adapt to 
needs and trends of what people want, and asked the for reassurance on this. The Chief 
Executive of Awen Cultural Trust confirmed that this was the case and provided an 
example of a Click and Collect service during the pandemic. He stated that this had 
proven to be extremely popular and would likely continue post-pandemic.  
 
RESOLVED:                               That Cabinet: 

 

 Considered and noted the content of the report and Appendix 1 recognising a 
positive year of progress against the Welsh Public Library Standards; 

 
 Noted that a further report would be submitted to Cabinet on making best use of 

resources to support library operations linked to Covid-19 recovery planning, 
including future venue availability and alternative approaches to delivering 
services. 

 
675. CAERAU HEAT SCHEME 

 
The Corporate Director Communities presented a report which: 
 

 Updated Cabinet on recent activity in relation to the Caerau Heat Scheme 

 Sought a decision on the way forward and; 

 sought authority to submit a re-profiled scheme to the Welsh European Funding 
Office (WEFO). 

 
She explained that a report to Cabinet in January 2021 provided an update on the 
progress made in 2020 and the challenges (particularly financial), faced by the scheme 
at that time. It was agreed that an Options Appraisal would be undertaken to determine 
the viability and suitability of alternative delivery methods for delivering a low carbon 
heat scheme in Caerau that meets the requirements of the approved ERDF funding. The 
recommendations of the Options Appraisal would then be reported back to Cabinet. 
 
The Corporate Director Communities explained that while this Caerau scheme was fully 
funded, there were a number of decision gateways set out in table 1 of the report, which 
allowed the scheme to close should there be not enough progress made.  

Page 28



CABINET - TUESDAY, 22 JUNE 2021 

 
 
The Corporate Director Communities highlighted the options that were reviewed in the 
options appraisal and these were considered against certain criteria. Further details 
were at 4.2 and 4.3 of the report. She added that the Decarbonisation 2030 programme 
board undertook a review of these information and determined that option (d) under 
section 4.2 above should be pursued and presented via a re-profile to WEFO. Option (d) 
was a ‘blended option’, comprising a set of small-scale low-carbon heat demonstrator 
projects, each developed to suit a different setting based on variables such as type of 
customer, housing density and proximity to resources. Further information was at 4.4 of 
the report, 
 
The Corporate Director Communities added that subject to Cabinet’s approval, the 
essential next steps in relation to the delivery of the small-scale mine water heat 
demonstrator are to secure the necessary agreements from the Coal Authority to 
progress with mine water exploration at the demonstrator site and to put in place all 
necessary licenses, permissions and consents to do so within the target timeframe of 
Autumn 2021. Further details were at section 4.7 and 4.8 of the report.  
 
She outlined the financial implications as set out in section 8 of the report and reiterated 
that the scheme was fully funded up to the commencement of heat and power delivery.  
 
The Cabinet Member Communities welcomed the report and emphasised the 
importance of this project in achieving the goal of decarbonisation by 2030. He thanked 
his former Cabinet Member, Councillor Richard Young for the work he placed on the 
project as well as the Caerau Members for their support and hard work. 
 
RESOLVED:                                   That Cabinet: 
 

 Approved pursuing the recommended way forward for the Caerau Heat Scheme as 
outlined in section 4.4 of the Report, being the delivery of a blended solution of a 
demonstrator mine water scheme, serving Caerau Primary school, a district heat 
network with an alternative heat source serving homes on the Tudor Estate and a 
private wire power supply from Llynfi Afan Renewable Energy Park; 

 Delegated authority to the Corporate Director Communities, in consultation with the 
Chief Officer - Legal, HR & Regulatory Services and the Interim Chief Officer, 
Finance, Performance and Change, to submit the 2021 Scheme re-profile to WEFO 
based on the recommended way forward outlined in section 4.4 and the financial 
information in section 8.2; and, 

 If the 2021 Scheme re-profile was accepted by WEFO, delegate authority to the 
Interim Chief Officer, Finance, Performance and Change to sign and accept the 
revised ERDF grant offer and funding letter from WEFO in consultation with the 
Corporate Director Communities and the Chief Officer - Legal, HR & Regulatory 
Services 
 

676. TRAFFIC SIGNALS MANAGEMENT 
 
The Corporate Director Communities presented a report which sought Cabinet approval 
to suspend the relevant Contract Procurement Rules and to enter into a service level 
agreement with Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council (RCTCBC) for the 
management of the council’s traffic signals. 
 
She explained that the monitoring and management of traffic signals had previously 
been managed through the Joint Venture consultancy arrangement between Capita 
Redstart, Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC), Rhondda Cynon Taf County 
Borough Council (RCTCBC) and Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC).  

Page 29



CABINET - TUESDAY, 22 JUNE 2021 

 
 
She added that RCTCBC had taken ‘in-house’ the management of traffic signals, which 
resulted in a TUPE of staff from the Joint Venture to RCTCBC from March 2021. As a 
result the Joint Venture no longer has the capability to continue to provide this 
monitoring service for BCBC. 
 
RCTCBC had offered BCBC the opportunity, via a service level agreement, to have 
BCBC traffic signals monitored by RCTCBC with no detriment in service level or cost of 
service which is circa £35,000 per annum. 
 
The Corporate Director Communities explained that consideration had been given to our 
own in-house provision and this suggested that apart from the requisite monitoring 
software and equipment there would also be the requirement for additional staffing to 
carry out the monitoring and technical expertise in the adjustment of traffic signals. 
These factors alone suggested costs in excess of £35,000. She outlined the benefits of 
RCTCBC managing the traffic signalling service as listed at 4.3 of the report. 
 
She explained that to enter into this agreement, BCBC would need to suspend the 
Contract Procedure Rules. Officers had considered the benefits of joint working with 
RCTCBC against the risks of not complying with the council’s Contract Procedure Rules, 
and believe on balance that a collaborative working arrangement with RCTCBC 
represented both good value, maximised public safety and was proposed as the 
preferential way forward.  
 
The Cabinet Member Communities welcomed the report and stated that the previous 
staff that worked on the joint venture had moved across to RCTCBC and had the 
necessary skills and knowledge to provide an effective service. 
 
The Cabinet Member Social Services and Early help echoed the comments and 
believed that procuring from a partner and bordering local authority made sense given 
the level of expertise that they had on our traffic system. 
 
RESOLVED:                                   That Cabinet: 
 

   suspended the relevant parts of the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules in 
respect of the requirements relating to the procurement of the provision of traffic 
signal monitoring which RCTCBC would fulfil;  

   delegated authority to the Corporate Director – Communities to approve the final 
terms of the service level agreement with RCTCBC and arrange execution of the 
collaboration agreement on behalf of the Council, subject to such delegated 
authority being exercised in consultation with the Chief Officer – Legal, HR and 
Regulatory Services and Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and 
Change. 

 
677. BRIDGEND TOWN CENTRE REGENERATION MASTERPLAN AND CONSULTATION 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
The Corporate Director Communities presented a report informing Cabinet of the 
development of the Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan and the outcome of the public 
consultation process which concluded on 1st March 2021. The Corporate Director 
Communities also requested that Cabinet agree the proposed next steps in approving 
the final plan.  
 
The Corporate Director Communities gave the background to the Bridgend Town Centre 
Masterplan. The Masterplan would be a dynamic long-term planning document that 

Page 30



CABINET - TUESDAY, 22 JUNE 2021 

 
offered a theoretical layout, building on the Town’s many strengths, to guide future 
regeneration and growth.  
 
The Corporate Director Communities outlined what was included in the Masterplan and 
she explained that it was deliberately ambitious and set out a series of deliverable and 
aspirational projects over the short, medium and long term. The consultation took place 
over a 12 week period from 7th December 2020 to 1st March 2021. There were 1402 
interactions received from a combination of survey completions, social media 
engagements, emails and letters and engagement sessions. In total, there were 51 
questions and comments and opinions were also welcomed via social media. The 
webpage received 1,549 total link clicks, with the explainer video being viewed 10,673 
times. Appendix C to the report was the full Consultation Report, detailing all responses 
to all questions and all comments and themes of engagement from social media and the 
engagement sessions.  
 
The Corporate Director Communities provided some headline responses and reported 
that the vast majority of responses were positive and saw the opportunities presented as 
constructive for the Town Centre. She added that there would be a meeting in July with 
partners regarding the entrance to the railway station.   
 
The Cabinet Member for Education and Regeneration reported that he had been 
involved in discussions with a number of different groups about the masterplan and the 
general public had been included in the consultation. The findings were consistent and 
all very positive and supportive of the concept.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Communities reported that this was an ambitious report and 
plan for the town centre and he looked forward to seeing some of the outcomes as it 
progressed over the years.  
 
The Leader explained that as demonstrated by the next agenda item, this was an 
example of ambition turning into reality. He was happy with the level of engagement and 
happy to support the Masterplan and that it would be aligned with the LDP. They were 
working closely with WG as one of the key partners and one of the key funding 
organisations and would continue to do so.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Social Services and Early Help said that as one of the local 
members, she was aware of this on different levels. They would be working with local 
residents and were aware there would be issues and concerns raised which they would 
look at and consider.  A number of residents lived directly surrounding the town centre 
area. Bridgend was a very vibrant town centre with a diverse, healthy mix of residents, 
traders and community facilities and they wanted to keep it that way.  
 
The Leader added that it was heartening to see that even though they had lost some 
businesses from the town, other businesses were opening all the time. 
 
The Corporate Director Communities assured residents that nothing would go ahead 
without planning permission and that as part of that process, they would consult widely 
again. There would be plenty of opportunity for residents to get involved and for the 
Council to understand their views.   
 
The Cabinet Member for Education and Regeneration replied that it was not about 
bulldozers and that the term, Masterplan referred to a vision and taking the community 
forward to modernise what’s there, use the heritage and take forward. He believed this 
was appreciated by local residents 
 
RESOLVED:        That Cabinet: 

Page 31



CABINET - TUESDAY, 22 JUNE 2021 

 
 

   Endorsed the consultation results and confirmed these results could be fed into 
the Consultation Note within the Masterplan document.  
 

   Approved a review of the policy section within the Masterplan to ensure 
alignment with the new LDP. 

 

 Welcomed a future report to sign off the final document and receive an update of 
progress made on key projects. 

 
678. PROPOSED PURCHASE OF BRIDGEND TOWN CENTRE POLICE STATION 

 
The Corporate Director Communities presented a report updating Cabinet on the 
progress that had been made on a potential purchase of Bridgend Town Centre Police 
Station at Cheapside with a view to supporting the aspirations of Bridgend College to 
relocate their main campus to the Town Centre, and to seek approval to progress with a 
grant funding application to Welsh Government (WG) to support the proposed 
acquisition and future demolition of the Police Station building.  
 
The Corporate Director Communities explained that officers had been working alongside 
Bridgend College to support their aspirations to transform their learning environment. 
This started with their Strategic Outline Programme identifying the need for 
modernisation of the College’s Cowbridge Road main campus through WG’s 21st 
Century Schools programme. Cowbridge Road would be split into two schemes, a new 
STEAM academy (centre for Science, Technology, Engineering, the Arts and 
Mathematics) at the Pencoed Campus and then relocate part of the provision to the 
Town Centre. In tandem, there were discussions with South Wales Police (SWP) 
surrounding their decision to consolidate their offices at their Cowbridge Road site, 
indicating that the Police Station at Cheapside would potentially become vacant from 
March 2022. The re-development of the Police Station site had therefore been identified 
as one of the key deliverable regeneration sites. At just just 0.2 miles from Pen-y-Bont 
Train Station, there were considerable opportunities to promote active travel and the use 
of public transport to the site 
 
The Corporate Director Communities explained that in April this year Bridgend College 
took a Strategic Outline Proposal (SOP) to Welsh Government’s 21st Century Schools 
and Colleges Programme Investment Panel for consideration to be elevated into its 
current Band B programme. This was successful, and the College were now progressing 
discussions with their governing body to invest in the detailed development and design 
stage for a Town Centre campus. The proposal was for BCBC to acquire the current 
Police Station site at Cheapside and to demolish the existing building, with the aim of 
leasing the site to Bridgend College via a long term lease. This would enable the 
relocation of the remaining education provision at Bridgend College’s Cowbridge Road 
campus to the Town Centre. Officers had progressed tripartite discussions with Bridgend 
College and SWP in respect of the sale and purchase of the site. A market valuation of 
the property in accordance with the Land Transfer Protocol provided a land value of 
£650,000 and all parties concurred with the value reported. A grant from WG’s 
Transforming Towns programme was being sought to support the proposed acquisition 
of the freehold title, to regenerate an urban vacant site, to demolish the building and to 
secure and make good the site. 
 
The Corporate Director Communities reported that she had just heard that WG Capital 
Panel had met and recommended that the grant money be approved so this would now 
be presented to the Minister for sign-off.    
 

Page 32



CABINET - TUESDAY, 22 JUNE 2021 

 
The Cabinet Member for Education and Regeneration stated that this was an historic 
day. He thanked the Regeneration, Education and Communities Teams for collaborating 
on this.   
 
The Deputy Leader added that this was an opportunity to influence a key site in 
Bridgend and he was delighted to support the proposal.  
 
The Leader thanked the team for their hard work on the Masterplan and this proposal.   
 
RESOLVED:        That Cabinet: 
 

•     Noted the progress that had been made in connection with the 
proposed acquisition of the current Bridgend Town Centre 
Police Station at Cheapside and regeneration proposals to 
create a new Bridgend College Campus at the site. 

•     Authorised officers to pursue discussions with SWP on the 
acquisition of the current Bridgend Town Centre Police Station 
with WG Estate Co-location & Land Transfer Protocol 

•     Authorised officers to engage with WG on an application for 
grant funding to support the initial acquisition and future 
demolition of the current Police Station building, 

•       Agreed to receive a future report on progress of regeneration 
plans for the site in conjunction with Bridgend College.  

•       If recommended for approval to delegate the acceptance of a 
grant towards the proposed redevelopment of site to the 
Director of Communities and Section 151 Officer. 

 
679. OBJECTION AND REPRESENTATION TO PROPOSED ACTIVE TRAVEL ROUTE - 

COWBRIDGE ROAD ACTIVE TRAVEL ROUTE 
 
The Corporate Director Communities presented a report seeking Cabinet approval to 
proceed with the active travel route in view of the formal observations received in 
respect of the proposed improvements to the active travel route along a stretch of 
Cowbridge Road, in Bridgend, which formed part of the wider strategic Bridgend to 
Pencoed active travel route. The proposal was to create a permanent active travel 
facility, including improved crossing facilities, the widening of footways to become a 
shared walking and cycle route, as well as a reduction of the current speed limit along 
Cowbridge Road. This scheme was being funded by the Welsh Government under its 
Active Travel Fund programme. Observations to the proposals were received from local 
residents/adjoining landowners and local Councillors.  
 
The Corporate Director Communities explained that two local Members and 19 local 
residents registered objections to the proposal, which had been summarised and 
included in Appendix 2 to the report. The proposed active travel route was considered 
vital as it was the final major link in the Pencoed to Bridgend active travel network which, 
in turn, would connect to the existing active travel network into Brackla, as well as NCN 
885 which linked the town centre with Bridgend Railway Station, Broadlands and Tondu.  
Officers considered all the observations regarding the proposals and arrived at final 
drawings for the proposed scheme. In post engagement discussions with local 
Members, it was agreed to exhibit the final drawings at Civic Offices to enable local 
residents on Cowbridge Road and other members of the public to view the proposals 
that would finally be implemented.  
 
The Group Manager, Planning and Development Services outlined the concerns raised 
by residents and the BCBC responses as detailed in the report. He explained that a 
number of audits and risk assessments had been done and the scheme was considered 

Page 33



CABINET - TUESDAY, 22 JUNE 2021 

 
to be fully compliant in safety terms. The benefits of implementing the scheme 
outweighed the concerns raised.   
 
The Team Leader – Policy Development and Transport provided further information 
regarding on street parking, the proposal for an extra 53m of space where residents 
could park over 2 sections and the pinch point designed so that users would be cautious 
and cyclists would dismount.  
 
Cabinet considered the officers’ comments in response to the observations and the final 
drawings to be exhibited. 
 
The Corporate Director Communities assured Cabinet that the proposals were all very 
safe and this would be a compliant active travel route. The Leader stressed that safety 
was of the utmost importance and that safety assessments had been undertaken as on 
all schemes. The primary concern was for the safety of those using that route. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Communities thanked the team for such a comprehensive 
report. Officers had clarified a number of points during their presentation. There was a 
similar example in Porthcawl and in all major cities across the UK. He had listened and 
read all the concerns raised and agreed with the proposals as presented.    
 
The Cabinet Member for Education and Regeneration stated that this was one more 
step towards a complete alternative travel route covering the whole of the County. 
 
The Deputy Leader asked officers to clarify their response to concerns raised by a 
Member that there were no viable alternatives and he asked what alternatives were 
considered and how were they discounted. The Group Manager, Planning and 
Development Services replied that they    
discounted the alternative to place the route on the other side of Cowbridge Road. That 
was the main alternative considered. There could have been other options but they 
could not offer the same capacity as Cowbridge Road. The Team Leader – Policy 
Development and Transport explained that when they did a consultation in 2015 and 
that was the route that was selected. Active Travel Guidance stated that the route must 
be direct and   that settlements of 2000 or above must be connected by the most direct 
route possible and Cowbridge Road was the most direct route.   
 
The Deputy Leader asked where the dismount signs would be located. The Team 
Leader – Policy Development and Transport replied that they would be placed around 
the corner of the property at number 79 and by the junction to the Asda link. WG 
accepted that these pinch points and constraints would exist. If this link was not 
provided, people would continue to cycle either on the carriageway or pavements and 
this would be dangerous. This scheme would give right of way to each user of the 
carriageway and this would be a big improvement over the existing situation. The 
Deputy Leader thanked the officers for their response.   
 
The Cabinet Member for Social Services and Early Help shared that she was aware of 
residents who would use the route to get to work and that this would make a big 
difference to their safety and journey times. She asked how motorists would know when 
exiting the junctions, that they should check both directions. The Team Leader – Policy 
Development and Transport replied that there would be signs and cyclists had to stop if 
they saw vehicles leaving or entering properties. All road users had to be observant and 
careful. The Cabinet member for Social Services and Early Help asked if there had been 
any discussions with the college. The Team Leader – Policy Development and Transport 
replied that they did consult with the college and had held a session in the college. The 
college was a Travel Plan Champion and supported BCBC and they would work closely 
with the Council on both campuses.  

Page 34



CABINET - TUESDAY, 22 JUNE 2021 

 
 
The Leader referred to ward members concerns who had been diligent in representing 
their constituents and undertaken extensive correspondence with officers.  One issue in 
particular was the deployment of an Active Travel Route along a series of junctions. 
Officers had said that there were examples in Wales and there was evidence that it was 
safe and people adapted and changed their behaviour. There were no guarantees but 
that design had been deployed successfully elsewhere. Also if the scheme progressed 
and there were issues, they would consider those and take appropriate action to mitigate 
those even though the design was considered to be safe. The Corporate Director 
Communities replied that it was a WG compliant Active Travel Scheme and it was quite 
normal to cross junctions and mitigations were in place. This was how it was delivered in 
Swansea and Cardiff and all other boroughs across Wales. If there were issues, it would 
be down to culture and changing behaviours and if necessary they would review and 
use guidance and signs. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Communities suggested that the decision should be amended 
to reflect that Cabinet had noted and given due regard to the objections before deciding 
to proceed.  
 
The Corporate Director for Communities confirmed that the purpose of the exhibition 
was to show that officers had listened to the concerns raised, amended and approved 
the plans and this was the final design that would be implemented.  
 
RESOLVED:     That Cabinet: 
 

• Considered the objections received and responses made to the 
proposed Cowbridge Road active travel route. 

• Noted and gave due regard to the objections and authorised the 
implementation of the Cowbridge Road active travel route that 
would complete the final major link in the Pencoed to Bridgend 
active travel network. 

• Approved the final drawing. 
• Approved that the final drawing be placed on public exhibition for a 

specific period. 
 

680. REVENUE BUDGET OUTTURN 2020-21 
 
The Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change presented a report 
providing Cabinet with an update on the Council’s revenue financial performance for the 
year ended 31st March 2021. On 26th February 2020, Council approved a net revenue 
budget of £286.885 million for 2020-21. As part of the Performance Management 
Framework, budget projections were reviewed regularly and reported to Cabinet on a 
quarterly basis. The delivery of agreed budget reductions was also kept under review 
and reported to Cabinet as part of this process. 
 
The Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change explained that the 2020-
21 financial year had been a unique and complex year in managing the financial position 
of the Council primarily as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic. Significant changes had 
occurred throughout the year as circumstances altered and services were supported in 
different ways to deliver outcomes in the best way possible. A Covid-19 Hardship fund 
was set up at an early stage by the Welsh Government to the tune of £188.5 million 
which the Council was able to draw on for financial support. The Council was extremely 
successful at securing support for many of the additional costs incurred along with loss 
of income claims. Some of the results of this success materialised in the last quarter of 
the financial year giving the Council a more favourable end of year position than 
anticipated. Claims against the WG Hardship fund totalled £21.5 million of which only 

Page 35



CABINET - TUESDAY, 22 JUNE 2021 

 
£882,000 were disallowed. The other significant change between quarter 3 and quarter 
4 was the £1.261 million contribution from WG in February 2021 in recognition of the 
reduced council tax collection rates experienced by Councils in 2020-21 as a 
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic. The Council was able to apply some of this 
funding to investments to help accelerate the recovery of the County Borough from 
COVID and to support its residents. The key areas of investment were outlined in 
Appendix 1 to the report and the Council’s net revenue budget and final outturn for 
2020-21 were shown in Table 1 of the report.  
 
The Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change explained that the overall 
outturn at 31st March 2021 was a net under spend of £432,000 which had been 
transferred to the Council Fund, bringing the total Fund balance to £9.771 million in line 
with Principle 9 of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). Total Directorate 
budgets provided a net under spend of £5.479 million, and Council Wide budgets a net 
under spend of £11.726 million. The Council was in a position to utilise the related 
monies for 2020-21 to fund a range of initiatives to enable the Council to mitigate current 
and future risks and expenditure commitments to meet specific costs as in paragraph 
4.1.1 and Appendix 1. The net position also took into account a net under spend of 
£1.702 million on council tax income during the financial year. The outturn position had 
also been impacted by unexpected grant funding and maximisation of grant funding 
streams since quarter 3 in Directorate budgets of over £2.361 million and £2.393 million 
in Council Wide Budgets - £4.754 million in total. She stressed that the Authority would 
not have been aware of these funding streams when setting and approving its 2020-21 
budget and the majority of the additional grants were one-off as a result of the Covid-19 
pandemic. 
 
The Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change explained the ways that 
Covid 19 had had an impact on the council’s financial position as in table 4.1.12 of the 
report. Tables 3 and 4 showed the claims submitted to WG in 2020-21 and the outcome 
of the claims.  Table 5 showed the outstanding prior year budget reductions and table 6 
was the monitoring of budget reductions. Table 7, Outstanding Budget Reductions 
included detail on why some had not been achieved.  A summary of the financial 
position for each main service area was attached as Appendix 4 to the report and 
comments on the most significant variances were provided.  
 
The Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change explained that the 
underspend from the additional monies significantly masked what was still an underlying 
deficit position in many of the Directorates and in many of the schools. Home to School 
Transport and Adult Social Care alone had a combined overspend of £2 million.   
 
The Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change referred to the schools 
and the significant change in school balances from where they were forecasting £108k 
surplus in total to £8.4 million at year end and the reasons why they were received. They 
would be managed in line with financial protocols and spent in accordance with the 
terms and conditions. Table 8 showed the draw down, Table 9 showed the year end 
position and Table 10 showed the Total Reserve position.     
 
The Leader explained that there were regular reports and the main change in the last 
quarter was the pay out from WG and additional grants. The report had been published 
and members could contact the officers if they had any questions.   
 
The Deputy Leader added that the figures in the report were unreal and could not have 
been predicted when they set the annual budget. He thanked the Finance Team for the 
amount of support they had provided to local businesses and for the incredible effort 
they had put in. He also thanked WG because without their support, the authority would 
be in a very different position.  

Page 36



CABINET - TUESDAY, 22 JUNE 2021 

 
 
RESOLVED:                 That Cabinet noted the revenue outturn position for 2020-21. 
   

681. CAPITAL PROGRAMME UPDATE 
 
The Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change presented a report 
seeking agreement from Cabinet to present a report to Council for approval for a revised 
capital programme for 2020-21 to 2030-31. 
 
The Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change explained that on 24 
February 2021, Council approved a capital programme covering the period 2020-21 to 
2030-31 as part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). Since then a review 
had been undertaken of available capital resources, taking into consideration 
uncommitted funding in the capital programme, the anticipated year end revenue 
position for 2020-21, the position on earmarked reserves and revenue budgets available 
for 2021-22. As a result, a number of new capital schemes had been proposed by 
Directorates, which had undergone rigorous review and challenge by members of 
Corporate Management Board and Cabinet, before being submitted for inclusion in the 
capital programme. This report was only seeking approval for the inclusion of new 
schemes within the capital programme that was approved by Council in February 2021.  
 
The capital programme approved by Council in February 2021 for the period 2020-21 to 
2030-31 totalled £205.732 million, of which £116.147 million was to be met from 
Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) resources, including capital receipts and 
revenue contributions from earmarked reserves, with the remaining £89.585 million 
coming from external resources, including General Capital Grant. The total cost of the 
new schemes was £4,552,271 and this was broken down in Table 1, with Table 2 
showing the breakdown of funding for the proposed new capital schemes.  
 
The Deputy Leader said that there were some very exciting new schemes including the 
replacement of the CCTV system and the footpath and playground refurbishments.   
 
The Leader added that there were some important investments that would enable the 
authority to progress, with all members support. It gave flexibility because the Capital 
Programme was heavily oversubscribed.  
 
RESOLVED:               That Cabinet agreed that the revised Capital Programme 

(Appendix A to the report) be submitted to Council for approval. 
 

682. SUSPENSION OF CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES AND AWARD OF CONTRACT 
FOR FINANCIAL ADVICE AND SUPPORT SERVICE 
 
Cllr Patel declared a prejudicial interest in this item as she was appointed to the Trustee 
Board of the current provider and left the meeting when this item was considered. 
 
The Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change presented a report 
seeking approval to continue delivery of the existing Financial Advice and Support 
Service, to allow time for a fully compliant tender process to take place, including an 
adequate mobilisation period. Approval was also being sought to suspend the relevant 
parts of the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs) with regards to the requirement 
to re-tender the contracts detailed in this report and to authorise the Head of Partnership 
Services to enter into a short term (4 month) contract with the current provider to ensure 
continuity of service 
 
The Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change explained that the 
contract commenced on 1st October 2018 and was due to expire on the 31st March 

Page 37



CABINET - TUESDAY, 22 JUNE 2021 

 
2021. The successful bidder was CAB in Bridgend.  The contract had been highly 
successful and had helped a number of residents who had had difficulties in these 
areas. The contract was modified twice, initially to extend it by a two month period to 
31st May 2021 and then extended for a further month to 30th June 2021.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Social Services and Early Help stated that CAB had done a 
sterling job and a number of residents from her community had called on them for 
assistance for the first time ever in the last year. She appreciated the patience, skills and 
empathy that the staff had to help those in dire straits.  
 
The Leader added that they needed to ensure the service continued until they could 
recommission it as part of this process. 
 
RESOLVED:                        That Cabinet: 
 

 Approved the continuation of the existing Financial Advice and Support Service, 
to allow time for a fully compliant tender process to take place.  
 

 Suspended the relevant parts of the Council’s CPRs in respect of the 
requirement to re-tender the proposed contract; 

 

 Authorised the Head of Partnership Services to enter into a contract for the 
provision of the Financial Advice and Support Service with the CAB until 31st 
October 2021. 

 
683. REPRESENTATION ON OUTSIDE BODIES AND JOINT COMMITTEES 

 
The Chief Officer, Legal, HR and Regulatory Services presented a report seeking 
Cabinet’s approval for the appointment of Members to joint committees and the 
nomination of Members to outside bodies. A list of the joint committees and outside 
bodies concerned was appended to the report at Appendix 1. It was proposed that 
Members be appointed for a term of one year except where earlier revocation of 
appointment was appropriate. It was proposed that where Cabinet nominated on the 
basis of a Member’s role within the Authority the appointment be attached to the role 
and not to the individual Member, e.g. Scrutiny Chair, Cabinet Member. 
 
RESOLVED: That Cabinet appointed the requisite number of Members to the 

joint committees and other outside bodies as listed in Appendix 1 
of the report. 

 
684. FORWARD WORK PROGRAMMES 

 
The Chief Officer, Legal, HR and Regulatory Services presented a report seeking 
Cabinet’s approval for items to be included on the Forward Work Programme for the 
period 1 July to 31 October 2021 and for Cabinet to note the Council and Overview and 
Scrutiny Forward Work Programmes for the same period.  
 
RESOLVED:           That Cabinet: 
 

 Approved the Cabinet Forward Work Programme for the period 1 July to 31 
October 2021 at Appendix 1; 

 Noted the Council and Overview and Scrutiny Forward Work Programmes for the 
same period as above, shown at Appendix 2 and Appendix 3 of the report, 
respectively. 

 

Page 38



CABINET - TUESDAY, 22 JUNE 2021 

 
685. URGENT ITEMS 

 
None 
 
The meeting closed at 18:40 
 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



 
BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
REPORT TO CABINET 

 
20 JULY 2021 

 
REPORT OF THE INTERIM CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND 

CHANGE 

 
BUDGET MONITORING 2021-22 – QUARTER 1 REVENUE FORECAST 

 
1. Purpose of report 

 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Cabinet with an update on the Council’s 

revenue financial position as at 30th June 2021.  
 
2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities 
 
2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 

objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-   

 
1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 

county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focused on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions of all people in the county borough.  

 
2. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient – 

taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives. 
 

3. Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.  

 
2.2 The allocation of budget determines the extent to which the Council’s well-being 

objectives can be delivered.  
 
3. Background 
 
3.1 On 24th February 2021, Council approved a net revenue budget of £298.956 million 

for 2021-22.  As part of the Performance Management Framework, budget 
projections are reviewed regularly and reported to Cabinet on a quarterly basis.  
The delivery of agreed budget reductions is also kept under review and reported to 
Cabinet as part of this process.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 41

Agenda Item 4



4.  Current situation/proposal 
 

4.1 Summary financial position at 30th June 2021 

 
4.1.1 The Council’s net revenue budget and projected outturn for 2021-22 is shown in 

Table 1 below. 
 
Table 1- Comparison of budget against projected outturn at 30th June 2021 
 

Directorate/Budget Area 
Original 
Budget 

Revised 
Budget 

Projected 
Outturn Q1 

Projected 
Over / 

(Under) 
Spend 

Projected 
Over / (Under) 

Spend 
  2021-22 2021-22 2021-22 2021-22 Qtr 1 2020-21 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Directorate 
 

    
  

 

    
Education and Family Support 127,055 127,092 127,863 771 1,992 
Social Services and Wellbeing 74,043 74,023 73,376 (647) 1,182 
Communities  28,137 28,159 28,783 624 (1,048) 

Chief Executive's 21,304 21,364 21,520 156 677 

Total Directorate Budgets 250,539 250,638 251,542 904 2,803 

Council Wide Budgets 
   

 

 

  
   

 

 

Capital Financing  7,329 7,329 7,329 0 0 

Levies 7,783 7,797 7,797 0 11 

Apprenticeship Levy 650 650 650 0 (14) 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 15,654 15,654 15,654 0 317 

Insurance Premiums 1,363 1,363 1,363 0 (66) 

Repairs & Maintenance 670 670 670 0 0 

Pension Related Costs 430 430 430 0 0 

Other Corporate Budgets 14,538 14,425 14,425 0 0 

Total Council Wide Budgets 48,417 48,318 48,318 0 248 

  
  

 

  

Total 298,956 298,956 299,860 904 3,051 

 
4.1.2 The overall projected position at 30th June 2021 is a net over spend of £904,000 

comprising £904,000 net over spend on directorates and a break even projection 
on council wide budgets. The projected position is based on:- 

 

 Inclusion of reimbursed expenditure to date on Covid-19 spend from Welsh 
Government (WG). 

 Exclusion of Covid-19 spend that is currently on hold with WG at the time of 
writing this report. 

 Exclusion of Covid-19 spend that has not yet been claimed but will be incurred in 
quarters 2 to 4. 

 Exclusion of support from WG for loss of income as the level of support has not 
been confirmed at the time of writing this report. 

  
 A detailed analysis of the more significant projected under and over spends is 

set out in section 4.3. 
 
 
 

Page 42



 Covid-19 

 
4.1.3 The UK was put into lockdown on 23rd March 2020 in an unprecedented step to 

attempt to limit the spread of coronavirus.  A Covid-19 Hardship fund was set up 
at an early stage by the Welsh Government to the value of £188.5 million which 
the Council was able to draw on for financial support.  Bridgend successfully 
claimed over £15 million in expenditure claims and over £5.5 million in loss of 
income claims in 2020-21. 

 
4.1.4 The Welsh Government has allocated £206.6 million in its budget to the 

Hardship fund to support local government for the first six months of 2021-22.  In 
relation to support beyond this period, WG have recently confirmed the 
extension of Covid-cost related support for the adult social care sector up to the 
end of the current financial year. 

 
4.1.5 The Authority will continue to claim from the Hardship fund against the eligible 

criteria and directorates will continue to capture costs incurred as a result of the 
ongoing impact of the Covid-19 pandemic.  Updates will continue to be provided 
to Cabinet through the quarterly revenue budget monitoring reports throughout 
2021-22. 

 
4.1.6 Cabinet and Corporate Management Board (CCMB) agreed to establish a £1 

million Covid-19 Recovery Fund in 2020-21 to provide funding for conscious and 
proactive decisions aimed at boosting recovery that were unlikely to be paid for 
by WG.  The balance on this fund has been carried into 2021-22 and CCMB 
have approved the use of this fund to support the free car parking offer for town 
centres to the end of May, a phased rental income increase for BCBC owned 
premises, waiver of sports fees for the remainder of the 2020-21 season and 
summer play projects.  Further proposals will be considered by CCMB during 
2021-22. 

 
Estimated costs of the Council’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic 

 
4.1.7 Welsh Government has provided specific eligibility criteria for each of its funding 

streams, and all directorates have been made aware of them, and are capturing 
costs accordingly.  Any Covid-19 costs which are not identified and claimed will 
need to be funded from the normal service budgets or established earmarked 
reserves.  Claims submitted to date to Welsh Government, and the outcome of 
these claims, are shown in Table 2. 

 
Table 2 – Covid-19 expenditure claims for Quarter 1 2021-22 

Specific Hardship Fund 
Claimed 

£’000 
Paid 
£’000 

On hold/ 
pending 
review 
£’000 

Disallowed 
£’000 

General 121 100 20 1 

Homelessness 1,236 9 1,227 0 

Free School Meals 0 0 0 0 

Schools 202 168 134 0 

Adult Social Services 1,120 275 845 0 

Self Isolation Payments (SIP)/ Statutory 
Sick Pay Enhancements (SSP) 56 56 0 0 

Total 2,736 608 2,127 1 

Page 43



 
4.1.8  The disallowed expenditure relates to reimbursement of costs incurred by the 

Council in relation to ongoing home working arrangements.  Whilst the WG 
hardship panel agreed that these costs may be additional and not within the 
council’s financial plans, they also felt that having such assets in place provides 
longer term benefits to local authorities.  A contribution of 50% has therefore been 
agreed across Wales toward these costs.  The majority of the claims, £2.127 
million, are on hold/pending review with more detailed information requested by WG 
to substantiate items on hold.  As there is no certainty at the time of writing this 
report in relation to the outcome of the items placed on hold, the reimbursement of 
costs has not been assumed in the quarter 1 projections. 
 

4.1.9 The Council has been requested to submit a claim for loss of income to the Welsh 
Government for the first quarter of 2021-22 on 23rd July 2021.  Therefore the 
outcome of any loss of income claims at the time of writing this report is unknown 
therefore the projections have excluded any anticipated support for loss of income. 

 
4.1.10 In addition to lost income from service provision, the Council is also likely to see 

a reduction in council tax income over the 2021-22 financial year as more people 
have suffered financial hardship through the pandemic and the furlough scheme 
comes to an end. Bridgend received £1.261 million from WG in 2020-21 in 
recognition of the reduced collection rates experienced by councils as a 
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic.  A 1% reduction in the council tax 
income collection rate could result in an additional pressure to the Council of 
around £1 million.  It is too early to provide a realistic indication of projected 
council tax for this financial year, but it will be monitored continuously throughout 
the year and reported accordingly.  

 
4.1.11 Alongside the impact on Council Tax, the ending of the furlough scheme could 

also manifest itself in an increase in eligibility for council tax reduction support.  
Support of £325,469 from WG was provided in 2020-21 towards the increased 
demand due to the impact of Covid-19 on personal financial circumstances, 
however, no additional funding has yet been identified by Welsh Government for 
either reduced council tax income or increased council tax support. 

 
 Budget virements/technical adjustments 
 
4.1.12 There have been a number of budget virements and technical adjustments 

between budgets since the MTFS was approved by Council in February 2021. 
The budget position is reported on the assumption that these virements will be 
approved. The main virements and technical adjustments are outlined below: 

 
 Budget Virements 
 

 Service vired from / to Amount 

Transfer of funding from the Communities Directorate to Chief 
Executive’s to provide financial project support on 
Regeneration schemes 

£60,000 

Transfer of funding from the Education and Family Support 
and Social Services and Wellbeing Directorates to the 
Communities Directorate for Corporate Landlord to manage 
the Eastern Hub premises based at Brynteg School 

£50,000 

 

Page 44



 Technical Adjustments 
 

 Service vired from / to Amount 

Transfer of Real Living Wage uplifts to Directorate Budgets 
and school based staff that were held centrally until evidence 
was provided.  

£99,960 

Transfer of funding from Education and Family Support 
Directorate to the Individual Schools Budget in relation to the 
establishment of and ASD Class 

£34,260 

Transfer of funding to Levies budget for uplift to Glamorgan 
Archives facility 

£14,234 

 
 Pay/Price Inflation 
 
4.1.13 When the budget for 2021-22 was set, directorates were provided with funding 

for known pay and price inflation. The remaining provision was retained centrally 
within Council wide budgets, to be allocated as further information was known 
about specific contractual price increases e.g. for energy. We are currently in the 
process of gathering information about increased energy prices for 2021-22, and 
will amend budgets accordingly during the year. 

 
4.1.14 Inflationary pressures include those arising from specific contractual 

commitments and significant increases in staffing costs arising not only from the 
above inflation increases in the national living wage, but also the ongoing 
discussions regarding the pay claim for National Joint Council (NJC) workers, 
and the consultation on Teachers’ pay (current proposal is an increase of 
1.75%). There is a risk that there may not be sufficient funding available within 
these budgets for any unexpected major price inflation increases. Inflation rates 
have also fluctuated since the budget was set (CPI was 0.7% in February 2021 
and had increased to 2.1% by May 2021).  With the uncertainty around Brexit 
and Covid-19, and the possible economic fallout arising from these, the budget 
will need to be monitored closely during the remainder of the year.  

 
 Budget Reduction Proposals 

 
4.1.15 The net budget for the financial year has been set assuming full implementation 

of the current year budget reduction requirements across the Council’s budget, 
which amount to £1.760 million.  Where proposals to meet this requirement have 
been delayed or are not achievable directorates have been tasked with 
identifying alternative proposals to meet their requirements such as vacancy 
management, or bringing forward alternative budget reduction proposals. 

 
4.1.16 In February 2021 Council approved the Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2021-

22 to 2024-25. This identified the need to develop recurrent budget reduction 
proposals, based on the most likely scenario, amounting to £22.095 million over the 
next four years.  Against that background it is essential that expenditure is kept 
within the overall approved budget and that longer term proposals continue to be 
developed so that the Council has as much flexibility as possible to meet the 
challenges which lie ahead. 

 
4.1.17 At year end consideration will be given to requests from directors to carry forward 

any planned directorate under spends for specific purposes into the following year, 
in line with the Council’s Reserves and Balances Protocol, as long as these can be 

Page 45



met from within the Council’s cash limited budget for 2021-22. This is in line with the 
reports to Cabinet and Council on the MTFS, and the Council’s Financial Procedure 
Rules. Similarly, consideration will be given to any budget over spends to determine 
whether these should be carried forward as a first call on the directorate budget for 
the following year. Finally, outstanding prudential borrowing will be repaid, where 
possible, to reduce future capital financing charges. However, a decision will not be 
made until towards the end of the financial year when the overall outturn position is 
more definite.   

 
4.2 Monitoring of Budget Reduction Proposals  
 
 Prior Year Budget Reductions 
 

4.2.1 A report was presented to Cabinet on 22nd June 2021 on the Revenue Budget 
Outturn 2020-21. In the report it was highlighted that, for 2017-18 to 2019-20, there 
were £2.501 million of budget reduction proposals that were not met in full, with a 
total outstanding balance to be met of £709,000. In addition, of the 2020-21 budget 
reduction proposals of £2.413 million, it was reported that there was a total 
outstanding balance to be met of £342,000.  Directors have been asked to identify if 
any of these proposals are still not likely to be achieved in full during the 2021-22 
financial year, and to identify mitigating actions that will be undertaken to achieve 
them.  All remaining outstanding prior year budget reductions are summarised in 
Appendix 1 with a summary per directorate provided in Table 3.  

 
 Table 3 – Outstanding Prior Year Budget Reductions  
 
 

 

Total 
Budget 

Reductions 
Required 

Total 
Budget 

Reductions 
Likely to 

be 
Achieved 

Shortfall 

DIRECTORATE /BUDGET 
REDUCTION AREA 

£'000 £'000 £'000 

Education and Family Support 344 344 0 

Social Services and Wellbeing 185 0 185 

Communities 1,847 1,772 125 

TOTAL 2,376 2,066 310 

 
 
4.2.2 Table 3 shows that of the £2.376 million outstanding reductions, £2.066 million is 

likely to be achieved in 2021-22 leaving a shortfall of £310,000. Proposals still not 
likely to be achieved include: 

 
o SSW19 – further review of HALO partnership contract in relation to taking 

over the management and payment of utility bills (£40,000).  Alternative 
savings are being developed as advice from VAT consultants resulted in this 
budget reduction proposal being unable to be progressed. 

o SSW20 – savings from library and cultural facilities (£70,000).  Covid-19 has 
impacted on the delivery of this saving and there is an ongoing impact on 

Page 46



these budgets in relation to income levels achieved.  Under spends are being 
held across the service area to mitigate any shortfall in the short term. 

o SSW27 – income generation from mobile response and telecare charging 
(£75,000).  Income levels have not increased to the level required to meet 
the budget reduction therefore the service area continues to seek to identify 
efficiencies to meet the shortfall in 2021-22. 

o COM19 – Streetworks review (£100,000) due to delays in approval process 
with Welsh Government.  The Highways network budget area is committed 
to stay within budget through the implementation phase. 

   
4.2.3 As outlined in the MTFS reports to Cabinet and Council, MTFS Principle 7 states 

that “Savings proposals are fully developed and include realistic delivery timescales 
prior to inclusion in the annual budget.  An MTFS Budget Reduction Contingency 
Reserve will be maintained to mitigate against unforeseen delays”. An MTFS 
Budget Reduction Contingency reserve was established in 2016-17. This reserve 
has been used to meet specific budget reduction proposals in previous years on a 
one-off basis pending alternative measures. During the financial year, the Section 
151 Officer will consider applications from Directorates to the MTFS Budget 
Reduction Contingency reserve to mitigate some of the shortfalls. 

 
 Budget Reductions 2021-22 

 
4.2.4 The budget approved for 2021-22 included budget reduction proposals totalling 

£1.760 million, which is broken down in Appendix 2 and summarised in Table 4 
below.  The current position is a projected shortfall on the savings target of £65,000, 
or 3.7% of the overall reduction target.  

 
 Table 4 – Monitoring of Budget Reductions 2021-22 
 

 

Total 
Budget 

Reductions 
Required 

Total 
Budget 

Reductions 
Likely to 

be 
Achieved 

Shortfall 

DIRECTORATE /BUDGET REDUCTION 
AREA 

£'000 £'000 £'000 

Education and Family Support 116 116 0 

Schools 0 0 0 

Social Services and Wellbeing 315 315 0 

Communities 823 758 65 

Chief Executive's 130 130 0 

Council Wide Budgets 376 376 0 

TOTAL 1,760 1,695 65 

 
4.2.5 The most significant budget reduction proposal unlikely to be achieved in full is 

COM 2 – Re-location of Community Recycling Centre from Tythegston to Pyle 
resulting in cessation of lease payments at existing site (£60,000).  The new site in 
Pyle is not opening until October 2021 and both sites will be maintained until the 
new site is fully operational, therefore the saving will not be achieved in full until 
2022-23. 

Page 47



   
4.2.6 Appendix 2 identifies the projected amount of saving against these proposals in 

detail and action to be taken by the directorate to mitigate the shortfall. Directors 
continue to work with their staff to deliver their proposals or alternatives and this is 
reflected in the forecast outturn for the year. During the financial year the Section 
151 Officer will also consider applications from directorates to the MTFS Budget 
Reduction Contingency reserve to mitigate some of the shortfalls.  

 
4.2.7 In the longer term, these proposals must be realised or must be met through 

alternative budget reduction proposals in order to deliver a balanced budget 
position. These will continue to be closely monitored and draw down from the MTFS 
Budget Reduction Contingency reserve will be made as part of the overall review of 
earmarked reserves during quarter 2.  

 
4.3 Commentary on the financial position at 30th June 2021 

 
Financial position at 30th June 2021 

 
A summary of the financial position for each main service area is attached as 
Appendix 3 to this report and comments on the most significant variances are 
provided below.  

 
4.3.5 Education and Family Support Directorate 

 
The net budget for the Directorate for 2021-22 is £127.092 million.  Current 
projections indicate an over spend of £771,000 at year end. The main variances 
are: 

 

EDUCATION & FAMILY SUPPORT 
DIRECTORATE 

Net  
Budget 

Projected 
Outturn 

Projected 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget 

% 
Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000  

Inclusion 2,574 3,357 783 30.4% 

Adult Learning 145 8 (137) -94.5% 

Corporate Health and Safety 388 319 (69) -17.8% 

 
Schools’ Delegated Budgets 

 
Total funding delegated to schools in 2021-22 is £103.561 million. 
 
The schools’ delegated budget is reported as balanced as any under or over spend 
is automatically carried forward into the new financial year before being considered 
by the Corporate Director - Education and Family Support in line with the ‘Guidance 
and Procedures on Managing Surplus School Balances’.  

 
Total school balances increased by £8.382 million during 2020-21, to £8.490 million 
at year end. The main reason for the significant increase was additional schools 
revenue grant funding of £5.417 million announced late in 2020-21 and successful 
claims to the WG Hardship fund of £1.312 million in the final quarter of 2020-21.    
At the start of 2021-22, projections indicated an overall surplus balance for school 

Page 48



delegated budgets of £5.241 million at year end.  There are 8 primary schools 
(13.5% of all schools) projecting a deficit balance at year end.   

 
 Central Education and Family Support Budgets 

 
Inclusion 

 There is a projected over spend of £783,000 for Inclusion which primarily 
relates to the shortfall in recoupment income for other LA placements at 
Heronsbridge School and Ysgol Bryn Castell.  Whilst a budget pressure of 
£500,000 was agreed by Council as part of the MTFS in February 2021, there 
has been a further reduction in the number of other LA pupils in Bridgend 
schools.  Whilst there were 20 at the end of 2020-21 this has reduced to 16 with 
an expectation this will reduce further to 12 from the Autumn Term due to 
increased demand from BCBC pupils. 
 

Adult Learning 

 The projected under spend of £137,000 is primarily due to staff vacancies.  In 
addition there has been an increase of £63,500 to the Adult Community 
Learning Grant compared with 2020-21. 

 
Corporate Health and Safety 

 There is a projected under spend of £69,000 within Corporate Health and 
Safety which is due to staff vacancy management.  The service are actively 
recruiting to fill the vacant posts.  

 
4.3.6 Social Services and Wellbeing Directorate  
 

The Directorate’s net budget for 2021-22 is £74.023 million.  Current projections 
indicate an under spend of 647,000 at year end.  The main variances are: 
 

SOCIAL SERVICES AND 
WELLBEING DIRECTORATE 

Net  
Budget 

Projected 
Outturn 

Projected 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget 

% 
Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000  

Adult Social Care 46,452 49,157 (295) -0.6% 

Prevention and Wellbeing 5,200 5,149 (51) -1.0% 

Childrens Social Care 19,371 19,070 (301) -1.6% 

 
Adult Social Care 
There is projected net under spend of £295,000 on the Adult Social Care budget.  
The most significant variances contributing to this projected over spend are:- 
 

ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

Projected 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget 

  £'000 

Older People Residential Care 324 

Care at Home for Older People (762) 

Assessment and Care Management (202) 

Physical Disability/Sensory Impairment 237 

Page 49



 
 

 Older People Residential Care – the projected over spend of 324,000 is due to 
increased placement costs and a reduction in personal contributions.  The 
position would improve if claims to the Covid Hardship Fund are successful 
(£301,000 successfully claimed in 2020-21). 

 Care at Home for Older People – this includes domiciliary care services, local 
authority homecare services and the provision of direct payments.   The 
projected under spend of £762,000 is primarily on the homecare budget due to 
staffing vacancies and delays in implementing a restructure due to Covid-19.  
The restructure is progressing in 2021-22. 

 Assessment and Care Management – there is a projected under spend of 
£202,000 across all service areas due to a continuing challenging recruitment 
environment.  Various recruitment activities have been actioned in order to fill 
vacant posts but appointments have been affected by Covid-19. 

 Physical Disability/Sensory Impairment – there is a projected net over spend of 
£237,000 within this service area.  There is a projected under spend on the 
Residential Care budget due to a reduction in placements (£155,000).  This is 
offset by the projected over spend of £272,000 on the equipment and 
adaptations budget as a result of increased demand due to Covid-19 with a 
view to keeping individuals in their home setting.  There is also a projected 
£195,000 over spend on the Home Care budget due primarily to increases in 
demand within Independent Domiciliary Care (£137,000) – an additional 8 
placements to date in 2021-22 has placed an additional pressure of £85,000.  

  
 

Prevention and Wellbeing 
 The projected under spend of £51,000 is primarily due maximisation of grant 

funding opportunities.  The projection does not include any estimate for a 
contribution to the Council’s leisure provider for the gross net loss of running the 
leisure services in 2021-22 due to Covid-19.  Claims will be made to the WG 
Hardship loss of income fund for the first six months of 2021-22.  Close 
monitoring of the impact of Covid-19 on leisure services beyond this point will 
be required and updates provided to Cabinet in future monitoring reports. 

 
Childrens Social Care 

 There is projected net under spend of £301,000 on the Childrens Social Care 
budget.  This primarily relates to a projected under spend on the Care 
Experienced Children budget of £310,000. 

 At the end of quarter 1 there are 6 children in independent residential 
placements (in and out of authority) and 2 in BCBC 39 week local authority 
education provision.  Two placements ceased during quarter 1, however it 
should be noted that this budget area can be volatile and small changes in 
demand can result in relatively high costs being incurred.  Additional 
placements have already been made since 30 June 2021 and searches are 
underway dye to high risk/complex cases with requirements for specialist 
provision.  The budget is being closely monitored to ensure that the current 
projected under spend is effectively managed.   

 
 
 
 

Page 50



 
 
 
4.3.7 Communities Directorate 

 
The net budget for the Directorate for 2021-22 is £28.159 million.  The current 
projection is an anticipated over spend of £624,000.  The main variances are: 
 

COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE 
Net  

Budget 
Projected 
Outturn 

Projected 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget 

% 
Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000  

Waste Disposal & Collection 8,828 9,247 419 4.7% 

Fleet Services 15 215 200 1333.3% 

Highways Services  2,854 2,754 (100) -3.5% 

Parking Services -283 -66 217 -76.7% 

 
 Waste Disposal and Collection 

 There is a projected over spend of £419,000 on the Waste Disposal and 
Collection budget. £60,000 of this is due to the delay in the achievement of 
COM 2 - Re-location of Community Recycling Centre from Tythegston to Pyle 
resulting in cessation of lease payments at the existing site.  The new site is 
opening in October 2021 and both sites are being kept open until the new site is 
fully operational.  The balance of the over spend is due to continued increased 
tonnages of residual waste being experienced by the service.  Tonnages 
increased in 2020-21, primarily due to lockdowns and more residents working 
from home in general. £232,000 was successfully claimed from the Hardship 
Fund in 2020-21 and claims will continue to be submitted in 2021-22, therefore 
this projection could improve. 

 
 Fleet Services 

 There is a projected over spend of £200,000 on Fleet services.  The pandemic 
continues to impact on productivity rates, primarily due to social distancing 
requirements in the workplace.  Reduced spend will be projected on Hire and 
Servicing budgets across the service departments, and consideration will be 
given to re-aligning budgets on a temporary basis if this projection is maintained 
at quarter 2. 
 

 
Highways Services 

 The projected under spend of £100,000 within Highways Services is primarily 
due to members of staff working on, and hence charging their time to, the 
SALIX capital scheme to enable the replacement of street lighting with new 
energy efficient LED units.  This is not a recurring saving and is a reduced 
projection from the 2020-21 outturn of £244,000 as the SALIX Scheme will be 
ending in quarter 2 of 2021-22. 

 
Parking Services 

 There is a projected over spend on the parking services budget of £217,000.  
This is after taking into account a £35,000 contribution from the Covid Recovery 
fund – (see 4.1.6) to support the free car parking offer for town centres to the 

Page 51



end of May. The underlying shortfall is against the staff car park income budget 
(£180,000) with the ongoing working from home principle to be maintained in 
the majority of service areas for the full financial year. 

 
 
4.3.8 Chief Executive’s  
  

The net budget for the Directorate for 2021-22 is £21.364 million.  Current 
projections anticipate an over spend against this budget of £156,000.  The main 
variances are: 
 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S  
Net  

Budget 
Projected 
Outturn 

Projected 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget 

% 
Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000  

Finance 3,695 3,578 (117) -3.2% 

HR and Organisational Development 1,912 1,801 (111) -5.8% 

Partnerships 2,034 1,814 (220) -10.8% 

Legal, Democratic & Regulatory 4,929 5,199 270 5.5% 

ICT 3,752 4,092 340 9.1% 

Housing & Homelessness 3,354 3,256 (98) -2.9% 

 
Finance 

 There is a projected under spend of £117,000 which is primarily due to staffing 
vacancies as the service is currently going through a restructure.  The structure 
is anticipated to have been populated by the second half of the 2021-22 
financial year. 

 
HR and Organisational Development 

 There is a projected under spend of £111,000.  This primarily relates to staffing 
and apprenticeship vacancies, however HR are actively recruiting to fill, or have 
already filled these vacancies. 

 
Partnerships 

 This service areas includes Transformation, Partnerships and Customer 
Services & Engagement.  The projected under spend of £220,000 is primarily 
due to staff vacancies.  Various recruitment activities have been actioned in 
order to fill vacant posts but appointments have been affected by Covid-19.  

 
Legal, Democratic & Regulatory 

 There is a projected over spend of £270,000.  This is primarily due to lower than 
forecast levels of income received for registrars, land charges, licencing fees 
and public health fees.  Claims will be made to the Hardship Fund for the first 
six months of 2021-22 so this projection could improve in future budget 
monitoring reports if the claims prove to be successful. 

 
ICT 

 There is a projected net over spend of £340,000 across ICT budgets.  Due to 
reduced printing activity ICT have been unable to cover the fixed costs of 
printers and photocopiers through the recharge to service departments.  
Consequently, reduced spend will have been incurred on printing budgets 

Page 52



across the service departments and included in the projections for individual 
service areas.  Given the ongoing working from home principle for the 
remainder of the 2021-22 financial year, an exercise will be undertaken to re-
align budgets before the end of quarter 2. 

 
Housing & Homelessness 

 There is a projected under spend of £98,000 on Housing & Homelessness 
which is primarily due to staffing vacancies.  The service are actively recruiting 
to fill the vacant posts. 

 Budget growth of £2.192 million was approved by Council as part of the MTFS 
Budget setting process in February 2021 to continue the commitment to focus 
support for homeless individuals providing them with accommodation.  The 
budget was approved prior to confirmation from WG that the Covid Hardship 
Fund was to be extended for the first six months of 2021-22.  Table 2 sets out 
that claims of £1.236 million have been submitted to the Hardship Fund to date 
in 2021-22 and of these £1.227 are pending review.  If these claims are 
successful, this will significantly improve the projections for Housing in this 
financial year.  

 
4.3.9 Council Wide budgets 

  
 This section includes budgets, provisions and services which are council wide, and 

not managed by an individual directorate. The budget for 2021-22 is £48.318 
million.  The current projections show a break-even position on Council wide 
budgets. 

 
 As referred to in paragraph 4.1.14, the ongoing discussions regarding the pay claim 

for National Joint Council (NJC) workers and the consultation on Teachers’ pay 
(current proposal is an increase of 1.75%), the risk of unexpected major price 
inflation increases along with the uncertainty of Brexit and Covid-19 at this point in 
the financial year, it is prudent to assume that all Council wide budgets will be fully 
spent by the year end. 

 
5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 

 
5.1 As required by section 3 (budgetary control) of the Financial Procedure Rules; Chief 

Officers in consultation with the appropriate Cabinet Member are expected to 
manage their services within the approved cash limited budget and to provide the 
Chief Finance Officer with such information as is required to facilitate and monitor 
budgetary control. 

 
6. Equality Act 2010 implications 

 
6.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act 2010, Socio-

economic Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh language have been 
considered in the preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales, the Council 
must consider the impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the 
review of policies, strategies, services and functions. It is considered that there will 
be no significant or unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report. 

 
 
 
 

Page 53



 
 
7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Implications 
 
7.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 

report. As the report is for information it is considered that there will be no significant 
or unacceptable impacts upon the achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a 
result of this report. 

 
8. Financial implications 
 

8.1 These are reflected in the body of the report. 
 
9. Recommendation 

 

9.1 Cabinet is requested to: 
 

 note the projected revenue position for 2021-22. 
 
Gill Lewis 
Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change 
July 2021 
  
Contact Officer: Joanne Norman 

   Interim Group Manager – Financial Planning and Budget Management 
 
Telephone:  01656 643645 

 
Email:  joanne.norman@bridgend.gov.uk 

 
Postal Address : Raven’s Court 

   Brewery Lane 
   Bridgend 
   CF31 4AP 

 
 
Background documents:  Individual Directorate Monitoring Reports 

     MTFS Report to Council – 24 February 2021 

Page 54

mailto:joanne.norman@bridgend.gov.uk


APPENDIX 1

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal

Original 

Reduction 

and RAG     

£000

Revised 

RAG     

£000

Total 

amount of 

saving likely 

to be 

achieved by 

21-22           

£000

Reason why not achievable Proposed Action in 2021-22 to achieve

RAG STATUS KEY

RED Not likely to be achieved at all in this financial year or less than 25%.

AMBER Reduction not likely to be achieved in full in financial year but greater than 25%

GREEN Reduction likely to be achieved in full

EDUCATION & FAMILY SUPPORT

EFS1      

(2017-18)

Phased implementation of Learner Transport Policy 

regarding statutory distances for free travel.
20 20

A Budget Pressure was approved by 

Council as part of the Medium Term 

Financial Strategy 2021-22 to 2024-

25 in February 2021.  

The budget growth is a one-off pressure for 2021-22.  

In September 2020 Cabinet determined not to accept 

the recommendation to amend the Learner Travel 

Policy to meet statutory distances, including removal 

of eligibility for nursery and Post-16 pupils.  The Welsh 

Government review of eligibility and statutory 

distances is yet to report which may impact provision 

in future.

EFS2          

(2017-18)
School transport route efficiencies. 40 40

A Budget Pressure was approved by 

Council as part of the Medium Term 

Financial Strategy 2021-22 to 2024-

25 in February 2021.  

The budget growth is a one-off pressure for 2021-22.  

In September 2020 Cabinet determined not to accept 

the recommendation to amend the Learner Travel 

Policy to meet statutory distances, including removal 

of eligibility for nursery and Post-16 pupils.  The Welsh 

Government review of eligibility and statutory 

distances is yet to report which may impact provision 

in future.

EFS1      

(2018-19)

Phased implementation of Learner Transport Policy 

regarding statutory distances for free travel.
67 67

A Budget Pressure was approved by 

Council as part of the Medium Term 

Financial Strategy 2021-22 to 2024-

25 in February 2021.  

The budget growth is a one-off pressure for 2021-22.  

In September 2020 Cabinet determined not to accept 

the recommendation to amend the Learner Travel 

Policy to meet statutory distances, including removal 

of eligibility for nursery and Post-16 pupils.  The Welsh 

Government review of eligibility and statutory 

distances is yet to report which may impact provision 

in future.

EFS27      

(2018-19)

Review arrangements for Special Schools Home to School 

Transport with a view to achieving efficiency savings
75 75

A Budget Pressure was approved by 

Council as part of the Medium Term 

Financial Strategy 2021-22 to 2024-

25 in February 2021.  

The budget growth is a one-off pressure for 2021-22.  

In September 2020 Cabinet determined not to accept 

the recommendation to amend the Learner Travel 

Policy to meet statutory distances, including removal 

of eligibility for nursery and Post-16 pupils.  The Welsh 

Government review of eligibility and statutory 

distances is yet to report which may impact provision 

in future.

EFS 1      

(2019-20)

Phased implementation of Learner Transport Policy 

regarding statutory distances for free travel.
67 67

A Budget Pressure was approved by 

Council as part of the Medium Term 

Financial Strategy 2021-22 to 2024-

25 in February 2021.  

The budget growth is a one-off pressure for 2021-22.  

In September 2020 Cabinet determined not to accept 

the recommendation to amend the Learner Travel 

Policy to meet statutory distances, including removal 

of eligibility for nursery and Post-16 pupils.  The Welsh 

Government review of eligibility and statutory 

distances is yet to report which may impact provision 

in future.

EFS 1      

(2020-21)

Phased implementation of Learner Transport Policy 

regarding statutory distances for free travel.
75 75

A Budget Pressure was approved by 

Council as part of the Medium Term 

Financial Strategy 2021-22 to 2024-

25 in February 2021.  

The budget growth is a one-off pressure for 2021-22.  

In September 2020 Cabinet determined not to accept 

the recommendation to amend the Learner Travel 

Policy to meet statutory distances, including removal 

of eligibility for nursery and Post-16 pupils.  The Welsh 

Government review of eligibility and statutory 

distances is yet to report which may impact provision 

in future.

Total Education & Family Support Directorate 344 344

SOCIAL SERVICES & WELLBEING

SSW19

Further review of HALO partnership contract, including the 

Council taking over the management and payment of utility 

bills currently incurred by HALO.  This will result in VAT 

efficiencies for HALO and contribute towards the reduction in 

the management fee

40 0

Detailed discussions and advice 

received from VAT consultants 

resulted in this budget reduction 

proposal not being able to be 

progressed.

Alternative savings are being developed and will be 

reported as part of the Budget Monitoring 2021-22 

Quarter 2 Revenue Forecast report to Cabinet

SSW20

Identify further savings from library and cultural facilities and  

related services including reviewing  the numbers of facilities 

(libraries, community centres) and also reductions in services 

or opening hours.

70 0
Covid-19 has impacted on the 

delivery of this saving.

Close monitoring of the Leisure Services budgets will 

be required in 2021-22 to determine the potential for 

the Covid-19 pandemic to continue to impact on 

income levels achieved.  Underspends will be held 

across the service area to mitigate any shortfalls in the 

short term.

SSW27
Increase income generation from mobile response and 

telecare charging
75 0

Income levels have not increased to 

meet the required budget reduction 

proposal.

Service area continues to seek to identify efficiencies 

to meet the shortfall in 2021-22.

Total Social Services & Wellbeing Directorate 185 0

PRIOR YEAR BUDGET REDUCTIONS CARRIED FORWARD INTO 2021-22

Page 55



APPENDIX 1

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal

Original 

Reduction 

and RAG     

£000

Revised 

RAG     

£000

Total 

amount of 

saving likely 

to be 

achieved by 

21-22           

£000

Reason why not achievable Proposed Action in 2021-22 to achieve

COMMUNITIES

COM19     

(2017-18)

Permitting Scheme road works net of existing income of 

£95,000
100 0

The Streetworks Review is due to be 

submitted shortly to WG for their final 

comments for approval before steps 

can be taken towards 

implementation.

The Highways network budget area is committed to 

stay within budget through the implementation phase 

with full savings anticipated in 2022-23.

COM 4    

(2019-20)

Review of School Crossing Patrol service in line with GB 

standards
10 10

Budget re-alignment actioned within 

Traffic & Transport budgets in 2021-

22.

No action required.  Budget re-alignment actioned in 

2021-22.

COM 26     

(2019-20)

Investigate the introduction of charging to users of the 

Shopmobility facility in Bridgend Town Centre to 

reduce/remove the current level of subsidy

5 5 Saving achieved in full in 2021-22
No action required. Full saving should be achieved in 

2021-22.

COM 52 

(2019-20)

Reductions to the budget for the Materials Recovery and 

Energy Centre (MREC) to be achieved through the current 

procurement being undertaken with Neath Port Talbot CBC 

for the provision of new operator arrangements for the MREC 

facility at Crumlyn Burrows

1,300 1,300

A Budget Pressure of £300,000 

representing the shortfall for this 

Budget Reduction proposal was 

approved by Council as part of the 

Medium Term Financial Strategy 

2021-22 to 2024-25 in February 2021. 

None required - historic shortfall in savings target 

addressed through a Council approved budget 

pressure

COM 55     

(2019-20)

Increase charge for Green Waste Service from £28.30 per 

household to £38.30
25 25 Saving achieved in full in 2021-22

No action required. Full saving should be achieved in 

2021-22.

COM 26     

(2020-21)

Investigate the introduction of charging to users of the 

Shopmobility facility in Bridgend Town Centre to 

reduce/remove the current level of subsidy

18 18 Saving achieved in full in 2021-22
No action required. Full saving should be achieved in 

2021-22.

COM51

The savings will be delivered in a number of ways including 

operational efficiencies, streamlined business processes, IT 

investment, improved procurement and contract 

management, and some deletions of vacant posts.

350 325
Level of savings identified as at 30 

June 2021.

Service area continues to identify efficiencies to meet 

the shortfall in 2021-22.

COM 55     

(2020-21)

Increase charge for Green Waste Service from £28.30 per 

household to £38.30
25 25 Saving achieved in full in 2021-22

No action required. Full saving should be achieved in 

2021-22.

COM96
WG National AHP Waste Programme - capital contribution 

from WG towards 7.5 tonne vehicle to collect AHP recycling
14 14 Saving achieved in full in 2021-22

No action required. Full saving should be achieved in 

2021-22.

Total Communities Directorate 1,847 1,722

GRAND TOTAL OUTSTANDING REDUCTIONS 2,376 2,066

REDUCTIONS SHORTFALL 310

Page 56



MONITORING OF 2021-22 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 2

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Proposed  

2021-22 

£'000

Value Likely 

to be 

Achieved 

2021-22    

£'000

Reason why not likely to be achievable

EDUCATION & FAMILY SUPPORT

CENTRAL EDUCATION & FAMILY SUPPORT

EFS2
Removal of a vacant post within Cognition and 

Learning Team

Potential reduction in support for a vulnerable group, however it is 

anticipated that this has been mitigated by a change in working 

practices by the team as a result of the ALN reform

61 61 Full saving should be achieved in 2021-22

EFS3

Reconfiguration of the team providing support to 

Gypsy, Roma and Traveller learners to create a 

more efficient service

Whilst the impact is more on the management and leadership of the 

team, this may result in some slight reduction in the service offered 

to this vulnerable group but there will still be a service offering 

support

50 50 Full saving should be achieved in 2021-22

EFS4
Reduction in Central South Consortium (CSC) 

Budget of 1%

Reduction is achievable within the overall CSC budget and will be 

mainly achieved through efficiency savings
5 5 Full saving should be achieved in 2021-22

Total Education and Family Support 116 116

SSW1
Remodelling day service provision for older 

people and learning disability services

Full review of services which could mean alternative methods of 

service delivery
90 90 Full saving should be achieved in 2021-22

SSW2

Across Adults and Children's services embed 

and consolidate outcome focussed practice and 

commissioning for all service areas

This will support people to live their lives and will require our systems 

to be adapted to support the changes in practice.  There will be a 

shift to embed outcome focussed practice which will have a focus on 

targeted prevention initiatives and by developing collaborative, long 

term relationships with providers as well as maximising the 

opportunities of the use of technology.  this will be underpinned by 

planning accommodation, care and support together and listening to 

people who are experts in their own lives and acting upon what will 

make a difference.

225 225 Full saving should be achieved in 2021-22

315 315Total Social Services & Wellbeing Directorate

SOCIAL SERVICES & WELLBEING

P
age 57



MONITORING OF 2021-22 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 2

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Proposed  

2021-22 

£'000

Value Likely 

to be 

Achieved 

2021-22    

£'000

Reason why not likely to be achievable

COMMUNITIES

COM1

Transfer of pitches/pavilions through 

Community Asset Transfer.  Increased charges 

for end-users to achieve full cost recovery for 

pitches/pavilions that do not transfer.  Reduction 

of grass cut areas and areas within maintained 

parkland.

The savings identified will see the removal of the remaining seasonal 

operatives' budget with corresponding cuts to plant, equipment and 

materials.  Where asset transfers occur the respective club (rugby, 

football, bowls and cricket etc) will be expected to fully fund the 

ongoing maintenance of the asset.  The remaining parks budget will 

be used to maintain the Council's main parks, including children's 

play areas, highway grass cutting which is safety related, and to 

secure the ongoing site management and safety of the sites that will 

remain in Council ownership.  the level of funding will also dictate the 

standard of open space maintenance and may result in a further 

reduction of grass cut areas if the proposed savings are not 

forthcoming through the asset transfer process.

300 300

The full saving in 2021-22 has been achieved as 

the seasonal operative budget has been capped 

at a level to ensure the Parks and Playing Fields 

expenditure does not exceed available budget.  

Successful CAT transfers have taken place to 

date, and will continue to be progressed by the 

CAT Officer.

COM2

Re-location of Community Recycling Centre 

from Tythegston to Pyle resulting in cessation of 

lease payments at existing site

Construction of the new site will mean that this saving will not be 

effective until 2021/22
60 0

Delay due to new site not opening until October 

2021 and the need to keep both sites open until 

new site is fully operational.

COM5
The lease for Sunnyside House expires on 

31/03/21 - savings will be made from this date.

No impact on service provision
309 309 Full saving should be achieved in 2021-22

COM6

One off capital payment for the fire suppression 

system required at Tondu.  Revenue cost of 

system is included in the annual contract price 

with Kier.

Minimal impact.  The fire system will be provided and if paid from the 

Capital Asset Management Fund as opposed to the revenue budget, 

the £60K per annum can be saved.

60 60 Full saving should be achieved in 2021-22

COM7

WG National AHP Waste Programme - capital 

contribution from WG towards 7.5 tonne vehicle 

to collect AHP recycling

A Contract Variation will be progressed with Kier to achieve the 

saving levels proposed based on a reduction in costs in relation to 

the current AHP vehicle that is leased.

19 14
New vehicle purchased part-way through 2021-

22 therefore only partial saving achieved.

COM8

Reduction to energy budget for Street Lighting - 

savings due to replacement with more efficient 

LED

Reduction will have limited impact 75 75 Full saving should be achieved in 2021-22

Total Communities Directorate 823 758

P
age 58



MONITORING OF 2021-22 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 2

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Proposed  

2021-22 

£'000

Value Likely 

to be 

Achieved 

2021-22    

£'000

Reason why not likely to be achievable

CHIEF EXECUTIVES

CEX1 Reduction of the ICT Telephony Budget No impact on the communications infrastructure and maintenance 41 41 Full saving should be achieved in 2021-22

CEX2 Reduction of HR Staffing Budget
Reduction of a post and increased workload.  Where possible 

savings will be made from vacant posts.
24 24 Full saving should be achieved in 2021-22

CEX3 Reduction of Finance staffing budgets

Reduction in capacity across the finance service following proposed 

restructure, which could impact on time taken to undertake functions.  

Will endeavour to make savings from vacant posts where possible 

and/or offset with digital solutions.

65 65 Full saving should be achieved in 2021-22

Total Chief Executive's Directorate 130 130

P
age 59



MONITORING OF 2021-22 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 2

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Proposed  

2021-22 

£'000

Value Likely 

to be 

Achieved 

2021-22    

£'000

Reason why not likely to be achievable

CORPORATE / COUNCIL WIDE

CWD1
Reduction in insurance budget through on-going 

efficiencies in managing the insurance contract.

No impact as favourable insurance contract renewals have been 

achieved, however no mitigation available for potential increases to 

premiums in future years.

75 75 Full saving should be achieved in 2021-22

CWD2
Savings on building maintenance prudential 

borrowing budget

No impact - capital financing budget was utilised in 2019-20 to pay 

off prudential borrowing associated with Minor Works with a long 

term cost saving benefit for the Council.

120 120 Full saving should be achieved in 2021-22

CWD3

Reduce provision made for pay and prices 

following Chancellor's announcement of pay 

freeze, and lower than anticipated current 

inflation rate.

Impact will need to be kept under review, and may be risk depending 

on final pay awards agreed and inflation increases during the year.
181 181 Full saving should be achieved in 2021-22

Total Corporate / Council Wide 376 376

GRAND TOTAL REDUCTIONS 1,760 1,695

REDUCTION SHORTFALL 65

740 1,681

795 19

225 60

1,760 1,760

P
age 60



REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING TO 30TH JUNE 2021

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Expenditure 

Budget
Income 

Budget 

Net 

Budget 

Projected 

Outturn 

Projected 

Variance

Over/(under)

budget 

% 

Variance

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

EDUCATION AND FAMILY SUPPORT

School Delegated Budgets 124,863         (21,302)     103,561   103,561        -                  0.0%

Learning 9,912            (2,398)       7,514       8,309           795                  10.6%

Strategic Partnerships & Comm 25,768           (10,139)     15,629     15,674         45                    0.3%

Health and Safety 390               (2)              388          319             (69)                   -17.7%

TOTAL EDUCATION AND FAMILY SUPPORT 160,933         (33,841)     127,092   127,863       771                  0.6%

SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING

Adult Social Care 68,585           (19,133)     49,452     49,157         (295)                 -0.6%

Prevention and Wellbeing 6,030            (830)          5,200       5,149           (51)                   -1.0%

Childrens Social Care 20,428           (1,057)       19,371     19,070         (301)                 -1.6%

TOTAL SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING 95,043           (21,020)     74,023     73,376         (647)                 -0.9%

COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE

Planning & Development Services 2,075            (1,523)       552          552              -                  0.0%

Strategic Regeneration 2,032            (352)          1,680       1,680            -                  0.0%

Economy, Natural Resources and Sustainability 6,920            (5,635)       1,285       1,285            -                  0.0%

Cleaner Streets and Waste Management 12,357           (1,555)       10,802     11,201         399                  3.7%

Highways and Green Spaces 23,028           (12,147)     10,881     11,068         187                  1.7%

Director and Head of Operations - Communities 268                -           268          268              -                  0.0%

Corporate Landlord 13,916           (11,225)     2,691       2,729           38                    1.4%

TOTAL COMMUNITIES 60,596           (32,437)     28,159     28,783         624                  2.2%

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

Chief Executive Unit 579                -           579          569             (10)                   -1.7%

Finance 46,667           (42,972)     3,695       3,578           (117)                 -3.2%

HR/OD 2,248            (336)          1,912       1,801           (111)                 -5.8%

Partnerships 2,880            (846)          2,034       1,814           (220)                 -10.8%

Legal, Democratic & Regulatory 5,907            (978)          4,929       5,199           270                  5.5%

Elections 153               (49)            104          146             42                    40.4%

ICT 5,029            (1,277)       3,752       4,092           340                  9.1%

Housing & Homelessness 10,773           (7,419)       3,354       3,256           (98)                   -2.9%

Business Support 1,116            (111)          1,005       1,065           60                    6.0%

 TOTAL CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 75,352           (53,988)     21,364     21,520         156                  0.7%

 TOTAL DIRECTORATE BUDGETS 391,924         (141,286)   250,638   251,542       904                  0.4%

Council Wide Budgets 49,288           (970)          48,318     48,318          -                  0.0%

 NET BRIDGEND CBC          441,212    (142,256)    298,956        299,860                   904 0.3%

NB: Differences due to rounding of £000's

APPENDIX 3

Budget 2021-22

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



 
BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

    
REPORT TO CABINET 

 

20 JULY 2021 
 

REPORT OF THE INTERIM CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND 
CHANGE 

 
CAPITAL PROGRAMME OUTTURN 2020-21 AND QUARTER 1 UPDATE 

REPORT 2021-22 
 
1. Purpose of report 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to:- 

 comply with the requirement of the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) ‘The Prudential Code for Capital 
Finance in Local Authorities (2017 edition) 

 provide an update on the capital outturn for 2020-21 (Appendix A) 

 provide an update of the capital position for 2021-22 as at 30 June 2021 
(Appendix B) 

 seek agreement from Cabinet to present a report to Council for 
approval for a revised capital programme for 2021-22 to 2030-31 
(Appendix C) 

 note the projected Prudential and Other Indicators for 2021-22 
(Appendix D) 

 
2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities 

 
2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 

objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-   
 

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make 
the county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, 
study and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focused on raising the 
skills, qualifications and ambitions of all people in the county borough.  

 
2. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient – 

taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services. Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives. 

 
3. Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all resources (financial, 

physical, ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and 

Page 63

Agenda Item 5



efficiently as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the 
community that can help deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.  

 
2.2 Capital investment in the Council’s assets is a key factor in meeting the 

Council’s well-being objectives as set out in the Council’s Corporate Plan. 

 

3. Background  
 

3.1 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Wales) Regulations 
2003 as amended, contain detailed provisions for the capital finance and 
accounting controls, including the rules on the use of capital receipts and what 
is to be treated as capital expenditure. They modify accounting practice in 
various ways to prevent adverse impacts on authorities’ revenue resources. 

 
3.2      As well as the legislation, the Council manages its Treasury Management and 

Capital activities in accordance with the following associated guidance:- 
 

 CIPFA’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice  

 CIPFA’s The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities  

 Welsh Government (WG) revised Guidance on Local Authority Investments 
 
3.3 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities requires Local 

Authorities to have in place a Capital Strategy which demonstrates that the 
Authority takes capital expenditure and investment decisions in line with service 
objectives and properly takes account of stewardship, value for money, 
prudence, sustainability and affordability. To demonstrate that the Council has 
fulfilled these objectives, the Prudential Code sets out a number of Indicators 
that must be set and monitored each year. The Council’s Capital Strategy, 
incorporating the Prudential Indicators for 2021-22, was approved by Council 
on 24 February 2021. 

3.4 On 26 February 2020 Council approved a capital budget of £56.434 million for 
2020-21 as part of a capital programme covering the period 2020-21 to 2029-
30. The programme was last updated and approved by Council on 23 June 
2021. This report provides an update on the following: 

• Capital Programme outturn 2020-21 
• Capital Programme monitoring quarter 1 2021-22 
• A revised Capital Programme for 2021-22 to 2030-31 
• Capital Strategy monitoring 
• Prudential and other indicators 

 
4. Current situation/proposal 

 
4.1 Capital Programme Outturn Position 2020-21 
 

4.1.1 This section of the report provides Members with an update on the Council’s 
capital programme for 2020-21. The original budget approved by Council on 26 
February 2020 has been further revised and approved by Council during the 

Page 64



year to incorporate budgets brought forward from 2019-20 and any new 
schemes and grant approvals. The most recent programme for 2020-21, 
approved by Council in February 2021 as part of the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy, totalled £35.440 million, of which £12.419 million is met from Bridgend 
County Borough Council (BCBC) resources, including capital receipts, revenue 
contributions from earmarked reserves and borrowing, with the remaining 
£23.021 million coming from external resources. 

 
4.1.2 Appendix A provides details of the individual schemes within the capital      

programme, showing the budget available in 2020-21 compared to the actual 
spend. The revised programme was only approved in February 2021, so there 
have been few amendments since then other than the following main changes: 
 

 new approvals of £3.060 million mainly as a result of new grant 
schemes from Welsh Government (WG) – these include £2.329 
million School Maintenance Grant, £0.149 million Capital grant East 
Hub – Brynteg Comprehensive, £0.174 million Green Recovery grant 
and £0.148 million Circular Economy grant.  

 £0.318 million funding brought back from 2021-22 to reflect updated 
spend profiles. 

 

           This brings the revised budget to £38.818 million. 

4.1.3 Total expenditure as at 31 March 2021 is £23.461 million which, after slippage 
of £14.376 million into 2021-22 and adjustments to grant funded schemes of 
£0.842 million, results in a total under spend of £0.139 million, which will be 
returned to Council funding.  During the year a number of schemes have 
commenced but not been completed during the year, or have been moved 
wholly into 2021-22.  These include Coastal Risk Management Program – 
Porthcawl, WCCIS hardware refresh, Caerau Heat Network, and regeneration 
works at Llynfi Valley.  Slippage has arisen as a direct result of the Covid 19 
pandemic and also due to a number of other reasons including delays in starting 
projects due to the need to undertake more detailed survey works, ongoing 
discussions with funding bodies and other general programme delays.   

 
4.1.4 Net slippage into 2021-22 of £14.058 million is required, the main schemes 

being: 

 £2.424 million School Capital Maintenance grant. Following the 
Council being awarded a late School Capital Maintenance grant of 
£2.329 million for 2020-21 from Welsh Government, the existing 
earmarked reserve funding has slipped and will now be utilised in 
2021/22. 
  

 £1.189 million WCCIS Hardware refresh, due to delays in the 
software being procured, shipped, installed and tested which 
resulted in the project now being completed later than anticipated.  

 

Page 65



 £1.274 million of funding for minor capital works has slipped due to 
the delay in completing a number of schemes. 

 
 

 £0.750 million Coastal Risk Management Porthcawl due to late 
receipt of the funding award from Welsh Government and delays in 
the contract being awarded which has meant that site works did not 
commence until April 2021.  

 

 £0.629 million Salix Street Lighting. The original Salix funding was 
for 3 years and due to end in March 2021, however due to the 
disruption caused by the Coronavirus pandemic and the lack of 
supply by manufacturers it has been necessary to request an 
extension until September 2021. This extension has been approved 
and the project is on target for completion in September 2021. 

 

 £0.687 million TRI Thematic Projects funding has slipped due to 
delays in projects being awarded. There are 7 thematic properties 
and 5 Covid projects that received grant approval by March 2021, 
with improvement works currently being undertaken. 

 

 £0.549 million Welsh Medium Childcare provision Bettws has slipped 
as a result of the project start date being delayed due to demolition 
works not being able to complete until September 2021 for ecological 
reasons. This resulted in project costs increasing and has meant that 
it was necessary to re-tender the project, in readiness for a 
September start date. 

 

 £0.360 million re Pyle Community Recycling Centre.  Following the 
Council being awarded two late grants from WG at the end of the 
year the budget for the scheme increased by £0.272 million. While 
the grants were utilised in 2020/21 the remaining funding of £0.360 
million has slipped and will be used towards the unforeseen costs on 
site, most notably finding contaminated ground at the Pyle site that 
had to be remediated to enable construction to proceed. 

 

4.2 Capital Programme Quarter 1 Update  

 

4.2.1 This section of the report provides Members with an update on the Council’s 
capital programme for 2021-22 since the budget was last approved by Council 
and incorporates any new schemes and grant approvals. The revised 
programme for 2021-22, currently totals £87.347 million, of which £53.067 
million is met from Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) resources, 
including capital receipts, revenue contributions from earmarked reserves and 
borrowing, with the remaining £34.280 million coming from external resources, 
including General Capital Grant. Table 1 below shows the capital programme 
for each Directorate from the June 2021 approved Council position to quarter 
1: 

Page 66



 
Table 1 – Capital Programme per Directorate 2021-22 
 

Directorate 

Approved 
Council  

Slippage 
Brought 
forward 

from 2020-
21 

New 
Approvals 

and 
Adjustments 

Slippage to 
future years 

Revised 
Budget 2021-

22 

June 2021 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Education & 
Family 
Support 

11,632 3,056 303 (225) 14,766 

Social 
Services and 
Well-being 

2,434 681 0 0 3,115 

Communities 46,933 8,471 7,392 0 62,796 

Chief 
Executive’s  

4,988 1,850 (122) 0 5,716 

Council 
Wide 
 

1,929 0 (975) 0    954 

Total 66,916 14,058 6,598 (225) 87,347 

 
 

4.2.2 Table 2 below summarises the current funding assumptions for the capital 
programme for 2021-22. The capital resources are managed to ensure that 
maximum financial benefit for the Council is achieved. This may include the 
realignment of funding to maximise government grants. 

  
Table 2 – Capital Programme 2021-22 Resources 

 

CAPITAL RESOURCES £’000 
 

BCBC Resources:  

Capital Receipts 20,357 

Earmarked Reserves 20,648 

Unsupported Borrowing 7,287 

Supported Borrowing 3,953 

Other Loans 9,552 

Revenue Contribution 822 

Total BCBC Resources 62,619 

External Resources:  

Grants 24,728 

Total External Resources 24,728 

TOTAL RESOURCES 87,347 

 

Page 67



4.2.3 Appendix B provides details of the individual schemes within the capital 
programme,  showing the budget available in 2021-22 compared to the 
projected spend at 30 June 2021. 

 
4.2.4 There are a number of amendments to the capital programme for 2021-22, such 

as new and amended schemes, since the capital programme was last approved 
including: 
 
21st Century Schools Band B    
The overall funding envelope for the programme has been amended to reflect 
the latest scheme cost submitted to Welsh Government for the programme 
based on 3 schools (including a replacement special school) being funded from 
capital grant and 2 schools funded via the Mutual Investment Model (MIM). The 
overall funding of the programme within the capital budget has been revised 
and updated to reflect current intervention rates. All schemes will be subject to 
full business cases and any changes to the overall funding envelope will be 
reported back to Cabinet and Council as necessary. 
 
Bryncethin Depot 
The Capital Programme Update report to Council on 23 June 2021 included 
£300,000 of capital funding that is required to continue with essential repairs 
and physical enhancement of the depot in order to provide an expanded fit for 
purpose and low carbon facility.  An opportunity has arisen to apply for Salix 
funding to extend this project further.  The investment is intended to replace all 
existing light fittings within the offices with LED light fittings, install a roof 
mounted solar PV system to reduce dependency on the electricity network and 
battery storage for onsite renewable energy generation.  These works are 
estimated to cost £178,000, with an interest free loan of £94,000 being applied 
for from Salix.  The balance of the project would be met from the existing 
£300,000 capital funding for Bryncethin Depot.  If the Salix funding application 
is not successful then this part of the scheme would not proceed.  A further 
update will be provided in the next Capital Programme update to Council. 
 
Bridgend Heat Network - £2.89 million 
A report was presented to Cabinet and Council in March 2021 seeking approval 
for the inclusion of a budget of £3.39 million within the capital programme for 
the development of the Bridgend Town Heat Network Project. Council gave 
approval for the budget to be included, in addition to approval for a loan of 
£1.821 million from the Council to the proposed Special Purpose Vehicle. A 
budget of £500,000 was already included within the capital programme for 
Smart Systems and Heat so the new approval in the programme is for the 
additional £2.89 million.    
 
Evergreen Hall - £0.130 million  
Evergreen Hall has been a standalone building since development in 1985.  
Following the lease being surrendered by Bridgend Town Council in late 2020, 
evaluation and feasibility assessments have been undertaken to identify 
refurbishment works that are required to ensure the ongoing use of the Hall by 
the Council.  Part of these works include replacement of the standalone heating 
and electrical installations that are at the end of their economic life.  The works 

Page 68



will be funded by an earmarked reserve established in 2020-21 that had been 
based on the evaluation and feasibility assessments.  
 
Maesteg Town Hall £0.250 million  
The Maesteg Town Hall re-development project has been progressing 
confidently, albeit with some programme and spend slippage due to unforeseen 
repair works to the clock tower and roof cupolas along with the implications of 
the Covid-19 pandemic, which has meant that some construction activities have 
been re-programmed and re-configured to adhere to Covid regulations. As 
such, actual spend for 2020-21 financial year was slightly lower than forecasted 
and these works will now be completed in 2021-22. Construction activity to date 
has included extensive repair to the existing building which is progressing well 
and in the coming period, works will commence to the new extension. 
Since the last Capital programme update, the Council has been successful in 
securing an additional £250,000 from Welsh Government’s Building for the 
Future programme. This has meant there have been some variations to funding 
however the total scheme cost has remained the same.  
 
Enable Grant £0.198 million 
WG has awarded the Council with £0.198 million funding in relation to the 
Enable, Support for Independent Living Grant 2021-22. The purpose of the 
funding is to support the delivery of adaptations and integrate service delivery. 

 
Local Government Public Highways Refurbishment Grant  £0.810 million 
WG has awarded the Council with £0.810 million funding in relation to Capital 
Funding for Local Government Public Highways Refurbishment Grant. The 
purpose of the funding is to support local authorities to finance public 
highways refurbishment within their authority limits. 
 
Fleet - £0.12 million 
To enable replacement of 3 special access vehicles, funding of £0.120 million 
has been included in the capital programme in 2021-22 to be funded through 
prudential borrowing. The funding and corresponding charges to services will 
be managed by the Joint Fleet Manager. 
 
Active Travel Fund - £2.85 million 
WG has awarded the Council with £2.85 million funding in relation to the Active 
Travel fund.  The Purpose of the Active Travel Fund is to increase levels of 
active travel, improve health & well-being, improve air quality, reduce carbon 
emissions, connect communities and improve active travel access to 
employment, education and key services, destinations and public transport. It 
will include an allocation for Bridgend to Pencoed (Phase 2), Pyle to Porthcawl 
(Phase1) as well as various other smaller schemes.  

 
WG Resilient Roads Fund & Ultra Low Emissions Vehicle Transformation Fund 
Grants £0.937 million 
WG has awarded the Council with £0.937 million funding in relation to the 
Resilient Roads Fund & Ultra Low Emissions Vehicle Transformation Fund 
Grants. The purpose of the Resilient Roads fund is to enable the Council to 
support transport projects that mitigate and adapt to the effects of climate 

Page 69



change, including addressing disruptions caused on the highway network by 
severe weather. The purpose of the Ultra Low Emission Vehicle Transformation 
Fund is to promote electric vehicle charging infrastructure projects in alignment 
with the Welsh Government’s EV Charging Strategy. 
 
Maes yr Haul – Solar Panels £0.032 million  
Maes yr Haul Primary School has been working with the Council’s Energy 
Manager and Corporate Landlord Section on a project to install solar panels on 
the roof of the school, in order to help to reduce the school energy bills and 
enable it to become more self-sufficient. The project will be funded from the 
school’s delegated budget (£32,000). The school is estimated to recoup the 
investment within four years. 
 
Cynffig Comprehensive School External Canopy £0.042 million 
Cynffig Comprehensive School have been working with the Corporate Landlord 
section on a project to install an external canopy which would provide the school 
with a partially closed in facility providing shelter to the pupils from the weather 
and can also act as an outside teaching facility if/when required.  The project 
will be funded from the school’s delegated budget. (£42,115) 
 
Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration Scheme 
In order to further progress the regeneration of the Porthcawl Waterfront Area 
a draft land use framework and masterplan has been produced for 
consideration as part of the replacement Local Development Plan process. In 
order to enable the scheme proceed in a comprehensive way that reflects the 
draft land use framework a report to Cabinet on 20 July 2021 seeks formal 
resolution of the Cabinet to make, advertise, notify and progress confirmation 
of a Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) to acquire land.  Given the CPO is yet 
to be made it is premature to confirm what compensation payments will have 
to be made or to what value. Notwithstanding this, Cabinet and Council 
approval is sought for officers to include a capital budget in the capital 
programme from unallocated capital funding at the earliest opportunity.  Once 
the need for compensation payments and the amounts which will be required 
are clarified a report will be made back to Cabinet and Council to finalise the 
amount for the capital programme, with any such payments to be reimbursed 
from future sale receipts from disposal of the land at Porthcawl. 

 
4.2.5 A revised Capital Programme is included as Appendix C. 
 
4.3 Prudential and Other Indicators 2021-22 Monitoring 
 
4.3.1 In February 2021, Council approved the Capital Strategy for 2021-22, which 

included the Prudential Indicators 2021-22 to 2023-24 together with some local 
indicators. 

  
4.3.2 The Capital Strategy is intended to give an overview of how capital expenditure, 

capital financing and treasury management activity contribute to the provision 
of services along with an overview of how associated risk is managed and the 
implications for future sustainability. To this end, a number of prudential 

Page 70



indicators were included, and approved by Council. In line with the 
requirements of the Prudential Code, the Chief Finance Officer is required to 
establish procedures to monitor both performance against all forward-looking 
prudential indicators and the requirement specified. 

 
4.3.3 Appendix D details the actual indicators for 2020-21, the estimated indicators 

for 2021-22 set out in the Council’s Capital Strategy and the projected indicators 
for 2021-22 based on the revised Capital Programme. These show that the 
Council is operating in line with the approved limits. 

 
4.4 Capital Strategy Monitoring 
 
4.4.1 The Capital Strategy also requires the monitoring of non-treasury management 

investments and other long term liabilities. The Council does have an existing 
investment portfolio which is 100% based within the County Borough and 
primarily the office and industrial sectors. The income streams are generally 
spread between the single and multi-let office investments on Bridgend Science 
Park, the multi-let industrial estates and the freehold ground rent investments. 
The total value of Investment Properties was £5.035 million at 31 March 2021. 

 
4.4.2 The Council has a number of Other Long Term Liabilities which are included 

within the Capital Strategy, the most significant being the Maesteg School 
Private Finance Initiative (PFI).  The Council has a PFI arrangement for the 
provision of a Secondary School in Maesteg.  This forms a long-term liability for 
the Council which is £14.77 million at 31 March 2021. This is a 25 year 
agreement which will end during the 2033-34 financial year.  Other long term 
liabilities totalling £2.037 million include lease arrangements for the Innovation 
Centre, the Council’s Waste Contract and a Welsh Government energy 
efficiency loan. 

 
5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 As required by Financial Procedure Rule 3.5.3 within the Council’s Constitution, 

“The Chief Finance Officer shall report quarterly to Cabinet an update on the 
Capital Strategy and the Prudential Indicators.” 

6. Equality Act 2010 implications 
 
6.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic 

Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh language have been considered 
in the preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales, the Council must 
consider the impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the 
review of policies, strategies, services and functions. Projects within the capital 
programme will be subject to the preparation of Equality Impact Assessments 
before proceeding.  However, it is considered that there will be no significant or 
unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report. 

 
 
 
 

Page 71



7.  Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 
7.1       The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of 

this report.  It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable 
impacts upon the achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this 
report. Specifically the development of a 10 year capital programme, which 
reflects the Council’s affordability in terms of capital receipts and borrowing, 
supports the principle of sustainability over the long term. 

 
8. Financial implications 
 
8.1 The financial implications are outlined in the body of the report. 

9. Recommendations 

 
9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet: 
 

 notes the capital outturn for 2020-21 (Appendix A) 

 notes the Council’s Capital Programme 2021-22 Quarter 1 update to 
30 June 2021 (Appendix B) 

 agree that the revised Capital Programme (Appendix C) be submitted 
to Council for approval 

 notes the projected Prudential and Other Indicators for 2021-22 
(Appendix D) 
 

 
 
Gill Lewis 
Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change  
July 2021 
 

Contact Officer:   Deborah Exton 
     Interim Deputy Head of Finance 
 
Telephone:    01656 643604 
 
E-mail:    Deborah.Exton@bridgend.gov.uk 
 
Postal Address:   Bridgend County Borough Council 
     Chief Executive’s - Finance 
     Raven’s Court 

Brewery Lane 
     Bridgend 
     CF31 4AP 
 
Background documents:   None 

Page 72

mailto:Deborah.Exton@bridgend.gov.uk


Bridgend County Borough Council APPENDIX A

CAPITAL MONITORING REPORT Outurn Report

Run for Period  6 - 2019/2020

Run as at September 27, 2019

Budget 20-21 

(Council Feb 

21)

New Approvals Virement Slippage From 

2021-22

Revised Budget 2020-

21

Total Exp    

2020-21

Over / (Under) 

spend

Slippage to 

2021-22

Impact on 

Grant Funded 

Schemes

Impact on 

BCBC 

Resources

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Education & Family Support
HIGHWAYS SCHEMES BAND B  -                   -                             -                   -                   -                  

YSGOL BRYN CASTELL SPECIAL SCHOOL  -                  154                   154                             154                   (0)                      -                  

BRYNMENYN PRIMARY              -                   -                             -                   -                   -                  

GATEWAY TO THE VALLEYS SEC SCH 1                       5                       6                                 6                       0                        -                  

GARW VALLEY SOUTH PRIMARY PROVISION  -                  21                     21                               21                     0                        -                  

PENCOED PRIMARY               7                       1                       8                                 8                       0                        -                  

GARW VALLEY PRIMARY HIGHWAYS   -                   -                             -                   -                   -                  

PENCOED PRIMARY SCHOOL HIGHWAYS WORKS  -                   -                             -                   -                   -                  

BRYNMENYN SCHOOL HIGHWAYS WORK 3                       3                                 3                       0                        -                  

ALN PROVISION  -                   -                             -                   -                   -                  

REDUCTION OF INFANT CLASS SIZES 70                     70                               26                     (44)                    -                  (44)                    -                  

CROESTY PRIMARY SCHOOL        149                   149                             30                     (119)                 15                     (104)                  -                  

SCHOOLS CAPITAL MINOR WORKS 397                   397                             269                   (128)                 128                    -                  

SCHOOLS TRAFFIC SAFETY         -                   -                             -                   -                   -                  

SCHOOL MODERNISATION RETENTION  -                  (25)                   25                      -                             -                   -                   -                  

CEFN CRIBWR PRIMARY ALN 438                   41                     479                             479                   (0)                      -                  

EDUCATION S106 SCHEMES         -                  1                       1                                 1                       0                        -                  

COMPLEX & MEDICAL NEEDS PROVISION 74                     2                       76                               76                     (0)                      -                  

MYNYDD CYNFFIG PRIMARY SCHOOL MOBILES 1,200                1,200                          1,102                (98)                   98                      -                  

SCHOOLS' CAPITAL MAINTENANCE GRANT 1,462                2,329                3,791                          1,367                (2,424)              2,424                 -                  

WELSH MEDIUM CHILDCARE PROVISION - BETTWS 578                   578                             29                     (549)                 549                    -                  

WELSH MEDIUM CHILDCARE PROVISION - BRIDGEND  -                   -                             -                   -                   -                  

WELSH MEDIUM CHILDCARE PROVISION - OGMORE 128                   128                             40                     (88)                   88                      -                  

WELSH MEDIUM CHILDCARE PROVISION - PORTHCAWL  -                   -                             -                   -                   -                  

WELSH MEDIUM CHILDCARE PROVISION - HIGHWAYS  -                   -                             -                   -                   -                  

WLGA - ADDITIONAL FUNDING FOR ICT -SCHOOLS 81                     81                               81                      -                   -                  

EAST HUB- BRYNTEG COMPREHENSIVE 971                   149                   25                     39                     1,184                          1,184                (0)                      -                  

TOTAL Education & Family Support 5,559                2,521                 -                  246                   8,326                          4,877                (3,450)              3,302                (148)                  -                  

Social Services and Wellbeing
BRIDGEND RECREATION 80                     80                                -                  (80)                   80                      -                  

BRYNGARW HOUSE 30                     30                               13                     (17)                   17                      -                  

COMMUNITY CENTRES 100                   100                             80                     (20)                   20                     

PENCOED LIBRARY 20                     20                               7                       (13)                   13                      -                  

BRYNGARW PARK - ACCESS IMPROVEMENTS 35                     35                               2                       (33)                   33                      -                  

BRYN Y CAE - HFE'S  -                   -                             -                   -                   -                  

WELLBEING MINOR WORKS 121                   121                             8                       (113)                 113                    -                  

TREM Y MOR - ACCOMODATION     435                   435                             260                   (175)                 175                    -                  

TY PENYBONT 1                       1                                 1                       0                        -                  

BAKERS WAY MINOR WORKS        10                     10                                -                  (10)                   10                      -                  

GLAN YR AFON CARE HOME        51                     51                                -                  (51)                   51                      -                  

CHILDRENS RESIDENTIAL HUB     300                   300                             178                   (122)                 122                    -                  

HARTSHORN HOUSE 50                     50                               3                       (47)                   47                      -                  

P
age 73



Budget 20-21 

(Council Feb 

21)

New Approvals Virement Slippage From 

2021-22

Revised Budget 2020-

21

Total Exp    

2020-21

Over / (Under) 

spend

Slippage to 

2021-22

Impact on 

Grant Funded 

Schemes

Impact on 

BCBC 

Resources

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

ICF CAPITAL FUNDING 35                     35                               35                     (0)                      -                  

EXTRA CARE FACILITIES         120                   120                              -                  (120)                  -                  (120)                 

TOTAL Social Services & Wellbeing 1,388                 -                   -                   -                  1,388                          587                   (801)                 681                    -                  (120)                 

Communities

Street Scene

COMMUNITY PLAY AREAS  -                   -                             -                   -                  

PARKS/PAVILIONS/COMMUNITY CENTRES CAT 748                   748                             168                   (580)                 580                    -                  

ABERFIELDS PLAYFIELDS 11                     11                                -                  (11)                   11                      -                  

CARDIFF CAPITAL REGION CITY DEAL 396                   396                             189                   (207)                 207                    -                  

PORTHCAWL TOWN SEA DEFENCE    52                     (25)                   27                                -                  (27)                   27                      -                  

COYCHURCH CREMATORIUM 20                     20                     40                               40                     0                        -                  

EASTERN PROMENADE PORTHCAWL    -                  25                     25                               25                     0                        -                  

REMEDIAL MEASURES - CAR PARKS 30                     30                                -                  (30)                   30                      -                  

CIVIL PARKING ENFORCEMENT  -                   -                             -                   -                   -                  

SAFE ROUTES TO SCHOOL          -                   -                             -                   -                   -                  

ROAD SAFETY SCHEMES           64                     64                     128                             128                   (0)                      -                  

ACTIVE TRAVEL- PENCOED TECHNOLOGY PARK 1,716                1,716                          1,414                (302)                 (302)                  -                  

HIGHWAYS STRUCTURAL WORKS     200                   200                             196                   (4)                     4                        -                  

CARRIAGEWAY CAPITAL WORKS     250                   250                             245                   (5)                     5                        -                  

ACTIVE TRAVEL - BRIDGEND TO BRACKLA  -                  13                     13                               13                     (0)                      -                  

ROAD SAFETY IMPROVEMENTS - HEOL MOSTYN  -                   -                             -                   -                   -                  

PROW CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT STRUCTURES 253                   253                             112                   (141)                 141                    -                  

HIGHWAYS REFURBISHMENT GRANT 957                   957                             828                   (129)                  -                  (129)                  -                  

CARRIAGEWAY & FOOTWAYS RENEWAL 1,700                1,700                          1,643                (57)                   57                      -                  

CARRIAGE RECONSTRUCTION        -                   -                             -                   -                   -                  

NATIONAL CYCLE NETWORK PHASE 2  -                   -                             -                   -                   -                  

REPLACEMENT OF STREET LIGHTING 280                   280                             142                   (138)                 138                    -                  

BRIDGE STRENGTHENING A4061    1,285                1,285                          1,234                (51)                   51                      -                  

COMMUNITIES MINOR WORKS       468                   468                             67                     (401)                 401                    -                  

RIVER PROTECTION MEASURES     138                   138                             127                   (11)                   11                      -                  

RETAINING WALL REPLACEMENT BETTWS 51                     51                                -                  (51)                   (40)                   (11)                   

PYLE PARK AND RIDE METRO 120                   120                             91                     (29)                   (29)                    -                  

LOCAL TRANSPORT FUND - PENPRYSG ROAD BRIDGE 130                   130                             107                   (23)                   (23)                    -                  

LOCAL TRANSPORT FUND - BRIDGEND TO COYCHURCH  -                   -                             -                   -                   -                  

SAFE ROUTES - COITY HIGHER 222                   222                             167                   (55)                   (55)                    -                  

SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT COVID RESPONSE 350                   350                             235                   (115)                  -                  (115)                  -                  

RESIDENTS PARKING BRIDGEND TC  -                   -                             -                   -                   -                  

FLEET VEHICLES                1,861                49                     1,910                          1,518                (392)                 392                    -                  

RELOCATE RECYCLING CENTRE     1,494                272                   1,766                          1,406                (360)                 360                    -                  

AHP WASTE 238                   238                             31                     (207)                 207                    -                  

HEOL MOSTYN JUNCTION          37                     33                     70                               70                     0                        -                  

EXTENSION TO CORNELLY CEMETERY 13 5                       18                               18                     0                        -                  

EXTENSION TO PORTHCAWL CEMETERY 17 29                     46                               46                     0                        -                  

STREET LIGHTING ENERGY SALIX  1305 1,305                          676                   (629)                 629                    -                  

HIGHWAYS S106 MINOR SCHEMES 63                     63                               3                       (60)                   60                      -                  

TOTAL Streetscene 14,469              421                    -                  64                     14,954                        10,938              (4,016)              3,311                (693)                 (11)                   

Regeneration & Development
BRIDGEND BUS SUP NETWORK        128                   128                             103                   (25)                   25                      -                  

PORTHCAWL RESORT INVESTMENT FOCUS (PRIF) 158                   158                             103                   (55)                   55                      -                  

P
age 74



Budget 20-21 

(Council Feb 

21)

New Approvals Virement Slippage From 

2021-22

Revised Budget 2020-

21

Total Exp    

2020-21

Over / (Under) 

spend

Slippage to 

2021-22

Impact on 

Grant Funded 

Schemes

Impact on 

BCBC 

Resources

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

EU CONVERGANCE SRF BUDGET     990                   990                              -                  (990)                 990                    -                  

PURCHASE OF SALT LAKE CAR PARK  -                   -                             -                   -                   -                  VRP - BRYNGARW PARK 386                   386                             235                   (151)                 151                    -                  

VRP - PARC SLIP 134                   134                             75                     (59)                   59                      -                  

TRI THEMATIC PROJECTS (UCPE AND UCLG) 820                   820                             133                   (687)                 687                    -                  

TRI STANDALONE PROJECTS 299                   299                             298                   (1)                     (1)                      -                  

PORTHCAWL REGENERATION PROJECT 66                     4                       70                               70                     0                        -                  

BERWYN CENTRE AND OGMORE VALE WASHERIES 186                   186                             3                       (183)                 183                   

COVID RECOVERY FOR TOWN CENTRES 360                   360                             26                     (334)                 334                   

ECONOMIC STIMULUS PROJECT 100                   100                             56                     (44)                   44                      -                  

COASTAL RISK MANAGEMENT PROGRAM 750                   750                              -                  (750)                 750                    -                  

LLYNFI DEVELOPMENT SITE        -                   -                             -                   -                   -                  

BRIDGEND HEAT SCHEME           -                   -                             -                   -                   -                  

MAESTEG TOWN HALL CULTURAL HUB 2,048                2,048                          1,762                (286)                 286                    -                  

TOWN & COMMUNITY COUNCIL FUND 249                   249                             75                     (174)                 174                    -                  

CAERAU HEAT NETWORK  -                   -                             -                   -                   -                  

PORTHCAWL THI                 15                     15                                -                  (15)                   15                      -                  

TOTAL Regeneration & Development 6,689                4                        -                   -                  6,693                          2,939                (3,754)              3,753                (1)                      -                  

Corporate Landlord
CAPITAL ASSET MANAGEMENT FUND 820                   820                              -                  (820)                 820                    -                  

CORPORATE  LANDLORD ENERGY EFFICIENCY SAVINGS 12                     8                       20                               20                      -                   -                   -                  

ENTERPRISE HUB 153                   153                             123                   (30)                   30                      -                  

RAVEN'S COURT MINOR WORKS 12                     12                               7                       (5)                     5                        -                  

ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING POINTS RAVENS COURT 25                     25                               22                     (3)                     (3)                     

RELOCATION OF REGISTRARS      59                     15                     74                               74                      -                   -                  

BRIDGEND/MAESTEG MARKET MINOR WORKS 25                     25                               15                     (10)                   10                      -                  

DDA WORKS                     286                   286                             130                   (156)                 156                    -                  

MINOR WORKS 258                   258                             95                     (163)                 163                    -                  

FIRE PRECAUTIONS MINOR WORKS  100                   100                             49                     (51)                   51                      -                  

BRYNCETHIN DEPOT FACILITIES   151                   151                             92                     (59)                   59                      -                  

NON OPERATIONAL ASSETS         -                   -                             -                   -                   -                  

WATERTON UPGRADE               -                   -                             -                   -                   -                  

EVERGREEN HALL - LEASE ACQUISITION 40                     40                               39                     (1)                     (1)                     

INVESTING IN COMMUNITIES 189                   189                             4                       (185)                 185                    -                  

Total Corporate Landlord 2,130                15                      -                  8                       2,153                          668                   (1,483)              1,479                 -                  (4)                     

TOTAL Communities 23,288              440                    -                  72                     23,800                        14,546              (9,252)              8,543                (694)                 (15)                   

Chief Executive
DISABLED FACILITIES GRANTS (DFG) 1,820                (119)                 1,701                          1,358                (343)                 343                    -                  

TARGET HARDENING GRANTS        -                  46                     46                               46                     (0)                      -                  

HOUSING RENEWAL AREA          100                   100                             82                     (18)                   18                      -                  

VALLEYS TASK FORCE EMPTY PROPERTIES GRANT 300                   300                              -                  (300)                 300                    -                  

COMFORT SAFE & SECURITY GRANTS 8                       8                       16                               16                     0                        -                  

WESTERN VALLEY EMPTY HOMES PILOT  -                   -                             -                   -                   -                  

EMERGENCY REPAIR LIFETIME GRANT 122                   64                     186                             186                   (0)                      -                  

ENABLE SUPPORT GRANT 180                   1                       181                             181                   0                        -                  

TOTAL Housing/Homelessness 2,530                 -                   -                   -                  2,530                          1,869                (661)                 661                    -                   -                  

DIGITAL MEETING SPACES        26                     26                               24                     (2)                     (2)                     

ICT INFRA SUPPORT             651                   99                     750                             750                   0                        -                  

ICT DIGITALLY EXCLUDED LEARNERS 225                   225                             225                   

P
age 75



Budget 20-21 

(Council Feb 

21)

New Approvals Virement Slippage From 

2021-22

Revised Budget 2020-

21

Total Exp    

2020-21

Over / (Under) 

spend

Slippage to 

2021-22

Impact on 

Grant Funded 

Schemes

Impact on 

BCBC 

Resources

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

WCCIS HARDWARE REFRESH 1,768                1,768                          579                   (1,189)              1,189                

DIGITAL TRANSFORMATION         -                   -                             -                   -                   -                  

DATA CENTRE 5                       5                                 5                       0                        -                  

TOTAL ICT 2,675                99                      -                   -                  2,774                          1,583                (1,191)              1,189                 -                  (2)                     

TOTAL Chief Executive 5,205                99                      -                   -                  5,304                          3,452                (1,854)              1,850                 -                  (4)                     

GRAND TOTAL 35,440           3,060              -               318                38,818                   23,461           (15,357)          14,376           (842)               (139)               

P
age 76



Bridgend County Borough Council APPENDIX B

CAPITAL MONITORING REPORT QUARTER 1 TO 30 June 21

Run for Period  6 - 2019/2020
Run as at September 27, 2019

Budget 21-22 
(Council June 

21)

2020-21 
Slippage b/f

New Approvals 
and 

Adjustments 

Virement Slippage Revised Budget 
2021-22

Total Exp to 
date

Projected Spend Over / (Under) 
spend

Impact on 
BCBC 

Resources

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Education & Family Support
21ST CENTURY SCHOOLS BAND B   625                    -                   -                   -                  (225)                 400                             -                  400                        -                  
HIGHWAYS SCHEMES BAND B 3,400                 -                   -                  3,400                          -                  3,400                     -                   -                  
YSGOL BRYN CASTELL SPECIAL SCHOOL 150                   (154)                 26                      -                  22                              36                     22                          -                   -                  
BRYNMENYN PRIMARY             44                      -                   -                  44                               -                  44                          -                   -                  
LAND PURCHASE BAND B SCHOOLS  4,910                 -                   -                  4,910                         1                       4,910                     -                   -                  
GATEWAY TO THE VALLEYS SEC SCH 140                   (5)                      -                  135                             -                  135                        -                   -                  
GARW VALLEY SOUTH PRIMARY PROVISION 160                   (21)                    -                  139                            (25)                   139                        -                   -                  
PENCOED PRIMARY               55                      -                   -                  55                              0                       55                          -                   -                  
GARW VALLEY PRIMARY HIGHWAYS  30                      -                   -                  30                               -                  30                          -                   -                  
PENCOED PRIMARY SCHOOL HIGHWAYS WORKS 56                     (1)                      -                  55                               -                  55                          -                   -                  
BRYNMENYN SCHOOL HIGHWAYS WORK 12                      -                   -                  12                               -                  12                          -                   -                  
ALN PROVISION  -                   -                   -                   -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
REDUCTION OF INFANT CLASS SIZES  -                  15                      -                  15                              3                       15                          -                   -                  
CROESTY PRIMARY SCHOOL         -                   -                   -                   -                            2                        -                        -                   -                  
SCHOOLS CAPITAL MINOR WORKS  -                  128                    -                  128                            (4)                     128                        -                   -                  

SCHOOLS TRAFFIC SAFETY        208                    -                   -                  208                             -                  208                        -                   -                  
SCHOOL MODERNISATION RETENTION 598                   (25)                    -                  573                             -                  573                        -                   -                  
CEFN CRIBWR PRIMARY ALN  -                   -                   -                   -                            (8)                      -                        -                   -                  
EDUCATION S106 SCHEMES        170                   (1)                     (32)                   137                             -                  137                        -                   -                  
COMPLEX & MEDICAL NEEDS PROVISION  -                   -                   -                   -                            (3)                      -                        -                   -                  
MYNYDD CYNFFIG PRIMARY SCHOOL MOBILES  -                  98                      -                  98                              (26)                   98                          -                   -                  
SCHOOLS' CAPITAL MAINTENANCE GRANT 32                     2,424                32                     2,488                         16                     2,488                     -                   -                  
WELSH MEDIUM CHILDCARE PROVISION - BETTWS 117                   549                   81                      -                  747                            2                       747                        -                   -                  
WELSH MEDIUM CHILDCARE PROVISION - BRIDGEND 53                      -                   -                  53                               -                  53                          -                   -                  
WELSH MEDIUM CHILDCARE PROVISION - OGMORE 597                   88                     122                    -                  807                            3                       807                        -                   -                  
WELSH MEDIUM CHILDCARE PROVISION - PORTHCAWL 53                      -                   -                  53                               -                  53                          -                   -                  
WELSH MEDIUM CHILDCARE PROVISION - HIGHWAYS 100                    -                   -                  100                             -                  100                        -                   -                  
WLGA - ADDITIONAL FUNDING FOR ICT -SCHOOLS  -                   -                   -                   -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
EAST HUB- BRYNTEG COMPREHENSIVE 39                     (39)                    -                   -                            (67)                    -                        -                   -                  
MAES YR HAUL PRIMARY SCHOOL SOLAR PANELS 32                     32                               -                  32                          -                   -                  
CYNFFIG COMPREHENSIVE SCHOOL EXTERNAL CANOPY 42                     42                               -                  42                          -                   -                  
ICT FOR SCHOOLS KITCHENS 40                      -                   -                  40                               -                  40                          -                   -                  
LITCHARD PRIMARY SCHOOL SOLAR PANELS 43                      -                   -                  43                               -                  43                          -                   -                  

TOTAL Education & Family Support 11,632              3,056                303                    -                  (225)                 14,766                       (70)                   14,766                   -                   -                  

Social Services and Wellbeing
BRYNGARW HOUSE  -                  17                     17                               -                  17                          -                   -                  
COMMUNITY CENTRES 260                   20                     280                            9                       280                        -                  
PENCOED LIBRARY 13                     13                               -                  13                          -                   -                  
BRIDGEND RECREATION 70                     80                     150                            19                     150                        -                  
BRYNGARW PARK - ACCESS IMPROVEMENTS  -                  33                     33                               -                  33                          -                   -                  
BRYN Y CAE - HFE'S 40                      -                  40                               -                  40                          -                   -                  
TY CWM OGWR                    -                            1                        -                        -                  
WELLBEING MINOR WORKS  -                  113                   113                             -                  113                        -                   -                  
TREM Y MOR - ACCOMODATION      -                  175                   175                            109                   175                        -                   -                  
TY PENYBONT  -                   -                   -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
BAKERS WAY MINOR WORKS         -                  10                     10                               -                  10                          -                   -                  

P
age 77



Budget 21-22 
(Council June 

21)

2020-21 
Slippage b/f

New Approvals 
and 

Adjustments 

Virement Slippage Revised Budget 
2021-22

Total Exp to 
date

Projected Spend Over / (Under) 
spend

Impact on 
BCBC 

Resources

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
GLAN YR AFON CARE HOME         -                  51                     51                               -                  51                          -                   -                  
CHILDRENS RESIDENTIAL HUB     1,914                122                   2,036                         5                       2,036                     -                   -                  
HARTSHORN HOUSE  -                  47                     47                              56                     47                          -                   -                  
ICF CAPITAL FUNDING  -                   -                   -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
EXTRA CARE FACILITIES          -                   -                   -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
HALO AND AWEN ACCESSIBILITY 150                   150                             -                  150                        -                   -                  

TOTAL Social Services & Wellbeing 2,434                681                    -                   -                   -                  3,115                         198                   3,115                     -                   -                  

Communities
Street Scene

COMMUNITY PLAY AREAS 336                    -                   -                  336                             -                  336                        -                  
PARKS/PAVILIONS/COMMUNITY CENTRES CAT  -                  580                    -                  580                            16                     580                        -                   -                  
ABERFIELDS PLAYFIELDS  -                  11                      -                  11                               -                  11                          -                   -                  
CARDIFF CAPITAL REGION CITY DEAL 2,495                207                    -                  2,702                          -                  2,702                     -                   -                  
PORTHCAWL TOWN SEA DEFENCE     -                  27                      -                  27                               -                  27                          -                   -                  
COYCHURCH CREMATORIUM 815                    -                   -                  815                             -                  815                        -                   -                  
EASTERN PROMENADE PORTHCAWL    -                   -                            646                    -                        -                   -                  
REMEDIAL MEASURES - CAR PARKS 105                   30                      -                  135                             -                  135                        -                   -                  
CIVIL PARKING ENFORCEMENT 38                      -                   -                  38                               -                  38                          -                   -                  
SAFE ROUTES TO SCHOOL          -                   -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
ROAD SAFETY SCHEMES           320                   (64)                    -                  256                            7                       256                        -                   -                  
PYLE TO PORTHCAWL PHASE 1  -                  250                   250                            250                        -                   -                  
ACTIVE TRAVEL- BRIDGEND TO PENCOED PHASE 2  -                   -                  1,841                1,841                         (87)                   1,841                     -                   -                  
HIGHWAYS STRUCTURAL WORKS     340                   4                        -                  344                            81                     344                        -                   -                  
CARRIAGEWAY CAPITAL WORKS     250                   5                        -                  255                            24                     255                        -                   -                  
ACTIVE TRAVEL - BRIDGEND TO BRACKLA  -                   -                            (14)                    -                        -                   -                  
ROAD SAFETY IMPROVEMENTS 229                   229                             -                  229                        -                   -                  
PROW CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT STRUCTURES  -                  141                    -                  141                             -                  141                        -                   -                  
HIGHWAYS REFURBISHMENT GRANT  -                  810                   810                            (10)                   810                        -                   -                  
CARRIAGEWAY & FOOTWAYS RENEWAL 1,303                57                      -                  1,360                         41                     1,360                     -                   -                  
CARRIAGE RECONSTRUCTION        -                   -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
NATIONAL CYCLE NETWORK PHASE 2  -                   -                            (3)                      -                        -                   -                  
REPLACEMENT OF STREET LIGHTING 400                   138                    -                  538                             -                  538                        -                   -                  
BRIDGE STRENGTHENING A4061     -                  51                      -                  51                              18                     51                          -                   -                  
COMMUNITIES MINOR WORKS        -                  401                    -                  401                            1                       401                        -                   -                  
RIVER PROTECTION MEASURES      -                  11                      -                  11                               -                  11                          -                   -                  
RESILIENT ROADS FUND 475                   475                             -                  475                        -                   -                  
ULTRA LOW EMISSIONS VEHICLE TRANSFORMATION FUND 462                   462                             -                  462                        -                   -                  
RETAINING WALL REPLACEMENT BETTWS  -                   -                   -                   -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
PYLE PARK AND RIDE METRO  -                   -                   -                   -                            (17)                    -                        -                   -                  
LOCAL TRANSPORT FUND - PENPRYSG ROAD BRIDGE  -                   -                   -                   -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
LOCAL TRANSPORT FUND - BRIDGEND TO COYCHURCH  -                   -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
SAFE ROUTES  -                   -                  174                   174                            (6)                     174                        -                   -                  
SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT COVID RESPONSE  -                   -                   -                   -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
RESIDENTS PARKING BRIDGEND TC 128                    -                   -                  128                             -                  128                        -                   -                  
FLEET VEHICLES                724                   392                   120                   1,236                         2                       1,236                     -                   -                  
RELOCATE RECYCLING CENTRE     300                   360                    -                  660                            590                   660                        -                   -                  
AHP WASTE  -                  207                    -                  207                            134                   207                        -                   -                  
HEOL MOSTYN JUNCTION          540                    -                   -                  540                             -                  540                        -                  
EXTENSION TO CORNELLY CEMETERY 301                    -                   -                  301                             -                  301                        -                   -                  
EXTENSION TO PORTHCAWL CEMETERY 199                    -                   -                  199                             -                  199                        -                   -                  
STREET LIGHTING ENERGY SALIX   -                  629                    -                  629                             -                  629                        -                   -                  
HIGHWAYS S106 MINOR SCHEMES  -                  60                      -                  60                               -                  60                          -                   -                  
GULLY SUCKING EQUIPMENT 140                   140                             -                  140                        -                   -                  

P
age 78



Budget 21-22 
(Council June 

21)

2020-21 
Slippage b/f

New Approvals 
and 

Adjustments 

Virement Slippage Revised Budget 
2021-22

Total Exp to 
date

Projected Spend Over / (Under) 
spend

Impact on 
BCBC 

Resources

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
TRAFFIC SIGNAL REPLACEMENT 250                   250                             -                  250                        -                   -                  
PLAYGROUND REFURBISHMENT 460                   460                             -                  460                        -                   -                  
FOOTPATH REFURBISHMENT 200                   200                             -                  200                        -                   -                  
FIRE SUPPRESSION SYSTEM TONDU WASTE DEPOT 140                   140                             -                  140                        -                   -                  

TOTAL Streetscene 9,784                3,247                4,361                 -                   -                  17,392                       1,420                17,392                   -                   -                  

Regeneration & Development
BRIDGEND BUS SUP NETWORK         -                  25                     25                              48                     25                          -                   -                  
PORTHCAWL RESORT INVESTMENT FOCUS (PRIF) 15                     55                     70                              42                     70                          -                   -                  
COSY CORNER PRIF 1,885                1,885                          -                  1,885                     -                   -                  
EU CONVERGANCE SRF BUDGET      -                  990                   990                             -                  990                        -                   -                  
VRP - BRYNGARW PARK  -                  151                   151                            164                   151                        -                   -                  
VRP - PARC SLIP 29                     59                     88                              56                     88                          -                   -                  
TRI THEMATIC PROJECTS (UCPE AND UCLG)  -                  687                   687                            61                     687                        -                   -                  
TRI STANDALONE PROJECTS  -                   -                   -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
PORTHCAWL REGENERATION PROJECT 2,541                 -                  2,541                         2                       2,541                     -                   -                  
BERWYN CENTRE AND OGMORE VALE WASHERIES  -                  183                   183                            133                   183                       
COVID RECOVERY FOR TOWN CENTRES  -                  334                   334                            81                     334                       
ECONOMIC STIMULUS PROJECT 787                   44                     831                            123                   831                        -                   -                  
COASTAL RISK MANAGEMENT PROGRAM 5,559                750                   6,309                          -                  6,309                     -                   -                  
LLYNFI DEVELOPMENT SITE       2,260                 -                  2,260                          -                  2,260                     -                   -                  
BRIDGEND HEAT SCHEME          500                    -                  2,890                3,390                         42                     3,390                     -                   -                  
MAESTEG TOWN HALL CULTURAL HUB 5,135                286                   5,421                         254                   5,421                     -                   -                  
TOWN & COMMUNITY COUNCIL FUND 50                     174                   224                             -                  224                        -                   -                  
CAERAU HEAT NETWORK 4,373                 -                  4,373                          -                  4,373                     -                   -                  
PORTHCAWL THI                 119                   15                     134                             -                  134                        -                   -                  
COMMERCIAL PROPERTY ENHANCEMENT FUND 150                   150                             -                  150                        -                   -                  

TOTAL Regeneration & Development 23,403              3,753                2,890                 -                   -                  30,046                       1,004                30,046                   -                   -                  

Corporate Landlord
CAPITAL ASSET MANAGEMENT FUND  -                  820                   820                             -                  820                        -                   -                  
CORPORATE  LANDLORD ENERGY EFFICIENCY SAVINGS 1,287                (8)                     1,279                         1                       1,279                     -                   -                  
ENTERPRISE HUB 1,872                30                     1,902                         38                     1,902                     -                   -                  
RAVEN'S COURT MINOR WORKS 442                   5                       447                             -                  447                        -                   -                  
ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING POINTS RAVENS COURT  -                   -                   -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
RELOCATION OF REGISTRARS       -                   -                   -                            (7)                      -                        -                   -                  
BRIDGEND/MAESTEG MARKET MINOR WORKS  -                  10                     10                               -                  10                          -                   -                  
DDA WORKS                      -                  156                   156                            11                     156                        -                   -                  
MINOR WORKS 1,130                163                   1,293                         5                       1,293                     -                   -                  
FIRE PRECAUTIONS MINOR WORKS  91                     51                     142                            12                     142                        -                   -                  
BRYNCETHIN DEPOT FACILITIES   300                   59                     11                     370                             -                  370                        -                   -                  
NON OPERATIONAL ASSETS        480                    -                  480                             -                  480                        -                   -                  
WATERTON UPGRADE              8,144                 -                  8,144                          -                  8,144                     -                   -                  
EVERGREEN HALL  -                   -                  130                   130                             -                  130                        -                   -                  
INVESTING IN COMMUNITIES  -                  185                   185                             -                  185                        -                   -                  

Total Corporate Landlord 13,746              1,471                141                    -                   -                  15,358                       61                     15,358                   -                   -                  

TOTAL Communities 46,933              8,471                7,392                 -                   -                  62,796                       2,485                62,796                   -                   -                  

Chief Executive
 -                  

DISABLED FACILITIES GRANTS (DFG) 1,750                343                   2,093                         249                   2,093                     -                   -                  
TARGET HARDENING GRANTS        -                   -                   -                            7                        -                        -                   -                  

DISCRETIONARY HOUSING GRANTS 200                    -                  200                            200                       

P
age 79



Budget 21-22 
(Council June 

21)

2020-21 
Slippage b/f

New Approvals 
and 

Adjustments 

Virement Slippage Revised Budget 
2021-22

Total Exp to 
date

Projected Spend Over / (Under) 
spend

Impact on 
BCBC 

Resources

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
HOUSING RENEWAL AREA          100                   18                     118                            8                       118                        -                   -                  
VALLEYS TASK FORCE EMPTY PROPERTIES GRANT  -                  300                   300                             -                  300                        -                   -                  
COMFORT SAFE & SECURITY GRANTS  -                   -                   -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
WESTERN VALLEY EMPTY HOMES PILOT 260                    -                  260                             -                  260                        -                   -                  
EMERGENCY REPAIR LIFETIME GRANT  -                   -                   -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
ENABLE SUPPORT GRANT  -                   -                  198                   198                             -                  198                        -                   -                  

TOTAL Housing/Homelessness 2,310                661                   198                    -                   -                  3,169                         264                   3,169                     -                   -                  

DIGITAL MEETING SPACES         -                   -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
ICT INFRA SUPPORT             400                   400                             -                  400                        -                   -                  
WCCIS HARDWARE REFRESH 163                   1,189                1,352                         1                       1,352                     -                   -                  
DIGITAL TRANSFORMATION        520                   (320)                 200                             -                  200                        -                   -                  
DATA CENTRE  -                   -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
REPLACEMENT CCTV 595                   595                            595                        -                  
TOTAL ICT 1,678                1,189                (320)                  -                   -                  2,547                         1                       2,547                     -                   -                  

TOTAL Chief Executive 3,988                1,850                (122)                  -                   -                  5,716                         265                   5,716                     -                   -                  

Council Wide Capital Budgets 
CORPORATE CAPITAL FUND 200                    -                  200                             -                  200                        -                   -                  
UNALLOCATED 1,729                 -                  (975)                  -                   -                  754                             -                  754                        -                   -                  

1,929                 -                  (975)                  -                   -                  954                             -                  954                        -                   -                  

GRAND TOTAL 66,916           14,058           6,598              -               (225)              87,347                   2,878             87,347                -                -               

P
age 80



CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021-2031 APPENDIX C

2021-2022 CUMULATIVE

Improveme
nt Priority Total Cost

BCBC 
Funding

External 
Funding

Council June 
2021

2020-21 
Slippage b/f

New 
Approvals/(Reductions) Vire Slippage Revised 2021-22 2022-2023 2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 2030-2031 Total 2021 - 2031

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Education & Family Support
Highways Schemes Band B Schools IP3 3,400        3,400         -       3,400                 3,400                     3,400                         
21st Century Schools Band B IP3 49,505      15,654      33,851   625                    (225)       400                        2,471       6,051       29,528     10,302     753 49,505                       
Ysgol Bryn Castell Special School IP3 22             22             150                    (154)                   26                                      22                          22                              
Brynmenyn Primary School IP3 44             44             44                      44                          44                              
Land Purchase Band B IP3 4,910        4,910        4,910                 4,910                     4,910                         
Gateway to the Valleys C C Y D Comprehensive School IP3 135           135            -       140                    (5)                       135                                                                                                            135                            

Garw Valley South Primary Provision IP3 139           139           160                    (21)                     139                        139                            

Pencoed Primary School IP3 55             55             55                      55                          55                              

Garw Valley Primary Highways Works IP3 30             30              -       30                      30                          30                              

Pencoed School Highways Works IP3 55             55              -       56                      (1)                       55                          55                              

Brymenyn Primary Highways Works IP3 12             12              -       12                      12                          12                              

Reduction of Infant Class Sizes - Bro Ogwr IP3 15              -           15         15                      15                          15                              

Reduction of Infant Class Sizes - Croesty IP3  -           -            -        -                         -                            

Schools Minor Works IP3 128           128            -       128                    128                        128                            

Schools Traffic Safety IP3 208           208            -       208                    208                        208                            

School Modernisation IP3 573           573            -       598                    (25)                     573                        573                            

Cefn Cribwr Primary School ALN IP3  -           -            -        -                         -                            

Education S106 Schemes IP3 169            -           169       202                    (1)                       (32)          169                        169                            

Complex and Medical Needs Works in Schools IP3  -           -            -        -                         -                            

Mynydd Cynffig Primary School Mobiles IP3 98             98              -       98                      98                          98                              

School's Capital Maintenance Grant IP3 2,456        2,424        32         2,424                 32           2,456                     2,456                         

Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Bettws IP3 747            -           747       117                    549                    81                                      747                        747                            

Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Bridgend IP3 550            -           550       53                      53                          497          550                            

Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Ogmore IP3 807            -           807       597                    88                      122                                    807                                    807                            

Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Porthcawl IP3 550            -           550       53                      53                          497          550                            

Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Highways Schemes IP3 100           100       100                    100                        100                            

WLGA - Additional funding for ICT in Schools IP3  -           -            -        -                         -                            

Brynteg Comp - East Hub IP3  -           -            -       39                      (39)                      -                         -                            

Maes Yr Haul Primary School Solar Panels IP4 32             32             32                                      32                          32                              

Cynffig  Comprehensive School External Canopy IP5 42             42             42                                      42                          42                              

ICT for School Kitchens IP3 40             40             40                      40                          40                              
Litchard Primary School Solar Panels IP3 43             43              -       43                      43                          43                              
Total Education and Family Support 64,865      28,044      36,821   11,632               3,056                 303                                     -         (225)       14,766                   3,465       6,051       29,528     10,302     753           -           -           -           -          64,865                       

Social Services and Well-being

Adult Social Care  -                         -                            

Bridgend Recreation IP2 150           150           70 80 150                        150                            

Bryngarw Park- Access IP2 33             33             33                      33                          33                              

Bryn Y Cae IP2 40             40             40                      40                          40                              

Trem Y Mor IP2 175           175           175                    175                        175                            

Wellbeing Minor Works IP2 113           113           113                    113                        113                            

Ty Penybont IP2  -           -            -                              -                                                                                                             -                            

Bakers Way IP2 10             10              -       10                      10                          10                              

Glan Yr Afon Care Home NONPTY 51             51              -       51                      51                          51                              

Children's Residential Accommodation Hub IP2 2,036        1,314        722       1,914                 122                    2,036                     2,036                         

Hartshorn House IP2 47             47             47                      47                          47                              

ICF Capital Funding IP2  -           -                         -                            

Extra Care Facilities IP2  -           -                                                                                         -                                                                                                             -                            

Culture  -                         -                            

Bryngarw House IP1 17             17             17                      17                          17                              

Community Centres IP1 280           280           260                    20                      280                        280                            

Pencoed Library IP1 13             13             13                      13                          13                              
HALO and AWEN Accessibility 150           150           150                    150                        150                            
Total Social Services and Well-being 3,115        2,393        722       2,434                 681                     -                                     -          -        3,115                      -           -           -           -           -           -           -           -           -          3,115                         

Communities

Street Scene  -                        

Community Play Areas IP2 336           336            -       336 336                        336                            

Parks/Pavilions/Community Centres CAT IP3 580           580            -       580                    580                        580                            

Aber Playing Fields NONPTY 11             11             11                      11                          11                              

Cardiff Capital Region City Deal IP1 7,762        7,762         -       2,495                 207                    2,702                     4,989       71                                                                        7,762                         

Town Beach Revetment Sea Defence, Porthcawl IP1 27             27                                   27                      27                                                                                                              27                              

Coychurch Crem Works NONPTY 815            -           815       815                    815                        815                            

Remedial Measures - Car Parks IP3 135           135            -       105                    30                      135                        135                            

Civil Parking Enforcement IP3 38             38              -       38                      38                          38                              

Road Safety IP1 256           256            -       320                    (64)                     256                        256                            

Pyle to Porthcawl Phase 1 IP2 250           250       250                                    250                        250                            

Active travel Bridgend to  Pencoed Phase 2 IP2 1,841         -           1,841    1,841                                 1,841                     1,841                         

Road Safety Improvements IP3 229           229       229                                    229                        229                            

Highways Structural Works IP3 3,404        3,404         -       340                    4                        344                        340          340          340          340          340          340          340          340          340          3,404                         

Carriageway Capital Works IP3 2,505        2,505         -       250                    5                        255                        250          250          250          250          250          250          250          250          250          2,505                         

Road Safety Improvements - Heol Mostyn IP1 540           540            -       540                    540                        540                            

Prow Capital Improvement Programme IP3 141           141           141                    141                        141                            

Highways Refurbishment Grant IP3 810            -           810       810                                    810                                    810                            

Carriageway Resurfacing & Renewal of Footways IP3 1,360        1,360         -       1,303                 57                      1,360                     1,360                         

FUTURE YEARS
Total 2021-2031

P
age 81



2021-2022 CUMULATIVE

Improveme
nt Priority Total Cost

BCBC 
Funding

External 
Funding

Council June 
2021

2020-21 
Slippage b/f

New 
Approvals/(Reductions) Vire Slippage Revised 2021-22 2022-2023 2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 2030-2031 Total 2021 - 2031

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

FUTURE YEARS
Total 2021-2031

Replacement of Street Lighting Columns IP3 4,138        4,138         -       400                    138                    538                        400          400          400          400          400          400          400          400          400          4,138                         

Bridge Strengthening - A4061 Ogmore Valley IP1 51             51              -       51                      51                          51                              

Communities Minor Works IP3 401           401            -       401                    401                        401                            

River Bridge Protection Measures IP3 11             11              -       11                      11                          11                              

Resilient Roads Fund 475           475       475                                    475                        475                            

Ultra Low Emissions Vehicle Transformation Fund 462           462       462                                    462                        462                            

Retaining Wall Replacement, Bettws NONPTY  -           -            -                         -                            

Pyle Park and Ride Metro IP1  -           -                         -                            

Local Transport Fund - Penprysg Road Bridge IP1  -           -            -                         -                            

Safe Routes- IP1 174            -           174       174                                    174                        174                            

SustainableTransport Covid Response IP1  -           -        -                         -                            

Residents Parking Bridgend Town Centre IP1 128           128            -       128                    128                                                                                                            128                            

Fleet Vehicles IP3 1,236        1,236         -       724                    392                    120                                    1,236                                                                                                         1,236                         

Re-locate Household Waste Recycling Centre - West IP3 660           660            -       300                    360                    660                                                                                                            660                            

AHP Waste IP3 207           207            -       207                    207                        207                            

Extension to Cornelly Cemetery NONPTY 301           301            -       301                    301                                                                                                            301                            

Extension to Porthcawl Cemetery NONPTY 199           199            -       199                    199                        199                            

Street Lighting Energy Efficiency IP3 629           629           629                    629                        629                            

S106 Highways Small Schemes IP3 60              -           60                               60                      60                                                                                                              60                              

Gully Sucking Equipment 140           140           140                    140                        140                            

Traffic Signal Replacement 250           250           250                    250                        250                            

Playground Refurbishment 460           460           460                    460                        460                            

Footpath Refurbishment 200           200           200                    200                        200                            

Fire Suppression System Tondu Waste Depot 140           140           140                    140                        140                            

Regeneration & Development  -                         -                            

Business Support Framework IP1 25             25              -       25                      25                          25                              

Porthcawl Resort Investment Focus IP1 70             50             20         15                      55                      70                                                                                                              70                              

Special Regeneration Funding IP1 990           990           990                    990                        990                            

Cosy Corner (PRIF)    1,885        885           1,000    1,885                 1,885                     1,885                         

VRP- Bryngarw Country Park IP1 151            -           151       151                    151                        151                            

VRP - Parc Slip IP1 88              -           88         29                      59                      88                          88                              

Tri Thematic Projects (UCPE and UCLG ) IP1 687            -           687       687                    687                        687                            

TRI Standalone projects IP1  -           -            -        -                         -                            

Porthcawl Regeneration IP1 2,541        2,541         -       2,541                 2,541                     2,541                         

Berwyn Centre and Ogmore Vale Washeries IP1 183           183       183                    183                        183                            

Covid recovery for town centres IP1 334           334       334                    334                        334                            

Economic Stimulus Grant IP1 831           831            -       787                    44                      831                        831                            

Coastal Risk Management Program - Porthcawl IP1 6,459        6,459        5,559                 750                    6,309                     150          6,459                         

Llynfi Valley Development Programme IP1 2,260        2,260         -       2,260                 2,260                     2,260                         

Bridgend Heat Scheme IP1 3,390        2,323        1,067    500                    2,890                                 3,390                                                                                             3,390                         

Maesteg Town Hall Cultural Hub IP1 5,421        2,467        2,954    5,135                 286                    5,421                     5,421                         

Town & Community Council Fund IP3 674           674            -       50                      174                    224                        50            50            50            50            50            50            50            50            50            674                            

Caerau Heat Network IP1 6,293        1,168        5,125    4,373                 4,373                     1,531       389          6,293                         

Porthcawl Townscape Heritage Initiative IP1 134           134            -       119                    15                      134                                                                                                            134                            

Commercial Property Enhancement Fund  IP1 150           150           150                    150                        150                            

Corporate Landlord   -                         -                            

Capital Asset Management Fund IP3 820           820            -       820                    820                        820                            

Corporate Landlord - Energy Savings Strategy IP3 1,279        1,279        1,287                 (8)                       1,279                                                                                                         1,279                         

Enterprise Hub - Innovation Centre IP3 1,937        589           1,348    1,872                 30                      1,902                     35            1,937                         

Raven's Court IP3 447           447           442                    5                        447                        447                            

Electrical vehicle charging points Ravens Court IP3  -           -            -        -                         -                            

Relocation of Registrars IP3  -           -            -        -                         -                            
Bridgend Market IP1 10             10              -       10                      10                          10                              
DDA Works NONPTY 156           156            -       156                    156                        156                            

Minor Works IP3 11,463      11,463       -       1,130                 163                    1,293                     1,130       1,130       1,130       1,130       1,130       1,130       1,130       1,130       1,130       11,463                       

Fire Precautions NONPTY 142           142            -       91                      51                      142                        142                            

Bryncethin Depot Facilities IP3 370           370            -       300                    59                      11                                      370                        370                            

Non-Operational Assets IP3 480           480            -       480                    480                        480                            

Waterton Upgrade IP3 8,144        8,144         -       8,144                 8,144                     8,144                         

Evergreen Hall IP3 130           130            -       130                                    130                        130                            
Investing in Communities IP3 185           185            -       185                    185                        185                            

Total Communities 89,491      71,418      18,073   46,933               8,471                 7,392                                  -          -        62,796                   8,875       2,630       2,170       2,170       2,170       2,170       2,170       2,170       2,170       89,491                       

Chief Executive's

Housing / Homelessness
Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) IP2 17,843      17,843       -       1,750                 343                    2,093                     1,750       1,750       1,750       1,750       1,750       1,750       1,750       1,750       1,750       17,843                       

Discretionary Housing Grants IP2 2,000        2,000        200                    200                        200          200          200          200          200          200          200          200          200          2,000                         

Housing Renewal / Empty Properties IP1 1,018        1,018         -       100                    18                      118                        100          100          100          100          100          100          100          100          100          1,018                         

Valleys Taskforce Empty Properties Grant IP1 300           105           195       300                    300                        300                            

Comfort Safe & Security Grants IP1  -           -            -                         -                            

Western Valley Empty Homes Pilot IP1 260           91             169       260                    260                        260                            

Emergency Repair Lifetime Grant IP1  -           -            -                              -                                                                                                             -                            

Enable Grant IP2 198            -           198                             198                                    198                                                                                                            198                            

ICT  -                         -                            

Digital Meeting Spaces IP3  -           -            -        -                         -                            

Investment in ICT IP3 4,000        4,000         -       400                    400                        400          400          400          400          400          400          400          400          400          4,000                         

P
age 82



2021-2022 CUMULATIVE

Improveme
nt Priority Total Cost

BCBC 
Funding

External 
Funding

Council June 
2021

2020-21 
Slippage b/f

New 
Approvals/(Reductions) Vire Slippage Revised 2021-22 2022-2023 2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 2030-2031 Total 2021 - 2031

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

FUTURE YEARS
Total 2021-2031

ICT for Digitally Excluded Learners IP1  -           -            -                         -                            

WCCIS Hardware Refresh IP3 1,352        1,352    163                    1,189                 1,352                     1,352                         

Digital Transformation IP3 200           200            -       520                    (320)                                   200                                                                                                            200                            

Data Centre IP3  -           -            -                         -                            
Replacement CCTV IP3 595           595           595                    595                        595                            
Total Chief Executive's 27,766      25,852      1,914    3,988                 1,850                 (122)                                    -          -        5,716                     2,450       2,450       2,450       2,450       2,450       2,450       2,450       2,450       2,450       27,766                       

Council Wide Capital Budgets
Corporate Capital Fund NONPTY 2,000        2,000        200                    200                        200          200          200          200          200          200          200          200          200          2,000                         
Unallocated NONPTY 8,264        8,264         -       1,729                 (975)                                   754                        167                                              1,283       1,515       1,515       1,515       1,515       8,264                         
Total Council Wide Capital budgets 10,264      10,264       -       1,929                  -                    (975)                                    -          -        954                        367          200          200          200          1,483       1,715       1,715       1,715       1,715       10,264                       
Total  Expenditure 195,501    137,971    57,530   66,916               14,058               6,598                                  -         (225)       87,347                   15,157     11,331     34,348     15,122     6,856       6,335       6,335       6,335       6,335       195,501                     

Expected Capital Resources

General Capital Funding
General Capital Funding - General Capital Grant 25,536      25,536       -       4,938                 (975)                                   3,963                     2,397       2,397       2,397       2,397       2,397       2,397       2,397       2,397       2,397       25,536                       

General Capital Funding - Supported Borrowing 39,395      39,395       -       3,953                 76           (76)         3,953                     3,938       3,938       3,938       3,938       3,938       3,938       3,938       3,938       3,938       39,395                       

Capital Receipts - Schools 3,184        3,184         -       674                    22-                      (76)          576                                                1,762       846                                              3,184                         

Capital Receipts - General 20,302      20,302       -       14,801               5,105                 (125)        19,781                                                                   521                                  20,302                       

Earmarked Reserves 31,765      31,765       -       17,301               3,511                 (164)                                   20,648                   5,046       920          5,151                                                       31,765                       

Revenue Contribution 822           822            -       719                    17                      86                                      822                                                                                                            822                            

Prudential Borrowing (Directorate Funded) 3,474        3,474         -       2,427                 392                    1,942                                 (1,287)     3,474                                                                                                         3,474                         
Prudential Borrowing (Corporately Funded) 3,813        3,813         -       3,756                 57                      3,813                                                                                                         3,813                         
Local Govt Borrowing Initiative (Coastal defence) 5,490        5,490         -       4,725                 637                    5,362                     128                                                                                  5,490                         

SALIX Interest Free Loan - WG 1,930        1,930        22                      621                    1,287      1,930                                                                                                         1,930                         
Llynfi Development Site Loan - WG 2,260        2,260         -       2,260                 2,260                     2,260                         
Sub-Total General Capital Funding 137,971    137,971     -       55,576               10,318               889                                    (125)        (76)         66,582                   11,509 7,255 13,248 7,181 6,856 6,335 6,335 6,335 6,335 137,971                     

External Funding Approvals
WG - Highways Grant 810            -           810                             810                                    810                                                                                    810                            

WG - Other 4,796        4,796    1,332                 1,384                 2,080      4,796                                                                                             4,796                         

WG - 21st Century Schools 33,802       -           33,802   139                    (39)                     (100)        -                        1,100       3,661       21,100     7,941                                           33,802                       

WG - School Maintenance Grant  -           -            -       (32)                     32            -                         -                            

WG - Enable Grant 198            -           198                             198                                    198                                                                                                            198                            

WG - Safe Routes in Communities 403            -           403                             403                                    403                                                                                                            403                            

WG - Porthcawl Revetment  -           -            -                              -                                                                                                             -                            

WG - Coastal Risk Mangement Program - Porthcawl  -           -            -                              -                                     -                            

WG - Integrated Care Fund (ICF) 722            -           722       600                    122                    722                                                                                                            722                            

WG - Welsh Medium Capital Grant 2,754         -           2,754    920                    637                    203                                    1,760                     994                                                                                  2,754                         

WG - Infant Class Size Grant 15              -           15                               15                      15                                                                                                              15                              

WG- VRP 756            -           756       29                      727                    756                        756                            

WG - TRI 687            -           687       687                    687                        687                            

S106 310            -           310       251                    91                      (32)          (49)         261                        23            26                                                                        310                            

Transport Grant 3,028         -           3,028                          3,028                                 3,028                                                                                                         3,028                         

Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) 682            -           682       666                    16           682                                                                                                            682                            

Big Lottery  -           -            -                             16                      (16)           -                                                                                                             -                            

Westminster 1,000         -           1,000    0 1,000                                 1,000                                                                                                         1,000                         

EU  6,493         -           6,493    6,271                 132                    (1,830)     4,573                     1,531       389                                                                      6,493                         
Other 1,074         -           1,074    1,132                 67                                      (125)        1,074                                                                                                         1,074                         
Sub-Total External Funding Approvals 57,530       -           57,530   11,340               3,740                 5,709                                 125         (149)       20,765                   3,648       4,076       21,100     7,941        -           -           -           -           -          57,530                       
Total Funding Available 195,501    137,971    57,530   66,916               14,058               6,598                                  -         (225)       87,347                   15,157     11,331     34,348     15,122     6,856       6,335       6,335       6,335       6,335       195,501                     
Funding Shortfall/(Surplus)  -           -            -        -                     -                     -                                     -          -         -                         -           -           -           -           -           -           -           -           -           -                            

P
age 83



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX D 

 

PRUDENTIAL AND OTHER INDICATORS 2020-21 and 2021-22  
 
The Prudential Indicators are required to be set and approved by Council in accordance with 
CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities. Table 1 shows the 2020-21 
actual capital expenditure, the capital programme approved by Council on 24 February 2021 
and the latest projection for the current financial year which has incorporated slippage of 
schemes from 2020-21 together with any new grants and contributions or changes in the profile 
of funding.  

 
Table 1: Prudential Indicator: Estimates of Capital Expenditure  

 

 2020-21 

Actual 

£m 

2021-22 

Estimate 

(Council  

 Feb 21) 

£m 

2021-22 

Projection 

£m 

Council Fund services 23.461 61.883 86.867 

Investment Properties - 0.480 0.480 

 

TOTAL 23.461 62.363 87.347 

 
All capital expenditure must be financed, either from external sources (government grants and 
other contributions), the Council’s own resources (revenue, reserves and capital receipts) or 
net financing requirement (borrowing, leasing and Private Finance Initiative). The planned 
financing of the expenditure has been projected as follows: 
 

Table 2: Capital financing 

 

 2020-21 

Actual 

£m 

2021-22 

Estimate 

(Council  

Feb  21) 

£m 

2021-22 

Projection 

£m 

External sources 15.583 16.563 24.728 

Own resources 1.511 30.939 41.827 

Net Financing 

Requirement  

6.367 14.861 20.792 

TOTAL 23.461 62.363 87.347 

 

The net financing requirement or ‘debt’ is only a temporary source of finance, since loans and 
leases must be repaid, and this is therefore replaced over time by other financing, usually from 
revenue which is known as the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). As well as MRP, the 
Council makes additional voluntary revenue contributions to pay off Prudential or Unsupported 
Borrowing. The total of these are shown in Table 3 below:- 
 

Page 85



 

 

Table 3: Replacement of debt finance  

 

 2020-21 

Actual 

£m 

2021-22 

Estimate 

(Council  

Feb 21) 

£m 

2021-22 

Projection 

£m 

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 2.927 2.997 2.997 

Additional Voluntary Revenue Provision 1.502 1.925 1.530 

Total MRP & VRP 4.429 4.922 4.527 

Other MRP on Long term Liabilities 0.743 0.801 0.801 

Total Own Resources 5.172 5.723 5.328 

 

The Council’s cumulative outstanding amount of debt finance is measured by the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR). This increases with new debt-financed capital expenditure and 
reduces by the MRP amount within the year. Based on the above figures for expenditure and 
financing, the Council’s estimated CFR is as follows based on the movement on capital 
expenditure at quarter 1: 

Table 4: Prudential Indicator: Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement 

 

 2020-21 

Actual 

£m 

2021-22 

Estimate 

£m 

2021-22 

Projection 

£m 

Capital Financing Requirement    

Opening CFR excluding PFI & other 

liabilities 

 

155.466 

 

157.405 

 

157.405 

Opening PFI CFR 16.310 15.566 15.566 

Total opening CFR 171.776 172.971 172.971 

Movement in CFR excluding PFI & 

other liabilities 

 

1.938 

 

9.939 

 

16.265 

Movement in PFI CFR (0.743) (0.801) (0.801) 

Total movement in CFR 1.195 9.138 15.464 

Closing CFR 172.971 182.109 188.435 

Movement in CFR represented by:    

Net financing need for year (Table 2 

above) 

6.367 14.861 20.792 

Minimum and voluntary revenue 

provisions 

 

(4.429) 

 

(4.922) 

 

(4.527) 

MRP on PFI and other long term 

leases (Table 3) 

 

(0.743) 

 

(0.801) 

 

(0.801) 

Total movement 1.195 9.138 15.464 

 

 

The capital borrowing need (Capital Financing Requirement) has not been fully funded with 
loan debt as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and cash flow has been used 
as a temporary measure. This is known as Internal Borrowing. Projected levels of the Council’s 

Page 86



total outstanding debt, which comprises of borrowing, PFI and Other Long Term Liabilities, are 
shown below compared with the Capital Financing Requirement:-    
 
 
Table 5: Prudential Indicator: Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement 

 

 2020-21 

Actual 

£m 

2021-22 

Estimate 

(Council 

Feb 20) 

£m 

2021-22 

Projection 

£m 

Debt (incl. PFI & leases) 113.670 123.545 123.545 

Capital Financing 

Requirement 

172.971 182.109 188.435 

 
Statutory guidance is that debt should remain below the capital financing requirement, except 
in the short-term. As can be seen, the Council expects to comply with this in the medium term. 
 
The Council is legally obliged to set an affordable borrowing limit (also termed the authorised 
limit for external debt) each year. In line with statutory guidance, a lower “operational 
boundary” is also set as a warning level should debt approach the limit. 

Table 6: Prudential Indicators: Authorised limit and operational boundary for external debt in £m 

 

 2020-21 

Actual 

£m 

2021-22 

Estimate 

(Council  

Feb 20) 

£m 

2021-22 

Projection 

£m 

Authorised limit – 

borrowing 

Authorised limit – other 

long term liabilities 

170.000 

30.000 

170.000 

30.000 

170.000 

30.000 

Authorised Limit Total 200.00 200.000 200.000 

Operational boundary – 

borrowing 

Operational boundary – 

other long term liabilities 

120.000 

 

25.000 

130.000 

 

25.000 

130.000 

 

25.000 

Operational Boundary 

Limit Total 

145.000 155.000 155.000 

    

Total Borrowing and 

Long Term Liabilities 

113.670 123.545 123.545 

 
 

Although capital expenditure is not charged directly to the revenue budget, interest payable 
on loans and MRP are charged to revenue, offset by any investment income receivable. The 

Page 87



net annual charge is known as financing costs; this is compared to the net revenue stream i.e. 
the amount funded from Council Tax, business rates and general government grants. 

 

Table 7: Prudential Indicator: Proportion of financing costs to net revenue stream 

 2020-21 

Actual 

£m 

2021-22 

Estimate 

(Council  

Feb 20) 

£m 

2021-22 

Projection 

£m 

Capital Financing Central 
 

6.621 6.718 6.571 

Other Financing costs  3.448 4.147 3.534 

TOTAL FINANCING COSTS 
 

10.070 10.866 10.106 

Proportion of net revenue stream 3.71% 3.99% 3.71% 

 

This shows that in 2020-21, 3.71% of our net revenue income was spent paying back the costs 
of capital expenditure. 

Page 88



Page 1 of 3 
 

 
BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
REPORT TO CABINET 

 
20 JULY 2021 

 
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE  

 
REVIEW OF CORPORATE PLAN TARGETS FOR 2021-22 FOLLOWING THE IMPACT 

OF COVID-19 
 

 
1. Purpose of report  
 
1.1 To seek Cabinet endorsement of the proposed changes to Corporate Plan targets 

for 2021-22 as outlined in Appendix A prior to submission to Council for approval. 
 

 
2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities 

 
2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 

objective/objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015: 

 

 Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough.  

 

 Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - 
taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives. 
 

 Smarter use of resources – ensure that all  resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives. 

 
3. Background 
 
3.1 The Corporate Plan was refreshed for 2021-22 in February 2021, endorsed  by 

Cabinet and approved by Council in line with the normal statutory requirement to 
review the Corporate Plan annually. 

 
3.2 As part of the approval process for the refreshed Corporate Plan, it was 

acknowledged that COVID-19 had an impact on our planning cycle, making it more 
challenging to set targets for 2021-22.  It was agreed by Council that a flexible 
approach to setting corporate plan targets was necessary to ensure business 
planning is robust and effective. 

Page 89

Agenda Item 6



Page 2 of 3 
 

4. Current situation/proposal 
 
4.1 As part of our COVID-19 recovery planning each directorate had the opportunity to 

consider targets for 2021-22, based on verified year end data.  Proposed changes 
to targets have been considered at the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (COSC) meeting on 5 July 2021 to ensure appropriate challenge and 
transparency.   

 
4.2 Appendix A sets out the proposed target changes, and will be published as an 

addendum to the current Corporate Plan.  
 
4.3 As part of a wider review of performance and governance due to the Local 

Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021, we are proposing that corporate 
planning adopts this approach to target setting in future planning cycles.  This will 
ensure that the published corporate plan remains up to date with the most recent 
year end data and avoids the issue of publishing the Corporate Plan without targets 
due to lack of data. 

 
5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 The Council’s Corporate Plan forms part of the Policy Framework. 

 
6. Equality Act 2010 implications  
 
6.1 A full Equality Impact Assessment was undertaken when the plan was developed.  

Consideration was given to the potential impact on protected groups within the 
community and on how to avoid a disproportionate impact on people within these 
groups.  Separate EIAs will be undertaken when proposals for carrying out the plan 
are developed and implemented.  

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 

7.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 provides a framework for 
embedding sustainable development principles within the activities of Council and 
has major implications for the long-term planning of finances and service provision. 
The 7 well-being goals identified in the Act have driven the Council’s three well-
being objectives.  
  

8. Financial implications 
 
8.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. The Corporate Plan is 

closely aligned to the Medium Term Financial Strategy which sets out the resources 
for delivering the Council’s Corporate Plan.  

 
9. Recommendations 
 
9.1 The Cabinet approves the revised Corporate Plan targets for 2021-2022 and 

recommends it to Council for approval on 21 July 2021. 
 
9.2 The Cabinet approves the proposal to introduce a flexible process to review the 

setting of targets informed by year end data.  Any revised targets will then be 
published as an addendum to the Corporate Plan. 

Page 90



Page 3 of 3 
 

 
Mark Shephard 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
20 July 2021 
 
Contact Officer:  Wanda Kirby 
   Corporate Performance Manager  
 
Telephone:   01656 643382 
 
Email:   wanda.kirby@bridgend.gov.uk  
 
Postal address: Raven’s Court 
   Brewery Lane 
   Bridgend 
   CF31 4AP   
 
Background Documents: None 
 

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A 
 

 
WELL-BEING OBJECTIVE 1 
 

Success Indicators 

2019-20 2020-21 
 

2021-22 
 

Actual 
2019-20 

 

2020-21 
Target 

 

2020-21 
Actual 

 

Original 
Target 

(Feb 2021) 

New 
Target 

(July 2021) 

Average capped 9 score for pupils in Year 11. 362 363.0 No data N/A N/A 

Percentage of pupils, at end of foundation phase, 
achieving Outcome 5 or above in teacher 
assessments for LLC-E and LLC-W (Language 
Literacy and Communication in English and 
Welsh). 

83.2% 85.1% No data N/A N/A 

Percentage of pupils assessed at the end of key 
stage 2, in schools maintained by the local 
authority, achieving the expected outcome in 
English/Welsh first language, as determined by 
teacher assessment. 

88.6% 90.2% No data N/A N/A 

Percentage of pupils achieving 3 A*-C grades at 
Level 3 

55.4% 55.6% No data N/A N/A 

Percentage of Year 1 learners taught through the 
medium of Welsh. 

7.58% 8.7% 7.61% 8.7% 8.7% 

The number of vacant premises in town centres: 
a) Bridgend 
b) Maesteg 
c) Porthcawl 
d) Pencoed 

a) 65 

No 
targets 

a) 74 
b) 13 
c) 19 
d) 7 

Bench 
marking 

Bench 
marking 

b) 13 

c) 19 

d) 7 

The number of visitors to town centres- footfall for 
a) Bridgend 
b) Porthcawl 

a) 6.3m  

No 

targets 

a) 
3,129,858  

b) 
1,960,919 

Bench 
marking 

Bench 
marking 

b) 2.7m 

Financial value of externally funded town centre 
regeneration projects underway/in development. £15m £13m £13.5m £13m £13m 

Total annual expenditure by tourists. 

£362.69m N/A 

Data 
available 

late 
summer 

2021 

Bench 
marking 

Bench 
marking 

Number of business start-ups. 
475 No target 

540 
(1 yr time 

lag - data is 
for 2019-20 

Bench 
marking 

Bench 
marking 

The number of participants in the Employability 
Bridgend programme going into employment. 

334 200 401 250 329 

 

 
  

Page 93



Appendix A 
 
WELL-BEING OBJECTIVE 2  

Success Indicators 

2019-20 2020-21 
 

2021-22 
 

Actual 
2019-20 

 

2020-21 
Target 

 

2020-21 
Actual 

 

Original 
Target 

(Feb 2021) 

New Target 
(July 2021) 

Number of people aged 65+ referred to 
Community Resource Team. 

Not 
applicable 

2200 1974 2200 2200 

Percentage of reablement packages completed 
that: 
a) Reduced the need for support 
b) Maintained the same level of support 
c) Mitigated the need for support 
d) increased need for support  

Not 
applicable 

Establish 
baseline 

 
a) 34.32% 
b) 5.05% 
c) 52% 
(d) new 

(a) 33% 
(b) 11% 
(c) 48% 

 

 
(a) 33% 
(b) 11% 
(c) 48% 
(d) 8% 

Number of council owned assets transferred to 
the community for running. 

4 15 13 10  10 

Percentage of households threatened with 
homelessness successfully prevented from 
becoming homeless. 

66.2% 72% 67.2% 60% 60% 

Percentage of people presenting as homeless or 
potentially homeless, for whom the local 
authority has a final legal duty to secure suitable 
accommodation. 

10.51% 10% 50.4% 30% 30% 

Number of additional dwellings created as a 

result of bringing empty properties back into use. 
20 5 2 7 7 

Percentage of private sector dwellings that had 

been vacant for more than 6 months at 1 April 

that were returned to occupation during the year 

through direct action by the local authority. 

Not 
applicable 

6% 
Data to 

be 
confirmed 

6% 6 

Number of children and young people looked 

after. 
394 378 390 371 371 

Percentage of care leavers who have completed 
at least 3 consecutive months of employment, 
education or training in the 12 months since 
leaving care 

Not 
applicable 

Establish 
baseline 

42.86% 
To be 

confirmed 

 
>31% 

Percentage of care leavers who have completed 

at least 3 consecutive months of employment, 

education or training in the 13-24 months since 

leaving care 

Not 
applicable 

Establish 
baseline  

42.11% 
To be 

confirmed 

 
 

>37% 

Percentage of care leavers who experience 

homelessness during the year (as defined by the 

Housing (Wales) Act 2014) within 12 months of 

leaving care. 

Not 
applicable 

Establish 
baseline  

17.14% 
To be 

confirmed 

 

<17% 

Percentage of completed Team Around the 
Family (TAF) support plans that close with a 
successful outcome. 

70% 68% 68% 69% 69% 

Percentage of individuals in managed care 
supported in the community. 

Not 

applicable 74% 75.34% 75% 75% 

Percentage of individuals in managed care 
supported in a care home setting. 

Not 

applicable 26% 24.66% 25% 25% 

Number of individuals engaged/supported in 
targeted programmes linked to leisure and 
cultural facilities and services. 

Not 

applicable 

Establish 

baseline 
1137 

Establish 

baseline 

Establish 

baseline 

Number of people who have improved access to 
leisure and cultural activities by reducing cost as 
a barrier to taking part.  

Not 

applicable 

Establish 

baseline 

No data 

available 

Establish 

baseline 

Establish 

baseline 

Page 94



Appendix A 
 
WELL-BEING OBJECTIVE 3  
 

Success Indicators 

2019-20 2020-21 
 

2021-22 
 

Actual 
2019-20 

 

2020-21 
Target 

 

2020-21 
Actual 

 

Original 
Target 

(Feb 2021) 

New Target 
(July 2021) 

Percentage surplus capacity in primary 

schools. 
9.36% 10%* 11.9% 10%* 10% 

Percentage surplus capacity in secondary 

schools. 
20.65% 18% 20.05% 18% 18% 

Realisation of capital receipts targets. £794k £600k £3.09m £2m £3.745m 

Percentage of BCBC operational buildings 

achieve full statutory compliance. 
54.6% 100% 62.7% 100% 100% 

Percentage of staff participating in the staff 
survey. 

38.3% No survey 
Postponed 
until 21/22 

44.5% 44.5% 

Percentage of employees attending the new 
starter briefing, as part of the corporate 
induction programme, who rated it excellent or 
good. 

N/A N/A New 80% 80% 

Number of apprentices, excluding teachers, on 
formal recognised apprenticeship schemes 
within the authority during the year per 1,000 
employees. 

N/A 
7.75 

(N=35) 
7.49 N=35 N=35 

Percentage budget reductions achieved  
(Overall BCBC budget). 

89.42% 100% 85.8% 100% 100% 

Percentage of indoor learning space in primary 
schools benefitting from high speed Wi-Fi 
connectivity for 30+ simultaneous devices.  

N/A 100% 57% 100% 100% 

Percentage of indoor learning space in 
secondary schools benefitting from high speed 
Wi-Fi connectivity for 30+ simultaneous 
devices. 

N/A 100% 55% 100% 100% 

Annual gas consumption across the local 
authority – kWh. 

N/A Establish 

baseline 
22,409,433 

kWh 

Establish 
baseline 

Establish 
baseline 

Annual electricity consumption across the local 
authority – kWh. 

N/A Establish 

baseline 

8,166,632 

kWh 

Establish 

baseline 

Establish 

baseline 

Annual CO2 emissions related to gas 
consumption across the local authority – kWh. 

N/A Establish 

baseline 
4,120 kWh 

Establish 

baseline 

Establish 

baseline 

Annual CO2 emissions related to electricity 
consumption across the local authority – kWh. 

N/A Establish 

baseline 
1,903 kWH 

Establish 

baseline 

Establish 

baseline 

Kilograms of residual waste generated per 
person. 

123.83Kg No target 131.45Kg 120KG 123KG 

Percentage of waste reused, recycled or 
composted. 67.66% 

No target 68.82% 68% 68% 

Percentage of waste: 
a) reuse 
b) recycled 
c) composted 

 

N/A 
No target 

a) 0.38% 
b) 48.48% 
c) 19.96% 

a) 1% 
   b)  45% 
   c)  20% 

a) 1% 
   b)  45% 
   c)  20% 

Percentage of street cleansing waste prepared 
for recycling. 

N/A 20% Postponed 20% 30% 

Undertake schemes to increase the County 
Borough’s tree cover. 

N/A 
1.5 

schemes 
2 schemes 2 schemes 2 schemes 

Page 95



Appendix A 
 

Success Indicators 

2019-20 2020-21 
 

2021-22 
 

Actual 
2019-20 

 

2020-21 
Target 

 

2020-21 
Actual 

 

Original 
Target 

(Feb 2021) 

New Target 
(July 2021) 

Undertake Local Nature Reserve 
Enhancement projects. 

N/A 2 projects 2 projects 2 projects 2 projects 

Deliver community biodiversity schemes.  
 

N/A 
1.5 

schemes 
2 schemes 2 schemes 2 schemes 

*Target set by WG  

 

 

Page 96



 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO CABINET 
 

20 JULY 2021 
 

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES AND  
WELLBEING 

 
RE-COMMISSIONING REGULATED CARE AND SUPPORT AT HOME 

 
1. Purpose of report  
 
1.1  The purpose of this report is to:- 
 

 Provide Cabinet with an update in respect of the recommissioning work being 
undertaken for Independent Domiciliary Care (IDC) and Short Breaks services; 

 Request Cabinet approval for Bridgend County Borough Council (the Council) to 
undertake a procurement exercise to invite tenders to establish a Framework 
Agreement of commissioned regulated care at home providers; and 

 Seek authority to waive the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules in accordance 
with CPR 3.2.9.2 to vary the current Framework Agreement(s) currently in place 
for Independent Domiciliary Care services, by extending the existing terms for a 
further 3 months. 

 
2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities 

 
2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objectives 

under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-   
 

1. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - taking 
steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on 
the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and communities to build 
resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to have active, healthy and 
independent lives 
 

2. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that 
can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives. 

 
3. Background 
 
 Independent Domiciliary Care (IDC) 
 
3.1 In November 2014, Cabinet approved the remodeling homecare implementation 

plan, which set out the Council’s intentions for meeting the increasing demands for 
internal homecare and external domiciliary care in a sustainable and managed way. 
This plan recommended remodeling the Council’s internal homecare service into a 
provider of specialist homecare services, and to commission domiciliary care 
services from the independent sector. 

 

Page 97

Agenda Item 7



 

3.2 It was recognised that there was a need to strengthen and develop what was a fragile 
market, and attract new providers to support the remodeling of services. To facilitate 
this change, officers developed a commissioning plan, where it was proposed that a 
framework agreement be established for the provision of externally commissioned 
domiciliary care.  

 
3.3 This framework allowed the Council to test the current market, strengthen the existing 

contractual arrangements, and open up the market to new providers, which managed 
the increased challenges and demands. 

 
3.4  In January 2016, Cabinet approved the award of a framework agreement to 13 

providers for the provision of new packages of domiciliary care for the period 1st April 
2016 to 31st March 2018, with an option to extend for a further period of up to 24 
months. 

 
3.5 Building on the success of the tender exercise, it was proposed that a new framework 

be established, which covered all externally commissioned domiciliary care. i.e. both 
new and existing packages of care. This would allow the Council to further strengthen 
and enhance the service model, and also potentially open up the market to further 
providers in light of the planned increase in homecare hours being commissioned 
from the independent domiciliary care sector. 

 
3.6 In January 2017, following engagement sessions undertaken with pertinent 

stakeholders and providers in respect of the proposed commissioning intentions, 
Cabinet approved the final commissioning plan for the independent domiciliary care 
sector in Bridgend, and approved the invitation of tenders to establish a framework 
agreement for the provision of all packages of commissioned domiciliary care. 

 
3.7  In September 2017, Cabinet approved the award of a framework agreement to 15 

providers (13 existing and 2 new providers) for the provision of domiciliary care for 
the period 1st January 2018 to the 31st December 2019 – with an option to extend for 
a further period of up to 24 months –the full extension period has subsequently been 
utilised, with current IDC arrangements ending on 31st December 2021. 

 
 Short Breaks service 

 
3.8 A series of stakeholder engagement and consultation events took place during 

2019/20 in order to co-produce the model for a new short breaks service. 
Consultation included a high-profile public event, local mapping and stakeholder 
meetings and follow-up focus group workshops. The public event and focus groups 
were independently facilitated by Swansea University and carers who use short 
breaks services were able to contribute. 

 
3.9 This extensive service development with stakeholders has co-produced a new 

pathway for carers’ services in Bridgend. A key part of that pathway is to provide 
appropriate short breaks for carers through flexible delivery of replacement care to 
individuals in need of care and support, that will provide more voice, choice and 
control for individuals and their carers through an ability to bank weekly assessed 
hours for flexible use within a 4-week window.  

 
3.10 Following a successful tender exercise, approval was granted (via Delegated 

Powers) to award contracts for the provision of a regulated domiciliary Short Break 

Page 98



 

Service for individuals and their carers in Bridgend. The duration of contracts entered 
into was 2 years – commencing in July 2019 – with the option to extend for up to a 
further 24 months. 

 
3.11 During a Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) inspection undertaken in 2019/20, the Short 

Break service model was commended in the verbal feedback received from 
regulators, where the question was also posed about why all regulated homecare 
services could not be commissioned in this more outcome-focused way. 

 
 4. Current situation/proposal 

 
 Context, facts & figures 
 
4.1 Having safe, flexible and effective care at home services are an essential part of the 

Council’s strategy to help and support individuals to maintain their independence. As 
can be seen from the table below, demand for these care at home services have 
increased by circa 8% in the last 3 years: 

 

 Avg 17/18 Avg 18/19 Avg 19/20 May 2021 

Total Hrs 8,151 8,581 8,701 8,738 

 
4.2 A consequence of increasing the capacity within our care and support at home 

services has enabled the directorate to manage the volume of placements made into 
care homes – which was 242 placements in 2017/18, compared to 232 in 2019/20. 
As a financial comparison, it currently costs £628 per week for a standard residential 
placement, whereas the typical care at home package of care (average hours being 
10hrs/wk) costs in the region of £200 per week. 

 
4.3 The demands on care and support at home services post-Covid is still yet to be fully 

understood, but the service is already experiencing significant increase in need. It is 
forecast that the long-term impact of Covid (as set out below), alongside the already 
known pressures of an ageing population, increasing dementia rates and more 
complex and challenging needs is going to result in increasing demands on already 
pressurised services. 

 
4.4 The below is an extract taken from Welsh Government’s (WG) ‘Rehabilitation: a 

framework for continuity and recovery 2020 to 2021’, which is intended to assist 
service planning for the anticipated increased demand for rehabilitation (and 
therefore social care) for people affected by Covid-19 across four main population 
groups: 

 
1. people who have had COVID-19: those recovering from acute COVID-19 
symptoms, including people who experienced extended time in critical care and 
hospital, or those whose acute care was managed in the community and those with 
prolonged symptoms of COVID-19 (Long COVID) recovering in the community 
 
2. people awaiting paused urgent and routine interventions and who have further 
deterioration in their function 
 
3. people who avoided accessing services during the pandemic who are now at 
greater risk of disability and ill-health 

Page 99



 

 
4. socially isolated/shielded groups where the lockdown has led to decreased levels 
of activity and social connectivity, altered consumption of food; substance misuse, 
the loss of physical and mental wellbeing and thus increased health risk 

 
4.5 Alongside these demand pressures, the Covid pandemic highlighted the fundamental 

importance of care and support at home, and the role of professional care workers, 
in providing essential personal care and support to highly vulnerable people to keep 
them safe, well and connected. Put simply, this service is the foundation of the whole 
health and social care system and unless there is sufficient quality and capacity of 
provision the whole system, and our most vulnerable people, are at risk.   

 
4.6 There is also a fundamentally changing requirement in respect of the social care 

worker workforce. There are specific requirements in respect of registration and 
qualification which came in under the Regulation and Inspection of Social Care 
(Wales) Act 2016. This is a highly skilled, professional workforce working with people 
at the most challenging times of their lives. The learning taken from the pandemic 
also emphasises the absolutely essential role of care workers in keeping people safe 
and connected with their families and communities.  

 
4.7 In terms of having sufficient quantity and quality of capacity to meet these needs 

moving forward, the social care market remains fragile, with recruitment and retention 
posing a significant challenge for a variety of reasons, including: 

 

 Pay and employee terms and conditions being comparably low, despite a strategic 
intention from Welsh Government to achieve parity of esteem between the care 
workforce and NHS workers, especially when considering the training and 
registration requirements of the Registration and Inspection of Social Care (Wales) 
Act 2016 (RISCA) and the responsibility of the role;  

 Competition from other sectors (hospitality and retail frequently pay more) and 
similar roles in health pay more and often provide better terms and conditions; and 

 the potential impact of Brexit over time (as other sectors will look to local labour force 
rather than accessing workforce from the EU) 

 
Establishing a flexible and outcomes-focused regulated Care at Home Service 

 
4.8 The move towards a more outcome focused way of commissioning is all about social 

outcomes – as well as personal care outcomes – and this is why this report and the 
service specification talks about care and support, and not just domiciliary care. 

 
4.9 A market testing event took place in May 2021, where existing contracted providers 

in attendance gave very positive feedback on how the Council’s Short Breaks service 
had been recommissioned in 2019. The service model was also commented on 
favourably by potential new providers in attendance at the event, commenting on the 
focus on voice, choice and control for individuals, and also the flexibility which allows 
for more person-centered working.  

 
4.10 It was clear from this meeting that the preferred option for recommissioning homecare 

services is to use a similar model and concept for the service specification, where 
there will be a clear emphasis on voice, choice and control for individuals and carers, 
which will help BCBC meet its corporate strategy of helping to keep people resilient 
and live as independently as possible within their own homes.  

Page 100



 

 
4.11 As with the existing framework agreements in place, the proposal is to implement a 

four year (2 years with the option to extend by 24 months) Framework Agreement, 
which will bring both service types (IDC and Short Breaks) in line with one another. 
Feedback received also stated that retaining county-wide services – as opposed to 
geographical lots – was the preferred way forward. 

 
4.12 The proposal is also to carry out the recommissioning exercise in the same way as 

when IDC and Short Breaks services have previously been tendered – where existing 
packages of care will only possibly move over to a new provider at point of review. 
This is to minimise disruption and unrest for individuals, but also will not have too 
much of a destabilizing impact on providers. i.e. maintain market stability. 

 
4.13 Service providers on the new Framework Agreement will not be guaranteed 

packages of care, with each one following its own individual process which considers 
both quality and price as part of the evaluation – which is carried out independently 
by a brokerage team. Plans are being considered where in the future the brokerage 
function might be at locality/cluster level, to ensure that there is a strong relationship 
will the extended health and social care team, and care workers and agencies. 

 
4.14 We are committed to working with high quality and experienced service providers, 

and there will be a very strong emphasis on quality as part of the tender process. To 
enable this, the cost:quality ratio of 20:80 will be strongly weighted in favour of quality 
– which will be evaluated through the written responses from the providers, as well 
as presentations and/or interviews that are part of the tender process. 

 
4.15 The table below sets out the indicative procurement timescales (to be confirmed), 

should Cabinet approval be given to implement the recommissioning plan:  
 

 Stage 1 Procurement Activity Date 

1 Approval to go to tender July 2021 

2 Place tender notice for the Framework August 2021 

3 Tender returns October 2021 

4 Final tender evaluation November 2021 

5 Approval to award December 2021 

6 Contract start date for Framework April 2022 

 
 IDC and Short Break rates (price schedule) 
 
4.16 As part of the previous IDC and Short Break tender exercises, providers were 

asked to submit their own rates in order to meet the requirements of the contract – 
and no ceiling or basement amounts were provided by BCBC. The current 
(2021/22) rates paid for these respective services is shown below: 

 

 £18.65/hr Short Breaks services (traditionally a lower amount due to the fact that 
these are longer calls – as opposed to 15/30/45 minutes) 

 £20.12/hr IDC services – which is a ‘weighted average’ that accounts for the 
proportionately more expensive shorter call durations 

 
4.17 The approach outlined above is often accused by providers and care sector 

representatives as being a ‘race to the bottom’, where those who provide the lowest 
rates are more likely to score highly when considering 20% of evaluation links to 

Page 101



 

costs, and the lower cost is deemed more favourable. In evaluating costs, it is 
important to note that value for money, rather than lowest cost will be evaluated in 
that the ability of potential suppliers to retain and recruit a professional care 
workforce in the context of the current labour market challenges will be reviewed.  

 
4.18 The National Commissioning Board (on behalf of Welsh Government) have recently 

undertaken and published some cost modelling work, which sets out what is 
deemed an ‘anticipated cost of care for 21/22’ in a variety of care settings – 
including homecare services – the summarised findings in this particular area being: 

 

 £21.43/hr – when linked to National Living Wage (NLW) 

 £22.72/hr – when linked to Real Living Wage (RLW) 
 
4.19 Paying the RLW for care workers was a key commitment in the Labour Party 

manifesto and we anticipate it will form an important strand of the Wales 
Programme for Government. This national intention aligns with Cabinet’s expressed 
views regarding RLW for care workers and we now have a mechanism of doing 
this, as provided by the NCB.  

 
4.20 The option of linking rates paid to providers to the NCB rates defined above has 

been discussed with colleagues in Procurement and Legal Services – to see what 
could/couldn’t be done from a legal viewpoint. It was felt that indexing to these rates 
would not be possible under the law. 

 
4.21 A pricing schedule concept was tested with potential bidders at the market testing 

event – where all those in attendance were unanimous in agreeing that this would 
be a positive step forward. The potential cost implications for carrying this out are 
set out in the Financial Section (Section 8) of this report. 
 
Variation to the existing IDC Framework contract(s) in place 

 
4.22 Cabinet authority is being sought to waive the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules 

in accordance with CPR 3.2.9.2 to vary the current IDC Framework contracts in 
place, by extending the existing term for a further 3 months– meaning a revised end 
date of 31st March 2022. This will allow for additional call-off placements from the 
IDC Framework to be made during this time. 

 
4.23 CPR 3.2.9.3 provides that a previously procured contract or framework agreement 

can be modified (and a new procurement process is not required to be undertaken) 
where the following conditions are fulfilled: 

 

(i)  the need for modification has been brought about by circumstances which 
 the Council having been duly diligent could not have foreseen; 
(ii)       the modification does not alter the overall nature of the Contract; 
(iii)      any increase in price does not exceed 50% of the value of the original 
 Contract or Framework Agreement. 

 
4.24 The need for modification has been brought about by the impact of the second wave 

of the Covid-19 pandemic, which has meant that the planned stakeholder 
engagement work necessary prior to going to tender was impacted and delayed, 
circumstances which the Council could not have foreseen when entering into the 
original contracts. The overall nature of the contract will not be altered, and all other 

Page 102



 

contractual terms remain unchanged. The proposed variation is for a 3 month 
extension. The proposed modification does not exceed 50% of the original contract 
value. Therefore approval is sought from Cabinet to waive the CPRs in accordance 
with Rule 3.2.9.3 and extend the framework agreements for an additional 3 months 
from 31st December 2021 to 31st March 2022. 

 
5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 This report seeks to modify existing Framework Agreements by way of a waiver of 

the Council’s CPRs in accordance with Rule 3.2.9.3 of the CPRs. 
 
5.2 Any tendering process will be undertaken in compliance with the Council’s CPRs 

and the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. 
 
6. Equality Act 2010 implications  
 
6.1 An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening has identified that there would 
 be no negative impact on those with one or more of the protected characteristics, on 
 socio-economic disadvantage or the use of the Welsh Language. It is therefore not 
 necessary to carry out a full EIA on this policy or proposal. 
 
7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 
7.1 The recommissioning of IDC and Short Breaks services supports the five ways of 

working under the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, as follows: 
 

Long Term – the new service model will be a more person-centred and outcome-
focused way of working, more in keeping with the requirements of the Social Services 
and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014, and more appropriate for the longer-term. 
 
Prevention – IDC and Short Breaks services are essential preventative services to 
mitigate the need for more costly residential care placement, where individuals are 
supported to maintain independence and live in their own homes for as long as is 
possible and appropriate to do so. 
 
Integration – the service providers will need to work with a wide range of stakeholder 
groups and organisations (such as health) to ensure the best possible outcomes for 
individuals in receipt of these services. 
 
Collaboration – the service model is predicated on close collaboration between the 
service provider, social work teams, wider stakeholders and communities, and the 
individuals themselves. 
 
Involvement – Key stakeholders and providers have been involved to help shape 
and inform the service proposal to ensure a co-productive approach to detailing the 
service model and specification for the new and revised service.  

 
8. Financial implications 
 
8.1 The potential financial implications of providing cost ranges – linked to NCB rates – 

within which providers are able to submit their costs is estimated below: 
 

Page 103



 

Service Weekly Hrs NLW (£21.43/hr) RLW (£22.72/hr) 

IDC (£20.12/hr) 8,115 £10,631 £21,099 

Short Breaks (£18.65/hr) 623 £1,732 £2,536 

TOTAL £12,363 £23,635 

 
8.2 Annually, this equates to a potential cost implication ranging from £643k per annum 

(NLW – which is the lowest rate accepted) up to £1.23M per annum (RLW – which is 
the highest rate accepted). 

 
8.3 Funding this cost pressure will need to be considered as part of the Medium Term 

Financial Strategy – where options to consider include the WG Social Care Workforce 
Grant (SCWG) – which totals in excess of £2.2M in 2021/22. The proposed changes 
to how we deliver and pay for care at home services will meet the requirements of 
this grant, as set out below, which is taken directly from the WG letter to BCBC: 

 
The Purpose of the Funding is: 
 

1: To support progress on fair work in the social care sector through salary 
uplifts aimed at ensuring that front line workers in commissioned services are 
paid the Real Living Wage, or a move towards this. 
 
2: To support the sustainability of the social care workforce and fair work 
 
3: To support the delivery of sustainable social care services ensuring they are 
better placed to meet increased or unexpected demands 

 
8.4 The WG Social Care Workforce Grant increased by just over £450k in 2021/22. The 

grant is not part of the budget set by the Council, but has been allocated to 
services/cost centres as pressures are identified during the year, and are not included 
in core budget, allowing flexibility in terms of its use to address in-year pressures. 
However, Cabinet should be clear in investing the grant in the way proposed in this 
paper, that there may be resulting cost pressures in other areas as where there are 
underlying pressures in social services, including residential and supporting living 
services across the SSWB Directorate.  

 
8.5 There are no additional cost implications for the Council in extending the IDC 

contracts for a period of 3 months, as rates paid and budgets remain the same. 
 
8.6 The estimated total value of the framework agreement over the maximum 4-year term 

is £50M. 
 
9. Recommendations 
 
9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet: 
 

 Note the contents of this report; 

 Approves the procurement of a Regulated Care at Home Services Framework 
Agreement of commissioned specialist providers; 

 Delegates authority to the Corporate Director Social Services and Wellbeing to tender 
the Framework Agreement for the Regulated Care at Home Services Framework 
Agreement in consultation with the Chief Officer – Legal, HR and Regulatory Services 

Page 104



 

and note that a further report shall be presented to Cabinet following the conclusion 
of the procurement of the Framework Agreement for a decision on whether to award 
the Framework Agreement and seek approval to enter into the Framework 
Agreement with successful bidders; and 

 Approves a waiver of the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules under Rule 3.2.9.3 from 
the relevant parts of the Contract Procedure Rules for the extension of the existing 
terms of the Framework for Independent Domiciliary Care  for a further 3 months to 
31 March 2022  

 
Claire Marchant  
Corporate Director – Social Services and Wellbeing  
July 2021 
 
Contact Officer: Jackie Davies 

Head of Adult Social Care 
 
Telephone:  (01656) 642121 
 
E-mail:  jacqueline.davies@bridgend.gov.uk 
 
Postal Address Bridgend County Borough Council, Civic Offices, Bridgend,   
   CF31 4WR 
 
Background documents 
None 
 

Page 105

mailto:jacqueline.davies@bridgend.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



   

 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO CABINET 
 

20 July 2021 
 

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR - COMMUNITIES 
 

PORTHCAWL WATERFRONT REGENERATION SCHEME : PROPOSED 
COMPULSORY PURCHASE ORDER 

 
1. Purpose of report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek a formal resolution of the Cabinet to make, 

advertise, notify and progress confirmation of a Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) 
to acquire land, and to authorise the advertisement of the proposed appropriation of 
Council owned land to planning purposes to support the Porthcawl Waterfront 
Regeneration Scheme.  
 

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities 
 

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objective/objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015:-   

 
1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy –. taking steps to make the 

county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough.  

 

2. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all  resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that 
can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives. 
 

2.2 In addition to the aforementioned corporate well-being objectives under the Well-
being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, the Cabinet should be cognisant of 
the seven well-being goals contained within the Act and pay due regard to the 
achievement of these when formulating this report.  

 
3. Background  
 

3.1 In May 2007 the Cabinet resolved to make a CPO to acquire land for what was then 
known as the Seven Bays Project (Minute 1024 is relevant). A draft CPO was 
progressed but never published due to the recession following the financial crisis in 
2008. 

 

Page 107

Agenda Item 8



   

 

3.2 On 8 February 2011 the Cabinet approved entering into a 20 year Agreement in 
respect of the joint marketing of the Council’s land with the owners of the Coney 
Beach Amusement Park to enable the Porthcawl Regeneration Scheme (Minute 601 
is relevant). This agreement was completed and the Cabinet approved a variation on 
19 December 2017  in order to exclude the Salt Lake car park  land, when the Council 
acquired the Evans’ long leasehold interest.(Minute 127 is relevant) 

 
3.3 The Bridgend Local Development Plan 2006 to 2021(LDP) was adopted by the 

Council on September 18th 2013. The Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration Area is 
allocated as a Mixed-Use Regeneration Scheme under Policy PLA3 (8) of the LDP. 
The Council is currently in the process of preparing a Replacement LDP(RLDP). The 
next step in this process is public consultation on the draft RLDP, which started on 1 
June 2021 for a period of eight weeks. 

 
3.4 On 15 September 2020 Cabinet resolved to “approve the making of a resolution to 

authorise officers to take all necessary steps to acquire the land edged red on the 
attached plan, including all preparatory steps for making a CPO for the purposes of 
enabling the comprehensive development of the Porthcawl Regeneration 
Scheme”.(Minute 530 is relevant). 

 
3.5 This report highlights steps taken and next steps in the making of a CPO to acquire 

land to enable delivery of this project. 
 

4. Current situation/proposal 
 
Compulsory Purchase Order 

4.1 The Council owns land in the Sandy Bay and Coney Beach area, and in 2011 entered 
into an agreement with a third party land owner to jointly market and dispose of all of 
the land to enable the wider Porthcawl Regeneration Area scheme (“the Scheme”)  
to come forward as a key strategic mixed-use development.  Disposal is proposed to 
be to either a single developer or to multiple developers. There are some unoccupied 
land parcels where title needs to be cleansed or which are in third party ownership 
and need to be acquired. 

 

4.2  The Council has attempted to acquire the third party land through negotiated 
agreements, where ownership is known. However, to date, it has not been possible 
to acquire the third party land by agreement and it is considered that the Council 
should seek to use its powers under section 226(1)(a) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 to acquire land compulsorily within the red edged boundary and 
as shown in the draft plan attached in Appendix 1, as described in the draft CPO in 
Appendix 2 and for the reasons set out in the draft Statement of Reasons at Appendix 
3. 

 

4.3 Section 226(1)(a) and (1A) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provide (in 
part) that:  

 

Page 108



   

 

(1)  A local authority to whom this section applies shall, on being authorised to 
do so by the Secretary of State, have power to acquire compulsorily any land 
in their area   
(a) if the authority think that the acquisition will facilitate the carrying out of 
development, re-development or improvement on or in relation to the land, 
 
(1A) But a local authority must not exercise the power under paragraph (a) of 
subsection (1) unless they think that the development, re-development or 
improvement is likely to contribute to the achievement of any one or more of 
the following objects— 
(a) the promotion or improvement of the economic well-being of their area; 
(b) the promotion or improvement of the social well-being of their area; 
(c) the promotion or improvement of the environmental well-being of their 
area. 
 

4.4 The above power is a positive planning power, which the Council may use to acquire 
land to achieve development, redevelopment or improvement.  

 
4.5 These powers are capable of applying to the wide variety of uses proposed within the 

Scheme including residential, commercial, leisure, open spaces, car parking, 
education and transport infrastructure. 

 
4.6 The aim is to create a premier seaside resort of regional significance through the 

comprehensive regeneration of the land to be acquired and adjacent land which form 
a key waterfront site. 

 
4.7 A sustainable distribution and variety of complementary land uses across the area, 

including residential, leisure, retail and education is proposed. It is also proposed to 
retain and improve upon areas of attractive open space within Griffin Park, whilst 
creating significant new areas of open space along the seafront, supplemented with 
high quality active travel routes that traverse the entire site between the harbour and 
Trecco Bay.  

 
4.8 It is proposed to provide a mixed-use development consisting of the following 

components in accordance with the acquiring authorities’ strategic plans and policies: 

 a primary east west vehicular link; 

 a new large open “Griffin Park” 

 approximately 912 dwellings on the Sandy Bay/Coney Beach Amusement Park 
sites and in excess of 328 dwellings on the Salt Lake site; 

 recreational and leisure opportunities; 

 retail and commercial development 

 new and improved parks and open spaces 
a new school or expansion of existing educational facilities 

 
4.9 The scope and detail of these general components will be refined in the development 

and planning process.  
 

Page 109



   

 

4.10 This will build upon the successful revitalisation of the harbour area, the conversion 
of the Jennings Building into residential and commercial units, the coastal flood 
defence works to Eastern Promenade, Western Breakwater, Sandy Bay and Rhych 
Point and the disposal of a part of the north western portion of Salt Lake Carpark for 
development as a food retail site. The scheme will seek to build upon this earlier 
development by creating development that is both complementary and well 
integrated, within a prestigious and vibrant waterfront. 

 
4.11 Physical development of the waterfront in this manner will improve the attractiveness 

of the town as a place to live and work, enhance the vibrancy of the Town Centre and 
deliver wider socio-economic benefits that allow the broader settlement of Porthcawl 
to thrive and prosper.  

 
4.12 The current target for the completion of the scheme is the late 2020’s, with the Council 

seeking to achieve acquisition of the land to be acquired by early 2023 at latest. It is 
planned to identify the preferred developer or developers, depending upon whether 
a single or multiple developers are chosen via open marketing of the first phase of 
the site in early - mid 2022.  The aim is to secure the requisite planning consents for 
the first phase by late 2023. 

 
4.13 Once acquisition is complete the Council intends to dispose of the land by way of 

tender. This is considered to be the most advantageous way to achieve a disposal of 
the site to developers as this will allow for receipts to be maximised whilst also 
enabling the Council to control the nature, scale and quality of proposals put forward 
by bidders. This control will be secured through the use of a gateway test requiring 
bids to demonstrate deliverability, which includes the scheme being capable of 
achieving planning consent.  

 
4.14 In order to guide the nature, scale and quality of proposals, and provide a framework 

to assess a bid’s ability to secure planning consent, a development brief will be 
prepared in advance of any marketing of the site.  It is envisaged that this 
development brief will set out a series of key development and infrastructure 
parameters and design guidance that reflect the requirements of the Council whilst 
also aligning with the requirements of the landowners in terms of key infrastructure 
and phasing.   

 
4.15 The CPO is therefore being progressed prior to a grant of planning permission 

recognising that in this instance it is not feasible or sensible to wait until the full details 
of the development proposal have been worked up, and planning permission 
obtained. Here, the proposed acquisitions form part of a longer term strategy which 
needs to adapt to changing circumstances. It is therefore not possible to demonstrate 
with absolute clarity or certainty the precise nature of the end-use proposed.  

 
4.16 However, it is considered that that there is a compelling case for compulsory 

acquisition to secure these remaining small areas of land required to deliver 
comprehensive redevelopment in advance of resolving all the uncertainties; and there 

Page 110



   

 

are realistic prospects of the Council subsequently securing the necessary planning 
permission for the Scheme.  

 
4.17 To achieve the Scheme it is considered to be necessary for the Council to unify all 

the interests in the land to be acquired. The achievement of this will enable the 
Council to fulfil the terms of the Agreement with the other owner of land to be used in 
the Scheme and will allow the joint marketing of the entire area required for the 
Scheme to take place. 

 
4.18 To secure the ownership of the land to be acquired for its development, within a 

reasonable period of time, at a fair and reasonable price and to assure potential 
purchasers that the development is viable, it is considered that there is a compelling 
case in the public interest for the making and confirmation of the CPO in view of the 
significant public benefits that will result from the comprehensive development, 
redevelopment or improvement on or in relation to the land.  

 
4.19 In deciding to proceed with the making of the CPO the Council must take into account 

the statutory requirements in section 226(1A) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (“the 1990 Act”) which, as set out above, requires the Council to confirm that it 
thinks the acquisition of the land to be acquired is likely to promote or improve the 
economic, social and environmental well being of the Council’s area.  

 
4.20 It is considered that the Scheme will promote or improve the economic and social 

well being of the area through the regeneration of a derelict and rundown waterfront 
area for mixed uses including new leisure, education and recreation facilities, retail 
and commercial uses and residential development.  The geographical location of the 
area to be developed is most conducive to a vibrant tourist resort that includes this 
mix of development.  

 
4.21 Through its content, quality and size it is considered that the development will be a 

flagship for Porthcawl that will give substantial aid to the implementation of the 
Council’s strategic policies.  

 
4.22 The development, redevelopment and improvement of the site is supported by the 

statutory development plan  review as necessary for the vitality and viability of 
Porthcawl and for its contribution to the achievement of the Council’s wider 
regeneration priorities, which are supported by the Welsh Assembly Government.  

 
4.23 The scheme will facilitate the environmental well-being of the area through the 

redevelopment of an area within Porthcawl, a large part of which has long been 
identified as being unoccupied, derelict, run down and in an unattractive state 
generally. The Scheme will have a positive impact on a substantial section of the 
waterfront. On the operational areas it will involve the demolition and clearance of a 
number of structures built in the 1960's and 1970's which are now effectively at the 
end of their useful life. Overall, this will result in a substantial improvement in the 
environment in the immediate area of the scheme.  

 

Page 111



   

 

4.24 The re-creation of sustainable communities through better balanced housing markets 
is one regeneration objective of the Council. A greater diversity of housing provision 
is needed to ensure that neighbourhoods are sustainable in the long term, and 
improved housing quality and choice is necessary to meet demand. 

 
4.25 The impact of the Scheme on the wider environment has been considered and is 

judged to be benign.  
 
4.26 The land to be acquired is considered to be the minimum essential to the successful 

implementation of the Scheme and is the minimum required for the scheme to be 
able to proceed in a comprehensive way.  

 
4.27 The benefit to be derived from making the CPO is not restricted to the area subject 

to the CPO, as the concept is applied to the wellbeing of the whole (or any part) of 
the Council’s area. Accordingly, the Council may take into account all the benefits 
and consequences that are likely to flow from the development, redevelopment or 
improvement of land within the Scheme in deciding to make the CPO.  

 
4.28 Here, the site has been allocated in the LDP for many years but the Scheme has not 

come forward on its own. It is therefore considered that the Scheme is not being 
capable of being delivered solely or mainly through the granting or refusal of planning 
permission. The Scheme requires a more proactive approach with the Council 
facilitating the assembly of land.   

 
4.29 The now proposed CPO relates to land within the Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration 

Scheme as identified within the recent Candidate Site submission for the RLDP which 
is a lesser area than the previous proposals for the Seven Bays Regeneration 
Scheme. 

 
4.30 The Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration Scheme includes development on the Salt 

Lake car park and Hillsborough Place car parks. However, that area is now a 
standalone scheme, as the Council acquired the long leasehold interest in the Salt 
Lake Car Park in 2018 and varied the Agreement with the owners accordingly. The 
CPO is required to enable development of that land within the balance of Porthcawl 
Waterfront Regeneration scheme which remains within the Agreement with the other 
substantial landowner and is located within the Sandy Bay and Coney Beach areas. 
These again are standalone developments. 

 
4.31 However, the two schemes combined will provide comprehensive redevelopment 

along the Porthcawl waterfront and are able to run concurrently rather than as Salt 
Lake as phase 1 and Sandy Bay / Coney Beach as phase 2, as previously envisaged.  
 

4.32 The land to be acquired is shown in Appendix 2 and described in Appendix 3 and 
includes: 
 

Page 112



   

 

 the freehold in the subsoil of land forming a part of Mackworth Road (Plot 3), which 
begins at No. 48 Mackworth Road and ends at the gated vehicular access from 
Mackworth Road to Sandy Bay Beach to the south,  

 the leasehold interest (but not the freehold interest) in a plot of land forming the 
gated vehicular access from Mackworth Road to Sandy Bay Beach, part of a wall 
and stepped revetment onto Sandy Bay Beach from Mackworth Road (Plot 1B), 

 the freehold interest (but not the leasehold interest) in a parcel of land adjoining 
Mackworth Road, to the east of it, and to the west of Sandy Lane known as the 
Model Village Leisure Park (Plot 5)  

 the freehold interest in the road and footway of Sandy Lane, off Mackworth Road 
and south-west of Newton Primary School (Plot 7). 

 the freehold interest in part of the western verge of Sandy Lane and the rear 
access to the residential property at 2 Mackworth Road (Plot 6), driveway fronting 
the residential property at 1 Sandy Lane (Plot 8) and driveway fronting the 
residential property at 2 Sandy Lane (Plot 9).  

 the freehold interest in land on the eastern side of Sandy Lane forming a car 
parking area used in connection with Newton Primary School (Plot 10) and a 
vehicular access to the car park at Newton Primary School (Plot 10A). 

 the freehold interest in Rhych Avenue off New Road and part of the unadopted 
lane from Rhych Avenue to the premises known as the Hi Tide Inn (Plot 11), 
together with part of the road and eastern footway (Plot 11B) and western footway 
(Plot 11A) of Rhych Avenue located south of its junction with New Road.  

 The freehold in the Coney Beach WPD substation located east of Eastern 
Promenade and Griffin Park Tennis Courts (Plot 2). 

 All interests other than the freehold in land forming the former Coney Beach 
Amusement Park (Plot 1). 

 All interests other than the freehold and registered charge in part of Sandy Bay 
Beach located east of Eastern Promenade and south-west of Mackworth Road 
(Plot 1A), together with part of Sandy Bay Beach comprising unregistered land 
(Plot 4). 

 

4.33 The present built development on the land to be acquired is varied. Plot 3 consists in 
the main of the end of Mackworth Road which is adopted highway maintainable at 
public expense. Plot 1B consists of the gated vehicular access, wall and stepped 
revetment from the southern end of Mackworth Road to Sandy Bay Beach. Plot 5 is 
known as “the Model Village Leisure Park”. This used to form a part of the Coney 
Beach Amusement Park and is currently unoccupied. Plots, 6, 7, 8 and 9 consist of 
Sandy Lane which runs off Mackworth Road together with the western verge and 
driveways to the properties at 2 Mackworth Road, 1 Sandy Lane and 2 Sandy Lane. 
Plots 10 and 10A consist of land on the eastern side of Sandy Lane which form a car 
park used in connection with, and a vehicular access leading to, Newton Primary 
School . Plots 11, 11A and 11B consist of part of Rhych Avenue off New Road, which 
is highway but not adopted as maintainable at public expense, along with footway, 
verge and turning areas, together with part of the unadopted lane from Rhych Avenue 
to the premises known as the Hi Tide Inn. Plot 2 is the site of an electricity substation 
at the former Coney Beach Amusement Park. Plot 1 is the former Coney Beach 
Amusement Park, where all interests other than those of the freeholder are to be 

Page 113



   

 

acquired to cleanse the title. Plot 1A consists of part of Sandy Bay Beach located 
east of Eastern Promenade and south-west of Mackworth Road, where all interests 
other than those of the freeholder are to be acquired to cleanse the title. Plot 4 
comprises an area of Sandy Bay Beach which comprises unregistered land in 
unknown ownership 

 
4.34 Parts 2 and 3 of Schedule 2 to the Acquisition of Land Act 1981 are not incorporated 

into the CPO and no minerals interests are proposed to be acquired. Where 
necessary these will be dealt with by indemnity insurance upon disposal.   

 
 Special Categories of Land 
 
4.35 Part of the land to be acquired forming a part of Sandy Bay beach could be 

considered to be open space within the meaning of section 19 of the Acquisition of 
Land Act 1981.  This area is proposed to be acquired because flood defences need 
to be incorporated into the development. The design of these is such that public 
access to the beach will be enhanced and improved – with the defences forming a 
stepped revetment that can be used by the public.  Officers therefore consider that 
the beach area being acquired will secure the preservation and improve the 
management of the wider beach area. A certificate to that effect is proposed to be 
sought from the Welsh Ministers. 

 
4.36   None of the Land to be Acquired is within a Conservation Area.  
 
4.37 Equipment and structures of statutory undertakers and telecommunications 

operators will be protected, replaced, diverted, extended or improved as necessary. 
The Council is actively working with statutory undertakers to achieve this by 
agreement.  

 
4.38 The Coney Beach electricity substation is being acquired from Western Power 

Distribution, who are a statutory undertaker pursuant to the Electricity Act 1989. The 
Council and its preferred developers will work with the statutory undertaker to ensure 
that it can be purchased and not replaced without serious detriment to the carrying 
on of the undertaking, or that it can be replaced by other land belonging to, or 
available for acquisition by the undertakers without serious detriment to the carrying 
on thereof. 

 
4.39 The site is within the setting but not the curtilage of Newton Primary School which is 

a grade II listed building.   
 
4.40 There are no scheduled ancient monuments within the Land to be Acquired.   
 
4.41 There are no Tree Preservation Orders on the land to be acquired. It is likely that 

some trees will need to be removed to enable the development to proceed. The 
impact on trees will be fully considered during the planning process.  

 
 

Page 114



   

 

Appropriation of the Council’s Land  
 

4.42 The former Sandy Bay Caravan Park which forms the majority of the land owned by 
the Council in the area  intended for development  was acquired by the Council for 
the purposes of public walks, being purposes set out in section 164 of the Public 
Health Act 1875, and section 4 of the Physical Training and Recreation Act 1937. The 
acquisition took place following the confirmation of the Porthcawl Urban (Newton) 
Recreation Ground Confirmation Order 1948 which authorised compulsory purchase 
acquisition of the land for those purposes. The land is accordingly held pursuant to a 
statutory trust imposed by section 10 of the Open Spaces Act 1906 to allow, and with 
a view to, the enjoyment thereof by the public as an open space within the meaning 
of the 1906 Act. 
 

4.43 It is unclear what powers were used to acquire Griffin Park, a part of which is also to 
be appropriated so that it can be used to access the wider Scheme,  but this land was 
acquired from the Great Western Railway Company in 1928 and it seems highly likely 
that it was either acquired utilising the powers contained in section 164 of the Public 
Health Act 1875 or section 9 of the Open Spaces Act 1906, and that this land is 
similarly held by the Council pursuant to a statutory trust imposed by section 10 of 
the 1906 Act . 

 
4.44 The area of land to be appropriated from open space use within Griffin Park includes 

a part of a bowling green which is currently in use. There are however 3 bowling 
greens in Griffin park, one of which is disused. The current proposal is to bring that 
disused bowling green back into use prior to development taking place so as to 
mitigate the loss of the bowling green. That may depend on the extent of utilisation 
of the current bowling green. It is conceivable that the extent of bowling green 
provision within Griffin Park would be reduced to a single green.   

 

4.45 The Council wishes to transfer the land from its current use to a use for planning 
purposes. This process is known as land appropriation. Under Section 246 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 planning purposes means reference to any 
purposes for which land can be acquired under (in part) Section 226 and Section 227 
of the Town and Country Planning Act. 

 
4.46 The Council has a general power to appropriate land under the provisions of Section 

122 of the Local Government Act 1972. Under this section a Council may appropriate 
land owned by the Council which is no longer required for the purpose for which it is 
held for any other purpose for which the Council is authorised by statute to acquire 
land. The Council is authorised to acquire land under Sections 226 (using compulsory 
powers of acquisition) and 227 (by agreement) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 
 

4.47 Any land so appropriated will be freed from the statutory trusts arising under section 
164 of the Public Health Act 1875 or section 10 of the 1906 Act (section 122(2B) 
Local Government Act 1972). 
 

Page 115



   

 

4.48 In reaching a decision to appropriate land the Council must decide that the land is no 
longer required for the purpose for which it is currently held and in making that 
decision the Council must consider the public need within the area for the existing 
use. This report gives a detailed outline of the development proposals for the area 
including the Council’s land. The Council’s land is required for purposes of 
development, re development and improvement.  
 

4.49 One effect of appropriation for planning purposes is that when planning permission 
is granted for the development, section 203 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 
allows the Council to override easements and other rights – although compensation 
becomes payable to the owners of those interests. These powers extend to 
successors in title. For this reason the Council’s land is not necessary to include 
within the CPO, notwithstanding its inclusion within and intended disposal as a part 
of the Porthcawl Regeneration Scheme.   
 

4.50 To achieve the re development of the area in accordance with the Council’s planning 
policy it is desirable that the Council’s land is appropriated for planning purposes, as 
set out in further detail in the proposed Statement of Reasons at Appendix 3. 
 

4.51 Before appropriating the land to planning purposes the Council must advertise its 
intention to appropriate the open space land for two consecutive weeks in a 
newspaper circulating in the local area and consider any objections received to the 
appropriation. 
 

4.52 This report consequently seeks authorisation to advertise the appropriation, with any 
objections that are forthcoming to be considered at a further Cabinet meeting in due 
course.  
 
Human Rights Implications 
 

4.53 The Cabinet should be sure that the purposes for which a compulsory purchase order 
is made and any decision to appropriate land justifies interfering with the human rights 
of those with an interest in the land affected. Particular consideration should be given 
to the provisions of Article 1 of the First Protocol to the European Convention on 
Human Rights and, in the case of a dwelling, Article 8 of the Convention in deciding 
to make a compulsory purchase order.  

 
4.54 Section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 prohibits public authorities from acting in a 

way which is incompatible with the Convention. Various Convention rights may be 
engaged in the process of making and considering a compulsory purchase order, 
notably Article 1 protects the right of everyone to the peaceful enjoyment of 
possessions. No-one can be deprived of possessions except in the public interest 
and subject to the conditions provided for by law and by the general principles of 
international law. Article 8 provides a right to respect to one’s private and family life 
and home.  

 

Page 116



   

 

4.55 The European Court of Human Rights has recognised in the context of Article 1 that 
regard must be had to the fair balance which has to be struck between the competing 
interests of the individual and of the community as a whole. Similarly, any interference 
with Article 8 rights must be necessary for the reasons set out. Both public and private 
interests are to be taken into account in the exercise of the Council's powers and 
duties as a local planning authority. Any interference with Convention Rights must be 
necessary and proportionate.  

 
4.56 In considering the CPO and the appropriation of the Council’s land, the Council has 

to carefully consider the balance to be struck between individual rights and the wider 
public interest. Any interference with Convention rights is considered to be justified in 
order to secure the economic, social, physical and environmental regeneration that 
the redevelopment will bring. Appropriate compensation will be available to those 
entitled to claim it under the relevant provisions of the relevant statutory provisions.  

 
4.57 It is considered that there is a compelling case in the public interest for making the 

CPO and appropriating the Council’s land and that the CPO, if confirmed, and the 
appropriation if made would strike an appropriate balance between public and private 
interests. In addition, having regard to the provisions of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 and Welsh Government Circular Ref: 003/2019 Compulsory 
Purchase in Wales and ‘The Crichel Down Rules (Wales Version 2020)’ (October 
2020) it is considered that the land to be acquired is both suitable for and necessary 
to deliver the public benefits described above. Furthermore, it is considered that 
interference with individual rights is necessary and proportionate in the context of the 
delivery of the scheme.  

 

4.58 In assessing human rights considerations, members should have particular regard to 
the fact that the proposed acquisition and appropriation will affect land currently 
owned and occupied by the owners, lessees, occupiers of the land and/or other legal 
interests.  

 

4.59 None of the land included affects residential or business properties or businesses 
and all of the sites are unoccupied. Voluntary negotiations have been or will be 
entered into before the formal proceedings are commenced – evidence has been 
invited from reputed owners where they are not registered.  It is considered in this 
case that the purchase of the land can be addressed through provision of 
compensation and there is no negative impact on the human rights of the land 
owners. 

 

4.60 If after making the CPO, any qualifying objections are received within the statutory 
timescales and not resolved, it is likely that the matter will proceed to a local public 
inquiry.  If this is the case, the Welsh Ministers will appoint an inspector to hear 
evidence from the objector(s) and the Council, before determining whether or not to 
confirm the CPO. The Secretary of State has limited power to modify the CPO before 
confirmation. 

 

Page 117



   

 

4.61 If, after publishing an advert detailing the proposed appropriation of public open 
space, representations are received by the Council these representations will be 
reported back to Cabinet to be considered at a further Cabinet meeting.  

 
4.62 Once the CPO is confirmed and notices have been served, all persons with a 

compensation interest in the order land and who make a claim will be entitled to 
compensation in accordance with the provisions of a variety of statutory provisions 
which together form the Compensation Code. Once made, any person whose rights 
are impacted upon by the appropriation of the Council’s land to planning purposes 
will also be entitled to compensation.  Any dispute with regards to compensation can 
be referred to the Upper Tribunal (Lands Chamber) to determine. 
11.11 Negotiations with landowners and the holders of any other interests will 
continue throughout the CPO process and where possible agreement will always be 
the preferred option for land acquisition.  
 

5 Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 

5.1  The proposals will positively support the Council’s policies or procedures. 
 
5.2 The site is currently allocated for mixed development within the existing Local 

Development Plan. Policy PLA3 of the Adopted Local Plan sets out the Councils 
objectives for mixed use regeneration of brownfield under utilised sites and 
identified the Porthcawl Regeneration Area as being a significant part of this 
strategy through its allocation as site PLA3(8).    This allocation is supported by 
adopted Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG), often referred to as the “Seven 
Bays Project – Porthcawl Waterfront SPG”.  

 
5.3 In addition to the allocation in the Adopted Local Plan the site has been put forward 

a as a candidate site for consideration as part of the replacement Local 
Development Plan 2018-2033 (LDP). 

 
5.4 The Bridgend County Borough Local Development Plan 2018-2033 Preferred 

Strategy Consultation Document identifies the Porthcawl Regeneration scheme as 
a strategically important site. Specifically the preferred strategy recognises that the 
Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration Area will provide the strategic focus of 
residential-led growth and opportunity for Porthcawl by maximising the benefits of 
the unique location that incorporates views across Sandy Bay. The provision of new 
residential units, including affordable dwellings, will enable the delivery of other vital 
regeneration requirements comprising flood defences, enhanced active travel links 
plus education, retail and community facility provision.  

 
5.5 Subsequent to the site being identified in the County Borough Local Development 

Plan 2018-2033 Preferred Strategy Consultation Document the site has since been 
identified as a Mixed-Use Strategic Development Site within the Replacement Local 
Development Plan Deposit Plan Public Consultation Document.  

 

Page 118



   

 

5.6 Specifically, Policy PLA1 of the  Replacement Local Development Plan Deposit 
Plan Public Consultation Document sets out that the Land at Porthcawl Waterfront, 
is allocated for a comprehensive, regeneration-led, mixed-use development that will 
deliver circa 1,115 homes (including 30% / 335 units of affordable housing), 
incorporating a new one form entry Welsh medium primary school, a four classroom 
block extension at the existing English medium primary school, a new food store, 
leisure facilities, a bus terminus, recreation facilities, public open space, plus 
appropriate community facilities and commercial uses. Policy PLA1 goes on to set 
out a series of placemaking and master planning principles that apply to the site.  

 
5.7 To evidence the deliverability and viability of the site the major landowners have 

contributed to a draft land use framework and masterplan for consideration as part 
of the LDP process. This work is supported and informed by a suite of technical 
evidence that has been commissioned by the landowners. The proposed mix of 
land uses and quantum of development are similar to those within the existing SPG 
and include mixed use of residential, leisure, retail, commercial, open space, car 
parking and active travel routes – see Appendix 4.  

 
5.8 In addition to the planning status of the site at a local level there is significant 

support for the proposed regeneration at a national policy level. Planning Policy 
Wales (PPW) is unequivocal in terms of its support and indeed directive towards 
prioritising the redevelopment of suitably located brown field sites such as this. Of 
particular relevance is section 3.51 which states as follows:  

 
“3.51 Previously developed (also referred to as brownfield) land (see definition 
overleaf) should, wherever possible, be used in preference to greenfield sites where 
it is suitable for development. In settlements, such land should generally be 
considered suitable for appropriate development where its re‑use will promote 
sustainability principles and any constraints can be overcome.” 

 
5.9 In parallel to the importance placed on supporting brownfield regeneration 

opportunities such as the proposal, section 3.57 of PPW encourages appropriate 
steps to be taken to unlock sites with this including exercising compulsory purchase 
powers where voluntary acquisition is unsuccessful.  Considerable effort has been 
made to voluntarily acquire the freehold interest in the former Model Village Leisure 
Park, although at this time these attempts remain unsuccessful. As such steps are 
being taken to progress with a compulsory purchase as this will unlock the site so it 
can meet development needs in the local area and secure better development 
outcomes. As detailed within the preceding sections of this statement the Council is 
satisfied that the benefits in relation to the public interest will outweigh the loss of 
private interests. 

 
5.10 In May 2007 the Council’s Cabinet resolved to make a CPO to acquire land for what 

was then known as the Seven Bays Project. A draft CPO was progressed but never 
published due to the recession following the financial crisis in 2008. The key 
difference in the current CPO is that the previously proposed acquisition of land to 
undertake coastal protection works along the frontage of the Hi-Tide Inn has been 

Page 119



   

 

removed. These works are no longer required, as the coastal flood protection works 
the Council are carrying out at Eastern Prom, the Western Breakwater and Rhych 
Point, and the works that the Council’s development partners are carrying out in 
front of the Coney beach Amusement Pak will provide sufficient coastal flood 
protection to enable the proposed development, redevelopment or improvement to 
proceed. In addition the Council has secured freehold title to some of the land that 
was required and this is therefore not included in the current CPO.  

 
6.  Equality Act 2010 implications. 

 
6.1 An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening has identified that there 

would be no negative impact on those with one or more of the protected 
characteristics, on socio-economic disadvantage or the use of the Welsh Language. 
It is therefore not necessary to carry out a full EIA on this proposal.  

 
7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 

  
7.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Assessment based on the 5 

ways of working has been considered and there are no significant or unacceptable 
impacts upon the achievement of wellbeing goals/objectives.  

 

 Long term - The Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration is a strategic development 
scheme which has the potential to add vibrancy to the locality through the provision 
of new housing, leisure and tourism opportunities, as well as retail and commercial 
developments; set within appropriate open space, parking and public realm. 

 Prevention – the current Waterfront sites are largely unoccupied and under-utilised 
and detract from the attractiveness of the area. 

 Integration – the Waterfront development will integrate with and access to the existing 
town centre, sea front and leisure developments.  

 Collaboration – the Council will collaborate with residents, visitors and end users of 
this project to ensure successful and sustainable development and outcomes. 

 Involvement – ongoing engagement with the community will be an important facet of 
this project.  

 

8. Financial implications 
 

8.1  The acquisition of land on the Sandy Bay / Coney Beach site will have a cost, 
including any compensation to be paid. Given that the CPO has not yet been made 
it is premature to confirm what compensation payments will have to be made or to 
what value. Notwithstanding this point Cabinet and Council approval is being sought 
in a separate report for officers to include a capital budget in the capital programme 
from unallocated capital funding at the earliest opportunity. Once the need for 
compensation payments and the amounts which will be required are clarified a report 
will be presented back to Cabinet and Council to finalise the amount for the capital 
programme, with any such payments to be reimbursed from future sale receipts from 
disposal of the land at Porthcawl.  
 

Page 120



   

 

9. Recommendation(s) 
 
Cabinet is recommended: 
 
9.1 To authorise the Corporate Director-Communities and the Chief Officer Legal, HR 

and Regulatory Services to make a Compulsory Purchase Order in the form at 
Appendix 1 and 2 (subject to such amendments as the Council’s Corporate Director-
Communities may authorise) and to publish a Statement of Reasons in the form at 
Appendix 3 (subject to such amendments as the Council’s Corporate Director-
Communities may authorise) to acquire the land edged red on the attached plan, for 
the purposes of enabling the comprehensive development of the Porthcawl 
Waterfront Regeneration Scheme. 

 
9.2 To authorise the Corporate Director-Communities and the Chief Officer Legal, HR 

and Regulatory Services to make an application to the Welsh Ministers for a 
certificate under section 19 of the Acquisition of Land Act 1981 that the beach area 
is to be purchased in order to secure its preservation or improve its management 

 
9.3 To authorise the Corporate Director-Communities and the Chief Officer Legal, HR 

and Regulatory Services to advertise and give notice of the making of the Compulsory 
Purchase Order; and  to submit the same to the Welsh Ministers for confirmation,  

 
9.4 To give authority to the Corporate Director Communities and the Chief Officer Legal, 

HR and Regulatory Services and those who may be authorised by her to respond to 
any objections received and to progress any public inquiry which the Welsh Ministers 
may wish to convene in respect of the making of the Compulsory Purchase Order.  

 
9.5     To authorise the Corporate Director-Communities and the Chief Officer Legal, HR and 

Regulatory Services to advertise the Council’s intention to appropriate the open 
space land as shown on the plan at Appendix 5 to a use for planning purposes and 
to report back to Cabinet to consider any objections received to the proposed 
appropriation. 
 

Janine Nightingale 
CORPORATE DIRECTOR – COMMUNITIES 
July 2021 

 
Contact officer:  Justin Kingdon 

 Group Manager – Corporate Landlord 
 
Telephone:   (01656) 642714 
 
Email:   justin.kingdon@bridgend.gov.uk 
 
Postal Address:                Ravens Court, Brewery Lane, Bridgend. CF31 4AP 
 
Background Documents:  Equality Impact Assessment Screening Report 

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 – DRAFT CPO MAP 

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



M
A
C

K
W

O
R

T
H

BUNGALOW AVENUE

S
A

N
D

Y
L

A
N

E

NEW ROAD

G
L
A

N
R

O
A

D

R
O

A
D

Posts

Ps

R
H

Y
C

H
A

V
E

N
U

E

S
T

A
N

N
E

'S
C

R
E

S
C

E
N

T

Q
U

E
E

N
'S

A
V

E
N

U
E

THE MERCIES

R
H

Y
C

H
A

V
E

N
U

E

S
A
N

D
Y
M

E
E
R

S

R
O

A
D

V
E

R
N

O
N

N
O

R
T

H
W

A
Y

S

V
IN

T
I N

L
A

N
E

R
O

A
D

POPLAR ROAD

NIC
HOLLS AVENUE / RHODFA NICHOLLS

N
E

V
I L

L
E

P
O

P
L A

R
A

V
E

N
U

E

MAESTEG TERRACE

IN
G

'S
H

ILL

E
A

S
T

E
R

N
P

R
O

M
E

N
A

D
E

1

1A

1B

2
3

4

5

6

7

8
9

10

10A
11

11A 11B

Map referred to in The Bridgend County Borough Council (Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration) Compulsory Purchase Order 2021

Map referred to in The Bridgend 
County Borough Council (Porthcawl 
Waterfront Regeneration) 
Compulsory Purchase Order 2021
Plot generated by : WTP
Reference :PC1-P2_070621      

Scale: 1: 1250 @ A1

Date: 07/07/2021    

Corporate Director - Communities
Directorate - Communities
Bridgend County Borough Council, 
Civic Offices, 
Angel Street, 

Bridgend, 
CF31 4WB 

©Crown Copyrigh t and data base  right  2021 . Ordna nce  Surv ey 10 00234 05. Use  of  thi s da ta is  sub ject  to terms  
and  condi tions.
©Hawlfrain t a hawlia u cron fa dda ta'r  Goron  2021  Rhif  Trwydded y r Arolwg  Ordna ns 1 0002 3405.  Mae def nydd 
o’r  da ta hwn y n ddarost ynged ig i delerau  ac amodau .

Aeria l Imagery:  Cities  Reveal ed a eria l phot ography c opy right  The Geo Inf ormat ion  Group  2011 . Copyrigh t 
Getmapping p lc. 

Countryside Counc il fo r Wales , ©Crown Copyright a nd dat abas e r igh t 2011 . 
Ordnance Surve y 100 01881 3. 

Fores try  Commis sion , ©Crown Copyright a nd  dat aba se r igh t 20 11. Ordnance  Surv ey 10 0025 498.

P
age 125

KESTLPA
Subject to Cabinet Approval



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2 – DRAFT CPO 

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



 

C:6737940v1   

 

 
 

Dated         2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THE BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL  
(PORTHCAWL WATERFRONT REGENERATION)  

COMPULSORY PURCHASE ORDER 2021 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Kelly Watson 

Head of Legal and Regulatory Services 
Bridgend County Borough Council  

Civic Offices 
Angel Street 

Bridgend 
CF31 4WB 

 
 
 

Page 129



 

C:6737940v1   

 

 
THE BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL  
(PORTHCAWL WATERFRONT REGENERATION)  

COMPULSORY PURCHASE ORDER 2021 
 

The Town and Country Planning Act 1980 

and 

The Acquisition of Land Act 1981 

 

The Bridgend County Borough Council (in this Order called “the acquiring authority”) makes 
the following Order: 

 
1. Subject to the provisions of this Order, the acquiring authority is, under section 

226(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, hereby authorised to purchase 
compulsorily the land described in paragraph 2 for the purpose of facilitating the 
carrying out of a mixed use development comprising housing, leisure and retail uses, 
a school, public open space and ancillary highway and public realm improvements. 

 
2.  The land authorised to be purchased compulsorily under this Order is the land 

described in the Schedule and delineated and shown coloured pink and edged red on 
a map prepared in duplicate, sealed with the common seal of the acquiring authority 
and marked “Map referred to in The Bridgend County Borough Council (Porthcawl 
Waterfront Regeneration) Compulsory Purchase Order 2021”. 

  

 

Page 130



 

C:6737940v1   

 

 

SCHEDULE 
 
 

  Notes 

 
The following approximnate imperial equivalents relate to the metric measurements used in the accompanying drawings and 
schedules: 

 
Units of length:  1mm  =           0.039 inches (approx.) 
   1 metre  =           1.094 yards (approx.) 
   1km  =           0.621 miles (approx.) 
Unit of area:  1 sq.m.  =           1.196 sq. yards (approx.) 

 
 
   Table 1 
 

   
Number 
on Map 

Extent, description and 
situation of the land 

Qualifying persons under section 12(2)(a) of the Acquisition of Land  
Act 1981 – Name and Address 

Owners or reputed 
owners 

Lessees or 
reputed lessees 

Tenants or 
reputed tenants 

(other than 
lessees) 

Occupiers 

1 All interests other than 
those interests (whether 
legal or equitable) of 
Funfair Sites Limited, 
Jenoat Limited and 
Barclays Security 
Trustee Limited in 
37,116.56 square metres 
of the former Coney 
Beach Amusement Park 
located east of Eastern 
Promenade and west of 
Mackworth Road (Part of 
Freehold Title Number 
WA166414).    
 

Fun Fair Sites Limited 
(Co. No 562902)  
Coney Beach,  
Coney Beach 
Amusement Park,  
Porthcawl 
CF36 5BY 

  Owner 
 
Jenoat Limited  
(Co. No. 1484151)  
Coney Beach, 
Coney Beach 
Amusement Park,  
Porthcawl  
CF36 5BY  

 

1A All interests other than 
those interests (whether 
legal or equitable) of 
Funfair Sites Limited, 
Jenoat Limited and 
Barclays Security 
Trustee Limited in 
2,177.74 square metres 
of part of Sandy Bay 
Beach located east of 
Eastern Promenade and 
south of the former 
Coney Beach 
Amusement Park (Part of 
Freehold Title Number 
WA166414).    
 

As Plot 1   As Plot 1 

Page 131



 

C:6737940v1   

 

1B All interests other than 
those interests (whether 
legal or equitable) of 
Funfair Sites Limited and 
Jenoat Limited in 58.34 
square metres of land 
comprising a gated 
vehicular access, part of 
a wall and stepped 
revetment located 
between the southern 
end of Mackworth Road 
and the foreshore of 
Sandy Bay Beach. 
  

Fun Fair Sites Limited 
(Co. No 562902) 
Coney Beach,  
Coney Beach 
Amusement Park,  
Porthcawl 
CF36 5BY  
(Reputed Owner) 

 

  Reputed Owner 
 

Jenoat Limited  
(Co. No 1484151)  
Coney Beach, 
Coney Beach 
Amusement Park,  
Porthcawl,  
CF36 5BY  

 

2 11.35 square metres of 
land forming the site of 
an electricity substation 
located east of Eastern 
Promenade and Griffin 
Park Tennis Courts and 
west of the former Coney 
Beach Amusement Park 
(Freehold Title Number 
WA414880). 
 

Western Power 
Distribution (South 
Wales) Plc 
(Co. No. 02366985) 
Avonbank, 
Feeder Road, 
Bristol  
BS2 0TB 

 

  Owner 

3 All interests other than 
those of Bridgend County 
Borough Council in 
1,964.95 square metres 
of part of Mackworth 
Road road and footway 
located south of the 
property at 48 Mackworth 
Road and north of the 
gated vehicular access 
from Mackworth Road to 
the foreshore of Sandy 
Bay Beach. 
 

Sonia Aston 
62 St Brides Road, 
Aberkenfig, 
Bridgend 
CF32 9RA  
 
Marion Dene 
4 Alumdale Road, 
Alum Chine, 
Bournemouth, 
Dorset 
BH4 8HX 
 
Anne Webb 
2 The Alms Houses, 
Gas Las, 
Hinton St George, 
Somerset 
TA17 8RX 
 
Veronica Lorraine King  
[Address to be 
confirmed] 

 
as Trustees of the 
Estate of Sir Thomas 
George Jones KBE 
(Reputed Owner) 
 

  Bridgend County 
Borough Council 
(as highway 
authority) 
Civic Offices, 
Angel Street, 
Bridgend 
CF31 4WB 

 

4 78.28 square metres of 
part of Sandy Bay Beach 
located south-east of 
Mackworth Road and 
south-west of the 
premises known as the 
Hi Tide Inn.    
 

Unknown   Unoccupied 

Page 132



 

C:6737940v1   

 

5 All interests other than 
those interests (whether 
legal or equitable) of 
Jenoat Limited and 
Funfair Sites Limited in 
10,648.73 square metres 
of land known as the 
former Model Village 
Leisure Park located east 
of Mackworth Road and 
west of Sandy Lane 
(Freehold Title Number 
CYM363522). 

Sonia Aston 
62 St Brides Road, 
Aberkenfig, 
Bridgend 
CF32 9RA  
 
Marion Dene 
4 Alumdale Road, 
Alum Chine, 
Bournemouth, 
Dorset 
BH4 8HX 
 
Anne Webb 
2 The Alms Houses, 
Gas Las, 
Hinton St George, 
Somerset 
TA17 8RX 
 
Veronica Lorraine King  
[Address to be 
confirmed] 
 
as Trustees of the 
Estate of the late Mr 
Eric Fordham-Hall 
 

Jenoat Limited  
(Co. No. 1484151)  
Coney Beach, 
Coney Beach 
Amusement Park,  
Porthcawl,  
CF36 5BY  
(Leasehold Title 
Number 
WA167250) 

 Lessee 
 

Fun Fair Sites 
Limited 
(Co. No. 562902) 
1 Glan Road, 
Porthcawl 
CF36 5DF 
 

6 140.65 square metres of 
part of the western verge 
of Sandy Lane and rear 
access to the property at 
2 Mackworth Road 
located south-west of the 
junction between 
Mackworth Road and 
Sandy Lane. 
 

Newton (Porthcawl) 
Estate Company 
Limited 
(Co. No. 00285752)   
c/o Graham Paul 
Limited 
Court House, 
Court Road,  
Bridgend 
CF31 1BE 
(Reputed Owner) 
 
Steve Jones and 
Carina Jones 
2 Mackworth Road, 
Porthcawl 
CF36 5BP 
(Reputed Owner) 
 

  Steve Jones and 
Carina Jones 
2 Mackworth 
Road, 
Porthcawl 
CF36 5BP 
 

7 421.33 square metres of 
part of Sandy Lane road 
and footway located 
south of its junction with 
Mackworth Road and 
south-west of Newton 
Primary School. 
 
 

 

Newton (Porthcawl) 
Estate Company 
Limited 
(Co. No. 00285752)  
c/o Graham Paul 
Limited 
Court House, 
Court Road,  
Bridgend 
CF31 1BE 
(Reputed Owner) 
 
 

  Reputed Owner 

Page 133



 

C:6737940v1   

 

8 39.03 square metres of 
part of the western verge 
of Sandy Lane and 
driveway fronting the 
property at 1 Sandy Lane 
located south of the 
junction between 
Mackworth Road and 
Sandy Lane and south-
west of Newton Primary 
School. 
 

Newton (Porthcawl) 
Estate Company 
Limited  
(Co. No. 00285752)  
c/o Graham Paul 
Limited 
Court House, 
Court Road,  
Bridgend 
CF31 1BE 
(Reputed Owner) 
 
Phil Herbert 
1 Sandy Lane, 
Porthcawl 
CF36 5BW 
(Reputed Owner) 
 

  Unoccupied 

9 37.72 square metres of 
part of the western verge 
of Sandy Lane and 
driveway fronting the 
property at 2 Sandy Lane 
located south of the 
junction between 
Mackworth Road and 
Sandy Lane and south-
west of Newton Primary 
School. 
 

Newton (Porthcawl) 
Estate Co. Limited 
(Co. No. 00285752)   
c/o Graham Paul 
Limited 
Court House, 
Court Road,  
Bridgend 
CF31 1BE 
(Reputed Owner) 
 
Maria Marchant 
2 Sandy Lane, 
Porthcawl 
CF36 5BW 
(Reputed Owner) 
 

  Unoccupied 

10 All interests other than 
those of Bridgend County 
Borough Council in 
129.86 square metres of 
land on the eastern side 
of Sandy Lane forming a 
car parking area used in 
connection with Newton 
Primary School located 
south-east of the junction 
between Mackworth 
Road and Sandy Lane. 
 

Newton (Porthcawl) 
Estate Co. Limited 
(Co. No. 00285752)   
c/o Graham Paul 
Limited 
Court House, 
Court Road,  
Bridgend 
CF31 1BE 
(Reputed Owner) 
 
Bridgend County 
Borough Council  
Civic Offices, 
Angel Street, 
Bridgend 
CF31 4WB 
(Reputed Owner) 
 

  Bridgend County 
Borough Council  
Civic Offices, 
Angel Street, 
Bridgend 
CF31 4WB 
   

10A All interests other than 
those of Bridgend County 
Borough Council in 23.4 
square metres of land on 
the eastern side of Sandy 
Lane forming a vehicular 
access to the rear of 
Newton Primary School 
located south-east of the 
junction between 
Mackworth Road and 
Sandy Lane. 
 

As Plot 10 
 

  As Plot 10 

Page 134



 

C:6737940v1   

 

11 3,504.37 square metres 
of Rhych Avenue road, 
verge and turning areas 
and part of the lane from 
Rhych Avenue to the 
premises known as the 
Hi Tide Inn located south 
of the property named 
Hayward House on 
Rhych Avenue and the 
rear of 216 New Road 
and west of Trecco Bay 
Holiday Park (Part of 
Freehold Title Number 
CYM374885). 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

Newton (Porthcawl) 
Estate Company 
Limited  
(Co. No. 00285752)  
c/o Graham Paul 
Limited 
Court House, 
Court Road,  
Bridgend 
CF31 1BE 
 
 

SGSS TDS 
(Nominee 1) 
Limited (Co. No. 
11438081) and 
SGSS TDS 
(Nominee 2) 
Limited (Co. No. 
11451890)  
One Bank Street,  
Canary Wharf, 
London  
E14 4SG 
(Leasehold Title 
Number 
WA937222)  
 
Premier Dawn 
Properties Limited 
(Co. No 3864163)  
2nd Floor One, 
Gosforth Park 
Way,  
Gosforth Business 
Park, Newcastle 
Upon Tyne,  
NE12 8ET 
(Leasehold Title 
Number 
CYM736749) 
 

 Premier Dawn 
Properties Limited 
(Co. No 3864163)  
2nd Floor One, 
Gosforth Park 
Way,  
Gosforth Business 
Park,  
Newcastle Upon 
Tyne  
NE12 8ET 
 

11A 61.01 square metres of 
the western footway of 
Rhych Avenue located 
south-west of its junction 
with New Road, east of 
the property at 214 New 
Road and north-west of 
Trecco Bay Holiday Park. 

Newton (Porthcawl) 
Estate Company 
Limited  
(Co. No. 00285752)  
c/o Graham Paul 
Limited 
Court House, 
Court Road,  
Bridgend 
CF31 1BE 
(Reputed Owner) 
 

  Reputed Owner             

11B 432.39 square metres of 
Rhych Avenue road and 
eastern footway located 
south of its junction with 
New Road between the 
properties at 214 and 
216 New Road and 
north-west of Trecco Bay 
Holiday Park. 
 

As Plot 11 As Plot 11  As Plot 11 

 
 

Page 135



 

C:6737940v1   

 

Table 2 

 
   

Number on 
Map 

Other qualifying persons under section 12(2A)(a) of 
the Acquisition of Land Act 1981 

Other qualifying persons under section 12(2A)(b) of the 
Acquisition of Land Act 1981 – not otherwise shown in 

Tables 1 and 2 
 

Name and address Description of interest 
to be acquired 

Name and address Description of the land 
for which this person in 
the adjoining column is 
likely to make a claim 

 

1 Unknown 
 
 
Caution 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Western Power 
Distribution (South 
Wales) Plc (Co. No. 
02366985)  
Avonbank,  
Feeder Road,  
Bristol  
BS2 0TB. 
 
Barclays Security 
Trustee Limited (Co. No. 
10825314)  
1 Churchill Place, 
London,  
E14 5HP 

 

Mines and minerals 
rights 
 
Cleda Malvisi of 
Seashore Enterprises 
(Porthcawl) Limited, 
High Tide Inn, 68 
Mackworth Road, 
Porthcawl CF36 5BT 
 
 

 
Right of way, rights to 
lay and maintain 
service media 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Registered charge 

 

Western Power Distribution 
(South Wales) plc 
Avonbank, 
Feeder Road, 
Bristol 
BS2 0TB 
 
Dwr Cymru Cyfyngedig 
Dwr Cymru Welsh Water 
Linea Fortran Road, 
St. Mellons, 
Cardiff 
CF3 0LT 
 
Wales & West Utilities 
Limited 
Wales & West House, 
Spooner Close, 
Coedkernew,  
Newport, 
South Wales 
NP10 8FZ 
 
BT Limited (Openreach) 
81 Newgate Street, 
London  
EC1A 7AJ 
 

All interests other than 
those interests (whether 
legal or equitable) of 
Funfair Sites Limited, 
Jenoat Limited and 
Barclays Security 
Trustee Limited in 
37,116.56 square metres 
of the former Coney 
Beach Amusement Park 
located east of Eastern 
Promenade and west of 
Mackworth Road (Part of 
Freehold Title Number 
WA166414).    
  
 

1A Unknown 
 
 
Caution 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Alistair John Dalton  
9 Marine Walk,  
Ogmore By Sea, 
Bridgend,  
Vale of Glamorgan  
CF32 0PQ 
and  
Simon John Dalton 
Penybryn,  
St Brides Major, 
Bridgend,  
Vale of Glamorgan  
CF32 0SB 
 
Barclays Security 
Trustee Limited (Co. No. 
10825314)  
1 Churchill Place, 
London,  
E14 5HP 

 

Mines and minerals 
rights 
 
Cleda Malvisi of 
Seashore Enterprises 
(Porthcawl) Limited, 
High Tide Inn, 68 
Mackworth Road, 
Porthcawl CF36 5BT 
 
Right to keep bathing 
tents on the land 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Registered charge 
 

Dwr Cymru Cyfyngedig 
Dwr Cymru Welsh Water 
Linea Fortran Road, 
St. Mellons, 
Cardiff 
CF3 0LT 
 

All interests other than 
those interests (whether 
legal or equitable) of 
Funfair Sites Limited, 
Jenoat Limited and 
Barclays Security 
Trustee Limited in 
2,177.74 square metres 
of part of Sandy Bay 
Beach located east of 
Eastern Promenade and 
south of the former 
Coney Beach 
Amusement Park (Part 
of Freehold Title Number 
WA166414).    
 

Page 136



 

C:6737940v1   

 

1B   Dwr Cymru Cyfyngedig 
Dwr Cymru Welsh Water 
Linea Fortran Road, 
St. Mellons, 
Cardiff 
CF3 0LT 
 

All interests other than 
those interests (whether 
legal or equitable) of 
Funfair Sites Limited and 
Jenoat Limited in 58.34 
square metres of land 
comprising a gated 
vehicular access, part of 
a wall and stepped 
revetment located 
between the southern 
end of Mackworth Road 
and the foreshore of 
Sandy Bay Beach. 
 

2   Western Power Distribution 
(South Wales) plc 
Avonbank, 
Feeder Road, 
Bristol 
BS2 0TB 
 

11.35 square metres of 
land forming the site of 
an electricity substation 
located east of Eastern 
Promenade and Griffin 
Park Tennis Courts and 
west of the former 
Coney Beach 
Amusement Park 
(Freehold Title Number 
WA414880). 
 

3   Western Power Distribution 
(South Wales) plc 
Avonbank, 
Feeder Road, 
Bristol 
BS2 0TB 
 
Dwr Cymru Cyfyngedig 
Dwr Cymru Welsh Water 
Linea Fortran Road, 
St. Mellons, 
Cardiff 
CF3 0LT 
 
Wales & West Utilities 
Limited 
Wales & West House, 
Spooner Close, 
Coedkernew,  
Newport, 
South Wales 
NP10 8FZ 
 
BT Limited (Openreach) 
81 Newgate Street, 
London  
EC1A 7AJ 
 

All interests other than 
those of Bridgend 
County Borough Council 
in 1,964.95 square 
metres of part of 
Mackworth Road road 
and footway located 
south of the property at 
48 Mackworth Road and 
north of the gated 
vehicular access from 
Mackworth Road to the 
foreshore of Sandy Bay 
Beach. 
 
 

6   As Plot 3 140.65 square metres of 
part of the western verge 
of Sandy Lane and rear 
access to the property at 
2 Mackworth Road 
located south-west of the 
junction between 
Mackworth Road and 
Sandy Lane. 
 

Page 137



 

C:6737940v1   

 

7 
 

  As Plot 3 421.33 square metres of 
part of Sandy Lane road 
and footway located 
south of its junction with 
Mackworth Road and 
south-west of Newton 
Primary School. 
 

8   As Plot 3 39.03 square metres of 
part of the western verge 
of Sandy Lane and 
driveway fronting the 
property at 1 Sandy 
Lane located south of 
the junction between 
Mackworth Road and 
Sandy Lane and south-
west of Newton Primary 
School. 
 

9   As Plot 3 37.72 square metres of 
part of the western verge 
of Sandy Lane and 
driveway fronting the 
property at 2 Sandy 
Lane located south of 
the junction between 
Mackworth Road and 
Sandy Lane and south-
west of Newton Primary 
School. 
 

10   Western Power Distribution 
(South Wales) plc 
Avonbank, 
Feeder Road, 
Bristol 
BS2 0TB 
 
Dwr Cymru Cyfyngedig 
Dwr Cymru Welsh Water 
Linea Fortran Road, 
St. Mellons, 
Cardiff 
CF3 0LT 
 

All interests other than 
those of Bridgend 
County Borough Council 
in 129.86 square metres 
of land on the eastern 
side of Sandy Lane 
forming a car parking 
area used in connection 
with Newton Primary 
School located south-
east of the junction 
between Mackworth 
Road and Sandy Lane. 

10A   As Plot 10 
 

All interests other than 
those of Bridgend 
County Borough Council 
in 23.4 square metres of 
land on the eastern side 
of Sandy Lane forming a 
vehicular access to the 
rear of Newton Primary 
School located south-
east of the junction 
between Mackworth 
Road and Sandy Lane. 
 

Page 138



 

C:6737940v1   

 

11   Western Power Distribution 
(South Wales) plc 
Avonbank, 
Feeder Road, 
Bristol 
BS2 0TB 
 
Dwr Cymru Cyfyngedig 
Dwr Cymru Welsh Water 
Linea Fortran Road, 
St. Mellons, 
Cardiff 
CF3 0LT 
 
BT Limited (Openreach) 
81 Newgate Street, 
London  
EC1A 7AJ 
 

3,504.37 square metres 
of Rhych Avenue road, 
verge and turning areas 
and part of the lane from 
Rhych Avenue to the 
premises known as the 
Hi Tide Inn located south 
of the property named 
Hayward House on 
Rhych Avenue and the 
rear of 216 New Road 
and west of Trecco Bay 
Holiday Park (Part of 
Freehold Title Number 
CYM374885). 
 
 

11A 
 

  As Plot 11 
 

61.01 square metres of 
the western footway of 
Rhych Avenue located 
south-west of its junction 
with New Road, east of 
the property at 214 New 
Road and north-west of 
Trecco Bay Holiday 
Park. 
 

11B   Western Power Distribution 
(South Wales) plc 
Avonbank, 
Feeder Road, 
Bristol 
BS2 0TB 
 
Dwr Cymru Cyfyngedig 
Dwr Cymru Welsh Water 
Linea Fortran Road, 
St. Mellons, 
Cardiff 
CF3 0LT 
 
Wales & West Utilities 
Limited 
Wales & West House, 
Spooner Close, 
Coedkernew,  
Newport, 
South Wales 
NP10 8FZ 
 

432.39 square metres of 
Rhych Avenue road and 
eastern footway located 
south of its junction with 
New Road between the 
properties at 214 and 
216 New Road and 
north-west of Trecco Bay 
Holiday Park. 
 
 

 
 

This Order includes land which may fall within a special category to which section 19 of the Acquisition of 
Land Act 1981 applies, namely: 
 
Number on Map:  Special category:  
 

1A and 4  Open space 
 
 

Page 139



 

C:6737940v1   

 

Dated the                              day of                                         2021 

 
 
 
 
The COMMON SEAL of  

BRIDGEND COUNTY  

BOROUGH COUNCIL 

was affixed hereto in the presence of: 

 

…………………………………… 
Authorised Signatory 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 140



APPENDIX 3 – DRAFT STATEMENT OF REASONS 

Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank



 

C:6738596v1   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration Area Compulsory Purchase Order 2021 

 

Statement of Reasons 

Date 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 143



 

C:6738596v1   
 

Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration Area Compulsory Purchase Order 2021 

Statement of Reasons  

 

Introduction 

1. Bridgend County Borough Council (“the Council”) has made the Porthcawl 

Regeneration Area Compulsory Purchase Order 2021 “the CPO”) on [date] to enable 

the wider Porthcawl Regeneration Area scheme (“the Scheme”)  to come forward as 

a key strategic mixed-use development.  
 

2. This statement of reasons is a non-statutory document prepared in accordance with 

paragraph 75 of Welsh Government Circular 003/2019 Compulsory purchase in 

Wales and the Crichel Down Rules (“the Circular”).  

 

3. It is intended to be sent to every person who must be served notice of the making of 

the CPO (known as “qualifying persons”). Qualifying persons include:.  

 an owner;  

 an occupier;  

 a tenant (whatever the period of the tenancy);  

 a person to whom the Council would be required to give Notice to Treat if it was 

proceeding under section 5(1) of the Compulsory Purchase Act 1965 Act (“the 

1965 Act”); 

 a person the Council thinks is likely to be entitled to make a claim for 

compensation under section 10 of the 1965 Act (compensation for injurious 

affection), for example someone with rights over land, if the CPO is confirmed 

and the compulsory purchase takes place, so far as they are known to the 

Council after making diligent inquiry. This relates mainly, but not exclusively, to 

easements and restrictive covenants. 

 

4. The general public has also been notified of the making of the CPO though 

newspaper notices and site notices 

 

5. The statement of reasons is intended to be as comprehensive as possible to allow 

the  Council to use it as the basis of its statement of case which is required to be 

served under Rules 8 and 9 of the Compulsory Purchase (Inquiries 

Procedure)(Wales) Rules 2010 where a public inquiry is to be held. 

The land to be acquired  

6. The site is located within the coastal town of Porthcawl, a prime location for tourist 

activity on the South Wales Coast, overlooking the Bristol Channel. 

 

7. Porthcawl covers an area of 177 square hectares and has 3388 inhabitants (2001 

Census). It lies approximately halfway between Wale’s two largest cities, Cardiff and 

Swansea, around 25 miles from both. Situated at the main entrance to Porthcawl, the 

site is located within 5 miles of junction 37 of the M4 and is connected to it by the 

A4229 and the A4106. 

 

8. Porthcawl like many UK resorts has suffered a decline in its holiday trade over the 
years, especially since most of the South Wales coal pits have closed. A major 

Page 144



 

C:6738596v1   
 

feature of the summer used to be the miners fortnight when the miners would take 
their annual break in large numbers. 
 

9. Key historical events of the area that is proposed to be developed, redeveloped or 
improved  that  help to understand the context of the Council’s proposals are as follows: 

 

1866 Porthcawl harbour was extended. 
 

1884 Railway infrastructure serving the harbour is present. A ship builders 
yard, sawmill, smithy, gasworks and gasometer surround the harbour. 
 

1906 The inner basin of the harbour is closed 
 

1918 Original Coney Beach Amusement Park built on a beachfront area 
where the ballast from incoming ships to Porthcawl had been 
deposited over many years. 
 

1919 The lock gates are removed and the harbour is used for breaking up 
ships. 
 

1926 The inner lock is bricked up creating a lagoon used for swimming and 
boating 
 

1946 Coney Beach Amusement Park rebuilt after site had been used for 
the war effort. The gasworks and gasometer are removed, the 
industrial buildings remain and residential development in the area 
has occurred. 
 

1940’s Trecco Bay caravan park opened. 
 

1950 Sandy Bay caravan park opened. 
 

1969 The infilled dock is used as a car park. 
 

1970s Model Village leisure park opened as part of Coney Beach 
Amusement park. 
 

1990’s Model Village leisure park closed. 
 

2000 Sandy Bay caravan park closed. 
 

 

10. Porthcawl is home to one of the largest caravan and camping parks in Europe, 

Trecco Bay. It has an extensive promenade, a small harbour and several beaches, 

two of which are Blue Flag beaches: a tourist-oriented beach at Trecco Bay, at the 

east end of the town; a sandy beach at Rest Bay, which lies to the northwest of the 

town; and the popular Sandy Bay leading out towards Rhych Point. There are a 

range of leisure activities fronting onto the towns Western and Eastern Promenades 

and Sandy Bay. 

 

Page 145

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Promenade
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Blue_Flag_beach
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Beach


 

C:6738596v1   
 

11. The land to be acquired forms a small part of a larger site to be developed, 

redeveloped or improved. The site boundary for the larger regeneration area extends 

from the town centre (west) towards Trecco Bay (east).  

 

12. The land to be acquired under the CPO comprises an area of  5.6846 hectares or 

thereabouts in the vicinity of the waterfront at the eastern end of Porthcawl, 

extending from Trecco Bay in the east to Salt lake carpark in the west including a 

part of the frontage along Sandy Bay beach, between the Harbour and Rhych Point.  

 

13. The land to be acquired includes: 

 

 the freehold in the subsoil of land forming a part of Mackworth Road (Plot 3), 

which begins at No. 48 Mackworth Road and ends at the gated vehicular access 

from Mackworth Road to Sandy Bay Beach to the south,  

 the leasehold interest (but not the freehold interest) in a plot of land forming the 

gated vehicular access from Mackworth Road to Sandy Bay Beach, part of a wall 

and stepped revetment onto Sandy Bay Beach from Mackworth Road (Plot 1B), 

 the freehold interest (but not the leasehold interest) in a parcel of land adjoining 

Mackworth Road, to the east of it, and to the west of Sandy Lane known as the 

Model Village Leisure Park (Plot 5)  

 the freehold interest in the road and footway of Sandy Lane, off Mackworth Road 

and south-west of Newton Primary School (Plot 7). 

 the freehold interest in part of the western verge of Sandy Lane and the rear 

access to the residential property at 2 Mackworth Road (Plot 6), driveway fronting 

the residential property at 1 Sandy Lane (Plot 8) and driveway fronting the 

residential property at 2 Sandy Lane (Plot 9).  

 the freehold interest in land on the eastern side of Sandy Lane forming a car 

parking area used in connection with Newton Primary School (Plot 10) and a 

vehicular access to the car park at Newton Primary School (Plot 10A). 

 the freehold interest in [the subsoil of land at] Rhych Avenue off New Road and 

part of the unadopted lane from Rhych Avenue to the premises known as the Hi 

Tide Inn (Plot 11), together with part of the road and eastern footway (Plot 11B) 

and western footway (Plot 11A) of Rhych Avenue located south of its junction 

with New Road.  

 The freehold in the Coney Beach WPD substation located east of Eastern 

Promenade and Griffin Park Tennis Courts (Plot 2). 

 All interests other than the freehold in land forming the former Coney Beach 

Amusement Park(Plot 1). 

 All interests other than the freehold and registered charge in part of Sandy Bay 

Beach located east of Eastern Promenade and south-west of Mackworth Road 

(Plot 1A), together with part of Sandy Bay Beach comprising unregistered land 

(Plot 4). 

 

14. The present built development on the land to be acquired is varied. Plot 3 consists in 

the main of the end of Mackworth Road which is adopted highway maintainable at 

public expense. Plot 1B consists of the gated vehicular access, wall and stepped 

revetment from the southern end of Mackworth Road to Sandy Bay Beach. Plot 5 is 

known as “the Model Village Leisure Park”. This used to form a part of the Coney 

Beach Amusement Park and is currently unoccupied. Plots , 6, 7, 8 and 9 consist of 

Sandy Lane which runs off Mackworth Road together with the western verge and 

driveways to the properties at 2 Mackworth Road, 1 Sandy Lane and 2 Sandy Lane. 

Page 146



 

C:6738596v1   
 

Plots 10 and 10A consist of land on the eastern side of Sandy Lane which form a car 

park used in connection with, and a vehicular access leading to, Newton Primary 

School . Plots 11, 11A and 11B consist of part of Rhych Avenue off New Road, which 

is highway but not adopted as maintainable at public expense, along with footway, 

verge and turning areas, together with part of the unadopted lane from Rhych 

Avenue to the premises known as the Hi Tide Inn. Plot 2 is the site of an electricity 

substation at the former Coney Beach Amusement Park. Plot 1 is the former Coney 

Beach Amusement Park, where all interests other than those of the freeholder are to 

be acquired to cleanse the title. Plot 1A consists of part of Sandy Bay Beach located 

east of Eastern Promenade and south-west of Mackworth Road, where all interests 

other than those of the freeholder are to be acquired to cleanse the title. Plot 4 

comprises an area of Sandy Bay Beach which comprises unregistered land in 

unknown ownership 

The Council’s purpose  

15. The Council has made the CPO to facilitate the delivery of the scheme which is 

unlikely to come forward absent the CPO.  

 

16. The Council aims to create a premier seaside resort of regional significance through 

the comprehensive regeneration of the land to be acquired and adjacent land which 

form a key waterfront site. 

 

17.  It proposes a sustainable distribution and variety of complementary land uses across 

the area, including residential, leisure, retail and education. It also proposes to retain 

and improve upon areas of attractive open space within Griffin Park, whilst creating 

significant new areas of open space along the seafront, supplemented with high 

quality active travel routes that traverse the entire site between the harbour and 

Trecco Bay.  

 

18. It is proposed to provide a mixed-use development consisting of the following 

components in accordance with the acquiring authorities’ strategic plans and policies: 

 a primary east west vehicular link; 

 a new large open “Griffin Park” 

 approximately 912 dwellings on the Sandy Bay/Coney  Beach Amusement Park 

sites and in excess of 328 dwellings on the Salt Lake site; 

 recreational and leisure opportunities; 

 retail and commercial development 

 new and improved parks and open spaces 

a new school or expansion of existing educational facilities 

 

19. The scope and detail of these general components will be refined in the development 

and planning process.  

 

20. This will build upon the successful revitalisation of the harbour area, the conversion 

of the Jennings Building into residential and commercial units, the coastal flood 

defence works to Eastern Promenade, Western Breakwater, Sandy Bay and Rhych 

Point and the disposal of a part of the north western portion of Salt Lake Carpark  for 

development as a food retail site. The scheme will seek to build upon this earlier 

development by creating development that is both complementary and well 

integrated, within a prestigious and vibrant waterfront. 

Page 147



 

C:6738596v1   
 

 

21. Physical development of the waterfront in this manner will improve the attractiveness 

of the town as a place to live and work, enhance the vibrancy of the Town Centre and 

deliver wider socio-economic benefits that allow the broader settlement of Porthcawl 

to thrive and prosper.  

 

22. The Council is the freehold owner of most of the land to be used in the development. 

Much of the land is un-occupied and derelict. The local authority has entered into an 

Agreement with the owner of another substantial area of land to be used in the 

development. This land forms the main part of the Coney Beach Amusement Park, 

which is still operational. Reinvestment in buildings at the park has been held back in 

recent years because of the long term Agreement to release the land as part of the 

comprehensive redevelopment of the area. This owner also holds a long leasehold 

interest in the Model Village Leisure Park but it is necessary to acquire the freehold 

for comprehensive development to be carried out.  

 

23. The Agreement requires the joint marketing and disposal of all of the larger area of 

land to be used for the development to either a single or to multiple developers.  The 

Council therefore aims to work jointly with those developers to improve the quality of 

life of those living, working or otherwise involved in the community life of their area.  

 

24. The CPO relates to land assembly to deliver the Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration 

Scheme as identified within the recent Candidate Site submission for the 

Replacement Local Development Plan, which is a lesser area than previous 

proposals for the Seven Bays Regeneration Scheme. 

 

25. The Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration Scheme includes development on the Salt 

Lake Carpark and Hillsborough Place car parks. However that area is now a 

standalone scheme, as the Council acquired the long leasehold interest of the Salt 

Lake Carpark in 2018 and varied its Agreement with the owners of the other 

substantial parcel of land within the Scheme accordingly. The CPO is required to 

enable the development, redevelopment or improvement of that land within the 

balance of the Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration Scheme which remains within the 

Council’s Agreement with the other substantial owner and is located within the Sandy 

Bay and Coney Beach areas. These again are standalone developments. 

 

26. However, the two schemes combined will provide comprehensive redevelopment 

along the Porthcawl Waterfront and are able to run concurrently rather than as land 

at Salt Lake as phase 1 development and land at Sandy Bay / Coney Beach as 

phase 2 development, as previously envisaged 

 

27. Full topographical surveys have been completed for the regeneration area which 

provide a robust basis for understanding the key physical characteristics, constraints 

and opportunities of the site. The acquiring authority’s engineers have confirmed that 

there are no significant constraints present on the site preventing development from 

coming forward. 

 

28. The wider regeneration area has been subject to a significant amount of previous site 

investigation work that has informed previous decision making, in addition to the 

current proposals to acquire the land. This previous work includes, but is not limited 

to, the following:  

Page 148



 

C:6738596v1   
 

 

 Phase 1 Environmental Assessment prepared by Jubb in 2007; and  

 Geo Environmental & Geotechnical Assessment prepared by Earth Science 

Partnership in 2019  

  Quantum were commissioned in 2020 to undertake further site investigation 

work with a particular focus on investigating the ground conditions within Sandy 

Bay and their suitability for an infiltration based drainage solution. 

 

29. The site is not subject to any known contamination that would represent a barrier to 

the site coming forward for the intended use. 

 

30. The current target for the completion of the scheme is the late 2020’s, with the 

Council seeking to achieve acquisition of the land to be acquired by early 2023 at 

latest. It is planned to identify the preferred developer or developers, depending upon 

whether a single or multiple developers are chosen via open marketing of the first 

phase of the site in early - mid 2022.  The aim is to secure the requisite planning 

consents for the first phase by late 2023 

 

31. Once acquisition is complete it is intended to dispose of the land by way of tender. 
This  is considered to be the most advantageous way to achieve a disposal of the 
site to developers  as this will allow for receipts to be maximised whilst also enabling 
the Council to control the nature, scale and quality of proposals put forward by 
bidders. This control will be secured through the use of a gateway test requiring bids 
to demonstrate deliverability, which includes the scheme being capable of achieving 
planning consent.  

 
32. In order to guide the nature, scale and quality of proposals, and provide a framework 

to assess a bids ability to secure planning consent, a development brief will be 
prepared in advance of any marketing of the site.  It is envisaged that this 
development brief  will set out a series of key development and infrastructure 
parameters and design guidance that reflect the requirements of the Council whilst 
also aligning with the requirements of the landowners in terms of infrastructure and 
phasing.   
 

33. The CPO is therefore being progressed prior to a grant of planning permission 

recognising that in this instance it is not feasible or sensible to wait until the full 

details of the development proposal have been worked up, and planning permission 

obtained. Here, the proposed acquisitions form part of a longer term strategy which 

needs to adapt to changing circumstances. It is therefore not possible to demonstrate 

with absolute clarity or certainty the precise nature of the end-use proposed.  

 

34. However, the Council believes that there is a compelling case for compulsory 

acquisition to secure these remaining small areas of land required to deliver 

comprehensive development, in advance of resolving all the uncertainties; and there 

are realistic prospects of the preferred developer  subsequently securing the 

necessary planning permission for the Scheme.  

 

35. To achieve the Scheme it is necessary for the Council to unify all the interests in the 

land to be acquired. The achievement of this will enable the Council to fulfil the terms 

of the Agreement with the other owner of land to be used in the Scheme and will 

allow the joint marketing of the entire area required for the Scheme to take place. 

 

Page 149



 

C:6738596v1   
 

36. To secure the ownership of the land to be acquired for its development, within a 

reasonable period of time, at a fair and reasonable price and to assure potential 

purchasers that the development is viable, it is considered that there is a compelling 

case in the public interest for the making and confirmation of the CPO in view of the 

significant public benefits that will result from the comprehensive development, 

redevelopment or improvement. 

 

37. In deciding to proceed with the making of the CPO the Council has taken into 

account the statutory requirements in section 226(1)(a) of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 (“the 1990 Act”)  which requires the Council to confirm that it 

concludes that the acquisition of the land to be acquired is likely to promote or 

improve the economic, social and environmental well-being of the Council’s area.  

 

38. The Council considers that the Scheme will promote or improve the economic and 

social well-being of the area through the regeneration of a derelict and rundown 

waterfront area for mixed uses including new leisure and recreation facilities, retail 

and commercial uses and residential development.  The geographical location of the 

area to be developed is most conducive to a vibrant tourist resort that includes this 

mix of development.  

 

39. Through its content, quality and size the development will be a flagship for Porthcawl 

that will give substantial aid to the implementation of the Council’s strategic policies.  

 

40. The development, redevelopment and improvement is supported by the statutory 

development plan process as necessary for the vitality and viability of Porthcawl and 

for its contribution to the achievement of the Council’s wider regeneration priorities. 

 

41. The scheme will facilitate the environmental well-being of the area through the 

redevelopment of an area within Porthcawl a large part of which has long been 

identified as being unoccupied, derelict, run down and in an unattractive state 

generally. The Scheme will have a positive impact on a substantial section of the 

waterfront. On the operational areas it will involve redevelopment and the demolition 

and clearance of a number of structures built in the 1960's and 1970's which are now 

effectively at the end of their useful life. Overall this will result in a substantial 

improvement in the environment in the immediate area of the scheme.  

 

42. The re-creation of sustainable communities through better balanced housing markets 

is one regeneration objective of the Council. A greater diversity of housing provision 

is needed to ensure that neighbourhoods are sustainable in the long term, and 

improved housing quality and choice is necessary to meet demand. 

 

 

43. The land to be acquired is considered to be the minimum essential to the successful 

implementation of the scheme and is the minimum required for the scheme to be 

able to proceed in a comprehensive way.  

 

44. The benefit to be derived from making the CPO is not restricted to the area subject to 

the CPO, as the concept is applied to the wellbeing of the whole (or any part) of the 

Council’s area.  Accordingly the Council has taken into account all the benefits and 

consequences that are likely to flow from the development, redevelopment or 

improvement of land within the Scheme in deciding to make the CPO.  

Page 150



 

C:6738596v1   
 

 

45. Here, the site has been allocated in the LDP for many years but the Scheme has not 

come forward on its own. The Council therefore see the Scheme as not being 

capable of being delivered solely or mainly through the granting or refusal of planning 

permission. The scheme requires a more proactive approach with the Council 

facilitating the assembly of land.   

 

46. The Scheme assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 

objectives under the  Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-   

 

 Supporting a successful sustainable economy –. taking steps to make the 

county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study and 

visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, qualifications 

and ambitions for all people in the county borough.  

 

 Smarter use of resources – ensure that all  resources (financial, physical, 

ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 

possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that can 

help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives. 

 

In addition to the aforementioned corporate well-being objectives under the Well-

being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, the Council is cognisant of the seven 

well-being goals contained within the Act and has paid due regard to the 

achievement of these when formulating the Scheme.  

 

47. The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 assessment based on the 5 

ways of working has been considered and there are no significant or unacceptable 

impacts upon the achievement of wellbeing goals/objectives.  

 

 Long term - The Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration is a strategic development 

scheme which has the potential to add vibrancy to the locality through the provision 

of new housing, leisure and tourism opportunities, as well as retail and commercial 

developments; set within appropriate open space, parking and public realm. 

 Prevention – the current Waterfront sites are largely unoccupied and under-utilised 

and detract from the attractiveness of the area. 

 Integration – the Waterfront development will integrate with and access to the 

existing town centre, sea front and leisure developments.  

 Collaboration – the Council will collaborate with residents, visitors and end users 

of this project to ensure successful and sustainable development and outcomes. 

 Involvement – ongoing engagement with the community will be an important facet 

of this project. 

Special categories of land 

 

48. The part of Sandy Bay Beach to be acquired is open space, which is a special 

category of land within section 19 of the Acquisition of Land Act 1981. This area is 

proposed to be acquired so that flood defences can be incorporated into the 

Page 151



 

C:6738596v1   
 

development and it is being acquired to secure its preservation and improve its 

management. A certificate to that effect is being sought from the Welsh Ministers.  

 

49. The Coney Beach substation is also being acquired from Western Power Distribution, 

who are a statutory undertaker pursuant to the Electricity Act 1989. The Council and 

its preferred developers will work with the statutory undertaker to ensure that it can 

be purchased and not replaced without serious detriment to the carrying on of the 

undertaking, or that if purchased it can be replaced by other land belonging to, or 

available for acquisition by, the undertakers without serious detriment to the carrying 

on thereof, 

 

50. The site is within the setting but not the curtilage of Newton Primary School which is 

a grade II listed building.   

 

51. There are no scheduled ancient monuments within the Land to be Acquired.  

 

52. None of the Land to be Acquired is within a conservation area. 

 

53. Equipment and structures of statutory undertakers and telecommunications operators 

will be protected, replaced, diverted, extended or improved as necessary. The 

Council is actively working with statutory undertakers to achieve this by agreement.  

 

54. There are no interests within the Land to be Acquired held by the Crown. 

 

55. Included within the Land to be Acquired is a length of adopted public highway at 

Mackworth Road to enable the Council to improve the highway. A part of Rhych 

Avenue and Sandy Lane are also to be acquired. These lengths of public highway 

are not adopted as highway maintainable at public expense and are to be acquired 

so as to facilitate an improved and enhanced adopted access to the Scheme and the 

surrounding locality. 

 

56. There are no Tree Preservation Orders on the land to be acquired, although it is 

likely that some trees will need to be removed to enable the development to proceed. 

The impact on trees will be fully considered during the planning process.  

 

Engagement with affected parties  

 

57. Some of the land that the Council requires for the Scheme is in unknown ownership, 

despite diligent attempts to identify the owners. The Council has not been able to 

negotiate with anyone in respect of voluntary acquisition of those plots as a result. 

The Council has carried out title searches to all of the land within the scheme and 

has placed site notices on site in an attempt to identify unknown owners where land 

is unregistered. The Council has also made contact with larger land owners in the 

locality to check if they claim ownership.  

 

58. Other parts of the land are in known ownership. The Council has entered into a 

collaboration Agreement with one of the known owners of land within the scheme so 

as to ensure delivery of the Scheme.  

 

Page 152



 

C:6738596v1   
 

59. The Council has also sought to negotiate with the known owner of other freehold land 

known as the Model Village Leisure Park within the Scheme, in order to deliver the 

Scheme without recourse to CPO powers. Notwithstanding provisional agreement 

between professional advisors on the value of the land to be acquired in this 

instance, the Council has been unable to agree a voluntary acquisition.    

 

60. The regeneration area has been earmarked for mixed use development for a 

considerable period of time dating back to the 2004 Porthcawl Development 

Framework SPG and its allocation in the now superseded UDP that was previously 

adopted in 2005. Subsequent to the 2004 SPG the Seven Bays Project SPG was 

adopted in 2007 with this providing further detailed planning guidance that aligns with 

the sites mixed use regeneration allocation within the current adopted LDP.  In 

formulating and adopting these SPG documents and confirming the associated 

allocations the Council has engaged with the public in connection with the proposed 

regeneration plans for Porthcawl over a number of years. This engagement has 

continued through the consultation on the Replacement LDP preferred strategy in 

2019 and will be further continued through the planned consultation on the Porthcawl 

Placemaking strategy which is expected to take place during the summer of 2021.  

 

61. The scheme has evolved considerably since it was first proposed in 2004, with a 

series of changes to the proposals brought about in response to a range of factors 

including public consultation responses, commercial factors, planning policy and 

technical evidence. Examples of such changes include  

 

 the retention of The Portway compared to previous proposals that stopped 

this up,  

 the reduction in car parking and out of town centre retail provision,  

 the shift away from an engineered promenade along all of the Sandy Bay 

frontage in favour of a recreational route and a more sympathetic retention of 

some naturalised relic dunes along the eastern extent of the frontage, whilst 

retaining a more engineered solution provided by the scheme on the western 

development frontage.  This came about as a part of the design of the flood 

protection works and took into account expert advice provided by Arup. The 

retention and restoration of the relic dunes was considered to represent the 

most appropriate and sensitive response for this area in accord with Natural 

Resource Wales  (NRW) Advice on Options for Sand Dune Management for 

Flood and Coastal Defence (Volume 1) 2017.  

Justification  

 

62. The proposed scheme represents a regionally significant regeneration opportunity 

that would give rise to a range of public benefits in relation to housing provision and 

employment opportunities associated with both the construction and operational 

phases of development. Additionally, the regeneration of a brownfield site is 

considered to offer substantial benefits from both a sustainability and environmental 

perspective including, but not limited to, the following: 

 

 Creation of additional housing to meet an identified need within the existing 

boundaries of Porthcawl and adjacent to established infrastructure; 

 Creation of new and enhanced open space for current and future residents; 

Page 153



 

C:6738596v1   
 

 Provision of improved connectivity across the site and to adjoining areas; 

 Additional job opportunities arising from both the construction and operational 

phases of the development;  

 The development of this brownfield site protects against the unnecessary loss 

of countryside and the associated environmental impacts;  and  

 Having a positive impact on the perception and function of the area, 

benefiting existing residents and businesses.  

 

63. These public benefits have been weighed against any impacts that may arise in 

connection with any people affected by the proposed CPO. In this instance the 

potential for and likely scope of such impacts are considered to be limited, given the 

land to be acquired is not occupied by any homes or businesses. It is also pertinent 

to note that the Council’s partner landowner already owns an unexpired term of 29 

years of a 99year lease of the former Model Village Leisure Park which reduces the 

nature and scale of any potential impacts on the freeholder owner of this vacant 

parcel of land. Given the significant range and scale of public benefits that would 

arise from the proposal it is considered that these would far outweigh any impact on 

any affected persons.  

 

64. The Council has given consideration to the Human Rights Act 1998 and Article 1 of 

the First Protocol to the European Convention on Human Rights must be given prior 

to the making of a CPO. Although there are no domestic dwellings within the Order 

Land, Article 8 (as detailed below) has also been considered. 

 

65. Article 1 protects the rights of everyone to the peaceful enjoyment of their 

possessions. No person can be deprived of their possessions except in the public 

interest and subject to the relevant national and international law. 

 

66. Article 8 protects private and family life, the home and correspondence. This is a 

qualified right; no public authority can interfere with the interest except if it is in 

accordance with the law and is necessary and proportionate in the interests of 

national security, public safety or the economic wellbeing of the county. 

 

67. The Council has balanced the above individual rights against the contribution of the 

Scheme to achieving the promotion or improvement of the economic, social or 

environmental well-being of the area in concluding that there is a compelling case in 

the public interest for the CPO. The view of the Council is that the balance is in 

favour of the CPO being made given that the interference with individual rights is 

both necessary and proportionate in order to deliver the public benefits deriving from 

the Scheme. 

 

68. It is relevant that qualifying persons have the right to object to the making of a CPO 

and to representation at any local public inquiry scheduled by the Welsh Ministers to 

consider objections before the CPO is confirmed. 

 

69. It is also relevant that those whose land is acquired will receive market value 

compensation and disturbance allowance based on the CPO compensation code 

principles. Consideration of the level of appropriate compensation is not a valid 

objection to the CPO and should this be in dispute will be a matter for the Upper 

Tribunal (Lands Chamber) to considered separately. 

Page 154



 

C:6738596v1   
 

 

Planning Position 

 

70. Parts 2 and 3 of Schedule 2 to the Acquisition of Land Act 1981 are not incorporated 

into the CPO. The Council will deal with any mining interests by way of indemnity 

insurance when it seeks to dispose of the land.  

 

71. The site is currently allocated for mixed development within the existing Local 

Development Plan. Policy PLA3 of the Adopted Local Plan sets out the Councils 

objectives for mixed use regeneration of brownfield underutilised sites and identified 

the Porthcawl Regeneration Area as being a significant part of this strategy through 

its allocation as site PLA3(8).    This allocation is supported by adopted 

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG), often referred to as the “Seven Bays 

Project – Porthcawl Waterfront SPG”.  

 

72. In addition to the allocation in the Adopted Local Plan the site has been put forward a 

as a candidate site for consideration as part of the replacement Local Development 

Plan 2018-2033 (LDP). 

 

73. The Bridgend County Borough Local Development Plan 2018-2033 Preferred 

Strategy Consultation Document identifies the Porthcawl Regeneration scheme as a 

strategically important site. Specifically the preferred strategy recognises that the 

Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration Area will provide the strategic focus of 

residential-led growth and opportunity for Porthcawl by maximising the benefits of the 

unique location that incorporates views across Sandy Bay. The provision of new 

residential units, including affordable dwellings, will enable the delivery of other vital 

regeneration requirements comprising flood defences, enhanced active travel links 

plus education, retail and community facility provision.  

 

74. Subsequent to the site being identified in the County Borough Local Development 

Plan 2018-2033 Preferred Strategy Consultation Document the site has since been 

identified as a Mixed-Use Strategic Development Site within the Replacement Local 

Development Plan Deposit Plan Public Consultation Document.  

 

75. Specifically, Policy PLA1 of the  Replacement Local Development Plan Deposit Plan 

Public Consultation Document sets out that the Land at Porthcawl Waterfront, , is 

allocated for a comprehensive, regeneration-led, mixed-use development that will 

deliver circa 1,115 homes (including 30% / 335 units of affordable housing), 

incorporating a new one form entry Welsh medium primary school, a four classroom 

block extension at the existing English medium primary school, a new food store, 

leisure facilities, a bus terminus, recreation facilities, public open space, plus 

appropriate community facilities and commercial uses. Policy PLA1 goes on to set 

out a series of placemaking and master planning principles that apply to the site.  

 

76. To evidence the deliverability and viability of the site the major landowners have 

contributed to a draft land use framework and masterplan for consideration as part of 

the LDP process. This work is supported and informed by a suite of technical 

evidence that has been commissioned by the landowners. The proposed mix of land 

uses and quantum of development are similar to those within the existing SPG and 

include mixed use of residential, leisure, retail, commercial, open space, car parking 

Page 155



 

C:6738596v1   
 

and active travel routes.  In addition to the master planning completed to date the 

Council is actively progressing with further detailed placemaking work that builds 

upon the principles of the draft land use framework. This work will culminate in a 

comprehensive placemaking strategy for the wider Porthcawl Waterfront 

Regeneration Area and will be used to inform any future development brief that is 

adopted for the site prior to disposal.  

 

77. In addition to the planning status of the site at a local level there is significant support 

for the proposed regeneration at a national policy level., Planning Policy Wales 

(PPW) is unequivocal in terms of its support and indeed directive towards prioritising 

the redevelopment of suitably located brown field sites such as this. Of particular 

relevance is section 3.51 which states as follows:  

 

“3.51 Previously developed (also referred to as brownfield) land (see definition 

overleaf) should, wherever possible, be used in preference to greenfield sites where 

it is suitable for development. In settlements, such land should generally be 

considered suitable for appropriate development where its re‑use will promote 

sustainability principles and any constraints can be overcome.” 

 

78. In parallel to the importance placed on supporting brownfield regeneration 

opportunities such as the proposal, section 3.57 of PPW encourages appropriate 

steps to be taken to unlock sites with this including exercising compulsory purchase 

powers where voluntary acquisition is unsuccessful.  Considerable effort has been 

made to voluntarily acquire the freehold interest in the former Model Village Leisure 

Park, although at this time these attempts remain unsuccessful. Steps are being 

taken to progress with a compulsory purchase as this will unlock the site so it can 

meet development needs in the local area and secure better development outcomes. 

As detailed within the preceding sections of this statement the Council is satisfied 

that the benefits in relation to the public interest can be will outweigh the loss of 

private interests. 

 
79. In May 2007 the Council’s Cabinet resolved to make a CPO to acquire land for what 

was then known as the Seven Bays Project. A draft CPO was progressed but never 

published due to the recession following the financial crisis in 2008. The key 

difference in the current CPO is that the previously proposed acquisition of land to 

undertake coastal protection works along the frontage of the Hi-Tide Inn has been 

removed. These works are no longer required, as the coastal flood protection works 

the Council are carrying out at Eastern Prom, the Western Breakwater and Rhych 

Point, and the works that the Council’s development partners are carrying out in front 

of the Coney beach Amusement Park will provide sufficient coastal flood protection to 

enable the proposed development, redevelopment or improvement to proceed. In 

addition the Council has secured freehold title to some of the land that was required 

and this is therefore not included in the current CPO.  

 

80. A resolution of the Council’s Cabinet was made on 15 September 2020 in order to 

authorise officers to commence work on all steps which may lead to the making of a 

Compulsory Purchase Order to acquire the land required and on 20 July  2021 in 

order to authorise officers to make the current CPO and carry out all other ancillary 

steps, . The purchase of this land is required in order to enable comprehensive and 

strategic regeneration of the area, as opposed to piecemeal development. 

 

Page 156



 

C:6738596v1   
 

81. In addition, the Council and the owners of the Coney Beach Amusement Park 

entered into a 20 year Owners Agreement in 2011 the terms of which were approved 

by the Council’s Cabinet on 8 February 2011. This Agreement was varied in 2018 to 

exclude the Salt Lake car park land, when the Council acquired the Evans’ long 

leasehold interest in this site and the variation was approved by Cabinet on 19 

December 2017.  

 

Funding  

 

82. The extent of the Scheme to be disregarded for the purposes of assessing 

compensation in the ‘no-scheme world’ includes Phase 1 consisting of the 

redevelopment of the harbour, the Jennings Building and the food retail store on part 

of Salt Lake Carpark. The justification for this is that these developments form a part 

of wider comprehensive development, redevelopment and improvement which would 

not come forward without public funding and support.  

 

83. The acquisition costs will be funded by the Council and an earmarked reserve is 

available to enable the payment of compensation as land is acquired. The scheme 

delivery costs will be borne by the Council’s preferred developer.  

List of Documents 

84. Should it be necessary to hold a public inquiry into the CPO, the Council may refer to 

or put in evidence the following documents (not exclusive), in addition to the CPO 

and the CPO Maps.  

 

Planning Policy Documents  

 The Wales Spatial Plan – People, Places, Futures (November 2004) 

 Planning Policy Wales (2021)  

 TAN 2 – Planning and Affordable Housing 

 TAN 4 – Retailing 

 TAN 5 - Nature Conservation & Planning 

 TAN 8 – Planning for Renewable Energy 

 TAN11 – Noise 

 TAN12 – Design 

 TAN14 – Coastal Planning 

 The Bridgend Local Development Plan 2006 -2021 (adopted September 2013) 

 Supplementary Planning Guidance “Seven Bays Project – Porthcawl Waterfront” 

(adopted 2007) 

 Supplementary Planning Guidance “Porthcawl Development Framework” 

(adopted 2 December 2004) 

  The National Strategy for Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management in Wales 

(October 2020)  

 

Technical Reports  

 Coney Beach Coastal Defence Feasibility Study Report prepared by Arup  (dated 

August 2020) 

Page 157



 

C:6738596v1   
 

 Transport Assessment prepared by Jacobs (dated August 2020) 

 Landscape / Seascape and Visual Impact Assessment prepared Soltys Brewster 

Consulting (dated March 2021) 

 Topographical Survey Plan prepared by Landmark (dated September 2020) 

 Ground Investigation Report prepared by Quantum  (dated July 2020) 

 Phase 1 Environmental Assessment prepared by Jubb (dated 2007) 

 Geo Environmental & Geotechnical Assessment prepared by Earth Science 

Partnership (dated September 2020) 

 Ecology Survey prepared by David Clements Ecology (dated October 2020) 

 Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration Area LDP Drainage Strategy Report 

prepared by Capita Redstart  (dated November 2020) 

 Utilities Report prepared by SMS(dated November 2020) 

 

Page 158



APPENDIX 4 – LAND USE PLAN 

Page 159



This page is intentionally left blank



Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration

Bus Terminus Car Park EducationLeisure Commercial
MarinaMaritime CentreJennings Building

Mixed Use FrontageWales Coast PathKey VistaEastern PromenadePrimary Active Travel RoutePrimary RouteResidential
Portway Boulevard

Harbour ViewPotential Recreational Route
Emergency AccessLocal AccessOpen SpaceRelic Dunes / Foreshore Park 
Private Ownership

Key:

P
age 161



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 5 – LAND OWNED BY THE COUNCIL TO BE APPROPRIATED 

Page 163



This page is intentionally left blank



Emergency Assistance

Point

Emergency

Maxeyville

W
o
o
d
cliffe

Telephone

S
w

n
-y

-D
o

n

5
0

4
8

4
0

6
8

Tennis Courts

TCB

Car Park

PH

7
6

Pavilio
n

Bowling Green

Shelter

Griffin Park

PCs

Griffin

Park

TCB

PH

2

Amb Sta

8

4

1

1
5

White

Cottage
Rose

234

2
2

2

204a

204

Hayward

House

2
0

0

2
1

4

216

1
8

4

1
8

6
a

1
8

6

146
160

2
0

3

172

2
1

Shelter

1
8

9 Presby
171

132

1
2

6

TCB

1
5

7

School

Primary

Newton

1
6

9

169a

Childrens Nursery

1

2

1
2

2

PW

3
4

35

2
2

1

5

3
6

4
9

145

PH

1141
3

1

1

129

74

LB

11
5

13

86

12

1
0

0

231

Wick

1
2

8

Vintin
Terrace

Cottages

4

Court

H
a
ll

Depots

1 to
6

11 to
16

Griffin Park

8
5

a

85

Shelter

56

87

60

58

75

77

8 Clifto
n

House

72

10
1

31

1

T
h

e

G
le

n

16

Palmyra

TCB

2

2

15

Jaqueline Anne House

47

55

P
H

57

LB

Poplar Mews

1

1

4

1
5

1

45

48

44
46

52

PH

43

1

1
8

2

Elms
The

Elms
Cottage

M
A

C
K

W
O

R
T

H

BUNGALOW AVENUE

S
A

N
D

Y
L
A

N
E

NEW ROAD

G
LA

N
R

O
A

D

R
O

A
D

Posts

Ps

R
H

Y
C

H
A

V
E

N
U

E

R
H

Y
C

H
A

V
E

N
U

E

V
IN

T
IN

LA
N

E

POPLAR ROAD

NICHOLLS AVENU

MAESTEG TERRACE

E
A

S
T

E
R

N
P

R
O

M
E

N
A

D
E

Porthcawl Waterfront 
Regeneration Land Appropriation

Plot generated by :WTP
Reference : PC1 -AP_070121

Scale: 1: 2500 @ A3 

Date: 01/07/2021    

Corporate Director - Communities 
Directorate - Communities

Bridgend County Borough Council, 
Civic Offices, 
Angel Street, 
Bridgend, 
CF31 4WB 

©Crown Copyright and database right 2021. Ordnance Survey 100023405. Use of this data is subject to 
terms and conditions.
©Hawlfraint a hawliau cronfa ddata'r Goron 2021 Rhif Trwydded yr Arolwg Ordnans 100023405. Mae 
defnydd o’r data hwn yn ddarostyngedig i delerau ac amodau.

Aerial Imagery: Cities Revealed aerial photography copyright The GeoInformation Group 2011. 
Copyright Getmapping plc. 

Countryside Council for Wales, ©Crown Copyright and database right 2011. 
Ordnance Survey 100018813. 

Forestry Commission, ©Crown Copyright and database right 2011. Ordnance Survey 100025498.

P
age 165



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO CABINET 
 

20 JULY 2021 
 

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR COMMUNITIES 
 

PENCOED ROAD BRIDGE AND PENCOED LEVEL CROSSING 
 

1. Purpose of report  

1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform Cabinet of the current progress relating to a 

major capital transport investment to improve multi-modal accessibility within and 

through Pencoed.  

1.2 This report brings Members up to date with the recent work undertaken together 

with some background information on the current situation and potential aspiration 

as well as seeking authorisation to go out to public consultation in due course.   

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities 

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objective/objectives under the  Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015:-   

 

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 

county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 

and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 

qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough.  

2. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - 

taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 

dependent on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and 

communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 

have active, healthy and independent lives. 

3. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all  resources (financial, physical, 

ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 

as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 

that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives. 

2.2 The transport proposals at Pencoed will facilitate active travel on Hendre Road by 

removing the requirement for pedestrians and cyclists to wait until a train has 

passed, through the provision of a dedicated active travel bridge. The proposals 

also seek to enhance active travel infrastructure at Penprysg Bridge through 

improved pedestrian and cyclist safety, convenience and usability. 

Page 167

Agenda Item 9



 

2.3 The scheme will therefore contribute to the Council’s Corporate Well-being 

Objective of ‘Supporting a successful sustainable economy’ under the Well-being of 

Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 by reducing the carbon footprint though the 

method of encouraging modal shift to sustainable travel and by reducing the 

vehicular congestion resulting from these network constraints. There will also be 

further economic benefits by enabling future development in west Pencoed by 

creating transport conditions that allow for the current new development moratorium 

to be removed thereby unlocking the economic and social potential of that land for 

the benefit of Pencoed and its environs. 

2.4 The creation of improved accessibility for all modes of travel contributes to ‘Helping 

people and communities to be more healthy and resilient’ by removing existing 

severance issues within the town and improving journey time reliability, cost savings 

and environmental benefits.  

2.5 Additionally, the scheme contributes to a ‘Smarter use of resources’ by reducing the 

risk to rail travel efficiency and safety on the South Wales Main Line through 

Pencoed by the separation of road and rail surface intersections. The removal of 

the level crossing provides scope for further rail service frequency enhancements 

on the wider rail network in the county borough particularly along the Maesteg to 

Cardiff route, which has been identified as a key transport corridor. 

2.6 The scheme will also provide an opportunity for future regeneration schemes around 

the area of the closed level crossing with positive enhancements to create a 

community focused public realm.  

3. Background 

3.1 Within Pencoed, the railway line creates severance between the community who 

reside to the west of the line and those on the east side. Significant traffic 

congestion is currently experienced within the town with particular emphasis on the 

road over rail crossings at Penprysg Road Bridge and Hendre Road level crossing.  

3.2 These congestion issues are long-standing and are the core reason behind a 

moratorium on new developments on the west side of Pencoed which was identified 

in Policy PLA6 of the Bridgend Local Development Plan (2006 – 2021).  

3.3 The impact of the congestion is therefore a constraint on Pencoed’s future capability 

for growth and also generates negative impacts, both economic and environmental 

on the community presently. Queues of traffic generate emissions which effect air 

quality, as noise from idling traffic is experienced by those who live or work on the 

affected routes. Active Travel is currently under-provided due to the lack of 

appropriate connections between the west and east of the town.  The scheme 

currently under investigation will rectify this shortcoming. 

3.4 Key problems defined for the study area, as identified in the WelTAG process 

include: 

Page 168



 

• Congestion – The highway network within Pencoed is under strain at peak 

travel periods due to the capacity issues at the two main crossings for road over 

rail in the town. Significant delays are experienced at the level crossing location 

on Hendre Road when the barrier is down to allow rail services to pass through.  

This leads to queues forming on the highway approaches. Penprysg Road 

bridge, to the north of the level crossing, encounters similar effects of queuing 

due to the traffic signals which restrict flow to allow for one-way passage over 

the bridge in either direction. Both of these crossings are subject to significant 

demand at peak periods neither of which  is capable of accommodating without 

the occurrence of traffic queues and delays.  

• Severance – Due to the alignment of the South Wales Mainline that passes 

through the middle, Pencoed, could be considered as a town of two halves. This 

creates issues of severance for the community and makes crossings between 

west and east unpredictable at times when traffic is at a peak. The severance 

that results has a negative impact on community well-being and the general 

impression of the town by those who live within or visit it.  

• Poor Active Travel Links – There is currently only limited opportunity for active 

travel within the affected area partly due to the limited availability of highway 

space for shared / segregated travel on the network. Crossings of the rail line by 

foot or by cycle are severely restrictive for those with a mobility impairment with 

footbridges that do not incorporate any ramped access.  

• Restriction on New Development – Existing and future development in Pencoed 

is under a moratorium which rules that, without significant improvements to 

travel connectivity, the town will be unable to grow sustainably and benefit from 

the economic and societal boosts associated with the introduction of new 

homes.  

• Public Transport Efficiency - The highway arrangements within Pencoed create 

issues for bus services as they are unable to achieve reliable journey times due 

to the congestion issues that occur at the rail crossings within the town. Access 

to the rail service is compromised by a lack of fully accessible and safe crossing 

opportunities for active travel modes. 

3.5 A Stage One WelTAG was completed in June 2019 which identified, developed and 

appraised a long-list of options which were used to provide solutions to the issues 

that currently pose a challenge for connectivity between the west and east of 

Pencoed. The process identified which of those options from the long-list should be 

progressed and further investigated at WelTAG Stage Two. 

3.6 The subsequent WelTAG Stage Two study was completed in August 2020. In 

accordance with the Welsh Transport Appraisal Guidance (WelTAG 2017), the 

purpose of Stage Two is to examine in greater detail the short-list of options for 

tackling the problem under consideration, as agreed by the WelTAG Stage One 

report. 

Page 169



 

3.7 The recommendation of The WelTAG Stage Two study was for the option 

containing a combination of new bridge provision and closure of the level crossing 

to be taken forward to WelTAG Stage Three. The closure of the level crossing 

would be anticipated to include provision of a new active travel bridge. 

3.8 Members will be aware that the closure of the level crossing and the replacement 

road bridge has been a long held ambition of the Council.  A Steering Group has 

been set up comprising of representatives from the community, Council, the MP, 

the constituency MS, the town council, Wales Office, Welsh Government, Network 

Rail and Transport for Wales. The Group meets regularly and has been fully 

involved in the WelTAG process.  

3.9 An addendum to WelTAG stage 2 is also nearing completion which is focussed on 

active travel bridge options at Hendre Road.  Attached to this report, in Appendix 1, 

is the WelTAG Stage Two Report.  

4. Current situation/proposal 

4.1 The next stage is for public consultation on the proposals to formally commence 

which is critical to the WelTAG process. A public consultation exercise, approved by 

Cabinet, will enable some affected landowners to be contacted directly to discuss 

the concept of the scheme and initial engineering activities required to progress the 

WelTAG process. These initial works include requirements for third party land 

access to facilitate topographical surveys, ground investigations, ecology surveys 

and equipment access. 

4.2 The public consultation phase is critical to the design of the scheme and any 

subsequent public realm enhancements. It is only by engaging with the community 

that the current issues and potential solutions are fully explored and assessed.  

Also, as this is a significant transport infrastructure project over two sites, which will 

have a positive impact on Pencoed in the medium to long term, there is likely to be 

some short term public disruption during the construction phase. 

4.3 Network Rail have recently been engaged and negotiations commenced to facilitate 

the required access for the initial surveys identified above. 

4.4 Following favourable public consultation, the project would be able to proceed to 

WelTAG Stage Three. As defined in the Welsh Transport Appraisal Guidance 

(2017: 

‘The purpose of Stage Three is to make a full and detailed assessment of 
the preferred option to inform a decision as to whether or not to proceed to 
implementation.  

The detailed design and appraisal work should be used to refine the design 
and to inform any complementary measures that are needed in order to 
more fully realise the benefits of the proposal and seek to maximise 
contribution to the well-being goals whilst helping to mitigate any adverse 
impacts and resolving potential conflicts.  

Page 170



 

The completion of Stage Three will provide much of the information needed 
for applications to funding organisations and any mode-specific appraisal 
procedures.’  

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 There is no effect on policy framework or procedure rules at this stage. If, however, 

a major transport intervention in Pencoed materialises, it is possible that it would 
create the necessary conditions to remove the current moratorium on development 
land west of the railway line, as stipulated in the existing LDP (2006-2021) and 
likely to be retained in the revised LDP (2018-2033). 
 

6. Equality Act 2010 implications  
 
6.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic 

Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered in 
the preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales the Council must consider 
the impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services and functions. This is an information report, therefore it is not 
necessary to carry out an Equality Impact assessment in the production of this 
report. It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable equality 
impacts as a result of this report.  

 
6.2 As identified in the WelTAG Stage two report, an Equality Impact Assessment will 

be undertaken on the final preferred option (at WelTAG Stage Three).         
 

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 
7.1  The WelTAG process incorporates the core aims of The Well-being of Future 

Generations (Wales) Act 2015 however, an Assessment Template has been 
completed and a summary of the implications from the assessment relating to the five 
ways of working is below: 

 
Long-term: The scheme will allow for greater opportunities of active travel with 
resulting environmental benefits associated with reductions in noise and air pollution; 
reduction in congestion and other associated economic benefits, promoting greater 
social inclusion, supporting the boroughs aims of a successful sustainable economy. 
The improvements would lead to a reduction in traffic congestion in Pencoed and 
would facilitate more reliable, safer and healthier connections between the western 
and eastern sides of Pencoed as well as through the town.  

 
Prevention: The proposed active travel route helps reduce congestion by allowing 
free flowing traffic through the area and is expected to incorporate the additional 
traffic that would be generated due to the removal of the level crossing. In addition, 
Active Travel facilities are enhanced as part of the scheme, providing safer routes to 
schools and general cycling/walking activities within the area. 

 
Integration: The scheme would encourage the use of active travel, which can 
provide health benefits associated with increased physical activity; environmental 
benefits associated with reductions in noise and air pollution; reduction in congestion 
and other associated economic benefits, promoting greater social inclusion. A 
reduction in traffic congestion in Pencoed would facilitate more reliable, safer and 
healthier connections between the western and eastern areas of Pencoed. If 

Page 171



 

congestion can be relieved at local hotspots then the negative impacts associated 
with queuing traffic can be mitigated helping to improve the surrounding environment 
for the benefit of residents, active travel activity and the community as a whole.  

 
Collaboration: Officers of the Strategic Transportation Planning section work with 
various sections of the council including the local Town Council, Regeneration, Traffic 
Management, Engineering and Planning in considering wellbeing objectives. In 
addition, consultation with stakeholders has played a key role throughout the WelTAG 
process that has been undertaken to inform the scheme.  The Cardiff City Region 
and Regional Transport Authority of South East Wales are also key partners in this 
scheme.  

 
Involvement: Section 5 of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
states: ‘A public body must take account of… the importance of involving other 
persons with an interest in achieving the well-being goals and of ensuring those 
persons reflect the diversity of the population’. Subject to Cabinet approval, a 
consultation exercise will therefore be undertaken and managed effectively in the 
near future as part of the WelTAG process and in accordance with the statutory 
guidance associated with the Act. 

 
8. Financial implications 
 

8.1 The current WelTAG assessments have been funded by the Welsh Government 

Local Transport Fund which is administered under the Cardiff City Region’s Metro 

Programme. 

8.2 Detailed construction costs will be provided at WelTAG Stage Three. However, the 

current conservative estimate is that the preferred option would cost in the region of 

£17 million, subject to changing variables and conditions. 

8.3 Potential sources of funding for future technical work and construction include 

Section 106 planning contributions, Welsh Government grants, UK Government 

grants, Cardiff Capital Region City Deal and Network Rail. 

8.4 The Council will need to fully explore future funding options in association with the 

Steering Group and these will be reported back in due course.  

9. Recommendation(s) 
 

9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet:  

1. Note the information contained within this report. 

2. Delegate Authority to the Corporate Director of Communities to undertake a 
full public consultation on the scheme, liaise with affected landowners on the 
proposed design and continue to work closely with Network Rail to design, 
facilitate and deliver the scheme. 

3. Agree that a further report on the consultation outcomes, proposed designs 
and any potential funding streams comes before a future meeting of the 
Cabinet before proceeding further. 

Page 172



 

 
Janine Nightingale 

Corporate Director - Communities 

5 July 2021 
 
 

Contact officer:  Joseph Cassinelli 
 Principal Planning Officer – Strategic Transportation 

 
Telephone:   (01656) 642528 
 
Email:   joseph.cassinelli@bridgend.gov.uk  
 
Postal address:  

Planning & Development Services 

Communities Directorate  

Civic Offices, Angel Street  

Bridgend 

CF31 4WB 
 

 
Background documents: 

1) EIA Screening Report 

2) Pencoed – Improving Community Connectivity WelTAG Stage Two Report (August 

2020) 

 
 

Page 173

mailto:joseph.cassinelli@bridgend.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO CABINET 
 

20 JULY 2021 
 

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR EDUCATION AND FAMILY SUPPORT 
 

SUSPENSION OF THE CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES FOR  
HOME-TO-SCHOOL TRANSPORT MINIBUSES AND TAXIS 

 
1. Purpose of report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to request that Cabinet suspends the relevant parts of 

the Council’s contract procedure rules in respect of the requirement to re-tender 154 
proposed contracts for home-to-school transport services, and to authorise the 
Corporate Director - Education and Family Support to enter into the contracts directly 
with relevant operators for the autumn term 2021-2022.  
 

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities 
 

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objectives 
under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015: 

 

 Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough.  

 

 Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that 
can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives. 

 
3. Background 
 
3.1 The local authority has a statutory duty under the Learner Travel (Wales) Measure 

2008 to make suitable transport arrangements to facilitate the attendance of children 
each day at the relevant places where they receive their education or training.  This 
is primarily achieved via the contracting of transport services from the private sector.    

   
3.2 On 20 October 2020, Cabinet approved a procurement exercise to invite tenders to 

bid for contracts for multiple home-to-school transport services for a term of five years 
with the option to extend by two further periods of one year.  The indicative total value 
for the full term was identified as £34.2m. 
 

4. Current situation/proposal 
 
4.1 In order to ensure that the local authority is meeting its responsibilities under the 

Public Contracts Regulations 2015, the Council's contract procedure rules and to 
seek value for money, a procurement exercise was progressed during June and July 
2021 for taxis, minibuses, special taxis and special minibuses. 

Page 175

Agenda Item 10



 

 
4.2 The tender comprised of a schedule of 154 separate routes that will expire at the end 

of the current 2020-2021 academic year.  The breakdown of the types of vehicles 
required for these contracts is identified in Table 1 below. 

 
Table 1 Type and number of vehicles per route/contract  
 

Vehicle type Number of routes/contracts 

Minibus 4 

Nursery minibus 6 

Special minibus 54 

Special taxis 57 

Taxis 33 

Total 154 

  
4.3 These were tendered by the Corporate Procurement Team utilising an open 

competition advertising at first on ‘Sell2Wales’ and the ‘Find a Tender Service’ (FTS).  
This was conducted electronically utilising ‘eTenderWales’. 

 
4.4 Unfortunately, technical issues with the Sell2Wales notice coupled with recent 

information concerning changes to COVID-19 operational guidance for schools that 
are likely to be in place for the start of the autumn term in September 2021, have 
had an impact on the routes, and the capacity of vehicles required to deliver the 
service which would have required a substantial material change to the published 
invitation to tender. 
 

4.5 Therefore, the local authority has found it necessary to abandon the procurement 
prior to the deadline for tender submissions. 

   
4.6 The local authority had intended to award new contracts in August 2021 in readiness 

for the start of the autumn term in September 2021.  However, as the procurement 
has not been able to be progressed as intended and given there is insufficient time 
between now and the start of the autumn term to repeat the procurement exercise, 
Cabinet is requested to: 

 

 suspend the relevant parts of the contract procedure rules requiring a competitive 
procurement exercise;  
 

 authorise officers to identify suitable operators for each route referenced in Table 
1 (at paragraph 4.2); and  
 

 enter into contracts with them directly for a period of four months from September 
2021 to the end of December 2021.   

 
4.7 This will ensure that there is sufficient time to ensure that the technical issues that 

impacted upon the current procurement exercise are addressed and also, that the 
expected changes to national legislation and guidance as a result of the COVID-19 
pandemic, currently impacting upon the type and size of provision of school transport, 
are able to be taken into consideration. 

 
4.8 Cabinet needs to be aware that, in awarding these short-term contracts to the current 

providers, the Council is exposed to the risk of potential challenge from other 

Page 176



 

providers of such services. The Council’s contract procedure rules ensure that 
procurement exercises are carried out in compliance with the Public Contract 
Regulations 2015. The report proposes entering into contracts with the existing 
school transport operators without any competition, in breach of the requirements of 
the Public Contract Regulations 2015.   

 
4.9 The risk of challenge is not possible to quantify. However, given the provision of free 

home-to-school transport is a statutory responsibility of the local authority, Cabinet 
may take the view that the potential for challenge is one it is prepared to accept. 

   
5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 This report seeks the suspension of the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules. 

 
6. Equality Act 2010 implications  
 
6.1 An initial equality impact assessment (EIA) screening has identified that there would 

be no negative impact on those with one or more of the protected characteristics, on 
socio-economic disadvantage or the use of the Welsh language. It is therefore not 
necessary to carry out a full EIA on this policy or proposal.  

 

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 
7.1 A Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 assessment has been 

completed.  A summary of the implications from the assessment relating to the five 
ways of working is as follows:   

 
Long-term  
  

The identification of the continuity of the current contracts for four 
months identifies that the local authority understands the impact on 
operators of supporting the sustainability of school transport 
services. 
 

Prevention  
  

The local authority assesses the suitability of transport operators to 
deliver home-to-school transport services. The local authority 
requires operators to support staff training, to enable them to 
develop and maintain their knowledge and skills, and be successful 
in fulfilling the role.    
 

Integration  
 

School transport operators have a strategic role in providing a 
service so that all eligible pupils are supported in accessing their 
place of education.  This ultimately means that learners can learn 
and achieve, so that they can access opportunities for further 
learning and employment, and can play active roles in their 
communities, contributing positively to society as a whole.  
 

Collaboration  
 

School transport providers have a strategic role in supporting 
access to school for eligible pupils.  Transport providers need to 
ensure the health and wellbeing of pupils and their own staff. The 
local authority, in conjunction with transport providers, are ensuring 
that services are improved to meet the needs of all learners.   
 

Page 177



 

Involvement 
 

The local authority engages with transport operators on a regular 
basis. 
 

8. Financial implications 
 
8.1 The current value of the contracts required to provide transport for the 2021-2022 

autumn term is estimated as £1.07m.  By direct awarding new contracts, there may 
be some positive and negative variation to the rates currently charged to the local 
authority by contractors through to the end of December 2021.  Therefore, at this time 
it is difficult to estimate the accurate cost of this proposal until the market has been 
engaged.    

 
8.2 The costs of these contracts will be met by existing budgets, however it is noted that 

this is a pressurised budget.  
 

9. Recommendations 
 
9.1 Cabinet is recommended to:  

 

 suspend the relevant parts of the Council’s contract procedure rules in respect of 
the requirement to re-tender the contracts listed at Table 1 (at paragraph 4.2) of 
this report for home-to-school transport services;  
 

 authorise officers to identify suitable operators for each route referenced in Table 
1 (at paragraph 4.2); and  

 

 authorise the Corporate Director (Education and Family Support) to enter into the 
contracts with transport operators from 3 September 2021 until 17 December 
2021. 

 
Lindsay Harvey 
Corporate Director (Education and Family Support) 
 
 
Contact officer:  Robin Davies 

 Group Manager (Business Support) 
 
Telephone:   (01656) 754881 
 
Email:   robin.davies@bridgend.gov.uk 
 
Postal address:  Civic Offices 
    Angel Street 
    BRIDGEND 
    CF31 4WB 

 
 
Background documents:  
 
None 
 

Page 178



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO CABINET 
 

 20 JULY 2021 
 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF OFFICER LEGAL, HR AND REGULATORY SERVICES  
 

HUMAN RESOURCES POLICIES 
 
1. Purpose of report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval of the Disclosure and Barring Service 

(DBS) and Resolution Policies. 
 

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities 
 

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objective under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015: 

 

 Smarter use of resources – ensure that all  resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives. 
 

3. Background 
 
3.1 Human Resources (HR) policies provide clarity about employment matters within 

the council and how these should be managed.  They play an important role in 
providing consistency and transparency for employees and managers and guidance 
on how issues should be handled.   

 
3.2 HR policies are developed or updated to: reflect and comply with existing or new 

legislation or case law; support the needs of the council; take account of best 
practice. 

 
3.3 Reviews have been undertaken and completed on the DBS policy and the current 

Grievance and Dignity at Work policies.  Service managers played a key role in 
reviewing the Grievance and Dignity at Work policies and developing the new 
Resolution policy.  Trade Union representatives have been fully engaged in the 
process and support the proposed policies.  

 

 
4. Current situation/proposal 
 

DBS policy 
4.1 The DBS policy sets out the requirements for criminal record checking, which is a 

requirement for certain employees and also applies in a range of other service 
areas.  This is integral to the council fulfilling its safeguarding arrangements. 

   
4.2 This policy is required to enable the council to undertake criminal records checks to 
 fulfil its safeguarding requirements and statutory duty of care. 

Page 179

Agenda Item 11



 
4.3 The revised policy, at Appendix 1, has been updated to accurately reflect relevant 

legislation and operational arrangements.  
 
 Resolution policy 
4.4 This is a new policy which brings together the current Grievance and Dignity and 

Work policies. 
 
4.5 It strengthens the provisions in place which allow employees to raise concerns or 

dignity at work issues.  The policy takes account of current legislation and best 
practice with the aim of resolving matters sensitively and without undue delay.   

 
4.6 The new policy at Appendix 2 includes the promotion and use of facilitated 

discussions in order to optimise the chance of early resolution. 
 
5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 There is no effect upon the policy framework or procedure rules.  

 
6. Equality Act 2010 implications  
 
6.1 An initial EIA screening has identified that there would be no negative impact on 

those with one or more of the protected characteristics, on socio-economic 
disadvantage or the use of the Welsh language. It is therefore not necessary to 
carry out a full EIA on these policies.  

        
7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 
7.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 

report. It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts 
upon the achievement of wellbeing goals/objectives as a result of this report.  

 
8. Financial implications 
 
8.1 There are no additional costs to implement these policies. 
 
8.2 The cost of administering DBS checks are met from within existing budget provision. 

 
9. Recommendation 
 
9.1 It is recommended that Council approves: 

 the DBS Policy (Appendix 1) 

 the Resolution Policy (Appendix 2) 

 
 

Kelly Watson 
Chief Officer Legal, HR and Regulatory Services  
11 June 2021 

 
 

Contact officer:  Debra Beeke 

Page 180



 Group Manager HR & OD 
 
Telephone:   (01656) 643212 
 
Email:   debra.beeke@bridgend.gov.uk 
 
Postal address:  Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend 

 
 
Background documents:  
 
None  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 181



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Appendix 1 

 
DISCLOSURE AND BARRING SERVICE (DBS) 

POLICY 

 

 
Date of Issue:  

 

  

Page 183



 

Page 2 of 14 
 

Document Title Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

 
 

  

DOCUMENT CONTROL  

Document Title: Disclosure & Barring Service 
(DBS) Policy 
 

Previous Publication Date: March 2014 
 

DOCUMENT APPROVAL  

Approved by: Date: 

Group Manager HR/OD July 2020 

Trade Unions August 2020 

Corporate Management Board April 2021 

Cabinet/Council  

REVISION HISTORY  

Revision History: Date: April 2021 

Ebulk – Electronic application 
system 

 

UK GDPR Legislation & Fair 
Processing Statements 

 

Inclusion of Basic DBS Checks  

Page 184



 

Page 3 of 14 
 

Document Title Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

Contents 
1 Introduction .............................................................................................................................................................. 4 

2. Scope ......................................................................................................................................................................... 4 

3. Types of Disclosures and Barred List Checks ............................................................................................................ 4 

4. E-bulk – Electronic application system ..................................................................................................................... 5 

5.  Fees ........................................................................................................................................................................... 5 

6. Recruitment .............................................................................................................................................................. 5 

7. Validity and Portability of DBS Disclosures ............................................................................................................... 6 

8. Commencing employment prior to receipt of DBS Disclosure ................................................................................. 6 

9. Recruiting from Overseas and UK Applicants who lived abroad .............................................................................. 6 

10. The Update Service and Applicant Only Checks ................................................................................................... 6 

11. Adverse Disclosures .............................................................................................................................................. 7 

12. Rechecks for Employees ....................................................................................................................................... 7 

13.  Data Protection ..................................................................................................................................................... 7 

14. Schools .................................................................................................................................................................. 8 

15. Elected Members .................................................................................................................................................. 8 

16. Agency Workers .................................................................................................................................................... 8 

17. Contractors ........................................................................................................................................................... 8 

18. Volunteers ............................................................................................................................................................. 8 

19.  Referral to the Disclosure and Barring Service ..................................................................................................... 9 

20. Review ................................................................................................................................................................... 9 

Appendix 1 .................................................................................................................................................................. 10 

Appendix 2 ................................................................................................................................................................ 111 

Appendix 3 ................................................................................................................................................................ 133 

 

 
 

  

Page 185



 

Page 4 of 14 
 

Document Title Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

 

1 Introduction  
 

1.1 The council is committed to safeguarding the welfare of those accessing our services through the 
effective use of the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) and exercising its statutory duty of care 
towards vulnerable members of society.  This duty, however, must be carried out with due regard to 
the rights of individuals. 

1.2 Criminal record checks are undertaken with other pre – employment checks, to assess the suitability 
of an individual to ensure robust recruitment practices. Other checks include: identity confirmation; 
eligibility to work in the UK; verification of relevant qualifications; taking up references; medical 
clearance and establishing full employment histories.   

1.3 This policy includes policy statements on the Employment of Ex-Offenders at Appendix 1 and the 
Handling of Disclosure and Barring Information at Appendix 2. 

2. Scope 
 

2.1 This policy will apply to employees, those who volunteer or undertake work experience or student 
placements and elected members who have provided their consent for a check to be undertaken.  In 
addition, fostering and adoption arrangements, licencing and school transport arrangements and any 
other regulated positions will also come under the provisions of the policy.  It will also apply to those 
directly employed by governing bodies should the Governing Body resolve to adopt it.   

2.2 The requirement for a Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) check relates to the nature of the 
duties being undertaken irrespective of the status of the contract.  

3. Types of Disclosures and Barred List Checks  
 

3.1 The Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 has resulted in a differentiation between positions which can 
legally have an Enhanced DBS check and those which can also legally be checked against the 
Children or Adult Barred Lists.  The full list of checks available are as follows: 

 Enhanced Check for Regulated Activity (Children) - used when an individual is undertaking 
regulated activity relating to children.  This check involves a check of the police national 
computer, police information and the children’s barred list. 
 

 Enhanced Check for Regulated Activity (Adults) - used when an individual is undertaking 
regulated activity relating to adults.  This check involves a check of the police national computer, 
police information and the adults barred list. 
 

 Enhanced Check for Regulated Activity (Children and Adults) - used when an individual is 
undertaking regulated activity relating to both children and adults.  This check involves a check 
of the police national computer, police information and the children’s and adults barred list. 
 

 Enhanced DBS Check - used where an individual meets the pre September 2012 definition of 
regulated activity. This level of check involves a check of the police national computer and police 
information. 

 

 Basic & Standard DBS Check - used where an individual meets the Safeguarding Vulnerable 
Groups Act 2006 or for roles requiring the check under the Baseline Personnel Security 

Page 186

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/739151/Regulated_Activity_with_Children_in_Wales.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/739153/Regulated_Activity_with_Adults_in_Wales.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/47/schedule/4
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/47/schedule/4
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/47/schedule/4
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/47/schedule/4


 

Page 5 of 14 
 

Document Title Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

Standard (BPSS). These level of checks involve a check of the police national computer and 
does not include a check of police information or the children’s or adults barred lists.  

3.2 The minimum age at which someone can be asked to apply for a criminal record check is 16 years 
old. 

3.3 The eligibility criteria to be followed to determine the level of check required is set out in Appendix 3. 
Further advice can be sought from the Human Resources (HR) Lifecycle Team. 

3.4 All DBS applications include an identity checking process, which is undertaken by the nominated 
verification officer. 

4. E-bulk – Electronic application system 
 

4.1 The council has a service level agreement with Powys County relating to the provision of services for 
online DBS checks. 

4.2 This enables the online submission of electronic application forms to the DBS and receipt of results.  

5.  Fees 
  

5.1 The fees applicable for DBS checks are set by the DBS service. The cost of DBS checks for 
employees is met by the council. 
 

5.2 Employees who choose to join the update service will meet the annual subscription cost 
themselves. 

 
5.3 Checks for volunteers are free of charge. 

6. Recruitment 
 

6.1 All recruitment responsibilities are set out in the council’s Recruitment and Selection Protocol and 
Managers’ Guidelines. 

6.2 Where a post requires a criminal records check, this will be identified on the advert and job pack.   

6.3 Where a DBS check is part of the recruitment process, applicants are requested to disclose details 
of their criminal record at the application stage. The amendments to the Exceptions Order 1975 
(2013) provide that certain spent convictions and cautions are “protected” and are not subject to 
disclosure and cannot be taken into account. Guidance and criteria on the filtering of these cautions 
and convictions can be found on the DBS website.  

6.4 Failure to reveal relevant information may lead to the withdrawal of an offer of employment. 

6.5 Details of disclosed criminal records will only be seen by those that need to as part of the 
recruitment process. Recruiting managers and Head teachers shortlisting applicants with a 
disclosed criminal record should take account of all relevant circumstances prior to the applicant’s 
inclusion on the shortlist.  Advice can be sought from a HR Business Partner. 

6.6 It is an offence for the council or a Governing Body to employ someone to work in regulated activity 
if they have been barred by the DBS.  Equally, if a barred person made an application they would be 
breaking the law.  If the checks reveal that a candidate is on the barred list for regulated activity 
Human Resources will make a referral to DBS to notify them of the individual’s attempt to apply for 
barred work. 

Page 187

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dbs-filtering-guidance


 

Page 6 of 14 
 

Document Title Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

7. Validity and Portability of DBS Disclosures 
  
7.1 There is no period of validity for a DBS Disclosure.  Whilst accurate at the time of issue, it is 

technically out of date following the date issued as a new conviction; caution etc. may be recorded 
against the individual at any time after the issue date. 

7.2 All employees are required under their contract of employment to advise their manager if they are 
convicted or cautioned etc. Failure to do so will lead to disciplinary procedures being invoked. 

7.3 Portability refers to the re-use of DBS Disclosures obtained for a position in one organisation and 
subsequently used for a position in another organisation.  The council does not accept portable 
Disclosures for any position. 

 
7.4 Where an individual has undertaken a DBS Disclosure for a position and they move to another 

position within the council, the DBS Disclosure will be acceptable in the following instances: 

 the type of DBS Disclosure (i.e.  Enhanced / Enhanced and relevant barred list check) is the 

same for the old and new post and 

 the individual has not had a break in service of more than three months and 

 the new work does not represent a significant increase in responsibility for, and contact with, 

children and/or adults. 

8. Commencing employment prior to receipt of DBS Disclosure 
 
8.1  In all circumstances every effort must be made to ensure a DBS Disclosure is obtained prior to an 

individual commencing employment.  Only in exceptional circumstances can an employee take up 
employment without the full results of the DBS Disclosure being known.   

8.2 Approval for this must be provided by the relevant Corporate Director or Headteacher, via a risk 

assessment form to confirm that sufficient safeguards are in place to ensure the individual has no 

unsupervised access to children or adults.  This should also provide confirmation that: the correct 

recruitment and selection procedure has been followed; other pre-employment checks are 

satisfactory; whether a completed DBS Disclosure application form has been submitted. 

 

8.3 The risk assessment form must remain in place until a satisfactory disclosure is received. 

9. Recruiting from Overseas and UK Applicants who lived abroad 
 

9.1 DBS Disclosures do not record convictions that were committed abroad.  When recruiting 
candidates who have spent some time living or working abroad, a DBS Disclosure must be obtained 
in the normal way and a criminal records check or ‘Certificates of Good Character’ should be 
requested in accordance with home office guidance.  Further guidance is available on the DBS 
website. 

10. The Update Service and Applicant Only Checks 
 
10.1 If a DBS applicant has joined the DBS update service, the council can check a DBS certificate 

online, providing it has a legal entitlement to carry out the check and the applicant’s permission.   

10.2 The DBS update service enables applicants to keep their DBS certificates up to date online and 
allows employers to check a certificate on line.  Registration lasts for one year. 

Page 188

https://www.gov.uk/dbs-check-requests-guidance-for-employers#overseas-applicants
https://www.gov.uk/dbs-check-requests-guidance-for-employers#overseas-applicants


 

Page 7 of 14 
 

Document Title Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

10.3 The DBS operates an “Applicant Only Certificates” policy.  The e-bulk system that council uses 

identifies whether the check is clear or “adverse”.  

11. Adverse Disclosures 
 

11.1 When the council is notified of an adverse disclosure, the applicant must provide a copy of the full 
disclosure to the HR Lifecycle Team. 

11.2 In cases where a DBS check reveals details of a criminal record or details of concern, the line 
manager or Head teacher will be informed and provided with advice on the next steps.  
Consideration will need to be given to all relevant circumstances including: the nature of the 
conviction; the nature of the appointment; date of the offence; frequency of the offence; and the 
outcomes.  

11.3 In accordance with the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act, a criminal conviction may not automatically 
bar an individual from employment.  

11.4  In relation to recruitment processes, the final decision on the appointment will be made by the 
relevant Head of Service or Head teacher 

12. Rechecks for Employees 
 

12.1 There is a statutory requirement to undertake rechecks every three years for employees governed 
by the Care Standards Act 2000. In line with this, the Council has adopted a best practice 
rechecking policy for all employees, requiring all checks to be undertaken on a three yearly basis.  

12.2 Compliance with the rechecking policy is monitored regularly and referrals are made to the 
nominated Officer for resolution. Quarterly updates are also provided to the Corporate Management 
Board (CMB) for review. 

12.3 Failure to engage with the rechecking policy by completing the DBS application form and providing 
appropriate evidence will have implications on continued employment.  In such cases, employees 
will no longer be able to fulfil their duties and continue in their role and disciplinary procedures will 
be invoked. 

12.4  Where an existing employee’s DBS Disclosure reveals details of a criminal record the procedure as 
outlined in paragraph 11 will apply. 

 13.  Data Protection 
 

13.1 All sensitive personal information is held securely, and only accessed by those entitled to see it in 
the course of their duties. All information will only be stored for as long as necessary, and then 
confidentially destroyed in accordance with the policy statement on Handling of Disclosure and 
Barring Information (Appendix 2). 

13.2 The council’s HR fair processing statement includes reference to DBS checks. 

13.3 Powys County Council’s fair processing statement in relation to electronic DBS applications can be 
found on the ‘Ebulk’ website.  When completing the online application form, applicants are required 
to consent to the secure, confidential transfer of personal data to the DBS for the purposes of 
processing the application. 

 

 

Page 189

https://bcbc-powyscountycouncil.employmentcheck.org.uk/content/privacy-statement


 

Page 8 of 14 
 

Document Title Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

14. Schools 
 

14.1 All school based employees fall within the regulated activity definition and therefore an enhanced 
DBS and children’s barred list check is required. 

14.2 There is no requirement for routine DBS checks for governors unless they undertake additional 
duties that include regular work in the presence of children, or care for, train, supervise or are in 
sole charge of children. 

15. Elected Members 
 

15.1 Elected members are subject to a Basic Disclosure to demonstrate to the public that they can have 
trust and confidence in their elected representatives.  This will also apply to the Mayor’s consort. 

15.2 In addition, Cabinet Members and Scrutiny Chairs, in line with their responsibilities to “discharge 
functions” relating to the social care of vulnerable people and children, are subject to an Enhanced 
DBS check to reflect the important role they play in scrutinising services that are delivered in relation 
to safeguarding and education functions. 

15.3   All Members and the Mayor’s Consort will need to individually consent to a DBS check being 

undertaken. 

16. Agency Workers 
 

16.1 The agency is legally the employer of agency workers and the responsibility to obtain a relevant 
DBS check is theirs.  The manager or Head teacher requesting the agency worker should indicate 
the level of DBS required. 

16.2 When using an agency worker, the line manager or Head teacher should have written confirmation 
from the agency that each worker supplied to them has had a satisfactory DBS check and checks 
against the Children’s and/or Adult’s barred list as required for that area of service. 

17. Contractors 
 

17.1 Where contractors require a DBS check, the manager or Head teacher should include this in the 
procurement documentation.   

17.2 The organisation providing the contractor is legally the employer of any contractors and the 
responsibility to obtain a relevant DBS check is theirs.  

17.3 The line manager or Head teacher should have written confirmation from the employer that each 
worker has had a satisfactory DBS check and checks against the Children’s and/or Adult’s barred 
list as required for that area of service. 

18. Volunteers 
 

18.1 Volunteers who are undertaking activity which meets the criteria for a DBS check are required to 
undertake a relevant DBS check.   

18.2 With regard to volunteers, when determining whether a check is required, consideration needs to be 
given to whether or not they are “supervised” (to a reasonable level) by someone who has been 
barred list and enhanced DBS checked.  

Page 190



 

Page 9 of 14 
 

Document Title Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

18.3 The Department for Education has produced statutory guidance on the definition of supervision in 
relation to regulated activity with children.  This guidance sets out what constitutes a reasonable 
level of supervision – that is, it describes the level of supervision that, if in place, means that an 
activity with children is not regulated with regard to volunteers in schools.  

18.4 Head teachers will need to determine, on the basis of this guidance, whether volunteers are 
undertaking regulated activity and are therefore required to undertake a DBS check. 

19.  Referral to the Disclosure and Barring Service  
 

19.1 Under the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups 2006 Act there is a legal duty to refer information to the 
DBS if an individual  is dismissed or removed from working with children and/or adults (in what is 
legally defined as Regulated Activity) because they meet the referral criteria. The council has a duty 
to refer information to the DBS as both a regulated activity provider and as a local authority with 
safeguarding responsibilities.  

20. Review 
 

20.1 This policy will be subject to review to ensure that it takes account of updated regulation and 
guidance.  The practical implementation of this policy will also be reviewed in accordance with new 
guidance and procedures adopted by the DBS. 

  

Page 191

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/835733/Keeping_children_safe_in_education_2019.pdf


 

Page 10 of 14 
 

Document Title Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

Appendix 1 

Policy Statement on the Recruitment of Ex-offenders 

1. As an organisation using the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) checking service to assess 
applicants’ suitability for positions of trust, Bridgend County Borough Council (the council) complies 
fully with the Code of Practice and undertakes to treat all applicants for positions fairly. It undertakes 
not to discriminate unfairly against any subject of a DBS check on the basis of a conviction or other 
information revealed. 

 
2. The council is committed to the fair treatment of its employees, potential employees or users of its 

services, regardless of race, gender, religion, sexual orientation, responsibilities for dependants, 
age, physical/mental disability or offending background. 

 
3. This policy is available to all DBS applicants at the outset of the recruitment process. 
 
4. The council actively promotes equality of opportunity for all with the right mix of talent, skills and 

potential and welcomes applications from a wide range of candidates, including those with criminal 
records. Selection is based on skills, qualifications and experience. 

 
5. For those positions where a DBS check is required, all application forms, job packs will contain a 

statement that a DBS check is required. 
 
6. Where a DBS check is required, all applicants should provide details of their criminal record with 

their application form, except for certain spent convictions and cautions which are ‘protected’ so not 
subject to disclosure to employers and that cannot be taken into account. Any information not 
subject to this filtering can be sent under separate, confidential cover, to a designated person within 
the council and this information will only be seen by those who need to see it as part of the 
recruitment process. 

 
7. Unless the nature of the position allows the council to ask questions about an entire criminal record, 

except for certain spent convictions and cautions which are ‘protected’, the Council will only ask 
about ‘unspent’ convictions as defined in the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974. 

 
8. At interview, or in a separate discussion, arrangements will be made to ensure that an open and 

measured discussion takes place on the subject of any offences or other matters that might be 
relevant to the position. Failure to reveal information that is directly relevant to the position sought 
could lead to withdrawal of an offer of employment 

 
9. Every subject of a DBS check will be made aware of the existence of the Code of Practice which will 

be made available on request. 
 
10. In all cases where information is revealed in a DBS check that this will be discussed with the person 

seeking the position before withdrawing an offer of employment. 
 

  

Page 192

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/143662/cop.pdf


 

Page 11 of 14 
 

Document Title Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

Appendix 2 

Handling of DBS Certificate Information 

1. General principles 

 

As an organisation using the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) to help assess the suitability of 

applicants for positions of trust, Bridgend County Borough Council (the council) complies fully with 

the code of practice regarding the correct handling, use, storage, retention and disposal of 

certificates and certificate information. It also complies fully with its obligations under the UK 

General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), Data Protection Act 2018 and other relevant 

legislation pertaining to the safe handling, use, storage, retention and disposal of certificate 

information and has a written policy on these matters, which is available to those who wish to see it 

on request.  

 

2. Storage and access 

 

Certificate information should be kept securely, in lockable, non-portable, storage containers with 

access strictly controlled and limited to those who are entitled to see it as part of their duties. 

 

3. Handling 

In accordance with section 124 of the Police Act 1997, certificate information is only passed to those 

who are authorised to receive it in the course of their duties. We maintain a record of all those to 

whom certificates or certificate information has been revealed and it is a criminal offence to pass 

this information to anyone who is not entitled to receive it. 

To note: those registered care homes which are inspected by the Care Quality Commission (CQC), 

those organisations which are inspected by Ofsted and those establishments which are inspected 

by the Care and Social Services Inspectorate for Wales (CSSIW ) and Estyn certificates may be 

retained until the next inspection.. 

4. Usage 

Certificate information is only used for the specific purpose for which it was requested and for which 

the applicant’s full consent has been given. 

5. Retention 

Once a recruitment (or other relevant) decision has been made, we do not keep certificate 

information for any longer than is necessary. This retention will allow for the consideration and 

resolution of any disputes or complaints, or be for the purpose of completing safeguarding audits. 

Throughout this time, the usual conditions regarding the safe storage and strictly controlled access 

will prevail.  

6. Disposal 

Once the retention period has elapsed, we will ensure that any DBS certificate information is 

immediately destroyed by secure means, i.e. by shredding, pulping or burning. While awaiting 

destruction, certificate information will not be kept in any insecure receptacle (e.g. waste bin or 

confidential waste sack). We will not keep any photocopy or other image of the certificate or any 

Page 193



 

Page 12 of 14 
 

Document Title Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

copy or representation of the contents of a certificate. However, notwithstanding the above, we may 

keep a record of the date of issue of a certificate, the name of the subject, the type of certificate 

requested, and the position for which the certificate was requested, the unique reference number of 

the certificates and the details of the recruitment decision taken. 

  

Page 194



 

Page 13 of 14 
 

Document Title Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

Appendix 3 

Eligibility for a DBS Check 

Enhanced Check for Regulated Activity (Children) 

HM Government has produced a factual note on regulated activity relating to children 

In summary, the post September 2012 definition of regulated activity relating to children comprises only: 

 

(i) Unsupervised activities: teach, train, instruct, care for or supervise children, or provide 

advice/guidance on well-being, or drive a vehicle only for children; 

(ii) Work for a limited range of establishments (‘specified places’), with opportunity for contact: for 

example, schools, children’s homes, childcare premises. Not work by supervised volunteers; 

 

Work under (i) or (ii) is regulated activity only if done regularly.  There is statutory guidance about 

supervision of activity which would be regulated activity if unsupervised. 

 

(iii) Relevant personal care, for example washing or dressing; or health care by or supervised by a 

professional; 

(iv) Registered childminding; and foster-carers. 

 

Enhanced Check for Regulated Activity (Adults) 

The Department Of Health has produced a factual note on regulated activity relating to adults.  In summary 

there are six categories of people who will fall within the new definition of regulated activity: 

(i) Providing health care 

(ii) Providing personal care 

(iii) Providing social work 

(iv) Assisting with general household matters, assistance with a person’s cash, bills and/or shopping.   

(v) Assistance in the conduct of a person’s own affairs 

(vi) Conveying  

 

Enhanced Check for Regulated Activity (Children and Adults) 

The criteria, as outlined above, for both regulated activity for children and adults must be met to apply this 

level of check 

 

Enhanced DBS Check 

Positions within the pre-September definition of regulated activity will remain eligible for enhanced DBS 

checks, whether or not they fall within the post-September definition of regulated activity.  The pre 

September 2012 definition of regulated activity is contained within extracts of Schedule 4 of the 

Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006 

(as amended by the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012) 

 

The types of work with adults are work that fits all of the following three factors referring to the 

Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006 (SVGA) before it was amended by the Protection of Freedoms 

Act 2012:  

(vii) adults with whom the person works are within the definition of vulnerable adults previously in 

section 59 of the SVGA; and  

(viii) the person provides any of the activities relating to adults previously in Part 2 of Schedule 4 

to the SVGA; and  

Page 195

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/739151/Regulated_Activity_with_Children_in_Wales.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/835733/Keeping_children_safe_in_education_2019.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/216900/Regulated-Activity-Adults-Dec-2012.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/47/schedule/4
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/47/schedule/4


 

Page 14 of 14 
 

Document Title Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

(1) the person undertakes the work regularly (as defined previously in Part 3 of 

Schedule 4 to the SVGA).  

 

If the person fits all factors, an organisation can require an enhanced check 

Page 196



 

 
 

Appendix 2 

 
RESOLUTION POLICY 

 
SCOPE STATEMENT 

 
This Policy applies to all employees of Bridgend County Borough Council from day one of 

employment except: 

 Those employed under the Conditions of Service for School Teachers in 
England and Wales. 

 Those employed by Governing Bodies in educational establishments under 
delegated powers. 

 Agency workers or volunteers 

 Those employed under the JNC for Chief Officers’ Conditions of Service. 

 

Date of Issue:  

DOCUMENT CONTROL  

Document Title: Resolution Policy 

Original Publication Date: TBC 

DOCUMENT APPROVAL  

This document received 
approval from: 

Date: 

Page 197



 

Page 2 of 23 
 

Document Title Resolution Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

 

  

Group Manager HR/OD January 2021 

Trade Unions March 2021 

Corporate Management Board April 2021 

Cabinet/Council  

REVISION HISTORY  

Revision History: This policy replaced the council’s 
grievance and dignity at work 
policies and procedures, offering 
a new name and a new focus. 
Grievance policy – October 2010 
Dignity at work policy – March 
2010 

Page 198



 

Page 3 of 23 
 

Document Title Resolution Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

Contents 
1. Introduction ............................................................................................................................................... 4 

2. Policy Statement ........................................................................................................................................ 5 

3. Aims and Objectives ................................................................................................................................... 5 

4. General Principles ...................................................................................................................................... 5 

5. Procedure ................................................................................................................................................... 7 

6. Roles & Responsibilities ........................................................................................................................... 10 

7. Monitor and Review ................................................................................................................................. 12 

Appendix 1 ....................................................................................................................................................... 13 

Appendix 2 ....................................................................................................................................................... 17 

Appendix 3 ....................................................................................................................................................... 20 

Appendix 4 ....................................................................................................................................................... 22 

 

  

Page 199



 

Page 4 of 23 
 

Document Title Resolution Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

1. Introduction 
1.1 This policy allows employees to raise concerns as well as dignity at work issues. 

 

1.2 The council recognises that the workforce consists of employees from diverse 

backgrounds, with differing opinions, values and expectations.  

 

1.3 It is acknowledged that there will be a range of issues employees may wish to 

raise concerns over and it is important that there are clear policies and 

procedures in place to address such matters, which may include:  

 The application of terms and conditions of employment 
 Application of the Council’s policies  
 Working relationships 
 Health & Safety 
 Equal opportunities and discrimination 
 Bullying and harassment  

1.4 There is a responsibility on all parties to raise and deal with any concerns in a 

timely manner to ensure the wellbeing of employees, maintain good morale and 

motivation and to achieve a positive working environment. 

 

1.5 This policy applies to unacceptable behaviour that occurs in the workplace during 

working hours, and can extend to situations that occur outside of the working 

environment.  Examples include, Facebook comments about colleagues or the 

organisation, training events and social events that are all linked to work, and 

which in turn may affect the working relationships between employees and the 

council as the employer.  
 

1.6 A number of key definitions have been used within this policy and are outlined in 

appendix 1. 

 

1.7 All concerns should be dealt with via the informal route in the first instance in 

order to promote efficient resolution. Where this does not resolve the problem, 

the formal procedure set out below can be initiated.  

 

1.8 This procedure applies to all employees regardless of length of service (except 

for those expressly excluded as per the scope statement above). 

 

1.9 The term 'Responsible Officer' means chief executive, corporate director, chief 

officer or head of service or an officer appointed by any of these. 

 

1.10 The policy is not designed to cover issues, which are: 

 A matter of collective agreement 

Page 200



 

Page 5 of 23 
 

Document Title Resolution Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

 Covered by another policy e.g., whistleblowing, discipline, and absence 
management. 
 

2. Policy Statement 
 

2.1 The council recognises that from time to time, employees may experience 
difficulties, concerns or have complaints about aspects of their employment in 
relation to their role, working conditions or working relationships. 

 
2.2 Every individual is entitled to fair treatment and the council is committed to 

providing a caring and supportive working environment which is free from all 
forms of harassment, discrimination, bullying and unacceptable behaviour. 

 
2.3 The council is committed to enabling individuals to express concerns without fear 

of recrimination by encouraging open communication between employees and 
managers to ensure that issues arising can be aired and, ideally, resolved quickly 
and to the satisfaction of all concerned. 

 
2.4 The focus of this policy is to deal with matters sensitively and confidentially as far 

as reasonably practical without undue delay. 
 

3. Aims and Objectives 

The aims of this policy are to: 

3.1 Create a culture which is focused on an early resolution. 
 
3.2 Demonstrate a commitment to employees that concerns will be taken seriously 

and dealt with in a constructive manner.  
 
3.3 Encourage open communication between employees and their managers to 

resolve concerns/matters quickly and informally, to the satisfaction of all parties 
involved.  This will increase staff morale, and confidence in the council as a good 
employer. 

 
3.4 Ensure that managers, employees and their representatives or work colleagues 

are aware of their rights and responsibilities within the resolution process. 
 

4. General Principles 
 

4.1 Employees should submit their resolution statement (appendix 2) to their 
manager unless the complaint is against the manager.  In this case, the 
statement should be submitted to the manager’s line manager.  The employee 
should also send a copy of the form to the relevant HR Business Partner so they 
are aware of the concerns. 
 

Page 201



 

Page 6 of 23 
 

Document Title Resolution Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

4.2 Where more than one employee has the same concern, then the procedure 
should be applied on a group basis (collective concern) and treated as a single 
complaint albeit from a group of employees.  All employees can be interviewed 
as part of the process, with a maximum of 3 employees being in attendance at 
the hearing. 

 
4.3 The manager is responsible for facilitating the process at an early stage unless 

they are implicated at which time the next manager will take responsibility. 
 
4.4 Employees should be encouraged to resolve any concerns at the informal stage.  

Should the employee refuse to participate they will need to confirm the reasons 
why in writing. 

 
4.5 HR Business partners are not required to be in attendance at the informal stages 

unless the circumstances of the case deem it necessary. 
 
4.6 All discussions and documents provided under this policy will be dealt with 

sensitively and all parties are to be reminded of the importance of confidentiality 
as a breach could result in disciplinary action being taken.  Documents will be 
handled in line with the council’s retention policy. 

 
4.7 All parties will endeavour to deal with concerns as quickly as possible and within 

a reasonable timeframe. 
 
4.8 It is expected that the informal stages will be dealt with by the manager and 

employee. Employees are entitled to be accompanied at the formal stages of this 
policy by either a work colleague or trade union representative. 

  
4.9 If the employee is subject to a disciplinary process at the time of submitting the 

resolution statement, this process may be temporarily suspended in order to deal 
with the concern.  Where the resolution concern and disciplinary cases are 
related it may be appropriate to deal with both issues concurrently. 

 
4.10 Every employee carries a responsibility for their own behaviour and any acts of 

misconduct where proven, could result in disciplinary action being taken under 
the council’s disciplinary policy.  

 
4.11 The council recognises the possibility that concerns may be brought with 

malicious, vexatious or false intent.  If there is evidence to support such intent, 
this may result in disciplinary action being taken against the complainant 
pursuant to the council’s disciplinary policy. 

 
4.12 Should employees require support during this process, they should be 

encouraged to access the resources available via care first and those outlined in 
the wellbeing protocol. 

  

Page 202



 

Page 7 of 23 
 

Document Title Resolution Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

5. Procedure 
 

5.1 The employee should attempt to resolve their concern via the informal stages 
(stage 1) of the policy with the individual who is causing them concern. 

 
5.2 If the employee has been unable to resolve their concern successfully then they 

will complete the resolution statement and submit it to their manager, who will 
attempt to try and resolve the matter informally (sending a copy of the statement 
to the HR Business partner). 

 
5.3 If the complaint is against another employee (respondent) then a copy of the 

resolution statement will be given to the employee by the manager at the formal 
stage to ensure natural justice to all concerned. It is important that the employee 
maintains confidentiality and does not approach or discuss the matter with the 
witnesses listed.  The employee can however, seek advice from their trade union 
representative. 

 
5.4 The manager will keep in regular contact with the employee who has submitted 

the concern along with the person(s) that are named.  The contact is to update 
them on the progress and to ensure any necessary support has been offered and 
put in place to help them during this time.  

 
5.5 Should the matter need to proceed to the formal stage (stage 2), then a copy of 

the resolution form along with the informal resolution outcome should be sent to 
HR so that the formal stage can be facilitated. 

 
5.6 There are various stages to the procedure which are identified below, however it 

is acknowledged that the stage of the resolution process will depend upon: 
 

 The seriousness of the concern(s) being raised 

 The willingness of parties to engage in meetings or mediation 

 Whether there have been previous attempts to resolve the situation 
 

5.7 The different stages to the resolution process include: 

Stage 1 – Informal Stage 

5.7.1 Employee led resolution 

 

In the first instance, and when considered safe to do so, the employee is 
encouraged to communicate directly with the person with whom they have a 
concern.  This must  be done in a calm and rational way either face to face or via 
correspondence and the employee will make it clear to the respondent, in a 
respectful manner that they find their behaviour concerning.  It is hoped that this 
will lead to an effective resolution and the respondent will modify their behaviour 
once they are made aware of the concern. 
 

Page 203



 

Page 8 of 23 
 

Document Title Resolution Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

If the concern relates to a matter other than unacceptable behaviour, the 
employee is encouraged to continue to engage in constructive conversations with 
their manager to try and resolve the matter on their own in the first instance. 
 
If the employee does not feel confident to approach the respondent, they could 
seek support from a work colleague, or line manager.  The employee can ask 
those supporting them to speak to the employee on their behalf to resolve 
matters but this should be carried out in a low key and non-confrontational 
manner as possible.  
 

5.7.2 Facilitated discussion 

 

A facilitated discussion is a good way of trying to resolve matters early on.  This 
is a confidential voluntary process which both parties agree to participate and 
work together to reach a satisfactory resolution to be able to move forward.  This 
will be facilitated by an independent HR Business partner.  Guidance in relation 
to the process is available in appendix 3. 
 

5.7.3 Informal Resolution Meeting 

 

If the matter cannot be resolved as above, the employee will raise the matter with 
their line manager as soon as possible by completing the resolution form.  If the 
manager is the cause of concern then the resolution statement should be 
provided to the line manager’s manager. 

 
In the interest of all parties, managers will attempt to resolve concerns in a timely 
manner to avoid them escalating, and possibly resulting in a breakdown in 
relationships which can be difficult to repair and for the wellbeing of all parties. 
 
The manager should meet with the employee to allow them to explain their 
concerns and provide any evidence/information that they have relating to the 
concerns.  The focus of the meeting is to build on positives rather than focusing 
just on the negatives. 

 
 It is important to identify any factors that may have led to the situation, how the 

employee would like to resolve the matter and explore potential solutions to the 
concerns, taking into consideration all the pros and cons of the various options. 

 
 The outcome being sought must be reasonable and achievable and may include 

the following, but is not limited to:  
 

 Provide on the job coaching 

 Provide training and development 

 Give additional support 

 Clarity on working practices or roles within a team 

 Adjustments to working arrangements or environment 

 Facilitated discussion or mediation 

 Amendments to contractual paperwork or guidance 

Page 204



 

Page 9 of 23 
 

Document Title Resolution Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

  
In order to look into the concern raised, the manager will need to obtain relevant 
information and documentation.  Depending on the concern, this could involve 
linking in with other departments, looking at data as well as speaking to the 
respondent (person who complaint is against) and any other individual (witness) 
that may be identified. 

 
Once all information has been obtained, the manager should meet with the 
employee to explain the findings and agree an appropriate course of action.  A 
written note of the agreed action(s) will be provided to the employee by the 
manager. 
 
There may be occasions when a meeting with all parties is required to provide 
the outcome and this can be arranged as necessary.  
 
Should the employee be dissatisfied with the outcome of the informal resolution 
meeting they can initiate the formal process by contacting a HR Business 
partner, who will already be in receipt of the resolution statement. 

Stage 2 – Formal Stage 

5.7.4 Resolution statement 

 

Employees must submit the resolution statement (appendix 2) to progress their 

concern to the formal stage of this process. 

 

5.7.5 Formal Resolution Investigation 

Formal investigations should only be undertaken once all attempts at informal 
resolution have concluded or where the employee has been unable to deal with 
the concerns via the informal route due to the serious nature of their concern.   

It is the responsibility of the relevant business support manager to appoint an 
investigating officer to investigate the concerns.   

A HR Business partner will support the investigating officer throughout the 
investigation and be in attendance at the hearing. 

The concerns will be allocated to an investigating officer within 14 days of the 
complaint being received and the investigation will be completed as soon as is 
reasonably practical.   

The investigating officer must focus on the facts of the concerns and document 
all meetings with witnesses and obtain supporting evidence where necessary. 

The respondent must be given full details of the nature of the concerns and given 
the opportunity to respond including where appropriate details of witnesses.   

Page 205



 

Page 10 of 23 
 

Document Title Resolution Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

Should the employee, respondent or any of the witnesses identified during the 
investigation be unable to respond in a reasonable timeframe, then consideration 
will be given to undertaking the process e.g. interviews or hearing via 
correspondence, this is to ensure that the process can be concluded in a timely 
manner. 

Once the investigation is concluded, the investigating officer will prepare a report 
and hearing pack which will be distributed to the employee, and their TU 
representative, panel members and the respondent within 14 calendar days of 
the hearing.  It is important that the respondent on receipt of the documentation, 
maintains confidentiality and does not share the content, approach or discuss the 
matter with the witnesses, other than their trade union representative.  Doing so 
could result in disciplinary action being taken. 

5.7.6 Resolution Hearing 

A hearing will be convened where the responsible officer will consider the facts of 
the investigation and make a determination based on the evidence.  The 
procedure for the hearing is set out within appendix 4. 

Should the responsible officer determine during the course of the investigation 
that areas of misconduct may have arisen, they will forward these concerns in 
writing to the senior directorate manager so that consideration can be given as to 
whether a disciplinary investigation or other action is required. 

5.7.7 Resolution Appeal Hearing 

If the employee is not satisfied with the decision of the responsible officer 
following the Resolution Hearing, they have the right of appeal within 7 calendar 
days from the date of written notification. 

The appeal must be made in writing stating the grounds for appeal and 
forwarded to HR. 

The procedure for the appeal hearing is set out within appendix 4.  

6. Roles & Responsibilities 

It is important that there is clarity about roles and responsibilities within the 
resolution procedure. 

6.1 Employee responsibilities 

 Behave and act in a way that is consistent with the council’s code of conduct 
and policies and procedures, as well as codes of professional conduct 
relevant to your role.   

 Ensure that any concerns that arise are brought to the attention of their 
manager (or manager’s manager) in a timely manner. 

Page 206



 

Page 11 of 23 
 

Document Title Resolution Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

 Ensure that they understand the policy and fully cooperate with the 
requirements of the policy. 

 Attempt to resolve any issues at the informal stage before resorting to the 
formal stage. 

 Attend any meetings arranged as part of this policy without any delay. 

 Provide a written record of the incidents, including times, dates and 
witnesses of the concerns where applicable.  These should be current rather 
than historical. 

 Maintain confidentiality at all times during any resolution proceeding, with the 
exception of conversations with their chosen representative (work colleague 
or TU representative). 

 

6.2 Manager responsibilities 

 Ensure awareness and understanding of all relevant policies and procedures. 

 Ensure employees are aware of all relevant policies and procedures. 

 Maintain an environment which is free from unacceptable behaviour and treat 
employees, fairly and with dignity, courtesy and respect at all times. 

 Identify unacceptable behaviour and take reasonable corrective or 
preventative action in accordance with this policy.  It is not appropriate for 
managers to ignore unacceptable behaviour. 

 Deal with any concerns promptly, fairly and consistently. 

 Work with employees to resolve concerns via the informal and formal route. 

 Consider any adjustments that may be necessary while dealing with issues 
of concern. 

 Provide support to all employees involved within the concern. 

 Keep adequate notes of all events and evidence to support the use of the 
policy. 

 Provide a response to all parties following consideration of their concerns, 
detailing the agreed actions and way forward. 

 
6.3 Human Resources responsibilities 

 

 Provide support and advice to managers on the application of this policy and 
ensure consistency in its application. 

 Provide advice to employees on the policy and support that is available. 

 Provide support to the Investigating Officer during an investigation. 

 Provide advice to the panel at a resolution hearing or appeal. 

 Review the application of the policy and procedures in light of operational 
experience. 

 Identify any learning and development needs as a result of the application of 
this policy 

 Coach managers where appropriate to have conversations to manage 
conflict and achieve resolution.   

 Undertake facilitated discussions where appropriate. 
 

 

Page 207



 

Page 12 of 23 
 

Document Title Resolution Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

6.4 Representative’s responsibilities – Trade Union 

 

 Encourage the use of informal procedures, including promoting the use of 
facilitated discussions and mediation to re-establish and maintain working 
relationships. 

 Provide advice and support to employees throughout the process. 

  Make representations on behalf of the employee but cannot answer 
questions that are directly put to the employee. 

 Work with managers, HR and employees to ensure the policy is adhered to. 

 Work with all parties to facilitate timely and early resolution to matters. 
 

7. Monitor and Review 

This policy will be reviewed in accordance with the policy review timetable or 
sooner if there is a need, or due to any legislative changes. 

 

  

Page 208



 

Page 13 of 23 
 

Document Title Resolution Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

Appendix 1 
DEFINITIONS 

 

HARASSMENT 
 

Harassment can be considered to be unwanted conduct that has the purpose or effect of 
violating a person’s dignity or creating an intimidating, hostile, degrading, humiliating or 
offensive environment for them and can be visual, verbal or physical. 
 
Examples include: 
 

 Unwanted physical contact 

 Verbal, electronic or written harassment ie ‘jokes’, offensive language, gossip, 
slander 

 Visual displays i.e. obscene gestures, pictures, flags, emblems 

 Isolation or non-cooperation at work 

 Exclusion from social activities - formal work related 

 Coercion ranging from pressure for sexual favours to pressure to participate in 
political / religious groups 

 Intrusion by pestering, spying and stalking 
 

The Equality Act 2010 Section 26 uses a single definition of harassment as follows: 
 

A person (A) harasses another (B) if: 
 

(a) A engages in unwanted conduct related to a relevant protected characteristic, and 
 

(b) The conduct has the purpose or effect of: 
 

(i)  Violating B's dignity, or 
(ii)  Creating an intimidating, hostile, degrading, humiliating or offensive  
environment for B. 

The relevant protected characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, race, 
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation, marriage and civil partnership. 

Harassment is unacceptable even if it does not fall within any of these categories. 
 
BULLYING 
 

Bullying can be considered to be offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, 
an abuse or misuse of power that can undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the 
recipient. Power does not always mean being in a position of authority, but can include 
both personal strength and the power to coerce through fear or intimidation.  
 

Examples include: 
 

 Spreading malicious rumours or insulting someone by word or behaviour 

 Excessive or harsh criticism of work or abilities 

 Deliberately withholding opportunities or excluding employees 

Page 209



 

Page 14 of 23 
 

Document Title Resolution Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

 Devaluing work efforts 

 Failure to give due credit 

 Ridiculing or demeaning someone - picking on them or setting them up to fail. 

 Overbearing supervision or other misuse of power or position 

 Making threats or comments about job security without foundation 

 Deliberately undermining employees by overloading work 

 Preventing employees progressing by blocking or preventing progression and 
training opportunities. 

 

Bullying and harassment can occur via face to face meetings, in written communications 
over the telephone or via social media.  Bullying and harassment can make some 
someone feel anxious, stressed humiliated, frightened and de-motivated.  These feelings 
can lead to job insecurity, performance issues, illness, absence from work and in some 
cases resignation.  
 

VICTIMISATION 
 

Victimisation has a very specific meaning and is described in Section 27 of the Equality 
Act 2010.  It’s not just about being singled out.  It is unlawful for one person to treat 
another unfavourably than they would treat other people because that person has done or 
intends to do a protected act. Protected acts include bringing discrimination proceedings, 
giving evidence or information in connection with discrimination proceedings, making an 
allegation or unlawful discrimination or doing anything else under, or by reference to, 
discrimination legislation. 
 

TERMS & CONDITIONS 
  
The terms and conditions of employment are the elements of a contract defining the 
employment relationship and contractual obligations between employer and employee. 
These generally include job responsibilities, rights at work, working hours, holidays, sick 
days, and salary. 
 

HEALTH & SAFETY 
Health and safety in the workplace is where workers are entitled to work in environments 
where risks to their health and safety are properly controlled. 
  

The Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 (HASAWA) lays down wide-ranging duties on 
employers. Employers must protect the 'health, safety and welfare' at work of all their 
employees, as well as others on their premises, including temporary workers, casual 
workers, the self-employed, clients, visitors, contractors and the general public. 
 

Employers have a duty to provide a safe place of work, which includes (but is not limited 
to): 
 

 Safe equipment, plant and machinery 

 Safe and competent people working alongside each other 

 Carrying out risk assessments 

 Informing workers fully about all potential hazards associated with any work 
process, chemical substance or activity 

 Providing instruction, training and supervision 

Page 210

http://www.hse.gov.uk/legislation/hswa.htm
https://worksmart.org.uk/jargon-buster/duties
https://worksmart.org.uk/jargon-buster/employee
https://worksmart.org.uk/jargon-buster/casual-worker
https://worksmart.org.uk/jargon-buster/casual-worker
https://worksmart.org.uk/jargon-buster/self-employed
https://worksmart.org.uk/jargon-buster/risk-assessment
https://worksmart.org.uk/jargon-buster/worker


 

Page 15 of 23 
 

Document Title Resolution Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

 Providing adequate facilities for staff welfare at work. 

EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES 

Equal opportunities upholds the idea that all workers within an organisation should be 
entitled to and have access to all of the organisations facilities at every stage of 
employment, including the pre-employment phase. We recognise and value individuals' 
unique differences, to help us develop our understanding of our workforce and the 
communities that we serve.  

At all times, we will treat all individuals both within and outside Bridgend County Borough 

Council with openness, fairness, dignity and respect. 

This means every individual should have a fair chance: 

 to apply and be selected for posts pre-employment 
 to be trained and promoted while employed with the organisation 
 to have their employment terminated equally and fairly 

Denying any employee or prospective employee their right to equality in the workplace 
could amount to discrimination, which is prohibited by the Equality Act 2010. 
As a council, ‘equality’ means understanding and tackling barriers so that everyone has a 
fair chance to fulfil their potential. Equality and fairness are at the heart of our day to day 
business which is evident in the Councils Strategic Equality Plan. 

RESPONSIBLE OFFICER 
 

An officer who will chair the resolution and appeal hearing to ensure an orderly manner is 
maintained and ensure all evidence has been obtained to be able to make an informed, 
fair and reasonable decision.  

INVESTIGATING OFFICER 

A trained individual who will gather evidence to establish facts related to the concerns 
raised whilst ensuring a fair process followed and all parties treated fairly. 
 

COMPLAINANT 
 

Employee(s) who bring forward a concern. 
 

RESPONDENT 
 

Employee whom the concern is against. 
 
WITNESS  
 

An individual who is able to provide information in relation to the concern raised. 
 
FACILITATOR 
 

Page 211

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-and-policy/legislation/equality-act-2010/what-equality-act


 

Page 16 of 23 
 

Document Title Resolution Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

Provide support and guidance to employee’s entering the facilitated discussion and will 

write up the agreements reached between both parties. 

  

Page 212



 

Page 17 of 23 
 

Document Title Resolution Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

Appendix 2 

RESOLUTION STATEMENT 

EMPLOYEE NAME STAFF NUMBER 

 
 

 

JOB TITLE DEPARTMENT 

 
 

 

MANAGERS NAME LENGTH OF TIME IN POST 

  
 

 

 

PLEASE SPECIFY IF THIS IS AN INDIVIDUAL OR COLLECTIVE CONCERN 

INDIVIDUAL           
COLLECTIVE  Please provide names and job titles of all employees who wish to 
raise this concern. Use an additional sheet if necessary.  
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

HAVE YOU ATTEMPTED TO DEAL WITH YOUR CONCERNS INFORMALLY? 

YES       
Please provide details – how, when, with whom and what was the outcome. 
 
 
 
 
 

NO        
Please explain why you have not tried to resolve the concerns informally. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 213



 

Page 18 of 23 
 

Document Title Resolution Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

DETAILS OF CONCERN 
 Please provide full details of your concern including dates, times and names of any witnesses where 

applicable.   

 If this concern is about a specific employee, please include their name, job title and relationship to 
you.   

 Additional sheets can be attached along with any relevant documents that you have that relate to 
your concern. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 214



 

Page 19 of 23 
 

Document Title Resolution Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

DETAILS OF BREACHES 
Please provide details of any policies, procedure or guidelines you believe have 
been breached 

 
 
 
 

 

PROPOSED SOLUTION 
Please state what you would like to see happen to resolve your concerns. Please 
note that disciplinary action may not be necessary or appropriate. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
PLEASE NOTE: 

(1) All efforts should be made to resolve the concern informally before 
proceeding to the formal stage. 

(2) Consent should be sought from any witnesses before naming them on this 

form as the respondent will be given the opportunity to respond to the 

concerns raised. 

(3) A copy of this form will be provided to an investigating officer and the 

respondent (if the concern is against other employees) at the relevant stage 

i.e. formal stage of the policy. 

(4) Once the investigation is concluded the matter will proceed to a hearing.  The 

investigating officer will prepare a report and hearing pack which will include 

a copy of this form, any statements and any documents and/or information 

you provide, which will be shared with you and your TU representative, the 

panel members, the respondent(s) and their TU representative prior to the 

hearing. 

(5) Any concerns found to be malicious, vexatious or false could result in 

disciplinary action being taken. 

(6) Advice can be sought at any time from your manager or HR and access to 
Care First is available 24/7 on 0800 174319. 

 
I confirm I have read the above points and consent to my data being shared in 
accordance with the resolution policy. 
 

EMPLOYEE SIGNATURE DATE 

 
 

 

 
If you have any queries please discuss with either your manager or HR Business 
Partner. 

 

Page 215



 

Page 20 of 23 
 

Document Title Resolution Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

Appendix 3 
 

FACILITATED DISCUSSION GUIDANCE 

 

What is a facilitated discussion? 

A facilitated discussion is a confidential voluntary process that helps two or more 

individuals in a disagreement, attempt to resolve the concern and to reach an agreement 

themselves.  It is about working together rather than blaming each other. 

The employees will be taken through the process by an agreed facilitator who is 

responsible for the process of seeking to resolve the problem, but not for determining the 

outcome as this is arrived at, agreed upon and owned by the employees involved.  The 

facilitator is not there to judge or tell employees what they should do but to ensure the 

smooth running of the process. 

This process provides an opportunity for employees to discuss issues in a supportive, 

constructive and empathetic forum and agree a way forward in a safe and confidential 

environment. 

The focus of the discussion is to agree what will happen in the future, rather than what has 

happened in the past and making an agreement, outlining mutually acceptable future 

behaviour between the employees. 

At the end of the discussion an agreement will be drawn up for both parties to sign.  This is 

not a legal binding document but an agreement to work together better going forward. 

 

When is a facilitated discussion appropriate? 

 A facilitated discussion is appropriate when: 

 There has been a breakdown in working relationships 

 All parties wish to resolve issues informally and avoid formal processes 

 All parties have the willingness to be open, honest and respectful 

 Parties cannot work through their concerns alone 
 

A facilitated discussion can take place at any time during the working relationship and 

does not have to be instigated as a result of a formal process having been undertaken. 

  

 

Page 216



 

Page 21 of 23 
 

Document Title Resolution Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

When is a facilitated discussion not appropriate? 

A facilitated discussion is not appropriate: 

 When both parties are not committed to resolving the disagreement 

 When a  serious breach of discrimination, harassment has taken place 

 As an alternative to disciplinary action 

 Where there is a risk to health and wellbeing 

 Where one person wants an apology rather than agreement to move forward 

 When previous attempts on the same concern has not been reached 
 

Support during a facilitated discussion 

A facilitated discussion is most successful when representatives are not present.  The 

facilitator will ensure there is an open conversation between both parties to ensure 

fairness and appropriate behaviour is maintained. 

Stages of a facilitated discussion 

 Facilitator makes contact with both parties to explain the process 

 Agreement from both parties to proceed 

 Facilitated discussion  

 Written agreement between both parties 

 Review date agreed 
 

Any party, including the facilitator can end the discussion at any time during the 

process if they feel it appropriate to do so due to information which may emerge or 

behaviour warrants it. 

  

Page 217



 

Page 22 of 23 
 

Document Title Resolution Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

Appendix 4 
PROCEDURE TO BE ADOPTED AT HEARING & APPEAL 

 
This procedure applies to the Resolution policy. 
 
Resolution Hearing 
 
1. The complainant, investigating officer and their representatives shall be called in 

simultaneously before the panel.  At the start of the hearing the responsible officer 
will introduce those present and will explain the procedure. 
 

2. The investigating officer will present their case first calling, if appropriate, any 
witnesses to assist in substantiating or clarifying the facts. 

 
3. The complainant and/or his/her representative will be entitled to question the 

investigating officer and any witnesses. 
 
4. The complainant or his/her representative will present their case also calling, if 

appropriate, any witnesses to assist in substantiating or clarifying the facts. 
 
5. The investigating officer and/or the HR Business partner who supported the 

investigation will be entitled to question the complainant and any witnesses. 
 
6. The responsible officer and supporting HR Business partner will be entitled at any 

time during the hearing to ask questions. 
 
7. The complainant will leave the hearing and the respondent and their representative 

will be invited into the hearing. 
 
8. The respondent will attend the hearing to assist the investigating officer and panel 

with any questions that may arise so that clarity can be provided.  The respondent 
will not be cross examined by the complainant or their representative. 

 
9. Where new evidence arises during the hearing it may be appropriate to adjourn in 

order to investigate or consider such points. 
 
10. The respondent will leave the hearing and the complainant will return. 
 
11. The investigating officer will be given an opportunity to sum up but will not be able 

to introduce any new evidence at this stage. 
 

12. The complainant or his/her representative will be given an opportunity to sum up.  
He/she will not be able to introduce any new evidence at this stage. 

 
13. All parties apart from the responsible officer and HR Business partner will withdraw 

from the meeting so that deliberations can commence. 
 

Page 218



 

Page 23 of 23 
 

Document Title Resolution Policy Department HR&OD 

Publication date  Review Date  

 

14. Once a decision is made, all parties will be recalled and the decision announced to 
them together with the reasons for it.  The decision will be confirmed in writing 
within 7 calendar days of the hearing.  

 
Appeal Hearing 
 

1. The process for the hearing will take the same format as the resolution hearing, but 
will be considered by the Grievance, Disciplinary and Appeals Committee, who will 
be supported by one of the council's solicitors in the role of clerk, a HR Business 
partner and a minute taker. 
 

2. The members, clerk of the committee and the HR Business partner will be entitled 
at any time during the hearing, with the consent of the chairman, to ask questions. 

 
3. Once representation has been made, all parties other than the members of the 

committee, the HR Business partner and the legal clerk will withdraw from the 
meeting.  The HR Business partner and legal clerk will remain in the meeting whilst 
the committee require advice. 

 
4. Once the committee has received advice from the HR Business partner and legal 

clerk, the HR Business partner and legal clerk will withdraw while the committee 
considered the appeal. 

 
5. The committee may recall the HR Business Partner, Legal Clerk and minute-taker 

to clarify any points.  Should the committee require advice from the HR Business 
partner or legal clerk both officers should be recalled together. 

 
6. The outcome of the appeal hearing will be conveyed in writing to the employee 

within 7 calendar days of the hearing. 
 

7. The decision of the committee is final.  
 

Page 219



This page is intentionally left blank



 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO CABINET 
 

 20 JULY 2021    
 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF OFFICER - LEGAL, HR AND REGULATORY SERVICES 
 

INFORMATION REPORT FOR NOTING 
 
1. Purpose of report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform Cabinet of the Information Reports for noting 

which have been published since its last scheduled meeting. 
 

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities 
 

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objective 
under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-  

    

 Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all its resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that 
can help deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.  

 
3. Background 
 
3.1 At a previous meeting of Cabinet, it was resolved to approve a revised procedure for the 

presentation to Cabinet of Information Reports for noting. 
 

4. Current situation/proposal                                                                      
  
4.1 Information Reports  
 
 The following information reports have been published since the last meeting of 

Cabinet:-     
 
Title          Date Published 
 

 Monitoring Report – Complaints, Freedom of Information       14 July 2021 
and Data Protection  

 
Annual Treasury Management Outturn Report 2020-21   14 July 2021  

                                                                                                                                                                                                           
4.2 Availability of Documents 
 
 This document has been circulated to Elected Members electronically via  

email and placed on the Bridgend County Borough Council website. It is also available 
from the date of publication.  

 
5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 

Page 221

Agenda Item 12



 

5.1 This procedure has been adopted within the procedure rules of the Constitution. 
 

6. Equality Act 2010 Implications 
 
6.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic Duty 

and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered in the 
preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales the Council must consider the 
impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services and functions. This is an information report, therefore it is not 
necessary to carry out an Equality Impact assessment in the production of this report. It 
is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable equality impacts as a 
result of this report.  

 
   
7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications  
 
7.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 
 report.  It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts upon 
 the achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of  this report. 
 
8. Financial implications 
 
8.1 There are no financial implications regarding this report.  

 
9. Recommendation 
 
9.1 That Cabinet acknowledges the publication of the documents listed in this report. 

 
 
 
 
K Watson 
Chief Officer Legal, HR and Regulatory Services & Monitoring Officer 
14 July 2021  

 
Contact Officer: Andrew Rees   
   Democratic Services Officer - Committees  
Telephone:  (01656) 643147 
Email:  cabinet_committee@bridgend.gov.uk 
 
Postal address: Democratic Services 
   Legal and Regulatory Services 

Civic Offices 
Angel Street  
Bridgend  
CF31 4WB 
 
 

 
Background documents:  None 

Page 222

mailto:cabinet_committee@bridgend.gov.uk


 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO CABINET 
 

20 JULY 2021 
 

 REPORT OF THE CHIEF OFFICER – LEGAL, HR AND REGULATORY SERVICES 
 
 

MONITORING REPORT – COMPLAINTS, FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND DATA 
PROTECTION  
 
1. Purpose of report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to report upon the performance of the Information 

Team in processing Corporate Complaints, Freedom of Information requests and 
other information requests.   

 

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities 
 

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objective/objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015: 

 

 Smarter use of resources – ensure that all  resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives. 

 
3. Background 
 
3.1 The Information Team which is comprised of the Information and Data Protection 

Officer and Information Assistant is responsible for the following areas: Corporate 
Complaints, Freedom of Information requests, Data Subject Access Requests, and 
other requests for information from public bodies including requests made under 
Schedule 2 Part 1 of the Data Protection Act 2018. 

 
3.2 The Corporate Complaints Policy requires that the Information Team report to 

Cabinet at least annually on performance.  Appendix A includes performance data 
in relation to the additional areas outlined above as these form a significant part of 
the work of the team. 

 
3.3 There is a legislative requirement to respond to Freedom of Information requests 

within a 20 working day period and to Data Subject Access requests in 1 calendar 
month.  Information requests from public bodies do not have a statutory response 
deadline; however the team endeavour to respond to these requests as quickly as 
reasonably practicable.  In line with the Corporate Complaints Policy the Authority 
should respond to a formal complaint in 20 working days. 
 
 
 
 

Page 223



 

4. Current situation/proposal 
 
4.1 Appendix A provides a monitoring report for the period 1 January – 31 December 

2020. This includes data on the numbers of complaints, Freedom of Information 
requests, Data Subject Access requests and Information requests processed by the 
team during this period.  
 

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 There is no effect upon the Policy Framework or the Procedure Rules. 

 
6. Equality Act 2010 implications  
 
6.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic 

Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh language have been considered in the 
preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales, the Council must consider the 
impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services and functions. This is an information report, therefore it is not 
necessary to carry out an EIA in the production of this report. It is considered that 
there will be no significant or unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this 
report.  

 

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 
7.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 

report. It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts upon 
the achievement of wellbeing goals/objectives as a result of this report. 

 
8. Financial implications 
 
8.1 There are no financial implications arising out of this report. 

 
9. Recommendation 
 
9.1 Cabinet is recommended  to note the Monitoring Report attached as Appendix A. 

 
Kelly Watson  
Chief Officer – Legal, HR and Regulatory Services 
2 June 2020 

 
 

Contact officer:  Charlotte Branford 
    Information and Data Protection Officer  
 
Telephone:   (01656) 643565 
 
Email:   Charlotte.Branford@bridgend.gov.uk> 
 
Postal address:  Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB 

 
Background documents: None.  
 

Page 224



1 
 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

MONITORING REPORT – COMPLAINTS, FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND DATA 
PROTECTION  

 
1. Background  

 
The Information Team based in Legal, HR & Regulatory Services is responsible 
for processing all formal complaints in line with the Authority’s Corporate 
Complaints Procedure, logging and responding to requests made under the 
Freedom of Information Act 2000 and Data Subject Access requests made 
under the Data Protection Act 2018. The Team also process requests for 
information from bodies such as the Police, HMRC and the NHS. 

 
Complaints  
 
The Corporate Complaints Policy was approved by the Cabinet at its meeting 
held on 17 November 2020, to take effect from 23 November 2020.  
 
The Policy sets out a two stage process as follows: 
 

 Informal Complaint Stage 

 Formal Complaint Stage  
 
This Policy replaces the previous policy which was approved in 2013.   
The policy is a national policy required by the Public Services Ombudsman for 
Wales.   
 

2. Informal Complaints (Stage 1) 
 
2.1 The Policy recognises that complaints should be dealt with as quickly as 

possible and where possible informally as part of the normal working of the 
Authority.  It advises customers to contact the office or officer responsible for the 
service to provide an opportunity to solve the problem.  All informal complaints 
should be logged in the Corporate Complaints office as the Council is now 
required to report on these every quarter to the Public Services Ombudsman.   
 

2.2 The Public Services Ombudsman now sets criteria for complaint types to be 
logged.  For the period from 1 January to 31 December 2020, the number of 
informal complaints received against each category was as follows: 

 

Informal Complaints Number 

Adult Social Services 3 

Benefits Administration 10 

Children’ Social Services 7 

Appendix A 

Page 225



2 
 

Community Facilities (including Recreation & 
Leisure) 8 

Education 149 

Environment & Environmental Health 85 

Finance & Council Tax 26 

Housing 14 

Planning & Building Control 3 

Roads & Transport 73 

Various/Other 30 

Complaints Handling 0 

 
 

3.  Formal Complaints (Stage 2) 
 

3.1 Formal complaints are received by email, telephone, letter or online complaint 
form.  All formal corporate complaints with the exception of schools and social 
services (which have their own statutory procedures) are received, logged and 
acknowledged centrally by the Information Team within 5 working days.  These 
complaints are sent to the relevant Head of Service who appoints a senior 
officer within the service to investigate the complaint and respond directly within 
20 working days. The Information Team is provided with a copy of the response. 
If an investigation is more complex and more time may be needed, the 
complainant is advised of the likely timescale and kept informed of progress. 

 
3.2 The Information Team has received, logged, acknowledged and referred a total 

of 51 formal complaints for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2020. The 
breakdown for the period is as follows: 

 
 

 Jan – Dec 
2020   

No. of Complaints Received 51 

No. acknowledged in 5 working days 48 

No. acknowledged outside 5 working days  3 
 

 

3.3  The table below sets out the number of formal complaints the Council has 
received in 2020 and the previous years two years: 

 
   

 
 
 
 

   

Year Number of 
Complaints Received 

Jan – Dec 2018 59 

Jan – Dec 2019 88 

Jan – Dec 2020 51 

Page 226



3 
 

3.4 The Information Team endeavour to ensure that all complaints (both informal 
and formal) are acknowledged within 5 working days.  However in some 
circumstances and for a variety of reasons this is not always possible. The 
reason for the delay in the three instances are:  

 i) The case had previously been logged at informal stage and was then 
escalated at request of complainant 

 ii) referral was directly from Public Services Ombudsman for Wales which 
resulted in a delay in acknowledgement 

 iii) the acknowledgment was delayed while it was determined if this was a 
Corporate or a Social Services complaint.  

 
3.5 For the period from 1 January to 31 December 2020, the number of formal 

complaints received against each of the Public Services Ombudman criteria was 
as follows: 

 

Formal Number 

Adult Social Services 3 

Benefits Administration 1 

Children's Social Services 4 

Community Facilities (including Recreation & 
Leisure) 0 

Education 15 

Environment & Environmental Health 3 

Finance & Council Tax 3 

Housing 7 

Planning & Building Control 4 

Roads & Transport 7 

Various/Other 4 

Complaints Handling 0 

 
 
3.6 The following information sets out the breakdown of formal complaints received 

regarding each County Borough Council Ward shown, which has been requested 
by elected Members: 

 
 

Ward  
No. of 
complaints  

Bryncethin 1 

Bryntirion, Laleston and Merthyr 
Mawr 5 

Caerau 1 

Cefn Glas 1 

Coity  2 

Cornelly 2 

Page 227



4 
 

Llangynwyd 2 

Maesteg East 1 

Maesteg West  2 

Morfa 1 

Ogmore Vale 1 

Oldcastle 1 

Pendre 1 

Penprysg 1 

Porthcawl West Central 1 

Ynysawdre 2 

Unknown/by e-mail 26 

 51 

 
 
3.7 For the period from 1 January to 31 December 2020, the number of formal 

complaints received by each Directorate was as follows: 
 

  
 
 

3.8 For the period 1 January to 31 December 2020 three complaints were received 
by the Welsh Language commissioner about a service proviced by the Authority; 
one complaint was discontinued and two are still being investigated by the 
Welsh Language Commissioner.  

 
3.9 As required by the Equalities Strategy, an equalities monitoring questionnaire 

has been developed to accompany the Corporate Complaints Form.  The 
information collected informs the Strategic Equality Plan. 

 

15

15

12

7

1 1

Complaints January to December 2020

Communities Education & Family Support

Chief Executive's Social Services and Wellbeing

Multiple Public Protection (Licensing)

Page 228



5 
 

3.10 The chart below provides a breakdown of the number of formal Complaints 
received, those responded to within 20 working days, those for which it was 
necessary to request an extension to the response deadline, those that remain 
outstanding and those complaints currently under investigation within the 
respective  20 working days. 

 
 

 
 

 
 

4.  Complaints made to the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales 
 
4.1 Customers have the right at any stage to refer their complaint to the Public 

Services Ombudsman for Wales for his consideration of maladministration e.g. 
unfairness or delay.  However, the Ombudsman will usually give the Authority a 
reasonable opportunity to investigate and respond to a complaint, before he 
investigates.  

 
4.2 The Public Services Ombudsman for Wales received 14 complaints about the 

Authority during the period January to December 2020, of these 3 were referred 
back to the Authority for investigation, 1 is an open investigation at the time of 
reporting and the remainder did not proceed to investigation as the Ombudsman 
found there was no case to answer. A breakdown of the complaints by service 
area is set out below.  

 
 

Council Tax 2 

Housing  4 

Planning  2 

Social Services  6 

51

41

10

0
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

No. of Complaints No. response issued
within 20 working

days

No. provided with
extension

No. remaining
outstanding

Stage 2 complaints received

Page 229



6 
 

Total: 14 

 
 
 
5 Freedom of Information Requests 
 
5.1  During the period 1 January to 31 December 2020 the Information Team logged 

and acknowledged a total of 877 requests made under the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000.  The chart below illustrates the number of responses 
provided within the statutory deadline of 20 working days. There were 17 
internal reviews requested during January 2020-December 2020. A requester 
may ask for a review to be undertaken if they are not satisfied with the 
Authority’s response, and these are generally undertaken by the Information and 
Data Protection Officer. All internal reviews were responded to in 20 working 
days as recommended in the guidance provided by the Information 
Commissioner’s Office. 2 requests resulted in a complaint to the Information 
Commissioner’s Office. 

 
 

 

877

658

54
17 2

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

No. requests
received

Response within 20
working days

Incomplete (where
request has been
withdrawn or no

clarification
received)

Review Complaint to ICO

Freedom of Information Requests - 2020

Page 230



7 
 

6 Service Area Breakdown 
 
 

 
 

21

10
7

4

18

1
3

43

3

8

3

76

8

19

71

3 3

9

2

46

4 3

11

29

37
40

47

14

25

46

53

9

31

6

19

14

1 2

53

15

6

43

11

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

A
d

u
lt

's
 S

o
ci

al
 S

er
vi

ce
s

B
en

ef
it

s

B
er

e
av

e
m

en
t 

Se
rv

ic
e

s

B
u

ild
in

g 
C

o
n

tr
o

l

C
ar

 P
ar

ki
n

g/
C

iv
il 

En
fo

rc
em

en
t

C
C

TV

C
h

ie
f 

Ex
ec

u
ti

ve

C
h

ild
re

n
's

 S
o

ci
al

 S
e

rv
ic

es

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
at

io
n

s

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

Sa
fe

ty

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 L
an

d
lo

rd

C
o

u
n

ci
l T

ax

C
u

st
o

m
e

r 
Se

rv
ic

es

D
em

o
cr

at
ic

 S
e

rv
ic

e
s

ED
SU

El
ec

to
ra

l

Em
er

ge
n

cy
 P

la
n

n
in

g

En
er

gy
 M

an
ag

e
m

en
t

Fa
ci

lit
ie

s

Fi
n

an
ce

Fl
ee

t

Fl
o

o
d

 R
is

k 
M

an
ag

em
e

n
t

FO
I

H
ig

h
w

ay
s

H
o

u
si

n
g

H
R

IC
T

In
su

ra
n

ce

Le
ga

l

Li
ce

n
si

n
g

M
u

lt
ip

le

P
ar

ks
 &

 P
la

yi
n

g 
Fi

el
d

s

P
la

n
n

in
g

P
ro

cu
re

m
en

t

P
ro

p
er

ty

R
eg

e
n

er
at

io
n

R
ig

h
ts

 o
f 

W
ay

Se
ct

io
n

 1
0

6
 A

gr
ee

m
e

n
ts

So
ci

al
 S

e
rv

ic
es

Tr
af

fi
c 

&
 T

ra
n

sp
o

rt
at

io
n

Tr
af

fi
c 

M
an

ag
em

e
n

t

W
as

te
/S

tr
ee

t 
C

le
an

in
g

W
el

lb
ei

n
g

Freedom of Information Requests by Service Area 2020

P
age 231



8 
 

 
 
7 FOI request comparison 

 
7.1 The table below sets out the number of Freedom of Information requests the 

Council has received in 2020 in comparison with the previous years two years: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8 Data Subject Access Requests  

 
8.1 During the period January to December 2020 the Information Team processed a 

total of 93 data subject access requests and 2 requests from health board for 
disclosure of Social Services records. 

 
 
9 Information Requests from Public Bodies 
 
9.1 During the period 1 January to 31 December 2020 the Information Team 

processed 148 requests for information from public bodies including UK Police 
Forces, HMRC, other local authorities, the Health & Safety Executive and the 
Probation Service. The majority of requests were made under Schedule 2, Part 
1 (2) of the Data Protection Act 2018 (Crime and Taxation exemption).  

 
 

Year Number of FOIs 
Received 

Jan – Dec 2018 1201 

Jan – Dec 2019 992 

Jan – Dec 2020 877 

Page 232



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   

   

  

   

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
    

INFORMATION REPORT TO CABINET 
 

20 JULY 2021 
 

REPORT OF THE INTERIM CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND 
CHANGE  

 
ANNUAL TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUTTURN REPORT 2020-21 

 
1. Purpose of report 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to:- 
 

 Comply with the requirement of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy’s ‘Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code 
of Practice’ (the Code) to report an overview of treasury activities for the 
preceding financial year; 
 

 Report on the actual Treasury Management Indicators for 2020-21.  
 

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate 

priorities 

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 

objective under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015: 

 

 Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and 
efficiently as possible and support the creation of resources throughout 
the community that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being 
objectives. 

 
2.2 The Treasury Management Report is integral to the delivery of all of the 

Council’s well-being objectives as the allocation of resources determines the 
extent to which the well-being objectives can be delivered. 

 

3. Background  
 
3.1 Treasury management is the management of the Council’s cash flows, 

borrowing and investments, and the associated risks. The Council is exposed 
to financial risks including the loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of 
changing interest rates.  The successful identification, monitoring and control 
of financial risk are therefore central to the Council’s prudent financial 
management.  

 
3.2 Treasury risk management at the Council is conducted within the framework of 

the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Treasury 
Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 2017 Edition (the CIPFA 

Page 233



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   

   

  

   

Code) which requires the Council to approve a Treasury Management Strategy 
(TMS) before the start of each financial year. The CIPFA Code also requires 
the Council to set a number of Treasury Management Indicators, which are 
forward looking parameters and enable the Council to measure and manage its 
exposure to treasury management risks, and these are included throughout this 
report. In addition, the Welsh Government (WG) issued revised Guidance on 
Local Authority Investments in November 2019 that requires the Council to 
approve an Investment Strategy before the start of each financial year. This 
report fulfils the Council’s legal obligation under the Local Government Act 2003 
to have regard to both the CIPFA Code and the Welsh Government Guidance. 

 
3.3 In 2017 CIPFA also published a new version of the Prudential Code for Capital 

Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code). The updated Prudential 
Code includes a requirement for Local Authorities to provide a Capital Strategy, 
which is a summary document approved by full Council covering capital 
expenditure and financing, treasury management and non-treasury 
investments. The definition of investments in the revised 2017 CIPFA Code now 
covers all the financial assets of the Council as well as other non-financial 
assets which the authority holds primarily for financial return. The Council’s 
Capital Strategy 2020-21, complying with CIPFA’s requirement, includes the 
Prudential Indicators along with details regarding the Council’s non-treasury 
investments. The Capital Strategy and TMS should be read in conjunction with 
each other as they are interlinked, as borrowing and investments are directly 
impacted upon by capital plans and were approved together by Council on 26 
February 2020. 

 
3.4 The Council’s treasury management advisors are Arlingclose. The current 

services provided to the Council include:- 

 advice and guidance on relevant policies, strategies and reports 

 advice on investment decisions 

 notification of credit ratings and changes 

 other information on credit quality 

 advice on debt management decisions 

 accounting advice 

 reports on treasury performance 

 forecasts of interest rates 

 training courses  
4. Current situation/proposal  
 
4.1    Economic Context  

 
4.1.1 The coronavirus pandemic dominated 2020-21, leading to almost the entire 

world being in some form of lockdown during the year. The start of the financial 
year saw many central banks cutting interest rates as lockdowns caused 
economic activity to grind to a halt. The Bank of England cut the Bank Rate to 
0.1% in March 2020 and the UK government provided a range of fiscal stimulus 
measures, the size of which has not been seen in peacetime. Some good news 
came in December 2020 as two COVID-19 vaccines were given approval by 
the UK Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (MHRA). The 

Page 234



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   

   

  

   

UK vaccine rollout started in earnest and by 31 March 2021 over 31 million 
people had received their first dose. 
 

4.1.2 The Brexit transition period, which has kept the UK temporarily attached to most 
EU rules, expired on 31 December 2020. After months of negotiations, the UK 
and European Union finally agreed a last minute trade deal. 
 

4.1.3 The Bank of England (BoE) held the Bank Rate at 0.1% throughout the year. In 
its March 2021 interest rate announcement, the BoE noted that while GDP 
would remain low in the near-term, due to COVID-19 lockdown restrictions, the 
easing of these measures means growth is expected to recover strongly later 
in the year. Inflation is forecast to increase in the near-term and while the 
economic outlook has improved there are downside risks to the forecast, 
including from unemployment which is still predicted to rise when the furlough 
scheme is eventually withdrawn.  
 

4.1.4 Government initiatives supported the economy and in the 2021 Budget on 3 
March 2021 the Chancellor announced a further extension to the furlough 
(Coronavirus Job Retention) scheme until September 2021. Access to support 
grants was also widened, enabling more self-employed people to be eligible for 
government help. Since March 2020 the government schemes have helped to  
protect more than 11 million jobs. 
                                                        

4.1.5 Since the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, the UK and Welsh Government 
have announced a wide range of financial support schemes to try and mitigate 
the impact on the economy, businesses and individuals. These include: 

 

 Job Retention Scheme (furlough) (UK) 

 Self Employed Income Support Scheme (UK) 

 Small Charities Business Rates Grants (WG) 

 Local Government Hardship Fund (WG),  

 Business Support Grants  (WG) 

 Economic Resilience Fund (WG)  
 
 

 The local authority has administered a number of the Welsh Government 
Schemes including payment of over 2,400 business and charity Business Rates 
Grants worth over £30 million; over 1,700 Lockdown Grants totalling just over 
£5.4 million; and 4500 Business Restrictions Grants totalling £14.96 million, as 
well as bearing the upfront costs of additional support required throughout the 
pandemic in advance of receiving WG funding. This has clearly had an impact 
on the Council’s cash flow during the year and measures have had to be put in 
place to manage the significant sums of money flowing into and out of the 
Council’s bank account, including receiving earlier payments of Revenue 
Support Grant and interim business grant payments from Welsh Government, 
making short term deposits until funding is required and increasing our daily 
BACS limits to enable more payments to be processed quickly. As the year 

Page 235



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   

   

  

   

progressed more Welsh Government grants were announced and paid, so 
close management of the Council’s cash flow was a priority. 

4.2    Treasury Management Outturn 2020-21 
 

4.2.1 The Council has complied with its legislative and regulatory requirements during 
2020-21. The TMS 2020-21 and the Half Year Report were reported to Council 
on 26 February 2020 and 18 November 2020 respectively.  In addition, quarterly 
monitoring reports were presented to Cabinet during 2020-21. 
 

4.2.2 A summary of the treasury management activities for 2020-21 is shown in 
Appendix A. The Council’s external debt and investment position for 1 April 
2020 to 31 March 2021 is shown in Table 1 below and more detail is provided 
in Appendix A section 2, Borrowing Strategy and Outturn, and section 3, 
Investment Strategy and Outturn. No long term borrowing was taken out in 
2020-21 and no debt rescheduling was undertaken as there were no significant 
savings to be made, however, the loan portfolio will be reviewed during 2021-
22. Favourable cash flows have provided surplus funds for investment and the 
balance on investments at 31 March 2021 was £51.5 million, with an average 
interest rate of 0.21%. This was a decrease in investments outstanding from the 
start of the financial year where investments were £62.0 million (average 
interest rate 0.37%), which was as a consequence of the significant amount of 
grant funding paid to the Council just as the first National Lockdown commenced 
in March 2020. Table 2 in Appendix A details the movement of the investments 
by counterparty types and shows the average balances, interest received, 
original duration and interest rates for 2020-21. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 236



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   

   

  

   

           Table 1: Council’s external debt and investment position 1 April 2020 to 31 March 
2021 

  
 

 
   
 * (PFI) arrangement for the provision of a Secondary School in Maesteg 13.5 years remaining term 

**the funds provide instant access  

 
4.2.3 The £19.25 million in Table 1 above relates to Lender’s Option Borrower’s 

Option (LOBO) loans which have a maturity date of 2054, however these may 
be rescheduled in advance of this maturity date.  The LOBO rate and term 
may vary in the future depending upon the prevailing rates at one of the bi-
annual trigger points (these being July and January) and, therefore, the 
Council being given the option to accept the increase or repay the loan 
without incurring a penalty.  The next trigger point is July 2021 although it is 
anticipated that the lender is unlikely to exercise this option in the current low 
interest rate environment. 

 
4.2.4 The Total Other Long Term Liabilities figure of £17.22 million at 31 March 2021 

includes £15.57 million for the Council’s Private Finance Initiative (PFI) 
arrangement for the provision of a Secondary School in Maesteg. It also 
includes an increase in respect of increased Salix borrowing for phase 2 of the 
Street Lighting replacement programme.   

 

Principal Average Principal Average

Rate  Rate 

01/04/2020 01/04/2020 31/03/2021 31/03/2021

£m % £m %

External Long Term Borrowing:

Public Works Loan Board 77.62 4.70 77.62 4.70

Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option 19.25 4.65 19.25 4.65

Total External Borrowing 96.87 4.69 96.87 4.69

Other Long Term Liabilities (LTL): 

Private Finance Initiative (PFI)* 16.30 15.57

Other LTL 1.10 1.66

Total Other Long Term Liabilities 17.40 17.22

Total Gross External Debt 114.27 114.09

Treasury Investments:

Debt Management Office 37.00 0.06 0.00 0.00

Local Authorities 18.00 0.97 48.50 0.22

Banks 5.00 0.34 1.00 0.05

Building Societies 2.00 0.78 0.00 0.00

Money Market Fund*** - - 2.05 0.02

Total Treasury Investments 62.00 0.37 51.55 0.21

Net Debt 52.27 62.54

Page 237



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   

   

  

   

4.2.5 As mentioned in paragraph 4.2.2 a significant amount of cash came into the 

Council at the end of 2019-20, mainly funding for the first tranche of business 

grants and advanced payments of revenue support grant, and this had to be 

invested quickly. A large amount was invested in the Debt Management Office, 

but over the year this was used either to pay the business grants or surplus 

funds reinvested in alternative, higher interest earning counterparties. 

4.2.6 Both the CIPFA Code and WG Guidance require the Council to invest its funds 
prudently and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its investments 
before seeking the highest rate of return, or yield.  The Council’s objective when 
investing money is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and return.  
Investment decisions are made by reference to the lowest published long-term 
credit rating from Fitch, Moody’s or Standard and Poor’s to ensure that this lies 
within the Council’s agreed minimum credit rating. 
 

4.2.7 The Council defines high credit quality as organisations and securities having 
a credit rating of A- (A3 for Moody’s) or higher and the Council does not invest 
in any organisation below this level.  Appendix B shows the equivalence table 
for credit ratings for Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s and explains the 
different investment grades. 
 

4.2.8 There were no long-term investments (original duration of 12 months or more) 
outstanding as at 31 March 2021.  All investments at 31 March 2021 were short 
term deposits including instant access and notice accounts. 
 

4.2.9 The TM Code requires the Council to set and report on a number of Treasury 
Management Indicators. The indicators either summarise the expected activity 
or introduce limits upon the activity. Details of the estimates for 2020-21 set out 
in the Council’s TMS, compared to the actual at year end, are shown in section 
4 in Appendix A and these show that the Council is operating in line with the 
approved limits. 

 
5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 As required by Financial Procedure Rule 20.3 within the Council’s Constitution, 

all investments and borrowing transactions have been undertaken in 
accordance with the TMS 2020-21 as approved by Council with due regard to 
the requirements of the CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Treasury Management in 
the Public Services. 

6. Equality Act 2010 implications 
 
6.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic 

Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered 
in the preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales the Council must 
consider the impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the 
review of policies, strategies, services and functions. This is an information 
report, therefore it is not necessary to carry out an Equality Impact assessment 
in the production of this report. It is considered that there will be no significant 
or unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report.  

 

Page 238



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   

   

  

   

7.  Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 
7.1       The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of 

this report. As the report is for information only and is retrospective in nature it 
is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts upon the 
achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this report. 

 
8. Financial implications 
 
8.1      The financial implications are reflected within the report. 
 
9. Recommendations 
 
9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet:  
 

• Note the annual treasury management activities for 2020-21. 
• Note the actual Treasury Management indicators for 2020-21 against the 

ones approved in the Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21. 
 

 
Gill Lewis 
INTERIM CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND CHANGE 
July 2021 
 

Contact Officer: Eilish Thomas 
   Finance Manager – Financial Control and Closing  
 
Telephone:  01656 643359 
 
E-mail:  eilish.thomas@bridgend.gov.uk 
 
Postal Address: Bridgend County Borough Council 
   Chief Executives - Finance 
   Raven’s Court 

Brewery Lane 
   Bridgend 
   CF31 4AP 
 
Background documents: None 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 239

mailto:eilish.thomas@bridgend.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
            APPENDIX A 
 
 
SUMMARY OF TREASURY MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES 2020-21 
 

1.    External Debt and Investment Position 
 

The Council’s external debt and investment position for 1 April 2020 to 31 
March 2021 is shown below in Table 1; more detail is provided in section 2, 
Borrowing Strategy and Outturn, and section 3, Investment Strategy and 
Outturn:   
 

    Table 1: External debt and investment position 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 
 

* (PFI) arrangement for the provision of a Secondary School in Maesteg 13 years remaining term 

 

Although not classed as treasury management activities and therefore not 
covered by the CIPFA Code or the WG Guidance, the Council may also 
purchase property for investment purposes and may also make loans and 
investments for service purposes, for example in shared ownership housing, or 
as equity investments and loans to the Council’s subsidiaries. Such loans and 
investments will be subject to the Council’s normal approval processes for 
revenue and capital expenditure and need not comply with the TMS. The 
Council’s existing non-treasury investments relate to investment properties and               

 the balance as at 31 March 2021 was £5.09 million. 

Principal Average Principal Average

Rate  Rate 

01/04/2020 01/04/2020 31/03/2021 31/03/2021

£m % £m %

External Long Term Borrowing:

Public Works Loan Board 77.62 4.70 77.62 4.70

Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option 19.25 4.65 19.25 4.65

Total External Borrowing 96.87 4.69 96.87 4.69

Other Long Term Liabilities (LTL): 

Private Finance Initiative (PFI)* 16.30 15.57

Other LTL 1.10 1.66

Total Other Long Term Liabilities 17.40 17.22

Total Gross External Debt 114.27 114.09

Treasury Investments:

Debt Management Office 37.00 0.06 0.00 0.00

Local Authorities 18.00 0.97 48.50 0.22

Banks 5.00 0.34 1.00 0.05

Building Societies 2.00 0.78 0.00 0.00

Money Market Fund*** - - 2.05 0.02

Total Treasury Investments 62.00 0.37 51.55 0.21

Net Debt 52.27 62.54

Page 241



 
It should be noted that the accounting practice to be followed by the Council 
requires financial instruments in the accounts (debt and investments) to be 
measured in a method compliant with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). The figures shown in the above table and throughout the 
report are based on the actual amounts borrowed and invested and so may 
differ from those in the Statement of Accounts which include accrued interest 
or other different accounting adjustments.  

 
The other long term liabilities figure of £17.22 million as at 31 March 2021 
includes £15.57 million for the Council’s Private Finance Initiative (PFI) 

arrangement (for the provision of a Secondary School in Maesteg – thirteen 
years remaining term) which includes the short term PFI liability of £0.801 
million which is included as current liabilities in the Council’s balance sheet in 
the Statement of Accounts. It also includes an increase in respect of increased 
Salix borrowing for phase 2 of the Street Lighting replacement programme.   
                         

 
2. Borrowing Strategy and Outturn for 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 

 
The Council’s primary objective for the management of its debt is to ensure its 
long term affordability. The majority of its loans have therefore been borrowed 
from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) at long term fixed rates of interest. 

 
The last time the Council took out long term borrowing was £5 million from the 
PWLB in March 2012.  With short-term interest rates remaining much lower 
than long-term rates, the Authority considered it more cost effective in the near 
term to use internal resources or would, if necessary, take out temporary short 
term loans. The capital programme is anticipating new borrowing for 2021-22 
and that it would likely be from the PWLB. For estimate purposes it has been 
assumed that this will be over 30 years. 
 
HM Treasury issued revised lending terms for PWLB borrowing by local 
authorities in November 2020.  As a condition of accessing the PWLB, local 
authorities will be asked to confirm that there is no intention to buy investment 
assets primarily for yield in the current or next two financial years.  Local 
authorities’ Section 151 Officers, or equivalent, will be required to confirm that 
capital expenditure plans are current and that the plans are within acceptable 
use of the PWLB.  Whilst this in itself does not preclude the Council from 
investing in commercial activities, investing in assets for yield would preclude 
the Council from accessing PWLB borrowing.  Given the investment and 
borrowing requirement to support the Capital Programme, the Council is 
unlikely to consider any investments in commercial assets primarily for yield. 
 
The £19.25 million in Table 1 relates to Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option 
(LOBO) loans which have a maturity date of 2054, however these may be re-
scheduled in advance of this maturity date.  The LOBO rate and term may vary 
in the future depending upon the prevailing market rates, the lender exercising 
their option to increase rates at one of the bi-annual trigger points (the trigger 
dates being July and January) and therefore, the Council being given the option 
to accept the increase or to repay the loan without incurring a penalty. The 
lender did not exercise their option on 22 January 2021, the next trigger point 

Page 242



is 22 July 2022. The lender is unlikely to exercise their option in the current low 
interest rate environment, however, an element of refinancing risk remains.  
The Council would take the option to repay these loans at no cost if it has the 
opportunity to do so in the future. The current average interest rate for these 
LOBO’s is 4.65% compared to the PWLB Loans average interest rate of 4.70%. 
 
The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position.  This means 
that the capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement), has not 
been fully funded with loan debt as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, 
balances and cash flow has been used as a temporary measure. This is known 
as Internal Borrowing.  This strategy is prudent as investment returns are low 
and counterparty risk is relatively high in the current economic climate. 
 

3. Investment Strategy and Outturn 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 
 

Both the CIPFA Code and the WG Guidance require the Council to invest its 
funds prudently and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its 
investments before seeking the highest rate of return, or yield.  The Council’s 
objective when investing money is to strike an appropriate balance between 
risk and return, balancing the risk of incurring losses from defaults against 
receiving unsuitably low investment income.  

 

The major objectives during 2020-21 were: 

o To maintain capital security 

o To maintain liquidity so funds are available when expenditure is needed  

o To achieve the yield on investments commensurate with the proper 

levels of security and liquidity 

 
The Annual Investment Strategy incorporated in the Council’s TMS 2020-21 
includes the credit ratings defined for each category of investments and the 
liquidity of investments. The Council’s investments have historically been 
placed in mainly short term bank and building society unsecured deposits and 
local and central government.  However, investments may be made with any 
public or private sector organisations that meet the minimum credit criteria and 
investment limits specified in the Investment Strategy. The majority of the 
Council’s surplus cash is currently invested in other local authorities but the 
Council will continue to look at investment options in line with the limits detailed 
in the Investment Strategy. 

 
Investment decisions are made by reference to the lowest published long-term 
credit rating from Fitch, Moody’s or Standard & Poor’s to ensure that this lies 
within our agreed minimum credit rating. Appendix B shows the equivalence 
table for these published ratings and explains the different investment grades. 
Where available the credit rating relevant to the specific investment or class of 
investment is used, otherwise the counterparty credit rating is used. In the 
current climate, relying mainly on credit ratings is considered to be inappropriate 
and the Council understands that credit ratings are good, but not perfect, 
predictors of investment default.  Full regard is therefore given to other available 
information on the credit quality of the organisations in which it invests, including 
financial statements, information on potential government support and reports 

Page 243



in the quality financial press.  No investments will be made with an organisation 
if there are substantive doubts about its credit quality, even though it may meet 
the credit rating criteria. 

On a day to day basis, the Council potentially has positive cash balances arising 
from its cash flows e.g. timing differences between grants being received and 
making various payments. These are invested on the market via brokers, direct 
with the institution or held in deposit accounts or a money market fund with 
instant access. The Council usually invests for a range of periods dependent on 
cash flow requirements and the interest rates on offer having regard to the 
Investment Strategy.  

The Council’s primary objective for the management of its investment portfolio 
is to give priority to the security and liquidity of its funds before seeking the best 
rate of return. As shown in the tables below, the majority of investments have 
been held as short term investments with UK Local Authorities and banks of 
high credit quality. This has therefore resulted in more of the investment 
portfolio being moved into investment instruments with lower rates of return but 
higher security and liquidity.  

Occasionally, investments are placed with the UK Debt Management Office 
(DMO - Executive Agency of UK Government) but only for very short term 
deposits and after all other options have been explored. The interest rates 
offered by this facility are lower than most other counterparties but this is 
commensurate with the high level of security and reduced risk offered. It 
provides another option when examining potential investments and ensures 
compliance with the Council’s investment objective that security takes priority 
over yield. There were no deposits outstanding with the DMO as at the 31 
March 2021.  

Favourable cash flows have provided positive cash balances for investment and 
the balance on investments at 31 March 2021 was £51.55 million as shown in 
Table 2 below which details these investments by counterparty type. 

 
Table 2: Investments Profile 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 
 

 
* An average duration is not shown as there is no original duration as instant access or notice period and money is added 
and withdrawn to/from these accounts as required by cash-flow   
** Received in the Council’s bank account not interest earned 

 
             

Investment 

Counterparty 

Category

Balance 

01 April 

2020

(A)

£m

Investments 

raised

(B)

£m

Investments 

Repaid

(C)

£m

Balance 31 

March 21

(A+B-C)

£m

Investment 

income 

received**

Apr-Mar 2021

£'000

Average 

original 

duration of 

the 

Investment

Days

Weighted 

average 

investment 

balance Apr-

Mar 2021

£m

Weighted 

average 

interest rate 

Apr-Mar 

2021

%

Government DMO 37.00      676.22           713.22            -                5.32                  15                    19.89                0.03             

Local Authorities 18.00      92.00              61.50               48.50            183.50              238                  30.35                0.50             

Banks (Fixed Maturity) 2.00        8.00                9.00                 1.00              14.50                58                    2.10                  0.26             

Banks Instant 

Access/Notice Period 

Account* 3.00        55.00              58.00               -                -                    -                   3.86                  0.02             

Building Societies 2.00        2.00                 -                7.78                  182                  0.17                  0.78             

Money Market Fund 

(Instant Access)* -          59.96              57.91               2.05              14.27                -                   15.22                0.09             

Total/Average 62.00      891.18           901.63            51.55            225.37              123                  71.59                0.25             

Page 244



There were no long term investments (original duration of 12 months or more) 
outstanding at 31 March 2021. All investments at 31 March 2021 were short 
term deposits (including instant access and notice accounts). Table 3 below 
details these investments by counterparty type based on the remaining maturity 
period as at 31 March 2021: 

 
 

Table 3: Investments Outstanding Maturity Profile 31 March 2021 
 

  

Counterparty Instant  Deposits Deposits Deposits Total 

Category Access Maturing Maturing Maturing   

    Within Within Within   

  
    1 Month 

  2-3 
Months 

4-12 
Months 

  

  £m £m £m £m £m 

Government DMO         

Local Authorities   2.00 23.50 23.00 48.50 

Banks 1.00       1.00 

Building Societies         0.00 

Money Market 
Fund 

2.05       2.05 

Total 3.05 2.00 23.50 23.00 51.55 

 
The Council defines high credit quality as organisations and securities having 
a credit rating of A- or higher. The pie chart summarises the above table by 
credit ratings and shows the £51.55 million investments at 31 March 2021 by 
percentage outstanding. Most Local Authorities do not have credit ratings but 
they are regarded as very low credit risk investment counterparties and the 
TMS contains limits on the amounts and time period for which investments can 
be placed in a single local authority, to spread the risk. 

 

Page 245



 

   

 
4.   Treasury Management Indicators 2020-21 
 
 

The following indicators (which are forward looking parameters) form part of the 
CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management. They enable the Council to 
measure and manage its exposure to Treasury Management risks. 

 
The Council is exposed to interest rate movements on its borrowings and 
investments. Movements in interest rates have a complex impact on the Council 
depending on how variable and fixed interest rates move across differing 
financial instrument periods. Short term and variable rate loans expose the 
Council to the risk of short term interest rate rises and are therefore subject to 
the Treasury Management indicator in Table 4 below to manage Interest Rate 
Exposures. 
 
Table 4: Interest rate risk indicator as at 31 March 2021 
 

No. Interest rate risk indicator Indicator 
£’000 

Actual 
31-03-21 
£’000 

1 One year revenue impact of a 1% rise in interest rates (140) (214) 

2 One year revenue impact of a 1% fall in interest rates 315    347 

 
This indicator has been set as an indicator (not a limit) to measure the net 
impact over one year on the revenue account of both a 1% rise and a 1% fall in 
all interest rates for borrowing net of treasury investments. This is calculated  at 
a point in time on the assumption that maturing loans and investments will be 
replaced at rates 1% higher or lower than they would otherwise have been on 
their maturity dates and that the treasury investment and borrowing portfolios 
remain unchanged over the coming year. Interest rates can move by more than 
1% over the course of a year, although such instances are rare. 

AA-, 4%

A+, 2%

DMO, 0%

LOCAL 
AUTHORITY, 

93%

Credit Ratings

AA- A+ DMO LOCAL AUTHORITY

Page 246



 
A further indicator for Treasury Management measures the Maturity Structure 
of Borrowing and is the amount of projected borrowing that is fixed rate, 
maturing in each period as a percentage of total projected fixed rate borrowing. 
This indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure to refinancing risk and 
has been set to allow for the possible restructuring of long term debt where this 
is expected to lead to an overall saving or reduction in risk. 
 
The 19.87% shown in the table below relates to £19.25 million Lender’s Option 
Borrower’s Option (LOBO) loans which may be re-scheduled in advance of their 
maturity date of 2054. The Code requires the maturity of LOBO loans to be 
shown as the earliest date on which the lender can require payment, i.e. the 
call date of July 2021 in 2021-22 so the maturity date is actually uncertain but 
is shown in the “Under 12 months” category as per the Code. 
 
Table 5. Maturity structure of borrowing indicator as at 31 March 2021 
 
No. Maturity structure of  fixed rate 

borrowing during 2020-21 
TMS 20-21 
Upper limit 

TMS 20-21 
Lower limit 

Projection 
31-03-21 

% 
 

3.  Under 12 months  50% 0% 19.87% 

  12 months and within 24 months 25% 0% - 

  24 months and within 5 years 25% 0% 9.59% 

   5 years and within 10 years 40% 0% 16.33% 

  10 years and within 20 years 50% 0% 11.48% 

  20 years and above 60% 25% 42.73% 

 
The Upper Limit for Total Principal Sums invested longer than 1 year indicator 
controls the amount of longer term investments which mature beyond the period 
end. This is set to control the Council’s exposure to the risk of incurring losses 
by seeking early repayment of its investments. 

 
Table 6. Upper limit for total principal sums invested as at 31 March 2021 
 

 
 

5. Review of the Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 

CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Treasury Management requires all local 
authorities to conduct an annual review of its treasury management policies, 
practices and activities. A review was carried out in quarter 2 from which the 
following changes were approved and made to investment limits as detailed 
below: 
 

No.  TMS 
2020-21 
(Limit) 

 
£m  

 

 
Principal Outstanding  

Over 1 year as at 
31-03-21      

£m 

4. Upper Limit for Total Principal Sums 
Invested for more than 1 year 

 
15 

 
0 

Page 247



• increase the investment limit to Registered Providers from £3 million to 
£5 million.  As the Council had positive cash balances this would provide 
the Council with wider scope in making investments at a practical level.  

 
• increase the total amount that can be invested in Money Market Funds 

(MMFs) from £20 million to £30 million.  This was to enable the Council 
to increase the number of MMFs available to it thus assisting Treasury 
Management activities on a practical level, whilst also providing greater 
diversity of funds available to the Council.  

 
Further changes were made to the Treasury Management Strategy for 2021-22 
which were approved by Council in February 2021. 
 
 
 

Page 248



APPENDIX B 
 

 

 

 
 

Standard & Poor’s (S&P), Moody’s and Fitch are the three most significant 
rating agencies in the world.  These agencies rate the creditworthiness of 
countries and private enterprises. 

 
“AAA” or “Aaa” is the highest rating across all three rating agencies and 
indicates the highest level of creditworthiness.  A “D” rating (“C” rating from 
Moody’s) indicates poor creditworthiness of a company or government.  A 
difference is made between short-term and long-term ratings. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 249



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Approval of Minutes
	Minutes , 22/06/2021 Cabinet

	4 Budget Monitoring 2021-22 Quarter 1 Revenue Forecast
	Appendix 1 - Monitoring of Prior Year Budget Reductions Carried Forward into 2021-22
	Appendix 2 - 2021-22 MTFS Budget Reductions Risk Tracker June 2021
	Appendix 3 Revenue Budget Monitoring end June 2021

	5 Capital Programme Outturn 2020-21 and Quarter 1 Update Report 2021-22
	Appendix A Capital Monitoring Outturn 20-21 final
	Appendix B Capital Monitoring Q1 2021-22
	Appendix C Capital Programme Update Q1 2021-22
	Appendix D Prudential Indicators 2021-22 Q1

	6 Review of Corporate Plan Targets For 2021-22 Following the Impact of Covid-19
	Appendix A- Review of Corporate Plan targets 2021-22

	7 Re-Commissioning Regulated Care And Support At Home
	8 Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration Scheme : Proposed Compulsory Purchase Order
	appendix 1
	Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration CPO Plan 1-1250 @ A1 - STCA
	appendix 2
	Porthcawl CPO - Final Draft 07.07.21
	appendix 3
	Statement of reasons FINAL 07.07.21
	appendix 4
	Appendix 4 Porthcawl  Land Use Plan
	appendix 5
	Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration Land Appropriation 2

	9 Pencoed Road Bridge and Pencoed Level Crossing
	10 Suspension of the Contract Procedure Rules for Home to School Transport Mini-buses and Taxis
	11 Human Resources Policies
	210720 HR Policies Appendix 1
	210720 HR Policies Appendix 2

	12 Information Report for Noting
	Complaints Monitoring Report
	Appendix A final
	Annual Treasury Management Report Outturn Cabinet 2020-21
	TM Appendix A Outturn
	TM Appendix B Outturn


